Nicolas Privault

Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

With Normal Martingales



Preface

This monograph is an introduction to some aspects of stochastic analysis in the framework of normal martingales, in both discrete and continuous time. The text is mostly self-contained, except for Section 5.7 that requires some background in geometry, and should be accessible to graduate students and researchers having already received a basic training in probability. Prerequisites are mostly limited to a knowledge of measure theory and probability, namely σ -algebras, expectations, and conditional expectations. A short introduction to stochastic calculus for continuous and jump processes is given in Chapter 2 using normal martingales, whose predictable quadratic variation is the Lebesgue measure.

There already exists several books devoted to stochastic analysis for continuous diffusion processes on Gaussian and Wiener spaces, cf. e.g. [53], [65], [67], [76], [87], [88], [96], [132], [138], [147], [150], [151]. The particular feature of this text is to simultaneously consider continuous processes and jump processes in the unified framework of normal martingales.

These notes have grown from several versions of graduate courses given in the Master in Imaging and Computation at the University of La Rochelle and in the Master of Mathematics and Applications at the University of Poitiers, as well as from lectures presented at the universities of Ankara, Greifswald, Marne la Vallée, Tunis, and Wuhan, at the invitations of G. Wallet, M. Arnaudon, H. Körezlioğlu, U. Franz, A. Sulem, H. Ouerdiane, and L.M. Wu, respectively. The text has also benefited from constructive remarks from several colleagues and former students, including D. David, A. Joulin, Y.T. Ma, C. Pintoux, and A. Réveillac. I thank in particular J.C. Breton for numerous suggestions and corrections.

Hong Kong, May 2009 Nicolas Privault

Contents

Introduction 1					
1	The	Discrete Time Case	7		
	1.1	Normal Martingales	7		
	1.2	Stochastic Integrals	8		
	1.3	Multiple Stochastic Integrals	11		
	1.4	Structure Equations	13		
	1.5	Chaos Representation	15		
	1.6	Gradient Operator	18		
	1.7	Clark Formula and Predictable Representation	21		
	1.8	Divergence Operator	24		
	1.9	Ornstein-Uhlenbeck Semi-Group and Process	28		
	1.10	Covariance Identities	31		
	1.11	Deviation Inequalities	36		
	1.12	Logarithmic Sobolev Inequalities	41		
	1.13	Change of Variable Formula	48		
	1.14	Option Hedging	51		
	1.15	Notes and References	57		
2	Con	tinuous-Time Normal Martingales	59		
	2.1	Normal Martingales	59		
	2.2	Brownian Motion	60		
	2.3	Compensated Poisson Martingale	63		
	2.4	Compound Poisson Martingale	70		
	2.5	Stochastic Integrals	73		
	2.6	Predictable Representation Property	84		
	2.7	Multiple Stochastic Integrals	86		
	2.8	Chaos Representation Property	89		
	2.9	Quadratic Variation	90		
	2.10	Structure Equations	92		
	2.11	Product Formula for Stochastic Integrals	96		

	2.12	Itô Formula	101
	2.13	Exponential Vectors	106
	2.14	Vector-Valued Case	108
	2.15	Notes and References	111
3	Gra	adient and Divergence Operators	113
	3.1	Definition and Closability	113
	3.2	Clark Formula and Predictable Representation	114
	3.3	Divergence and Stochastic Integrals	119
	3.4	Covariance Identities	120
	3.5	Logarithmic Sobolev Inequalities	123
	3.6	Deviation Inequalities	125
	3.1	Markovian Representation	120
	3.8	Notes and References	129
4	An	nihilation and creation operators	131
	4.1	Duality Relation	131
	4.2	Annihilation Operator	134
	4.3	Creation Operator	138
	4.4	Ornstein-Uhlenbeck Semi-Group	143
	4.5	Deterministic Structure Equations	145
	4.6	Exponential Vectors	150
	4.7	Deviation Inequalities	153
	4.8	Derivation of Fock Kernels	157
	4.9	Notes and References	158
F	A m	alweis on the Wiener Space	161
9	5 1	Multiple Wiener Integrals	161
	5.2	Gradient and Divergence Operators	167
	5.2	Ornstein-Uhlenbeck Semi-Group	171
	5.4	Covariance Identities and Inequalities	173
	5.5	Moment identities for Skorohod integrals	177
	5.6	Differential Calculus on Bandom Morphisms	181
	5.7	Riemannian Brownian Motion	185
	5.8	Time Changes on Brownian Motion	191
	5.9	Notes and References	193
_			
6	Ana	alysis on the Poisson space	195
	b.1	Poisson Random Measures	195
	0.2	Multiple Poisson Stochastic Integrals	203
	0.3	Chaos Representation Property	211
	0.4	Finite Difference Gradient	217
	0.0	Divergence Operator	225
	0.0	Characterization of Poisson Weasures	∠3U ეეე
	0.7	Clark Formula and Levy Processes	233

Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

	6.8	Covariance identities	235
	6.9	Deviation Inequalities	239
	6.10	Notes and References	244
7	Loc	al Gradients on the Poisson space	245
	7.1	Intrinsic Gradient on Configuration Spaces	245
	7.2	Damped Gradient on the Half Line	252
	7.3	Damped Gradient on a Compact Interval	260
	7.4	Chaos Expansions	264
	7.5	Covariance Identities and Deviation Inequalities	267
	7.6	Some Geometric Aspects of Poisson Analysis	269
	7.7	Chaos Interpretation of Time Changes	274
	7.8	Notes and References	277
8	Option Hedging in Continuous Time		
	8.1	Market Model	279
	8.2	Hedging by the Clark Formula	282
	8.3	Black-Scholes PDE	286
	8.4	Asian Options and Deterministic Structure	288
	8.5	Notes and References	290
9	Appendix		291
	9.1	Measurability	291
	9.2	Gaussian Random Variables	291
	9.3	Conditional Expectation	292
	9.4	Martingales in Discrete Time	293
	9.5	Martingales in Continuous Time	293
	9.6	Markov Processes	294
	9.7	Tensor Products of L^2 Spaces	296
	9.8	Closability of Linear Operators	297
Re	feren	ces	299
Ind	lex		309

Introduction

Stochastic analysis can be viewed as a branch of infinite-dimensional analysis that stems from a combined use of analytic and probabilistic tools, and is developed in interaction with stochastic processes. In recent decades it has turned into a powerful approach to the treatment of numerous theoretical and applied problems ranging from existence and regularity criteria for probability densities and solutions of partial differential equations by the Malliavin calculus, to functional and deviation inequalities, mathematical finance, and anticipative extensions of stochastic calculus.

The basic tools of stochastic analysis consist in a gradient and a divergence operator which are linked by an integration by parts formula. Such gradient operators can be defined by finite differences or by infinitesimal shifts of the paths of a given stochastic process. Whenever possible, the divergence operator is connected to the stochastic integral with respect to that same underlying process. In this way, deep connections can be established between the algebraic and geometric aspects of differentiation and integration by parts on the one hand, and their probabilistic counterpart on the other hand. Note that the term "stochastic analysis" is also used with somewhat different significations especially in engineering or applied probability; here we refer to stochastic analysis from a functional analytic point of view.

Let us turn to the contents of this monograph. Chapter 1 starts with an elementary exposition in a discrete setting in which most of the basic tools of stochastic analysis can be introduced. The simple setting of the discrete case still captures many important properties of the continuous-time case and provides a simple model for its understanding. It also yields non trivial results such as concentration and deviation inequalities, and logarithmic Sobolev inequalities for Bernoulli measures, as well as hedging formulas for contingent claims in discrete time financial models. In addition, the results obtained in the discrete case are directly suitable for computer implementation. We start by introducing discrete time versions of the gradient and divergence operators, of chaos expansions, and of the predictable representation property. We write the discrete time structure equation satisfied by a sequence $(X_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of independent Bernoulli random variables defined on the probability space $\Omega = \{-1,1\}^{\mathbb{N}}$, we construct the associated discrete

multiple stochastic integrals and prove the chaos representation property for discrete time random walks with independent increments. A gradient operator D acting by finite differences is introduced in connection with the multiple stochastic integrals, and used to state a Clark predictable representation formula. The divergence operator δ , defined as the adjoint of D, turns out to be an extension of the discrete-time stochastic integral, and is used to express the generator of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process. The properties of the associated Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process and semi-group are investigated, with applications to covariance identities are stated both from the Clark representation formula and using Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroups. Logarithmic Sobolev inequalities are also derived in this framework, with additional applications to deviation inequalities. Finally we prove an Itô type change of variable formula in discrete time and apply it, along with the Clark formula, to option pricing and hedging in the Cox-Ross-Rubinstein discrete-time financial model.

In Chapter 2 we turn to the continuous time case and present an elementary account of continuous time normal martingales. This includes the construction of associated multiple stochastic integrals $I_n(f_n)$ of symmetric deterministic functions f_n of n variables with respect to a normal martingale, and the derivation of structure equations determined by a predictable process $(\phi_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$. In case $(\phi_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ is a deterministic function, this family of martingales includes Brownian motion (when ϕ vanishes identically) and the compensated Poisson process (when ϕ is a deterministic constant), which will be considered separately. A basic construction of stochastic integrals and calculus is presented in the framework of normal martingales, with a proof of the Itô formula. In this chapter, the construction of Brownian motion is done via a series of Gaussian random variables and its pathwise properties will not be particularly discussed, as our focus is more on connections with functional analysis. Similarly, the notions of local martingales and semimartingales are not within the scope of this introduction.

Chapter 3 contains a presentation of the continuous time gradient and divergence in an abstract setting. We identify some minimal assumptions to be satisfied by these operators in order to connect them later on to stochastic integration with respect to a given normal martingale. The links between the Clark formula, the predictable representation property and the relation between Skorohod and Itô integrals, as well as covariance identities, are discussed at this level of generality. This general setting gives rise to applications such as the determination of the predictable representation of random variables, and a proof of logarithmic Sobolev inequalities for normal martingales. Generic examples of operators satisfying the hypotheses of Chapter 2 can be constructed by addition of a process with vanishing adapted projection to the gradient operator. Concrete examples of such gradient and divergence operators will be described in the sequel (Chapters 4, 5, 6, and 7), in particular in the Wiener and Poisson cases.

Chapter 4 introduces a first example of a pair of gradient and divergence operators satisfying the hypotheses of Chapter 3, based on the notion of multiple stochastic integral $I_n(f_n)$ of a symmetric function f_n on \mathbb{R}^n_+ with respect to a normal martingale. Here the gradient operator D is defined by lowering the degree of multiple stochastic integrals (i.e. as an annihilation operator), while its adjoint δ is defined by raising that degree (i.e. as a creation operator). We give particular attention to the class of normal martingales which can be used to expand any square-integrable random variable into a series of multiple stochastic integrals. This property, called the chaos representation property, is stronger than the predictable representation property and plays a key role in the representation of functionals as stochastic integrals. Note that here the words "chaos" and "chaotic" are not taken in the sense of dynamical systems theory and rather refer to the notion of chaos introduced by N. Wiener [152]. We also present an application to deviation and concentration inequalities in the case of deterministic structure equations. The family of normal martingales having the chaos representation property, includes Brownian motion and the compensated Poisson process, which will be dealt with separately cases in the following sections.

The general results developed in Chapter 3 are detailed in Chapter 5 in the particular case of Brownian motion on the Wiener space. Here the gradient operator has the derivation property and the multiple stochastic integrals can be expressed using Hermite polynomials, cf. Section 5.1. We state the expression of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group and the associated covariance identities and Gaussian deviation inequalities obtained. A differential calculus is presented for time changes on Brownian motion, and more generally for random transformations on the Wiener space, with application to Brownian motion on Riemannian path space in Section 5.7.

In Chapter 6 we introduce the main tools of stochastic analysis under Poisson measures on the space of configurations of a metric space X. We review the connection between Poisson multiple stochastic integrals and Charlier polynomials, gradient and divergence operators, and the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group. In this setting the annihilation operator defined on multiple Poisson stochastic integrals is a difference operator that can be used to formulate the Clark predictable representation formula. It also turns out that the integration by parts formula can be used to characterize Poisson measure. We also derive some deviation and concentration results for random vectors and infinitely divisible random variables.

In Chapter 7 we study a class of local gradient operators on the Poisson space that can also be used to characterize the Poisson measure. Unlike the finite difference gradients considered in Chapter 6, these operators do satisfy the chain rule of derivation. In the case of the standard Poisson process on the real line, they provide another instance of an integration by parts setting that fits into the general framework of Chapter 3. In particular this operator can be used in a Clark predictable representation formula and it is closely connected to the stochastic integral with respect to the compensated Poisson process

via its associated divergence operator. The chain rule of derivation, which is not satisfied by the difference operators considered in Chapter 6, turns out to be necessary in a number of application such as deviation inequalities, chaos expansions, or sensitivity analysis.

Chapter 8 is devoted to applications in mathematical finance. We use normal martingales to extend the classical Black-Scholes theory and to construct complete market models with jumps. The results of previous chapters are applied to the pricing and hedging of contingent claims in complete markets driven by normal martingales. Normal martingales play only a modest role in the modeling of financial markets. Nevertheless, in addition to Brownian and Poisson models, they provide examples of complete markets with jumps.

To close this introduction we turn to some informal remarks on the Clark formula and predictable representation in connection with classical tools of finite dimensional analysis. This simple example shows how analytic arguments and stochastic calculus can be used in stochastic analysis. The classical "fundamental theorem of calculus" can be written using entire series as

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_n x^n$$
$$= \alpha_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n\alpha_n \int_0^x y^{n-1} dy$$
$$= f(0) + \int_0^x f'(y) dy,$$

and commonly relies on the identity

$$x^n = n \int_0^x y^{n-1} dy, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

$$(0.1)$$

Replacing the monomial x^n with the Hermite polynomial $H_n(x,t)$ with parameter t > 0, we do obtain an analog of (0.1) as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}H_n(x,t) = nH_{n-1}(x,t),$$

however the argument contained in (0.1) is no longer valid since $H_{2n}(0,t) \neq 0$, $n \geq 1$. The question of whether there exists a simple analog of (0.1) for the Hermite polynomials can be positively answered using stochastic calculus with respect to Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ which provides a way to write $H_n(B_t, t)$ as a stochastic integral of $nH_{n-1}(B_t, t)$, i.e.

$$H_n(B_t, t) = n \int_0^t H_{n-1}(B_s, s) dB_s.$$
(0.2)

Consequently $H_n(B_t, t)$ can be written as an *n*-fold iterated stochastic integral with respect to Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, which is denoted by $I_n(1_{[0,t]^n})$. This allows us to write down the following expansion of a function f depending on the parameter t into a series of Hermite polynomials, as follows:

$$f(B_t, t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \beta_n H_n(B_t, t)$$
$$= \beta_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n\beta_n \int_0^t H_{n-1}(B_s, s) dB_s,$$

 $\beta_n \in \mathbb{R}_+, n \in \mathbb{N}$. Using the relation $H'_n(x,t) = nH_{n-1}(x,t)$, this series can be written as

$$f(B_t, t) = \mathbb{E}[f(B_t, t)] + \int_0^t \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(B_t, t) \middle| \mathcal{F}_s\right] dB_s, \qquad (0.3)$$

since, by the martingale property of (0.2), $H_{n-1}(B_s, s)$ coincides with the conditional expectation $\mathbb{E}[H_{n-1}(B_t, t) | \mathcal{F}_s]$, s < t, where $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is the filtration generated by $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$.

It turns out that the above argument can be extended to general functionals of the Brownian path $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ to prove that the square integrable functionals of $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ have the following expansion in series of multiple stochastic integrals $I_n(f_n)$ of symmetric functions $f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n_+)$:

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} I_n(f_n)$$

= $\mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n \int_0^{\infty} I_{n-1}(f_n(*, t) \mathbf{1}_{\{* \le t\}}) dB_t.$

Using again stochastic calculus in a way similar to the above argument will show that this relation can be written under the form

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] dB_t, \qquad (0.4)$$

where D is a gradient acting on Brownian functionals and $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is the filtration generated by $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$. Relation (0.4) is a generalization of (0.3) to arbitrary dimensions which does not require the use of Hermite polynomials, and can be adapted to other processes such as the compensated Poisson process, and more generally to the larger class of normal martingales.

Classical Taylor expansions for functions of one or several variables can also be interpreted in a stochastic analysis framework, in relation to the explicit determination of chaos expansions of random functionals. Consider for instance the classical formula

$$a_n = \frac{\partial^n f}{\partial x^n} (x)_{|x=0}$$

for the coefficients in the entire series

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \frac{x^n}{n!}.$$

In the general setting of normal martingales having the chaos representation property, one can similarly compute the function f_n in the development of

$$F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} I_n(f_n)$$

 \mathbf{as}

$$f_n(t_1,\ldots,t_n) = \mathbb{E}[D_{t_1}\cdots D_{t_n}F], \quad a.e. \ t_1,\ldots,t_n \in \mathbb{R}_+, \tag{0.5}$$

cf. [70], [142]. This identity holds in particular for Brownian motion and the compensated Poisson process. However, the probabilistic interpretation of $D_t F$ can be difficult to find except in the Wiener and Poisson cases, i.e. in the case of deterministic structure equations.

Our aim in the next chapters will be in particular to investigate to which extent these techniques remain valid in the general framework of normal martingales and other processes with jumps.

Chapter 1 The Discrete Time Case

In this chapter we introduce the tools of stochastic analysis in the simple framework of discrete time random walks. Our presentation relies on the use of finite difference gradient and divergence operators which are defined along with single and multiple stochastic integrals. The main applications of stochastic analysis to be considered in the following chapters, including functional inequalities and mathematical finance, are discussed in this elementary setting. Some technical difficulties involving measurability and integrability conditions, that are typical of the continuous-time case, are absent in the discrete time case.

1.1 Normal Martingales

Consider a sequence $(Y_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ of (not necessarily independent) random variables on a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$, where $\mathbb{N} = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ denotes the set of nonnegative integers. Let $(\mathcal{F}_n)_{n\geq -1}$ denote the filtration generated by $(Y_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$, i.e. $\mathcal{F}_{-1} = \{\emptyset, \Omega\},$

and

$$\mathcal{F}_n = \sigma(Y_0, \dots, Y_n), \qquad n \ge 0.$$

Recall that a random variable F is said to be \mathcal{F}_n -measurable if it can be written as a function

$$F = f_n(Y_0, \dots, Y_n)$$

of Y_0, \ldots, Y_n , where $f_n : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is Borel measurable.

Assumption 1.1.1. We make the following assumptions on the sequence $(Y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$:

a) it is conditionally centered:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[Y_n \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right] = 0, \qquad n \ge 0, \tag{1.1.1}$$

b) its conditional quadratic variation satisfies:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[Y_n^2 \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right] = 1, \qquad n \ge 0.$$

Condition (1.1.1) implies that the process $(Y_0 + \cdots + Y_n)_{n\geq 0}$ is an \mathcal{F}_n -martingale, cf. Section 9.4 in the Appendix. More precisely, the sequence $(Y_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and the process $(Y_0 + \cdots + Y_n)_{n\geq 0}$ can be viewed respectively as a (correlated) noise and as a normal martingale in discrete time.

1.2 Stochastic Integrals

In this section we construct the discrete stochastic integral of predictable square-summable processes with respect to a discrete-time normal martingale.

Definition 1.2.1. Let $(u_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a uniformly bounded sequence of random variables with finite support in \mathbb{N} , i.e. there exists $N \ge 0$ such that $u_k = 0$ for all $k \ge N$. The stochastic integral J(u) of $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is defined as

$$J(u) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_k Y_k.$$

The next proposition states a version of the Itô isometry in discrete time. A sequence $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of random variables is said to be \mathcal{F}_n -predictable if u_n is \mathcal{F}_{n-1} -measurable for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, in particular u_0 is constant in this case.

Proposition 1.2.2. The stochastic integral operator J(u) extends to squareintegrable predictable processes $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$ via the (conditional) isometry formula

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|J(\mathbf{1}_{[n,\infty)}u)|^2| \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\|\mathbf{1}_{[n,\infty)}u\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}^2 \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right], \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(1.2.1)

Proof. Let $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $(v_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be bounded predictable processes with finite support in \mathbb{N} . The product $u_k Y_k v_l$, $0 \le k < l$, is \mathcal{F}_{l-1} -measurable, and $u_k Y_l v_l$ is \mathcal{F}_{k-1} -measurable, $0 \le l < k$. Hence

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=n}^{\infty} u_k Y_k \sum_{l=n}^{\infty} v_l Y_l \Big| \mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k,l=n}^{\infty} u_k Y_k v_l Y_l \Big| \mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=n}^{\infty} u_k v_k Y_k^2 + \sum_{n \le k < l} u_k Y_k v_l Y_l + \sum_{n \le l < k} u_k Y_k v_l Y_l \Big| \mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right]$$
$$= \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[u_k v_k Y_k^2 \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right] + \sum_{n \le k < l} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[u_k Y_k v_l Y_l \mid \mathcal{F}_{l-1}\right] \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right]$$

8 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

$$\begin{split} &+ \sum_{n \leq l < k} \mathbb{E} \left[\mathbb{E} \left[u_k Y_k v_l Y_l \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1} \right] \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[u_k v_k \mathbb{E} \left[Y_k^2 \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1} \right] + 2 \sum_{n \leq k < l} \mathbb{E} \left[u_k Y_k v_l \mathbb{E} \left[Y_l \mid \mathcal{F}_{l-1} \right] \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1} \right] \\ &= \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[u_k v_k \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1} \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=n}^{\infty} u_k v_k \Big| \mathcal{F}_{n-1} \right]. \end{split}$$

This proves the isometry property (1.2.1) for J. The extension to $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$ is proved using the following Cauchy sequence argument. Consider a sequence of bounded predictable processes with finite support converging to u in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$, for example the sequence $(u^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ defined as

$$u^n = (u_k^n)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} = \left(u_k \mathbf{1}_{\{0 \le k \le n\}} \mathbf{1}_{\{|u_k| \le n\}} \right)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Then the sequence $(J(u^n))_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is Cauchy and converges in $L^2(\Omega)$, hence we may define

$$J(u) := \lim_{k \to \infty} J(u^k).$$

From the isometry property (1.2.1) applied with n = 0, the limit is clearly independent of the choice of the approximating sequence $(u^k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ as using Fatou's lemma we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\lim_{n \to \infty} J(u^n) - \lim_{n \to \infty} J(v^n)\right)^2\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\lim_{n \to \infty} \left(J(u^n) - J(v^n)\right)^2\right]$$
$$\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(J(u^n) - J(v^n)\right)^2\right]$$
$$= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\left\|u^n - v^n\right\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}^2\right]$$
$$= 0.$$

Note that by polarization, (1.2.1) can also be written as

$$\mathbb{E}\left[J(\mathbf{1}_{[n,\infty)}u)J(\mathbf{1}_{[n,\infty)}v)|\mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\langle \mathbf{1}_{[n,\infty)}u, \mathbf{1}_{[n,\infty)}v\rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})} \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right], \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

and that for $n = 0$ we get

$$\mathbb{E}\left[J(u)J(v)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\langle u, v \rangle_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}\right], \qquad (1.2.2)$$

and

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|J(u)|^2\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\|u\|^2_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}\right],\tag{1.2.3}$$

9 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

for all square-integrable predictable processes $u = (u_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $v = (v_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$.

Proposition 1.2.3. Let $(u_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$ be a predictable squareintegrable process. We have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[J(u) \mid \mathcal{F}_k\right] = J(u\mathbf{1}_{[0,k]}), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Proof. In case $(u_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ has finite support in \mathbb{N} it suffices to note that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[J(u) \mid \mathcal{F}_k\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=0}^k u_i Y_i \middle| \mathcal{F}_k\right] + \sum_{i=k+1}^\infty \mathbb{E}\left[u_i Y_i \mid \mathcal{F}_k\right]$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^k u_i Y_i + \sum_{i=k+1}^\infty \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[u_i Y_i \mid \mathcal{F}_{i-1}\right] \mid \mathcal{F}_k\right]$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^k u_i Y_i + \sum_{i=k+1}^\infty \mathbb{E}\left[u_i \mathbb{E}\left[Y_i \mid \mathcal{F}_{i-1}\right] \mid \mathcal{F}_k\right]$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^k u_i Y_i$$
$$= J(u\mathbf{1}_{[0,k]}).$$

The formula extends to the general case by linearity and density, using the continuity of the conditional expectation on L^2 and the sequence $(u^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ defined as $u^n = (u_k^n)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} = (u_k \mathbf{1}_{\{0 \le k \le n\}})_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, i.e.

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(J(u\mathbf{1}_{[0,k]}) - \mathbb{E}\left[J(u) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k}\right]\right)^{2}\right] = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(J(u^{n}\mathbf{1}_{[0,k]}) - \mathbb{E}\left[J(u) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k}\right]\right)^{2}\right]$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\mathbb{E}\left[J(u^{n}) - J(u) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k}\right]\right)^{2}\right]$$
$$\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[\left(J(u^{n}) - J(u)\right)^{2} \mid \mathcal{F}_{k}\right]\right]$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(J(u^{n}) - J(u)\right)^{2}\right]$$
$$= 0,$$

by (1.2.3).

Corollary 1.2.4. The indefinite stochastic integral $(J(u\mathbf{1}_{[0,k]}))_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a discrete time martingale with respect to $(\mathcal{F}_n)_{n\geq -1}$.

Proof. We have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[J(u\mathbf{1}_{[0,k+1]}) \mid \mathcal{F}_k\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[J(u\mathbf{1}_{[0,k+1]}) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k+1} \mid \mathcal{F}_k\right]\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[J(u) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k+1} \mid \mathcal{F}_k\right]\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[J(u) \mid \mathcal{F}_k\right]$$

10 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).
$$=J(u\mathbf{1}_{[0,k]}).$$

1.3 Multiple Stochastic Integrals

The role of multiple stochastic integrals in the orthogonal expansion of a random variable is similar to that of polynomials in the series expansion of a function of a real variable. In some situations, multiple stochastic integrals can be expressed using polynomials, such as in the symmetric case $p_n = q_n = 1/2$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, in which the Krawtchouk polynomials are used, see Relation (1.5.2) below.

Definition 1.3.1. Let $\ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ n}$ denote the subspace of $\ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\otimes n} = \ell^2(\mathbb{N}^n)$ made of functions f_n that are symmetric in n variables, i.e. such that for every permutation σ of $\{1, \ldots, n\}$,

$$f_n(k_{\sigma(1)},\ldots,k_{\sigma(n)})=f_n(k_1,\ldots,k_n), \quad k_1,\ldots,k_n\in\mathbb{N}.$$

Given $f_1 \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})$ we let

$$J_1(f_1) = J(f_1) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} f_1(k)Y_k.$$

As a convention we identify $\ell^2(\mathbb{N}^0)$ to \mathbb{R} and let $J_0(f_0) = f_0, f_0 \in \mathbb{R}$. Let

 $\Delta_n = \{ (k_1, \dots, k_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n : k_i \neq k_j, \ 1 \le i < j \le n \}, \qquad n \ge 1.$

The following proposition gives the definition of multiple stochastic integrals by iterated stochastic integration of predictable processes in the sense of Proposition 1.2.2.

Proposition 1.3.2. The multiple stochastic integral $J_n(f_n)$ of $f_n \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ n}$, $n \geq 1$, is defined as

$$J_n(f_n) = \sum_{(i_1,\dots,i_n)\in\Delta_n} f_n(i_1,\dots,i_n)Y_{i_1}\cdots Y_{i_n}.$$

It satisfies the recurrence relation

$$J_n(f_n) = n \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} Y_k J_{n-1}(f_n(*,k) \mathbf{1}_{[0,k-1]^{n-1}}(*))$$
(1.3.1)

and the isometry formula

$$\mathbb{E}\left[J_n(f_n)J_m(g_m)\right] = \begin{cases} n! \langle \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_n} f_n, g_m \rangle_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\otimes n}} & \text{if } n = m, \\ 0 & \text{if } n \neq m. \end{cases}$$
(1.3.2)

Proof. Note that we have

$$J_n(f_n) = n! \sum_{\substack{0 \le i_1 < \dots < i_n}} f_n(i_1, \dots, i_n) Y_{i_1} \cdots Y_{i_n}$$
$$= n! \sum_{i_n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{0 \le i_{n-1} < i_n}} \cdots \sum_{\substack{0 \le i_1 < i_2}} f_n(i_1, \dots, i_n) Y_{i_1} \cdots Y_{i_n}. \quad (1.3.3)$$

Note that since $0 \le i_1 < i_2 < \cdots < i_n$ and $0 \le j_1 < j_2 < \cdots < j_n$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[Y_{i_1}\cdots Y_{i_n}Y_{j_1}\cdots Y_{j_n}\right] = \mathbf{1}_{\{i_1=j_1,\dots,i_n=j_n\}}$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}\left[J_{n}(f_{n})J_{n}(g_{n})\right] \\ &= (n!)^{2}\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{0 \leq i_{1} < \cdots < i_{n}} f_{n}(i_{1}, \dots, i_{n})Y_{i_{1}} \cdots Y_{i_{n}} \sum_{0 \leq j_{1} < \cdots < j_{n}} g_{n}(j_{1}, \dots, j_{n})Y_{j_{1}} \cdots Y_{j_{n}}\right] \\ &= (n!)^{2} \sum_{0 \leq i_{1} < \cdots < i_{n}} f_{n}(i_{1}, \dots, i_{n})g_{n}(j_{1}, \dots, j_{n})\mathbb{E}\left[Y_{i_{1}} \cdots Y_{i_{n}}Y_{j_{1}} \cdots Y_{j_{n}}\right] \\ &= (n!)^{2} \sum_{0 \leq i_{1} < \cdots < i_{n}} f_{n}(i_{1}, \dots, i_{n})g_{n}(i_{1}, \dots, i_{n}) \\ &= n! \sum_{(i_{1}, \dots, i_{n}) \in \Delta_{n}} f_{n}(i_{1}, \dots, i_{n})g_{n}(i_{1}, \dots, i_{n}) \\ &= n! \langle \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}}f_{n}, g_{m} \rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})^{\otimes n}}. \end{split}$$

When n < m and $(i_1, \ldots, i_n) \in \Delta_n$ and $(j_1, \ldots, j_m) \in \Delta_m$ are two sets of indices, there necessarily exists $k \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ such that $j_k \notin \{i_1, \ldots, i_n\}$, hence

$$\mathbb{E}\left[Y_{i_1}\cdots Y_{i_n}Y_{j_1}\cdots Y_{j_m}\right]=0,$$

and this implies the orthogonality of $J_n(f_n)$ and $J_m(g_m)$. The recurrence relation (1.3.1) is a direct consequence of (1.3.3). The isometry property (1.3.2) of J_n also follows by induction from (1.2.1) and the recurrence relation. \Box

If $f_n \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N}^n)$ is not symmetric we let $J_n(f_n) = J_n(\tilde{f}_n)$, where \tilde{f}_n is the symmetrization of f_n , defined as

$$\tilde{f}_n(i_1,\ldots,i_n) = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_n} f(i_{\sigma(1)},\ldots,i_{\sigma_n}), \qquad i_1,\ldots,i_n \in \mathbb{N}^n,$$

and Σ_n is the set of all permutations of $\{1, \ldots, n\}$.

In particular, if $(k_1, \ldots, k_n) \in \Delta_n$, the symmetrization of $\mathbf{1}_{\{(k_1, \ldots, k_n)\}}$ in n variables is given by

$$\tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\{(k_1,\dots,k_n)\}}(i_1,\dots,i_n) = \frac{1}{n!} \mathbf{1}_{\{\{i_1,\dots,i_n\}=\{k_1,\dots,k_n\}\}}, \quad i_1,\dots,i_n \in \mathbb{N},$$

and

$$J_n(\mathbf{\tilde{1}}_{\{(k_1,\ldots,k_n)\}}) = Y_{k_1}\cdots Y_{k_n}.$$

Lemma 1.3.3. For all $n \ge 1$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[J_n(f_n) \mid \mathcal{F}_k\right] = J_n(f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,k]^n}),$$

 $k \in \mathbb{N}, f_n \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ n}.$

Proof. This lemma can be proved in two ways, either as a consequence of Proposition 1.2.3 and Proposition 1.3.2 or via the following direct argument, noting that for all $m = 0, \ldots, n$ and $g_m \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ m}$ we have:

$$\mathbb{E} \left[(J_n(f_n) - J_n(f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,k]^n})) J_m(g_m \mathbf{1}_{[0,k]^m}) \right] = \mathbf{1}_{\{n=m\}} n! \langle f_n(1 - \mathbf{1}_{[0,k]^n}), g_m \mathbf{1}_{[0,k]^m} \rangle_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N}^n)} = 0,$$

hence $J_n(f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,k]^n}) \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_k)$, and $J_n(f_n) - J_n(f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,k]^n})$ is orthogonal to $L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_k)$.

In other terms we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[J_n(f_n)\right] = 0, \qquad f_n \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ n}, \qquad n \ge 1,$$

the process $(J_n(f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,k]^n}))_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a discrete-time martingale, and $J_n(f_n)$ is \mathcal{F}_k -measurable if and only if

$$f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,k]^n} = f_n, \qquad 0 \le k \le n.$$

1.4 Structure Equations

Assume now that the sequence $(Y_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ satisfies the discrete structure equation:

$$Y_n^2 = 1 + \varphi_n Y_n, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}, \tag{1.4.1}$$

where $(\varphi_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is an \mathcal{F}_n -predictable process. Condition (1.1.1) implies that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[Y_n^2 \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}\right] = 1, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

hence the hypotheses of the preceding sections are satisfied. Since (1.4.1) is a second order equation, there exists an \mathcal{F}_n -adapted process $(X_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of Bernoulli $\{-1,1\}$ -valued random variables such that

$$Y_n = \frac{\varphi_n}{2} + X_n \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\varphi_n}{2}\right)^2}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (1.4.2)

Consider the conditional probabilities

$$p_n = \mathbb{P}(X_n = 1 \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}) \quad \text{and} \quad q_n = \mathbb{P}(X_n = -1 \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}), \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

$$(1.4.3)$$

From the relation $\mathbb{E}[Y_n \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}] = 0$, rewritten as

$$p_n\left(\frac{\varphi_n}{2} + \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\varphi_n}{2}\right)^2}\right) + q_n\left(\frac{\varphi_n}{2} - \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\varphi_n}{2}\right)^2}\right) = 0, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

we get

$$p_n = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{\varphi_n}{\sqrt{4 + \varphi_n^2}} \right), \qquad q_n = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + \frac{\varphi_n}{\sqrt{4 + \varphi_n^2}} \right), \tag{1.4.4}$$

and

$$\varphi_n = \sqrt{\frac{q_n}{p_n}} - \sqrt{\frac{p_n}{q_n}} = \frac{q_n - p_n}{\sqrt{p_n q_n}}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

hence

$$Y_n = \mathbf{1}_{\{X_n=1\}} \sqrt{\frac{q_n}{p_n}} - \mathbf{1}_{\{X_n=-1\}} \sqrt{\frac{p_n}{q_n}}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (1.4.5)

Letting

$$Z_n = \frac{X_n + 1}{2} \in \{0, 1\}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

we also have the relations

$$Y_{n} = \frac{q_{n} - p_{n} + X_{n}}{2\sqrt{p_{n}q_{n}}} = \frac{Z_{n} - p_{n}}{\sqrt{p_{n}q_{n}}}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(1.4.6)

which yield

$$\mathcal{F}_n = \sigma(X_0, \dots, X_n) = \sigma(Z_0, \dots, Z_n), \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Remark 1.4.1. In particular, one can take $\Omega = \{-1,1\}^{\mathbb{N}}$ and construct the Bernoulli process $(X_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ as the sequence of canonical projections on $\Omega = \{-1,1\}^{\mathbb{N}}$ under a countable product \mathbb{P} of Bernoulli measures on $\{-1,1\}$. In this case the sequence $(X_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ can be viewed as the dyadic expansion of $X(\omega) \in [0,1]$ defined as: Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

$$X(\omega) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^{n+1}} X_n(\omega).$$

In the symmetric case $p_k = q_k = 1/2$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, the image measure of \mathbb{P} by the mapping $\omega \longmapsto X(\omega)$ is the Lebesgue measure on [0,1], see [143] for the non-symmetric case.

1.5 Chaos Representation

From now on we assume that the sequence $(p_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ defined in (1.4.3) is deterministic, which implies that the random variables $(X_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ are independent. Precisely, X_n will be constructed as the canonical projection $X_n : \Omega \to \{-1, 1\}$ on $\Omega = \{-1, 1\}^{\mathbb{N}}$ under the measure \mathbb{P} given on cylinder sets by

$$\mathbb{P}(\{\epsilon_0, \dots, \epsilon_n\} \times \{-1, 1\}^{\mathbb{N}}) = \prod_{k=0}^n p_k^{(1+\varepsilon_k)/2} q_k^{(1-\varepsilon_k)/2},$$

 $\{\epsilon_0,\ldots,\epsilon_n\} \in \{-1,1\}^{n+1}$. The sequence $(Y_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ can be constructed as a family of independent random variables given by

$$Y_n = \frac{\varphi_n}{2} + X_n \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\varphi_n}{2}\right)^2}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

where the sequence $(\varphi_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is deterministic. In this case, all spaces $L^r(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n)$, $r \geq 1$, have finite dimension 2^{n+1} , with basis

$$\left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{Y_0=\epsilon_0,\dots,Y_n=\epsilon_n\}} : (\epsilon_0,\dots,\epsilon_n) \in \prod_{k=0}^n \left\{ \sqrt{\frac{q_k}{p_k}}, -\sqrt{\frac{p_k}{q_k}} \right\} \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{X_0=\epsilon_0,\dots,X_n=\epsilon_n\}} : (\epsilon_0,\dots,\epsilon_n) \in \prod_{k=0}^n \{-1,1\} \right\}.$$

An orthogonal basis of $L^r(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n)$ is given by

$$\left\{Y_{k_1} \cdots Y_{k_l} = J_l(\tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\{(k_1,\dots,k_l)\}}) : 0 \le k_1 < \dots < k_l \le n, \ l = 0,\dots,n+1\right\}.$$

Let

$$S_n = \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{1+X_k}{2} \tag{1.5.1}$$

$$=\sum_{k=0}^{n}Z_{k}, \qquad n\in\mathbb{N},$$

denote the random walk associated to $(X_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$.

Remark. In the special case $p_k = p$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$J_n(\mathbf{1}_{[0,N]}^{\circ n}) = K_n(S_N; N+1, p)$$
(1.5.2)

coincides with the Krawtchouk polynomial $K_n(\cdot; N+1, p)$ of order n and parameter (N+1, p), evaluated at S_N , cf. Proposition 4 of [119].

Let now $\mathcal{H}_0 = \mathbb{R}$ and let \mathcal{H}_n denote the subspace of $L^2(\Omega)$ made of integrals of order $n \geq 1$, and called chaos of order n:

$$\mathcal{H}_n = \{J_n(f_n) : f_n \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ n}\}.$$

The space of \mathcal{F}_n -measurable random variables is denoted by $L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n)$.

Lemma 1.5.1. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$L^{0}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_{n}) = (\mathcal{H}_{0} \oplus \dots \oplus \mathcal{H}_{n+1}) \bigcap L^{0}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_{n}).$$
(1.5.3)

Proof. It suffices to note that $\mathcal{H}_l \cap L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n)$ has dimension $\binom{n+1}{l}$, $1 \leq l \leq n+1$. More precisely it is generated by the orthonormal basis

$$\{Y_{k_1} \cdots Y_{k_l} = J_l(\mathbf{\tilde{1}}_{\{(k_1, \dots, k_l)\}}) : 0 \le k_1 < \dots < k_l \le n\},\$$

since any element F of $\mathcal{H}_l \cap L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n)$ can be written as $F = J_l(f_l \mathbf{1}_{[0,n]^l})$. Hence $L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n)$ and $(\mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{H}_{n+1}) \bigcap L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n)$ have same dimension $2^{n+1} = \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} \binom{n+1}{k}$, and this implies (1.5.3) since $L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n) \supset (\mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{H}_{n+1}) \bigcap L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n).$

As a consequence of Lemma 1.5.1 we have

$$L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n) \subset \mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{H}_{n+1}.$$

Alternatively, Lemma 1.5.1 can be proved by noting that

$$J_n(f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,N]^n}) = 0, \qquad n > N+1, \quad f_n \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ n},$$

and as a consequence, any $F \in L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_N)$ can be expressed as

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} J_n(f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,N]^n}).$$

16 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

Definition 1.5.2. Let S denote the linear space spanned by multiple stochastic integrals, i.e.

$$S = \operatorname{Vect}\left\{\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}_n\right\}$$

$$= \left\{\sum_{k=0}^{n} J_k(f_k) : f_k \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ k}, \ k = 0, \dots, n, \ n \in \mathbb{N}\right\}.$$
(1.5.4)

The completion of \mathcal{S} in $L^2(\Omega)$ is denoted by the direct sum

$$\bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}_n.$$

The next result is the chaos representation property for Bernoulli processes, which is analogous to the Walsh decomposition, cf. [82]. Here this property is obtained under the assumption that the sequence $(X_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is made of independent random variables since $(p_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is deterministic, which corresponds to the setting of Proposition 4 in [40]. See [40] and Proposition 5 therein for other instances of the chaos representation property without this independence assumption.

Proposition 1.5.3. We have the identity

$$L^2(\Omega) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}_n.$$

Proof. It suffices to show that S is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$. Let F be a bounded random variable. Relation (1.5.3) of Lemma 1.5.1 shows that $\mathbb{E}[F | \mathcal{F}_n] \in S$. The martingale convergence theorem, cf. e.g. Theorem 27.1 in [71], implies that $(\mathbb{E}[F | \mathcal{F}_n])_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to F a.s., hence every bounded F is the $L^2(\Omega)$ limit of a sequence in S. If $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ is not bounded, F is the limit in $L^2(\Omega)$ of the sequence $(\mathbf{1}_{\{|F| \leq n\}}F)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of bounded random variables. \Box

As a consequence of Proposition 1.5.3, any $F \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{P})$ has a unique decomposition

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} J_n(f_n), \qquad f_n \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ n}, \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$

as a series of multiple stochastic integrals. Note also that the statement of Lemma 1.5.1 is sufficient for the chaos representation property to hold.

1.6 Gradient Operator

We start by defining the operator D on the space S of finite sums of multiple stochastic integrals, which is dense in in $L^2(\Omega)$ by Proposition 1.5.3.

Definition 1.6.1. We densely define the linear gradient operator

$$D: \mathcal{S} \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$$

by

$$D_k J_n(f_n) = n J_{n-1}(f_n(*,k) \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_n}(*,k)),$$

 $k \in \mathbb{N}, f_n \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ n}, n \in \mathbb{N}.$

Note that for all $k_1, \ldots, k_{n-1}, k \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$\mathbf{1}_{\Delta_n}(k_1,\ldots,k_{n-1},k) = \mathbf{1}_{\{k \notin (k_1,\ldots,k_{n-1})\}} \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n-1}}(k_1,\ldots,k_{n-1}),$$

hence we can write

$$D_k J_n(f_n) = n J_{n-1}(f_n(*,k) \mathbf{1}_{\{k \notin *\}}), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}_{\{k \notin *\}}$$

where in the above relation, "*" denotes the first k-1 variables (k_1, \ldots, k_{n-1}) of $f_n(k_1, \ldots, k_{n-1}, k)$. We also have $D_k F = 0$ whenever $F \in S$ is \mathcal{F}_{k-1} -measurable.

On the other hand, D_k is a continuous operator on the chaos \mathcal{H}_n since

$$\begin{aligned} \|D_k J_n(f_n)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 &= n^2 \|J_{n-1}(f_n(*,k))\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \\ &= nn! \|f_n(*,k)\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N}^{\otimes (n-1)})}^2, \qquad f_n \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N}^{\otimes n}), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}. \end{aligned}$$

The following result gives the probabilistic interpretation of ${\cal D}_k$ as a finite difference operator. Given

$$\omega = (\omega_0, \omega_1, \ldots) \in \{-1, 1\}^{\mathbb{N}},$$

 let

$$\omega_+^k = (\omega_0, \omega_1, \dots, \omega_{k-1}, +1, \omega_{k+1}, \dots)$$

and

$$\omega_{-}^{k} = (\omega_0, \omega_1, \dots, \omega_{k-1}, -1, \omega_{k+1}, \dots).$$

Proposition 1.6.2. We have for any $F \in S$:

$$D_k F(\omega) = \sqrt{p_k q_k} (F(\omega_+^k) - F(\omega_-^k)), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (1.6.2)

Proof. We start by proving the above statement for an \mathcal{F}_n -measurable $F \in \mathcal{S}$. Since $L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n)$ is finite dimensional it suffices to consider Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

$$F = Y_{k_1} \cdots Y_{k_l} = f(X_0, \dots, X_{k_l}),$$

with from (1.4.6):

$$f(x_0, \dots, x_{k_l}) = \frac{1}{2^l} \prod_{i=1}^l \frac{q_{k_i} - p_{k_i} + x_{k_i}}{\sqrt{p_{k_i} q_{k_i}}}.$$

First we note that from (1.5.3) we have for $(k_1, \ldots, k_n) \in \Delta_n$:

$$D_{k}(Y_{k_{1}}\cdots Y_{k_{n}}) = D_{k}J_{n}(\mathbf{\tilde{1}}_{\{(k_{1},...,k_{n})\}})$$

$$= nJ_{n-1}(\mathbf{\tilde{1}}_{\{(k_{1},...,k_{n})\}}(*,k))$$

$$= \frac{1}{(n-1)!}\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{\{k_{i}\}}(k)\sum_{(i_{1},...,i_{n-1})\in\Delta_{n-1}}\mathbf{\tilde{1}}_{\{\{i_{1},...,i_{n-1}\}=\{k_{1},...,k_{i+1},...,k_{n}\}\}}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{\{k_{i}\}}(k)J_{n-1}(\mathbf{\tilde{1}}_{\{(k_{1},...,k_{i-1},k_{i+1},...,k_{n})\}})$$

$$= \mathbf{1}_{\{k_{1},...,k_{n}\}}(k)\prod_{\substack{i=1\\k_{i}\neq k}}^{n}Y_{k_{i}}.$$
(1.6.3)

If $k \notin \{k_1, \ldots, k_l\}$ we clearly have $F(\omega_+^k) = F(\omega_-^k) = F(\omega)$, hence

$$\sqrt{p_k q_k} (F(\omega_+^k) - F(\omega_-^k)) = 0 = D_k F(\omega).$$

On the other hand if $k \in \{k_1, \ldots, k_l\}$ we have

$$F(\omega_{+}^{k}) = \sqrt{\frac{q_{k}}{p_{k}}} \prod_{\substack{i=1\\k_{i}\neq k}}^{l} \frac{q_{k_{i}} - p_{k_{i}} + \omega_{k_{i}}}{2\sqrt{p_{k_{i}}q_{k_{i}}}},$$
$$F(\omega_{-}^{k}) = -\sqrt{\frac{p_{k}}{q_{k}}} \prod_{\substack{i=1\\k_{i}\neq k}}^{l} \frac{q_{k_{i}} - p_{k_{i}} + \omega_{k_{i}}}{2\sqrt{p_{k_{i}}q_{k_{i}}}},$$

hence from (1.6.3) we get

$$\sqrt{p_k q_k} (F(\omega_+^k) - F(\omega_-^k)) = \frac{1}{2^{l-1}} \prod_{\substack{i=1\\k_i \neq k}}^l \frac{q_{k_i} - p_{k_i} + \omega_{k_i}}{\sqrt{p_{k_i} q_{k_i}}}$$
$$= \prod_{\substack{i=1\\k_i \neq k}}^l Y_{k_i}(\omega)$$
$$= D_k (Y_{k_1} \cdots Y_{k_l}) (\omega)$$

19 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

$$= D_k F(\omega).$$

In the general case, $J_l(f_l)$ is the L^2 -limit of the sequence $\mathbb{E}[J_l(f_l) | \mathcal{F}_n] = J_l(f_l \mathbf{1}_{[0,n]^l})$ as n goes to infinity, and since from (1.6.1) the operator D_k is continuous on all chaoses \mathcal{H}_n , $n \geq 1$, we have

$$D_k F = \lim_{n \to \infty} D_k \mathbb{E} \left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_n \right]$$

= $\sqrt{p_k q_k} \lim_{n \to \infty} (\mathbb{E} \left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_n \right] (\omega_+^k) - \mathbb{E} \left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_n \right] (\omega_-^k))$
= $\sqrt{p_k q_k} (F(\omega_+^k) - F(\omega_-^k)), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}.$

The next property follows immediately from Proposition 1.6.2.

Corollary 1.6.3. A random variable $F : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is \mathcal{F}_n -measurable if and only if

$$D_k F = 0$$

for all k > n.

If F has the form $F = f(X_0, \ldots, X_n)$, we may also write

$$D_k F = \sqrt{p_k q_k} (F_k^+ - F_k^-), \qquad k \in \mathbb{N},$$

with

$$F_k^+ = f(X_0, \dots, X_{k-1}, +1, X_{k+1}, \dots, X_n)$$

and

$$F_k^- = f(X_0, \dots, X_{k-1}, -1, X_{k+1}, \dots, X_n)$$

The gradient D can also be expressed as

$$D_k F(S_{\cdot}) = \sqrt{p_k q_k} \Big(F \big(S_{\cdot} + \mathbf{1}_{\{X_k = -1\}} \mathbf{1}_{\{k \le \cdot\}} \big) - F \big(S_{\cdot} - \mathbf{1}_{\{X_k = 1\}} \mathbf{1}_{\{k \le \cdot\}} \big) \Big),$$

where F(S) is an informal notation for the random variable F estimated on a given path of $(S_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ defined in (1.5.1) and $S + \mathbf{1}_{\{X_k = \mp 1\}} \mathbf{1}_{\{k \leq \cdot\}}$ denotes the path of $(S_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ perturbed by forcing X_k to be equal to ± 1 .

We will also use the gradient ∇_k defined as

$$\nabla_k F = X_k \left(f(X_0, \dots, X_{k-1}, -1, X_{k+1}, \dots, X_n) - f(X_0, \dots, X_{k-1}, 1, X_{k+1}, \dots, X_n) \right),$$

 $k \in \mathbb{N}$, with the relation

$$D_k = -X_k \sqrt{p_k q_k} \nabla_k, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N},$$

20 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

Q

hence $\nabla_k F$ coincides with $D_k F$ after squaring and multiplication by $p_k q_k$. From now on, D_k denotes the finite difference operator which is extended to any $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ using Relation (1.6.2).

The L^2 domain of D, denoted Dom (D), is naturally defined as the space of functionals $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|DF\|^2_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}\right] < \infty,$$

or equivalently by (1.6.1),

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nn! \|f_n\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N}^n)}^2 < \infty,$$

if $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} J_n(f_n)$.

The following is the product rule for the operator D.

Proposition 1.6.4. Let $F, G : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$. We have

$$D_k(FG) = FD_kG + GD_kF - \frac{X_k}{\sqrt{p_kq_k}}D_kFD_kG, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Proof. Let $F_+^k(\omega) = F(\omega_+^k), \ F_-^k(\omega) = F(\omega_-^k), \ k \ge 0$. We have

$$\begin{aligned} D_{k}(FG) &= \sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}(F_{+}^{k}G_{+}^{k} - F_{-}^{k}G_{-}^{k}) \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}\left(F(G_{+}^{k} - G) + G(F_{+}^{k} - F) + (F_{+}^{k} - F)(G_{+}^{k} - G)\right) \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}}\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}\left(F(G - G_{-}^{k}) + G(F - F_{-}^{k}) - (F - F_{-}^{k})(G - G_{-}^{k})\right) \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}\left(FD_{k}G + GD_{k}F + \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}}D_{k}FD_{k}G\right) \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}}\left(FD_{k}G + GD_{k}F - \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}}D_{k}FD_{k}G\right). \end{aligned}$$

1.7 Clark Formula and Predictable Representation

In this section we prove a predictable representation formula for the functionals of $(S_n)_{n\geq 0}$ defined in (1.5.1).

Proposition 1.7.1. For all $F \in S$ we have

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[D_k F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}] Y_k \qquad (1.7.1)$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Y_k D_k \mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{F}_k].$$

Proof. The formula is obviously true for $F = J_0(f_0)$. Given $n \ge 1$, as a consequence of Proposition 1.3.2 above and Lemma 1.3.3 we have:

$$J_{n}(f_{n}) = n \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} J_{n-1}(f_{n}(*,k)\mathbf{1}_{[0,k-1]^{n-1}}(*))Y_{k}$$

$$= n \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} J_{n-1}(f_{n}(*,k)\mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}}(*,k)\mathbf{1}_{[0,k-1]^{n-1}}(*))Y_{k}$$

$$= n \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[J_{n-1}(f_{n}(*,k)\mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}}(*,k)) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right]Y_{k}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[D_{k}J_{n}(f_{n}) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right]Y_{k},$$

which yields (1.7.1) for $F = J_n(f_n)$, since $\mathbb{E}[J_n(f_n)] = 0$. By linearity the formula is established for $F \in \mathcal{S}$.

For the second identity we use the relation

$$\mathbb{E}\left[D_kF \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] = D_k\mathbb{E}\left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_k\right]$$

which clearly holds since $D_k F$ is independent of $X_k, k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Although the operator D is unbounded we have the following result, which states the boundedness of the operator that maps a random variable to the unique process involved in its predictable representation.

Lemma 1.7.2. The operator

$$L^{2}(\Omega) \longrightarrow L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$$
$$F \longmapsto (\mathbb{E} [D_{k}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}])_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$$

is bounded with norm equal to one.

Proof. Let $F \in S$. From Relation (1.7.1) and the isometry formula (1.2.2) for the stochastic integral operator J we get

$$\|\mathbb{E} [D.F \mid \mathcal{F}_{-1}] \|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})}^{2} = \|F - \mathbb{E} [F] \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}$$

$$\leq \|F - \mathbb{E} [F] \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + (\mathbb{E} [F])^{2}$$

$$= \|F\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2},$$
(1.7.2)

Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

with equality in case $F = J_1(f_1)$.

As a consequence of Lemma 1.7.2 we have the following corollary.

Corollary 1.7.3. The Clark formula of Proposition 1.7.1 extends to any $F \in L^2(\Omega)$.

Proof. Since $F \mapsto \mathbb{E}[D.F | \mathcal{F}_{-1}]$ is bounded from Lemma 1.7.2, the Clark formula extends to $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ by a standard Cauchy sequence argument.

Let us give a first elementary application of the above construction to the proof of a Poincaré inequality on Bernoulli space. Using (1.2.3) we have

$$\operatorname{Var}(F) = \mathbb{E}\left[|F - \mathbb{E}[F]|^{2}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[D_{k}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right]Y_{k}\right)^{2}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\mathbb{E}\left[D_{k}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right])^{2}\right]$$
$$\leq \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[|D_{k}F|^{2} \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right]\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |D_{k}F|^{2}\right],$$

hence

$$\operatorname{Var}(F) \le \|DF\|_{L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})}^2.$$

More generally the Clark formula implies the following.

Corollary 1.7.4. Let $a \in \mathbb{N}$ and $F \in L^2(\Omega)$. We have

$$F = \mathbb{E}\left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_a\right] + \sum_{k=a+1}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[D_k F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] Y_k, \qquad (1.7.3)$$

and

$$\mathbb{E}\left[F^2\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\mathbb{E}\left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_a\right]\right)^2\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=a+1}^{\infty} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[D_k F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right]\right)^2\right].$$
 (1.7.4)

Proof. From Proposition 1.2.3 and the Clark formula (1.7.1) of Proposition 1.7.1 we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_a\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[F\right] + \sum_{k=0}^{a} \mathbb{E}\left[D_k F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] Y_k,$$

23 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

which implies (1.7.3). Relation (1.7.4) is an immediate consequence of (1.7.3) and the isometry property of J.

As an application of the Clark formula of Corollary 1.7.4 we obtain the following predictable representation property for discrete-time martingales.

Proposition 1.7.5. Let $(M_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a martingale in $L^2(\Omega)$ with respect to $(\mathcal{F}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. There exists a predictable process $(u_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ locally in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$, (i.e. $u(\cdot)\mathbf{1}_{[0,N]}(\cdot) \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$ for all N > 0) such that

$$M_n = M_{-1} + \sum_{k=0}^n u_k Y_k, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (1.7.5)

Proof. Let $k \ge 1$. From Corollaries 1.6.3 and 1.7.4 we have:

$$M_{k} = \mathbb{E} \left[M_{k} \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] + \mathbb{E} \left[D_{k} M_{k} \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] Y_{k}$$
$$= M_{k-1} + \mathbb{E} \left[D_{k} M_{k} \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] Y_{k},$$

hence it suffices to let

$$u_k = \mathbb{E}\left[D_k M_k \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right], \qquad k \ge 0,$$

to obtain

$$M_n = M_{-1} + \sum_{k=0}^n M_k - M_{k-1} = M_{-1} + \sum_{k=0}^n u_k Y_k.$$

1.8	Divergence	Operator
-----	------------	----------

The divergence operator δ is introduced as the adjoint of D. Let $\mathcal{U} \subset L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$ be the space of processes defined as

$$\mathcal{U} = \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{n} J_k(f_{k+1}(*,\cdot)), \quad f_{k+1} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ k} \otimes \ell^2(\mathbb{N}), \quad k = 0, \dots, n, \ n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

We refer to Section 9.7 in the appendix for the definition of the tensor product $\ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ k} \otimes \ell^2(\mathbb{N}), k \ge 0.$

Definition 1.8.1. Let $\delta : \mathcal{U} \to L^2(\Omega)$ be the linear mapping defined on \mathcal{U} as

$$\delta(u) = \delta(J_n(f_{n+1}(*,\cdot))) = J_{n+1}(\tilde{f}_{n+1}), \quad f_{n+1} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ n} \otimes \ell^2(\mathbb{N}),$$

for $(u_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ of the form

24 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

$$u_k = J_n(f_{n+1}(*,k)), \qquad k \in \mathbb{N},$$

where \tilde{f}_{n+1} denotes the symmetrization of f_{n+1} in n+1 variables, i.e.

$$\tilde{f}_{n+1}(k_1,\ldots,k_{n+1}) = \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} f_{n+1}(k_1,\ldots,k_{k-1},k_{k+1},\ldots,k_{n+1},k_i).$$

From Proposition 1.5.3, \mathcal{S} is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$, hence \mathcal{U} is dense in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$.

Proposition 1.8.2. The operator δ is adjoint to D:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\langle DF, u \rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[F\delta(u)\right], \quad F \in \mathcal{S}, \ u \in \mathcal{U}.$$

Proof. We consider $F = J_n(f_n)$ and $u_k = J_m(g_{m+1}(*,k)), k \in \mathbb{N}$, where $f_n \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ n}$ and $g_{m+1} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ m} \otimes \ell^2(\mathbb{N})$. We have

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}\left[\langle D.J_{n}(f_{n}), J_{m}(g_{m+1}(*,\cdot))\rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}\right] \\ &= n\mathbb{E}\left[\langle J_{n-1}(f_{n}(*,\cdot)), J_{m}(g_{m}(*,\cdot))\rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}\right] \\ &= n\mathbb{E}\left[\langle J_{n-1}(f_{n}(*,\cdot)\mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}}(*,\cdot)), J_{m}(g_{m}(*,\cdot))\rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}\right] \\ &= n\mathbf{1}_{\{n-1=m\}}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[J_{n-1}(f_{n}(*,k)\mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}}(*,k))J_{m}(g_{m+1}(*,k))\right] \\ &= n!\mathbf{1}_{\{n-1=m\}}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \langle \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}}(*,k)f_{n}(*,k), g_{m+1}(*,k)\rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}^{n-1})} \\ &= n!\mathbf{1}_{\{n=m+1\}}\langle \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}}f_{n}, g_{m+1}\rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}^{n})} \\ &= n!\mathbf{1}_{\{n=m+1\}}\langle \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}}f_{n}, \tilde{g}_{m+1}\rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}^{n})} \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[J_{n}(f_{n})J_{m}(\tilde{g}_{m+1})\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[F\delta(u)\right]. \end{split}$$

The next proposition shows that δ coincides with the stochastic integral operator J on the square-summable predictable processes.

Proposition 1.8.3. The operator δ can be extended to $u \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$ with

$$\delta(u) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_k Y_k - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} D_k u_k - \delta(\varphi D u), \qquad (1.8.1)$$

provided that all series converges in $L^2(\Omega)$, where $(\varphi_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ appears in the structure equation (1.4.1). We also have for all $u \in \mathcal{U}$:

$$\mathbb{E}[|\delta(u)|^2] = \mathbb{E}[||u||^2_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}] + \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{\substack{k,l=0\\k\neq l}}^{\infty} D_k u_l D_l u_k - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (D_k u_k)^2\right].$$
 (1.8.2)

\$25\$ February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

Proof. Using the expression (1.3.3) of $u_k = J_n(f_{n+1}(*,k))$ we have

$$\begin{split} \delta(u) &= J_{n+1}(f_{n+1}) \\ &= \sum_{(i_1,\dots,i_{n+1})\in\Delta_{n+1}} \tilde{f}_{n+1}(i_1,\dots,i_{n+1})Y_{i_1}\cdots Y_{i_{n+1}} \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{(i_1,\dots,i_n)\in\Delta_n} \tilde{f}_{n+1}(i_1,\dots,i_n,k)Y_{i_1}\cdots Y_{i_n}Y_k \\ &\quad -n\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{(i_1,\dots,i_{n-1})\in\Delta_{n-1}} \tilde{f}_{n+1}(i_1,\dots,i_{n-1},k,k)Y_{i_1}\cdots Y_{i_{n-1}}|Y_k|^2 \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_k Y_k - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} D_k u_k|Y_k|^2 \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_k Y_k - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} D_k u_k - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \varphi_k D_k u_k Y_k. \end{split}$$

Next, we note the commutation relation¹

$$\begin{split} D_k \delta(u) &= D_k \left(\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} u_l Y_l - \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} |Y_l|^2 D_l u_l \right) \\ &= \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \left(Y_l D_k u_l + u_l D_k Y_l - \frac{X_k}{\sqrt{p_k q_k}} D_k u_l D_k Y_l \right) \\ &- \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \left(|Y_l|^2 D_k D_l u_l + D_l u_l D_k |Y_l|^2 - \frac{X_k}{\sqrt{p_k q_k}} D_k |Y_l|^2 D_k D_l u_l \right) \\ &= \delta(D_k u) + u_k D_k Y_k - \frac{X_k}{\sqrt{p_k q_k}} D_k u_k D_k Y_k - D_k u_k D_k |Y_k|^2 \\ &= \delta(D_k u) + u_k - \left(\frac{X_k}{\sqrt{p_k q_k}} + 2Y_k D_k Y_k - \frac{X_k}{\sqrt{p_k q_k}} D_k Y_k D_k Y_k \right) D_k u_k \\ &= \delta(D_k u) + u_k - 2Y_k D_k u_k. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\delta(\mathbf{1}_{\{k\}}D_ku_k) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} Y_l \mathbf{1}_{\{k\}}(l) D_k u_k - \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} |Y_l|^2 D_l(\mathbf{1}_{\{k\}}(l) D_k u_k)$$

= $Y_k D_k u_k - |Y_k|^2 D_k D_k u_k$
= $Y_k D_k u_k,$

 $^{^1}$ See A. Mantei, Masterarbeit "Stochastisches Kalkül in diskreter Zeit", Satz 6.7, 2015.

hence

$$\begin{split} \|\delta(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} &= \mathbb{E}[\langle u, D\delta(u) \rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_{k}(u_{k} + \delta(D_{k}u) - 2Y_{k}D_{k}u_{k})\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\|u\|_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}^{2}] + \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k,l=0}^{\infty} D_{k}u_{l}D_{l}u_{k}\right] - 2\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_{k}Y_{k}D_{k}u_{k}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\|u\|_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}^{2}] + \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k,l=0}^{\infty} D_{k}u_{l}D_{l}u_{k} - 2\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}(D_{k}u_{k})^{2}\right], \end{split}$$

where we used the equality

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[u_{k}Y_{k}D_{k}u_{k}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[p_{k}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}}u_{k}(\omega_{+}^{k})Y_{k}(\omega_{+}^{k})D_{k}u_{k} + q_{k}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}u_{k}(\omega_{-}^{k})Y_{k}(\omega_{-}^{k})D_{k}u_{k}\right] \\ &= \sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}\mathbb{E}\left[(\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}}u_{k}(\omega_{+}^{k}) - \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}u_{k}(\omega_{-}^{k}))D_{k}u_{k}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[(D_{k}u_{k})^{2}\right], \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}. \end{split}$$

In the symmetric case $p_k = q_k = 1/2$ we have $\varphi_k = 0, k \in \mathbb{N}$, and

$$\delta(u) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_k Y_k - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} D_k u_k.$$

The last two terms in the right hand side of (1.8.1) vanish when $(u_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is predictable, and in this case the Skorohod isometry (1.8.2) becomes the Itô isometry as in the next proposition.

Corollary 1.8.5. If $(u_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ satisfies $D_k u_k = 0$, i.e. u_k does not depend on $X_k, k \in \mathbb{N}$, then $\delta(u)$ coincides with the (discrete time) stochastic integral

$$\delta(u) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Y_k u_k, \qquad (1.8.3)$$

provided the series converges in $L^2(\Omega)$. If moreover $(u_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is predictable and square-summable we have the isometry

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\delta(u)^2\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\|u\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}^2\right],\tag{1.8.4}$$

and $\delta(u)$ coincides with J(u) on the space of predictable square-summable processes.

1.9 Ornstein-Uhlenbeck Semi-Group and Process

The Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator L is defined as $L = \delta D$, i.e. L satisfies

$$LJ_n(f_n) = nJ_n(f_n), \qquad f_n \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})^{\circ n}.$$

Proposition 1.9.1. For any $F \in S$ we have

$$LF = \delta DF = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Y_k(D_k F) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sqrt{p_k q_k} Y_k(F_k^+ - F_k^-),$$

Proof. Note that $D_k D_k F = 0, k \in \mathbb{N}$, and use Relation (1.8.1) of Proposition 1.8.3.

Note that L can be expressed in other forms, for example

$$LF = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \Delta_k F,$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_k F &= (\mathbf{1}_{\{X_k=1\}} q_k(F(\omega) - F(\omega_-^k)) - \mathbf{1}_{\{X_k=-1\}} p_k(F(\omega_+^k) - F(\omega))) \\ &= F - (\mathbf{1}_{\{X_k=1\}} q_k F(\omega_-^k) + \mathbf{1}_{\{X_k=-1\}} p_k F(\omega_+^k)) \\ &= F - \mathbb{E} [F \mid \mathcal{F}_k^c], \quad k \in \mathbb{N}, \end{aligned}$$

and \mathcal{F}_k^c is the σ -algebra generated by

$$\{X_l : l \neq k, l \in \mathbb{N}\}.$$

Let now $(P_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+} = (e^{tL})_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ denote the semi-group associated to L and defined as

$$P_t F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{-nt} J_n(f_n), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

on $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} J_n(f_n) \in L^2(\Omega)$. The next result shows that $(P_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ admits an integral representation by a probability kernel. Let $q_t^N : \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be

integral representation by a probability kernel. Let $q_t^* : \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}_+$ by defined by

$$q_t^N(\tilde{\omega},\omega) = \prod_{i=0}^N (1 + e^{-t} Y_i(\omega) Y_i(\tilde{\omega})), \qquad \omega, \tilde{\omega} \in \Omega, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Lemma 1.9.2. Let the probability kernel $Q_t(\tilde{\omega}, d\omega)$ be defined by

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\frac{dQ_t(\tilde{\omega},\cdot)}{d\mathbb{P}}\Big|\mathcal{F}_N\right](\omega) = q_t^N(\tilde{\omega},\omega), \qquad N \ge 1, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

28

February 23, 2018 (with corrections).
For $F \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_N)$ we have

$$P_t F(\tilde{\omega}) = \int_{\Omega} F(\omega) Q_t(\tilde{\omega}, d\omega), \qquad \tilde{\omega} \in \Omega, \quad n \ge N.$$
(1.9.1)

Proof. Since $L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_N)$ has finite dimension 2^{N+1} , it suffices to consider functionals of the form $F = Y_{k_1} \cdots Y_{k_n}$ with $0 \le k_1 < \cdots < k_n \le N$. By Relation (1.4.5) we have for $\omega \in \Omega$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[Y_{k}(\cdot)(1+\mathrm{e}^{-t}Y_{k}(\cdot)Y_{k}(\omega))\right]$$

= $p_{k}\sqrt{\frac{q_{k}}{p_{k}}}\left(1+\mathrm{e}^{-t}\sqrt{\frac{q_{k}}{p_{k}}}Y_{k}(\omega)\right) - q_{k}\sqrt{\frac{p_{k}}{q_{k}}}\left(1-\mathrm{e}^{-t}\sqrt{\frac{p_{k}}{q_{k}}}Y_{k}(\omega)\right)$
= $\mathrm{e}^{-t}Y_{k}(\omega),$

which implies, by independence of the sequence $(X_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[Y_{k_1}\cdots Y_{k_n}q_t^N(\omega,\cdot)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[Y_{k_1}\cdots Y_{k_n}\prod_{i=1}^N (1+\mathrm{e}^{-t}Y_{k_i}(\omega)Y_{k_i}(\cdot))\right]$$
$$=\prod_{i=1}^N \mathbb{E}\left[Y_{k_i}(\cdot)(1+\mathrm{e}^{-t}Y_{k_i}(\omega)Y_{k_i}(\cdot))\right]$$
$$=\mathrm{e}^{-nt}Y_{k_1}(\omega)\cdots Y_{k_n}(\omega)$$
$$=\mathrm{e}^{-nt}J_n(\tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\{(k_1,\ldots,k_n)\}})(\omega)$$
$$=P_tJ_n(\tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\{(k_1,\ldots,k_n)\}})(\omega)$$
$$=P_t(Y_{k_1}\cdots Y_{k_n})(\omega).$$

Consider the Ω -valued stationary process

$$(X(t))_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+} = ((X_k(t))_{k\in\mathbb{N}})_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$$

with independent components and distribution given by

$$\mathbb{P}(X_k(t) = 1 \mid X_k(0) = 1) = p_k + e^{-t}q_k,$$
(1.9.2)

$$\mathbb{P}(X_k(t) = -1 \mid X_k(0) = 1) = q_k - e^{-t}q_k, \qquad (1.9.3)$$

$$\mathbb{P}(X_k(t) = 1 \mid X_k(0) = -1) = p_k - e^{-t} p_k, \qquad (1.9.4)$$

$$\mathbb{P}(X_k(t) = -1 \mid X_k(0) = -1) = q_k + e^{-t} p_k, \qquad (1.9.5)$$

 $k \in \mathbb{N}, t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$

Proposition 1.9.3. The process $(X(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} = ((X_k(t))_{k \in \mathbb{N}})_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process associated to $(P_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, i.e. we have

$$P_t F = \mathbb{E}\left[F(X(t)) \mid X(0)\right], \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \tag{1.9.6}$$

for F bounded and \mathcal{F}_n -measurable on Ω , $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. By construction of $(X(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ in Relations (1.9.2)-(1.9.5) we have

$$\mathbb{P}(X_k(t) = 1 \mid X_k(0)) = p_k \left(1 + \mathrm{e}^{-t} Y_k(0) \sqrt{\frac{q_k}{p_k}} \right),$$

$$\mathbb{P}(X_k(t) = -1 \mid X_k(0)) = q_k \left(1 - e^{-t} Y_k(0) \sqrt{\frac{p_k}{q_k}} \right),$$

where $Y_k(0)$ is defined by (1.4.6), i.e.

$$Y_k(0) = \frac{q_k - p_k + X_k(0)}{2\sqrt{p_k q_k}}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N},$$

thus

$$d\mathbb{P}(X_k(t)(\tilde{\omega}) = \epsilon \mid X(0))(\omega) = \left(1 + e^{-t}Y_k(\omega)Y_k(\tilde{\omega})\right)d\mathbb{P}(X_k(\tilde{\omega}) = \epsilon),$$

 $\varepsilon = \pm 1$. Since the components of $(X_k(t))_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ are independent, this shows that the law of $(X_0(t), \ldots, X_n(t))$ conditionally to X(0) has the density $q_t^n(\tilde{\omega}, \cdot)$ with respect to \mathbb{P} :

$$d\mathbb{P}(X_0(t)(\tilde{\omega}) = \epsilon_0, \dots, X_n(t)(\tilde{\omega}) = \epsilon_n \mid X(0))(\tilde{\omega})$$

= $q_t^n(\tilde{\omega}, \omega)d\mathbb{P}(X_0(\tilde{\omega}) = \epsilon_0, \dots, X_n(\tilde{\omega}) = \epsilon_n).$

Consequently we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[F(X(t)) \mid X(0) = \tilde{\omega}\right] = \int_{\Omega} F(\omega) q_t^N(\tilde{\omega}, \omega) \mathbb{P}(d\omega), \qquad (1.9.7)$$

hence from (1.9.1), Relation (1.9.6) holds for $F \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_N)$, $N \ge 0$.

The independent components $X_k(t), k \in \mathbb{N}$, can be constructed from the data of $X_k(0) = \epsilon$ and an independent exponential random variable τ_k via the following procedure. If $\tau_k > t$, let $X_k(t) = X_k(0) = \epsilon$, otherwise if $\tau_k < t$, take $X_k(t)$ to be an independent copy of $X_k(0)$. This procedure is illustrated in the following equalities:

$$\mathbb{P}(X_k(t) = 1 \mid X_k(0) = 1) = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau_k > t\}}\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau_k < t\}}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_k = 1\}}\right] = e^{-t} + p_k(1 - e^{-t}), \qquad (1.9.8)$$

$$\mathbb{P}(X_k(t) = -1 \mid X_k(0) = 1) = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau_k < t\}} \mathbf{1}_{\{X_k = -1\}}\right]$$

= $q_k(1 - e^{-t}),$ (1.9.9)

$$\mathbb{P}(X_k(t) = -1 \mid X_k(0) = -1) = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau_k > t\}}\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau_k < t\}}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_k = -1\}}\right]$$

= e^{-t} + q_k(1 - e^{-t}), (1.9.10)

$$\mathbb{P}(X_k(t) = 1 \mid X_k(0) = -1) = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau_k < t\}} \mathbf{1}_{\{X_k = 1\}}\right]$$

= $p_k(1 - e^{-t}).$ (1.9.11)

The operator $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N}) \to L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$ which maps $(u_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ to $(P_t u_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is also denoted by P_t . As a consequence of the representation of P_t given in Lemma 1.9.2 we obtain the following bound.

Lemma 1.9.4. For $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ we have

$$\|P_t u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^2(\mathbb{N}))} \le \|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^2(\mathbb{N}))}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad u \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N}).$$

Proof. As a consequence of the representation formula (1.9.7) we have $\mathbb{P}(d\tilde{\omega})$ -a.s.:

$$\begin{aligned} \|P_t u\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}^2(\tilde{\omega}) &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |P_t u_k(\tilde{\omega})|^2 \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\int_{\Omega} u_k(\omega) Q_t(\tilde{\omega}, d\omega) \right)^2 \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{\Omega} |u_k(\omega)|^2 Q_t(\tilde{\omega}, d\omega) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \|u\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}^2(\omega) Q_t(\tilde{\omega}, d\omega) \\ &\leq \|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, \ell^2(\mathbb{N}))}^2. \end{aligned}$$

1.10 Covariance Identities

In this section we state the covariance identities which will be used for the proof of deviation inequalities in the next section. The covariance Cov(F, G) of $F, G \in L^2(\Omega)$ is defined as

$$\operatorname{Cov}(F,G) = \mathbb{E}\left[(F - \mathbb{E}[F])(G - \mathbb{E}[G])\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[FG\right] - \mathbb{E}\left[F\right] \mathbb{E}\left[G\right].$$

Proposition 1.10.1. For all $F, G \in L^2(\Omega)$ such that $\mathbb{E}\left[\|DF\|^2_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}\right] < \infty$ we have

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[D_{k}G \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] D_{k}F\right].$$
(1.10.1)

Proof. This identity is a consequence of the Clark formula (1.7.1):

$$Cov (F, G) = \mathbb{E} \left[(F - \mathbb{E} [F])(G - \mathbb{E} [G]) \right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E} \left[\left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[D_k F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] Y_k \right) \left(\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[D_l G \mid \mathcal{F}_{l-1} \right] Y_l \right) \right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[D_k F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] \mathbb{E} \left[D_k G \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] \right]$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[\mathbb{E} \left[\mathbb{E} \left[D_k G \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] D_k F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] \right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left[D_k G \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] D_k F \right],$$

and of its extension to $G \in L^2(\Omega)$ in Corollary 1.7.3. A covariance identity can also be obtained using the semi-group $(P_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$. **Proposition 1.10.2.** For any $F, G \in L^2(\Omega)$ such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|DF\|^{2}_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}\right] < \infty \qquad and \qquad \mathbb{E}\left[\|DG\|^{2}_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}\right] < \infty,$$

we have

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t} (D_k F) P_t D_k G dt\right].$$
(1.10.2)

Proof. Consider $F = J_n(f_n)$ and $G = J_m(g_m)$. We have

$$\begin{aligned} &\operatorname{Cov} \left(J_{n}(f_{n}), J_{m}(g_{m}) \right) = \mathbb{E} \left[J_{n}(f_{n}) J_{m}(g_{m}) \right] \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{n=m\}} n! \langle f_{n}, g_{n} \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}} \rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}^{n})} \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{n=m\}} n! n \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-nt} dt \langle f_{n}, g_{n} \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}} \rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}^{n})} \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{n-1=m-1\}} n! n \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \langle f_{n}(*,k), e^{-(n-1)t} g_{n}(*,k) \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}}(*,k) \rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}^{n-1})} dt \\ &= nm \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} J_{n-1}(f_{n}(*,k) \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}}(*,k)) e^{-(m-1)t} J_{m-1}(g_{m}(*,k) \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{m}}(*,k)) dt \right] \\ &= nm \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} J_{n-1}(f_{n}(*,k) \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{n}}(*,k)) P_{t} J_{m-1}(g_{m}(*,k) \mathbf{1}_{\Delta_{m}}(*,k)) dt \right] \end{aligned}$$

32 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty e^{-t} \sum_{k=0}^\infty D_k J_n(f_n) P_t D_k J_m(g_m) dt\right].$$

By the relations (1.9.8)-(1.9.11) the covariance identity (1.10.2) shows that

$$Cov(F,G) = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t} D_{k} F P_{t} D_{k} G dt\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{1} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} D_{k} F P_{(-\log\alpha)} D_{k} G d\alpha\right]$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega \times \Omega} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} D_{k} F(\omega) D_{k} G((\omega_{i} \mathbf{1}_{\{\tau_{i} < -\log\alpha\}} + \omega_{i}' \mathbf{1}_{\{\tau_{i} > \alpha\}})_{i \in \mathbb{N}}) d\alpha \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \mathbb{P}(d\omega')$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega \times \Omega} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} D_{k} F(\omega) D_{k} G((\omega_{i} \mathbf{1}_{\{\xi_{i} < \alpha\}} + \omega_{i}' \mathbf{1}_{\{\xi_{i} > \alpha\}})_{i \in \mathbb{N}}) \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \mathbb{P}(d\omega') d\alpha,$$

(1.10.3)

where $(\xi_i)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a family of independent identically distributed (i.i.d.) random variables, uniformly distributed on [0, 1]. Note that the marginals of $(X_k, X_k \mathbf{1}_{\{\xi_k < \alpha\}} + X'_k \mathbf{1}_{\{\xi_i > \alpha\}})$ are identical when X'_k is an independent copy of X_k . Letting

$$\phi_{\alpha}(s,t) = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{isX_{k}}\mathrm{e}^{it(X_{k}+\mathbf{1}_{\{\xi_{k}<\alpha\}})+it(X_{k}'+\mathbf{1}_{\{\xi_{k}>\alpha\}})}\right],$$

we have the relation

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(\mathrm{e}^{isX_{k}},\mathrm{e}^{itX_{k}}\right) = \phi_{1}(s,t) - \phi_{0}(s,t)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{d\phi_{\alpha}}{d\alpha}(s,t)d\alpha.$$

Next we prove an iterated version of the covariance identity in discrete time, which is an analog of a result proved in [58] for the Wiener and Poisson processes.

Theorem 1.10.3. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $F, G \in L^2(\Omega)$. We have

$$Cov (F,G)$$
(1.10.4)
= $\sum_{d=1}^{n} (-1)^{d+1} \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{\{1 \le k_1 < \dots < k_d\}} (D_{k_d} \cdots D_{k_1} F) (D_{k_d} \cdots D_{k_1} G) \right]$
+ $(-1)^n \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{\{1 \le k_1 < \dots < k_{n+1}\}} (D_{k_{n+1}} \cdots D_{k_1} F) \mathbb{E} \left[D_{k_{n+1}} \cdots D_{k_1} G \mid \mathcal{F}_{k_{n+1}-1} \right] \right].$

Proof. Take F = G. For n = 0, (1.10.4) is a consequence of the Clark formula. Let $n \ge 1$. Applying Lemma 1.7.4 to $D_{k_n} \cdots D_{k_1} F$ with $a = k_n$ and $b = k_{n+1}$, and summing on $(k_1, \ldots, k_n) \in \Delta_n$, we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{\{1 \le k_1 < \dots < k_n\}} \left(\mathbb{E}[D_{k_n} \cdots D_{k_1}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k_n-1}]\right)^2\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{\{1 \le k_1 < \dots < k_n\}} \mid D_{k_n} \cdots D_{k_1}F \mid^2\right]$$
$$-\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{\{1 \le k_1 < \dots < k_{n+1}\}} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[D_{k_{n+1}} \cdots D_{k_1}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k_{n+1}-1}\right]\right)^2\right],$$

which concludes the proof by induction and polarization.

As a consequence of Theorem 1.10.3, letting F = G we get the variance inequality

$$\sum_{k=1}^{2n} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{k!} \mathbb{E}\left[\|D^k F\|_{\ell^2(\varDelta_k)}^2 \right] \le \operatorname{Var}\left(F\right) \le \sum_{k=1}^{2n-1} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{k!} \mathbb{E}\left[\|D^k F\|_{\ell^2(\varDelta_k)}^2 \right],$$

since

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{\{1\leq k_1<\cdots< k_{n+1}\}} (D_{k_{n+1}}\cdots D_{k_1}F)\mathbb{E}\left[D_{k_{n+1}}\cdots D_{k_1}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k_{n+1}-1}\right]\right]$$
$$=\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{\{1\leq k_1<\cdots< k_{n+1}\}} \mathbb{E}\left[(D_{k_{n+1}}\cdots D_{k_1}F)\mathbb{E}\left[D_{k_{n+1}}\cdots D_{k_1}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k_{n+1}-1}\right] \mid \mathcal{F}_{k_{n+1}-1}\right]\right]$$
$$=\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{\{1\leq k_1<\cdots< k_{n+1}\}} (\mathbb{E}\left[D_{k_{n+1}}\cdots D_{k_1}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k_{n+1}-1}\right])^2\right]$$
$$\geq 0,$$

see Relation (2.15) in [58] in continuous time. In a similar way, another iterated covariance identity can be obtained from Proposition 1.10.2.

Corollary 1.10.4. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $F, G \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_N)$. We have

$$\operatorname{Cov}(F,G) = \sum_{d=1}^{n} (-1)^{d+1} \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{\{1 \le k_1 < \dots < k_d \le N\}} (D_{k_d} \cdots D_{k_1} F) (D_{k_d} \cdots D_{k_1} G)\right]$$

$$+(-1)^{n} \int_{\Omega \times \Omega} \sum_{\{1 \le k_{1} < \dots < k_{n+1} \le N\}} D_{k_{n+1}} \cdots D_{k_{1}} F(\omega) D_{k_{n+1}} \cdots D_{k_{1}} G(\omega')$$

$$q_{t}^{N}(\omega, \omega') \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \mathbb{P}(d\omega').$$
(1.10.5)

Using the tensorization property

$$Var(FG) = \mathbb{E}[F^2] Var(G) + (\mathbb{E}[G])^2 Var(F)$$
$$\leq \mathbb{E}[F^2 Var(G)] + \mathbb{E}[G^2 Var(F)]$$

of the variance for independent random variable F, G, most of the identities in this section can be obtained by tensorization of elementary one dimensional covariance identities.

The following lemma is an elementary consequence of the covariance identity proved in Proposition 1.10.1.

Lemma 1.10.5. Let $F, G \in L^2(\Omega)$ such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[D_k F | \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] \cdot \mathbb{E}\left[D_k G | \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] \ge 0, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Then F and G are non-negatively correlated:

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) \ge 0.$$

According to the next definition, a non-decreasing functional F satisfies $D_k F \ge 0$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Definition 1.10.6. A random variable $F : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be nondecreasing if for all $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in \Omega$ we have

$$\omega_1(k) \le \omega_2(k), \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}, \qquad \Rightarrow \ F(\omega_1) \le F(\omega_2).$$

The following result is then immediate from Proposition 1.6.2 and Lemma 1.10.5, and shows that the FKG inequality holds on Ω . It can also be obtained from Proposition 1.10.2.

Proposition 1.10.7. If $F, G \in L^2(\Omega)$ are non-decreasing then F and G are non-negatively correlated:

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) \geq 0.$$

Note however that the assumptions of Lemma 1.10.5 are actually weaker as they do not require F and G to be non-decreasing.

1.11 Deviation Inequalities

In this section, which is based on [61], we recover a deviation inequality of [20] in the case of Bernoulli measures, using covariance representations instead of the logarithmic Sobolev inequalities to be presented in Section 1.12. The method relies on a bound on the Laplace transform $L(t) = \mathbb{E}\left[e^{tF}\right]$ obtained via a differential inequality and Chebychev's inequality.

Proposition 1.11.1. Let $F \in L^1(\Omega)$ be such that $|F_k^+ - F_k^-| \leq K$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, for some $K \geq 0$, and $\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, \ell^2(\mathbb{N}))} < \infty$. Then

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}\left[F\right] \ge x) &\leq \exp\left(-\frac{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}))}^{2}g\left(\frac{xK}{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}))}^{2}}\right)\right) \\ &\leq \exp\left(-\frac{x}{2K}\log\left(1 + \frac{xK}{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}))}^{2}}\right)\right), \end{split}$$

with $g(u) = (1+u)\log(1+u) - u, \ u \ge 0.$

Proof. Although D_k does not satisfy a derivation rule for products, from Proposition 1.6.4 we have

$$D_{k}e^{F} = \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}}\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}(e^{F} - e^{F_{k}^{-}}) + \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}(e^{F_{k}^{+}} - e^{F})$$

= $\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}}\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}e^{F}(1 - e^{-\frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}}D_{k}F}) + \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}e^{F}(e^{-\frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}}D_{k}F} - 1)$
= $-X_{k}\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}e^{F}(e^{-\frac{X_{k}}{\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}}D_{k}F} - 1),$

hence

$$D_k e^F = X_k \sqrt{p_k q_k} e^F (1 - e^{-\frac{X_k}{\sqrt{p_k q_k}} D_k F}), \qquad (1.11.1)$$

and since the function $x \mapsto (e^x - 1)/x$ is positive and increasing on \mathbb{R} we have:

$$\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-sF}D_k\mathrm{e}^{sF}}{D_kF} = -\frac{X_k\sqrt{p_kq_k}}{D_kF} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-s\frac{X_k}{\sqrt{p_kq_k}}D_kF} - 1\right)$$
$$\leq \frac{\mathrm{e}^{sK} - 1}{K},$$

or in other terms:

$$\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-sF}D_k\mathrm{e}^{sF}}{D_kF} = \mathbf{1}_{\{X_k=1\}} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{s(F_k^- - F_k^+)} - 1}{F_k^- - F_k^+} + \mathbf{1}_{\{X_k=-1\}} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{s(F_k^+ - F_k^-)} - 1}{F_k^+ - F_k^-}$$
$$\leq \frac{\mathrm{e}^{sK} - 1}{K}.$$

We first assume that F is a bounded random variable with $\mathbb{E}[F] = 0$. From Proposition 1.10.2 applied to F and e^{sF} , noting that since F is bounded,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|De^{sF}\|^{2}_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}\right] \leq C_{K}\mathbb{E}\left[e^{2sF}\right]\|DF\|^{2}_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}))}$$

< \infty,

for some $C_K > 0$, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[F\mathrm{e}^{sF}\right] &= \mathrm{Cov}\left(F,\mathrm{e}^{sF}\right) \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty}\mathrm{e}^{-v}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}D_{k}\mathrm{e}^{sF}P_{v}D_{k}Fdv\right] \\ &\leq \left\|\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-sF}D\mathrm{e}^{sF}}{DF}\right\|_{\infty}\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{sF}\int_{0}^{\infty}\mathrm{e}^{-v}\|DFP_{v}DF\|_{\ell^{1}(\mathbb{N})}dv\right] \\ &\leq \frac{\mathrm{e}^{sK}-1}{K}\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{sF}\|DF\|_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}\int_{0}^{\infty}\mathrm{e}^{-v}\|P_{v}DF\|_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}dv\right] \\ &\leq \frac{\mathrm{e}^{sK}-1}{K}\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{sF}\right]\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}))}\int_{0}^{\infty}\mathrm{e}^{-v}dv \\ &\leq \frac{\mathrm{e}^{sK}-1}{K}\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{sF}\right]\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}))}^{2}, \end{split}$$

where we also applied Lemma 1.9.4 to u = DF.

In the general case, letting $L(s) = \mathbb{E}\left[e^{s(F - \mathbb{E}[F])}\right]$, we have

$$\log(\mathbb{E}\left[e^{t(F-\mathbb{E}[F])}\right]) = \int_0^t \frac{L'(s)}{L(s)} ds$$

$$\leq \int_0^t \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[(F-\mathbb{E}[F])e^{s(F-\mathbb{E}[F])}\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[e^{s(F-\mathbb{E}[F])}\right]} ds$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{K} \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^2(\mathbb{N}))}^2 \int_0^t (e^{sK}-1) ds$$

$$= \frac{1}{K^2} (e^{tK}-tK-1) \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^2(\mathbb{N}))}^2,$$

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$. We have for all $x \ge 0$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$:

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le e^{-tx} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{t(F - \mathbb{E}[F])}\right]$$
$$\le \exp\left(\frac{1}{K^2}(e^{tK} - tK - 1)\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, \ell^2(\mathbb{N}))}^2 - tx\right),$$

The minimum in $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ in the above expression is attained with

$$t = \frac{1}{K} \log \left(1 + \frac{xK}{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, \ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}))}^{2}} \right),$$

hence

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}\left[F\right] \ge x) \\ & \le \exp\left(-\frac{1}{K}\left(x + \frac{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}))}^{2}}{K}\right)\log\left(1 + \frac{Kx}{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}))}^{2}}\right) - \frac{x}{K}\right) \\ & \le \exp\left(-\frac{x}{2K}\log\left(1 + xK\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}))}^{-2}\right)\right), \end{split}$$

where we used the inequality

$$\frac{u}{2}\log(1+u) \le (1+u)\log(1+u) - u, \qquad u \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

If K = 0, the above proof is still valid by replacing all terms by their limits as $K \to 0$. Finally if F is not bounded the conclusion holds for $F_n = \max(-n, \min(F, n)), n \ge 1$, and $(F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}, (DF_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, converge respectively almost surely and in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$ to F and DF, with $\|DF_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{N}))}^2 \le$ $\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{N}))}^2$. \Box

In case $p_k = p$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, the conditions

$$|D_kF| \le \beta$$
, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, and $||DF||^2_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, \ell^2(\mathbb{N}))} \le \alpha^2$,

give

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha^2 p q}{\beta^2} g\left(\frac{x\beta}{\alpha^2 \sqrt{pq}}\right)\right)$$
$$\le \exp\left(-\frac{x\sqrt{pq}}{2\beta}\log\left(1 + \frac{x\beta}{\alpha^2 \sqrt{pq}}\right)\right),$$

which is Relation (13) in [20]. In particular if F is \mathcal{F}_N -measurable, then

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-Ng\left(\frac{x\sqrt{pq}}{\beta N}\right)\right)$$
$$\le \exp\left(-\frac{x\sqrt{pq}}{\beta}\left(\log\left(1 + \frac{x\sqrt{pq}}{\beta N}\right) - 1\right)\right).$$

Finally we show a Gaussian concentration inequality for functionals of $(S_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, using the covariance identity (1.10.1). We refer to [18], [19], [63], [79], for other versions of this inequality.

Proposition 1.11.2. Let $F \in L^1(\Omega)$ be such that

$$\left\|\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2(p_k \wedge q_k)} |D_k F| \|D_k F\|_{\infty}\right\|_{\infty} \le K^2.$$

Then

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2K^2}\right), \qquad x \ge 0.$$
(1.11.2)

Proof. Again, we assume that F is a bounded random variable with $\mathbb{E}[F] = 0$. Using the inequality

$$|e^{tx} - e^{ty}| \le \frac{t}{2}|x - y|(e^{tx} + e^{ty}), \qquad x, y \in \mathbb{R},$$
 (1.11.3)

we have, replacing the lack of chain rule of derivation for ${\cal D}_k$ by an upper bound,

$$\begin{aligned} |D_{k}e^{tF}| &= \sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}|e^{tF_{k}^{+}} - e^{tF_{k}^{-}}| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}t|F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-}|(e^{tF_{k}^{+}} + e^{tF_{k}^{-}}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}t|D_{k}F|(e^{tF_{k}^{+}} + e^{tF_{k}^{-}}) \\ &\leq \frac{t}{2(p_{k} \wedge q_{k})}|D_{k}F|\mathbb{E}\left[e^{tF} \mid X_{i}, \ i \neq k\right] \\ &= \frac{1}{2(p_{k} \wedge q_{k})}t\mathbb{E}\left[e^{tF}|D_{k}F| \mid X_{i}, \ i \neq k\right], \end{aligned}$$
(1.11.4)

where in (1.11.4) the inequality is due to the absence of chain rule of derivation for the operator D_k . Now, Proposition 1.10.1 yields

$$\mathbb{E}\left[Fe^{tF}\right] = \operatorname{Cov}\left(F, e^{sF}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[D_{k}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] D_{k}e^{tF}\right]$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \|D_{k}F\|_{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[|D_{k}e^{tF}|\right]$$

$$\leq \frac{t}{2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{p_{k} \wedge q_{k}} \|D_{k}F\|_{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[e^{tF}|D_{k}F| \mid X_{i}, \ i \neq k\right]\right]$$

$$= \frac{t}{2} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{tF} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{p_{k} \wedge q_{k}} \|D_{k}F\|_{\infty} |D_{k}F|\right]$$

$$\leq \frac{t}{2} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{tF}\right] \left\|\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{p_{k} \wedge q_{k}} |D_{k}F| \|D_{k}F\|_{\infty}\right\|_{\infty}.$$

This shows that

$$\begin{split} \log(\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{t(F-\mathbb{E}[F])}\right]) &= \int_0^t \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[(F-\mathbb{E}\left[F\right])\mathrm{e}^{s(F-\mathbb{E}[F])}\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{s(F-\mathbb{E}[F])}\right]} ds\\ &\leq K^2 \int_0^t s ds\\ &= \frac{t^2}{2}K^2, \end{split}$$

hence

$$e^{x} \mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \mathbb{E}\left[e^{t(F - \mathbb{E}[F])}\right]$$
$$\le e^{t^{2}K^{2}/2}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_{+},$$

and

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le e^{\frac{t^2}{2}K^2 - tx}, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

The best inequality is obtained for $t = x/K^2$.

Finally if F is not bounded the conclusion holds for $F_n = \max(-n, \min(F, n))$, $n \ge 0$, and $(F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, $(DF_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, converge respectively to F and DF in $L^2(\Omega)$, resp. $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{N})$, with $\|DF_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, \ell^2(\mathbb{N}))}^2 \le \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, \ell^2(\mathbb{N}))}^2$.

In case $p_k = p, k \in \mathbb{N}$, we obtain

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{px^2}{\|DF\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N}, L^{\infty}(\Omega))}^2}\right).$$

Proposition 1.11.3. We have $\mathbb{E}\left[e^{\alpha|F|}\right] < \infty$ for all $\alpha > 0$, and $\mathbb{E}\left[e^{\alpha F^2}\right] < \infty$ for all $\alpha < 1/(2K^2)$.

Proof. Let $\lambda < c/e$. The bound (1.11.2) implies

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{\alpha|F|}\right] &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{P}(e^{\alpha|F|} \ge t)dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbb{P}(\alpha|F| \ge y)e^{y}dy \\ &\leq 1 + \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{P}(\alpha|F| \ge y)e^{y}dy \\ &\leq 1 + \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\frac{(\mathbb{E}\left[|F|\right] + y/\alpha)^{2}}{2K^{2}}\right)e^{y}dy \\ &< \infty, \end{split}$$

for all $\alpha > 0$. On the other hand we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{\alpha F^2}\right] = \int_0^\infty \mathbb{P}(e^{\alpha F^2} \ge t)dt$$
$$= \int_{-\infty}^\infty \mathbb{P}(\alpha F^2 \ge y)e^y dy$$

$$\leq 1 + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{P}(|F| \geq (y/\alpha)^{1/2})e^y dy$$

$$\leq 1 + \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\frac{(\mathbb{E}\left[|F|\right] + (y/\alpha)^{1/2})^2}{2K^2}\right)e^y dy$$

$$< \infty,$$

 \square

provided $2K^2\alpha < 1$.

1.12 Logarithmic Sobolev Inequalities

The logarithmic Sobolev inequalities on Gaussian space provide an infinite dimensional analog of Sobolev inequalities, cf. e.g. [81]. On Riemannian path space [24] and on Poisson space [7], [155], martingale methods have been successfully applied to the proof of logarithmic Sobolev inequalities. Here, discrete time martingale methods are used along with the Clark predictable representation formula (1.7.1) as in [48], to provide a proof of logarithmic Sobolev inequalities for Bernoulli measures. Here we are only concerned with modified logarithmic Sobolev inequalities, and we refer to [131], Theorem 2.2.8 and references therein, for the standard version of the logarithmic Sobolev inequality on the hypercube under Bernoulli measures.

The entropy of a random variable F > 0 is defined by

Ent
$$[F] = \mathbb{E} [F \log F] - \mathbb{E} [F] \log \mathbb{E} [F]$$
,

for sufficiently integrable F.

Lemma 1.12.1. The entropy has the tensorization property, i.e. if F, G are sufficiently integrable independent random variables we have

Ent
$$[FG] = \mathbb{E}[FEnt [G]] + \mathbb{E}[GEnt [F]].$$
 (1.12.1)

Proof. We have

$$\begin{aligned} &\operatorname{Ent} \ [FG] = \mathbb{E} \left[FG \log(FG) \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[FG \right] \log \mathbb{E} \left[FG \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[FG (\log F + \log G) \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[F \right] \mathbb{E} \left[G \right] (\log \mathbb{E} \left[F \right] + \log \mathbb{E} \left[G \right] \right) \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[G \right] \mathbb{E} \left[F \log F \right] + \mathbb{E} \left[F \right] \mathbb{E} \left[G \log G \right] \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[F \right] \mathbb{E} \left[G \right] (\log \mathbb{E} \left[F \right] + \log \mathbb{E} \left[G \right] \right) \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[F \operatorname{Ent} \ [G] \right] + \mathbb{E} \left[G \operatorname{Ent} \ [F] \right]. \end{aligned}$$

In the next proposition we recover the modified logarithmic Sobolev inequality of [20] using the Clark representation formula in discrete time.

Theorem 1.12.2. Let $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ with $F > \eta$ a.s. for some $\eta > 0$. We have

Ent
$$[F] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{F} \|DF\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}^2\right].$$
 (1.12.2)

Proof. Assume that F is \mathcal{F}_N -measurable and let $M_n = \mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{F}_n], 0 \le n \le N$. Using Corollary 1.6.3 and the Clark formula (1.7.1) we have

$$M_n = M_{-1} + \sum_{k=0}^n u_k Y_k, \qquad 0 \le n \le N,$$

with $u_k = \mathbb{E}[D_k F | \mathcal{F}_{k-1}], 0 \leq k \leq n \leq N$, and $M_{-1} = \mathbb{E}[F]$. Letting $f(x) = x \log x$ and using the bound

$$f(x+y) - f(x) = y \log x + (x+y) \log \left(1 + \frac{y}{x}\right)$$
$$\leq y(1 + \log x) + \frac{y^2}{x},$$

we have:

Ent
$$[F] = \mathbb{E} \left[f(M_N) \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[f(M_{-1}) \right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^N f(M_k) - f(M_{k-1}) \right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^N f(M_{k-1} + Y_k u_k) - f(M_{k-1}) \right]$$

$$\leq \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^N Y_k u_k (1 + \log M_{k-1}) + \frac{Y_k^2 u_k^2}{M_{k-1}} \right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^N \frac{1}{\mathbb{E} \left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right]} (\mathbb{E} \left[D_k F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right])^2 \right]$$

$$\leq \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^N \mathbb{E} \left[\frac{1}{F} |D_k F|^2 \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] \right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E} \left[\frac{1}{F} \sum_{k=0}^N |D_k F|^2 \right].$$

where we used the Jensen inequality (9.3.1) and the convexity of $(u, v) \mapsto v^2/u$ on $(0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}$, or the Schwarz inequality applied to

$$1/\sqrt{F}$$
 and $(D_k F/\sqrt{F})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$,

as in the Wiener and Poisson cases [24] and [7]. This inequality is extended by density to $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$.

By a one-variable argument, letting df = f(1) - f(-1), we have

$$\begin{aligned} & \operatorname{Ent} \left[f\right] = pf(1)\log f(1) + qf(-1)\log f(-1) - \mathbb{E}\left[f\right]\log \mathbb{E}\left[f\right] \\ &= p(\mathbb{E}\left[f\right] + qdf)\log(\mathbb{E}\left[f\right] + qdf) \\ &+ q(\mathbb{E}\left[f\right] - pdf)\log(\mathbb{E}\left[f\right] - pdf) - (pf(1) + qf(-1))\log \mathbb{E}\left[f\right] \\ &= p\mathbb{E}\left[f\right]\log\left(1 + q\frac{\mathrm{d}f}{\mathbb{E}\left[f\right]}\right) + pq\mathrm{d}f\log f(1) \\ &+ q\mathbb{E}\left[f\right]\log\left(1 - p\frac{\mathrm{d}f}{\mathbb{E}\left[f\right]}\right) - qp\mathrm{d}f\log f(-1) \\ &\leq pq\mathrm{d}f\log f(1) - pq\mathrm{d}f\log f(-1) \\ &= pq\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{d}f\mathrm{d}\log f\right], \end{aligned}$$

which, by tensorization, recovers the following L^1 inequality of [49], [31], and proved in [155] in the Poisson case. In the next proposition we state and prove this inequality in the multidimensional case, using the Clark representation formula, similarly to Theorem 1.12.2.

Theorem 1.12.3. Let F > 0 be \mathcal{F}_N -measurable. We have

Ent
$$[F] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} D_k F D_k \log F\right].$$
 (1.12.3)

Proof. Let $f(x) = x \log x$ and

$$\Psi(x,y) = (x+y)\log(x+y) - x\log x - (1+\log x)y, \quad x, \ x+y > 0$$

From the relation

$$\begin{split} Y_{k}u_{k} &= Y_{k}\mathbb{E}\left[D_{k}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] \\ &= q_{k}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}}\mathbb{E}\left[(F_{k}^{+}-F_{k}^{-}) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] + p_{k}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}\mathbb{E}\left[(F_{k}^{-}-F_{k}^{+}) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}}\mathbb{E}\left[(F_{k}^{+}-F_{k}^{-})\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}} \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right] \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}\mathbb{E}\left[(F_{k}^{-}-F_{k}^{+})\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}} \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right], \end{split}$$

we have, using the convexity of Ψ :

Ent
$$[F] = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} f(M_{k-1} + Y_k u_k) - f(M_{k-1})\right]$$

= $\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} \Psi(M_{k-1}, Y_k u_k) + Y_k u_k(1 + \log M_{k-1})\right]$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} \Psi(M_{k-1}, Y_{k}u_{k})\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} p_{k}\Psi\left(\mathbb{E}\left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right], \mathbb{E}\left[(F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-})\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}} \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right]\right)\right]$$

$$+ q_{k}\Psi\left(\mathbb{E}\left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right], \mathbb{E}\left[(F_{k}^{-} - F_{k}^{+})\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}} \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right]\right)\right]$$

$$\leq \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} \mathbb{E}\left[p_{k}\Psi\left(F, (F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-})\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}\right) + q_{k}\Psi\left(F, (F_{k}^{-} - F_{k}^{+})\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}}\right) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right]\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} p_{k}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}\Psi\left(F_{k}^{-}, F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-}\right) + q_{k}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}}\Psi\left(F_{k}^{+}, F_{k}^{-} - F_{k}^{+}\right)\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} p_{k}q_{k}\Psi(F_{k}^{-}, F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-}) + p_{k}q_{k}\Psi(F_{k}^{+}, F_{k}^{-} - F_{k}^{+})\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} p_{k}q_{k}(\log F_{k}^{+} - \log F_{k}^{-})(F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-})\right]$$

The application of Theorem 1.12.3 to e^F gives the following inequality for F > 0, \mathcal{F}_N -measurable:

$$\begin{split} &\operatorname{Ent} \left[e^{F} \right] \leq \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} D_{k} F D_{k} e^{F} \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} p_{k} q_{k} \Psi(e^{F_{k}^{-}}, e^{F_{k}^{+}} - e^{F_{k}^{-}}) + p_{k} q_{k} \Psi(e^{F_{k}^{+}}, e^{F_{k}^{-}} - e^{F_{k}^{+}}) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} p_{k} q_{k} e^{F_{k}^{-}} ((F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-}) e^{F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-}} - e^{F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-}} + 1) \right. \\ &+ p_{k} q_{k} e^{F_{k}^{+}} ((F_{k}^{-} - F_{k}^{+}) e^{F_{k}^{-} - F_{k}^{+}} - e^{F_{k}^{-} - F_{k}^{+}} + 1) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} p_{k} \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}} e^{F_{k}^{-}} ((F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-}) e^{F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-}} - e^{F_{k}^{+} - F_{k}^{-}} + 1) \right. \\ &+ q_{k} \mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=1\}} e^{F_{k}^{+}} ((F_{k}^{-} - F_{k}^{+}) e^{F_{k}^{-} - F_{k}^{+}} - e^{F_{k}^{-} - F_{k}^{+}} + 1) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[e^{F} \sum_{k=0}^{N} \sqrt{p_{k} q_{k}} |Y_{k}| (\nabla_{k} F e^{\nabla_{k} F} - e^{\nabla_{k} F} + 1) \right]. \end{aligned}$$
(1.12.4)

This implies

Ent
$$\left[e^{F}\right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[e^{F}\sum_{k=0}^{N}(\nabla_{k}Fe^{\nabla_{k}F} - e^{\nabla_{k}F} + 1)\right].$$
 (1.12.5)

As noted in [31], Relation (1.12.3) and the Poisson limit theorem yield the L^1 inequality of [155]. More precisely, letting $M_n = (n + X_1 + \cdots + X_n)/2$, $F = \varphi(M_n)$ and $p_k = \lambda/n$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $n \ge 1$, $\lambda > 0$, we have, from Proposition 1.6.2,

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} D_k F D_k \log F$$

= $\frac{\lambda}{n} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda}{n} \right) (n - M_n) (\varphi(M_n + 1) - \varphi(M_n)) \log(\varphi(M_n + 1) - \varphi(M_n))$
+ $\frac{\lambda}{n} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda}{n} \right) M_n (\varphi(M_n) - \varphi(M_n - 1)) \log(\varphi(M_n) - \varphi(M_n - 1)),$

in the limit as n goes to infinity we obtain

Ent
$$[\varphi(U)] \leq \lambda \mathbb{E} \left[(\varphi(U+1) - \varphi(U)) (\log \varphi(U+1) - \log \varphi(U)) \right],$$

where U is a Poisson random variable with parameter λ . In one variable we have, still letting df = f(1) - f(-1),

Ent
$$[e^f] \leq pq\mathbb{E} [de^f d \log e^f]$$

$$= pq(e^{f(1)} - e^{f(-1)})(f(1) - f(-1))$$

$$= pqe^{f(-1)}((f(1) - f(-1))e^{f(1) - f(-1)} - e^{f(1) - f(-1)} + 1)$$

$$+ pqe^{f(1)}((f(-1) - f(1))e^{f(-1) - f(1)} - e^{f(-1) - f(1)} + 1)$$

$$\leq qe^{f(-1)}((f(1) - f(-1))e^{f(1) - f(-1)} - e^{f(1) - f(-1)} + 1)$$

$$+ pe^{f(1)}((f(-1) - f(1))e^{f(-1) - f(1)} - e^{f(-1) - f(1)} + 1)$$

$$= \mathbb{E} [e^f(\nabla f e^{\nabla f} - e^{\nabla f} + 1)],$$

where ∇_k is the gradient operator defined in (1.6.4). This last inequality is not comparable to the optimal constant inequality

Ent
$$\left[\mathbf{e}^{F}\right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{e}^{F}\sum_{k=0}^{N}p_{k}q_{k}(|\nabla_{k}F|\mathbf{e}^{|\nabla_{k}F|}-\mathbf{e}^{|\nabla_{k}F|}+1)\right],$$
 (1.12.6)

of [20] since when $F_k^+ - F_k^- \ge 0$ the right-hand side of (1.12.6) grows as $F_k^+ e^{2F_k^+}$, instead of $F_k^+ e^{F_k^+}$ in (1.12.5). In fact we can prove the following inequality which improves (1.12.2), (1.12.3) and (1.12.6).

Theorem 1.12.4. Let F be \mathcal{F}_N -measurable. We have

Ent
$$\left[e^{F}\right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[e^{F}\sum_{k=0}^{N}p_{k}q_{k}(\nabla_{k}Fe^{\nabla_{k}F}-e^{\nabla_{k}F}+1)\right].$$
 (1.12.7)

Clearly, (1.12.7) is better than (1.12.6), (1.12.4) and (1.12.3). It also improves (1.12.2) from the bound

$$xe^x - e^x + 1 \le (e^x - 1)^2, \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

which implies

$$\mathrm{e}^{F}(\nabla F\mathrm{e}^{\nabla F} - \mathrm{e}^{\nabla F} + 1) \leq \mathrm{e}^{F}(\mathrm{e}^{\nabla F} - 1)^{2} = \mathrm{e}^{-F}|\nabla \mathrm{e}^{F}|^{2}.$$

By the tensorization property (1.12.1), the proof of (1.12.7) reduces to the following one dimensional lemma.

Lemma 1.12.5. For any $0 \le p \le 1$, $t \in \mathbb{R}$, $a \in \mathbb{R}$, q = 1 - p,

$$pte^{t} + qae^{a} - (pe^{t} + qe^{a}) \log (pe^{t} + qe^{a})$$

$$\leq pq \left(qe^{a} \left((t-a)e^{t-a} - e^{t-a} + 1 \right) + pe^{t} \left((a-t)e^{a-t} - e^{a-t} + 1 \right) \right).$$

Proof. Set

$$g(t) = pq \left(qe^{a} \left((t-a)e^{t-a} - e^{t-a} + 1 \right) + pe^{t} \left((a-t)e^{a-t} - e^{a-t} + 1 \right) \right) -pte^{t} - qae^{a} + \left(pe^{t} + qe^{a} \right) \log \left(pe^{t} + qe^{a} \right).$$

Then

$$g'(t) = pq \left(qe^{a}(t-a)e^{t-a} + pe^{t} \left(-e^{a-t} + 1 \right) \right) - pte^{t} + pe^{t} \log(pe^{t} + qe^{a})$$

and $g''(t) = p e^t h(t)$, where

$$h(t) = -a - 2pt - p + 2pa + p^{2}t - p^{2}a + \log(pe^{t} + qe^{a}) + \frac{pe^{t}}{pe^{t} + qe^{a}}.$$

Now,

$$h'(t) = -2p + p^{2} + \frac{2pe^{t}}{pe^{t} + qe^{a}} - \frac{p^{2}e^{2t}}{(pe^{t} + qe^{a})^{2}}$$
$$= \frac{pq^{2}(e^{t} - e^{a})(pe^{t} + (q+1)e^{a})}{(pe^{t} + qe^{a})^{2}},$$

which implies that h'(a) = 0, h'(t) < 0 for any t < a and h'(t) > 0 for any t > a. Hence, for any $t \neq a$, h(t) > h(a) = 0, and so $g''(t) \ge 0$ for any $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and g''(t) = 0 if and only if t = a. Therefore, g' is strictly increasing. Finally, since t = a is the unique root of g' = 0, we have that $g(t) \ge g(a) = 0$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$.



Fig. 1.1: Graph of bounds on the entropy as a function of $p \in [0, 1]$.

This inequality improves (1.12.2), (1.12.3), and (1.12.6), as illustrated in one dimension in Figure 1.12, where the entropy is represented as a function of $p \in [0, 1]$ with f(1) = 1 and f(-1) = 3.5:

The inequality (1.12.7) is a discrete analog of the sharp inequality on Poisson space of [155]. In the symmetric case $p_k = q_k = 1/2$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

Ent
$$[e^F] \leq \mathbb{E} \left[e^F \sum_{k=0}^{N} p_k q_k (\nabla_k F e^{\nabla_k F} - \nabla_k F + 1) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{8} \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} e^{F_k^-} ((F_k^+ - F_k^-) e^{F_k^+ - F_k^-} - e^{F_k^+ - F_k^-} + 1) + e^{F_k^+} ((F_k^- - F_k^+) e^{F_k^- - F_k^+} - e^{F_k^- - F_k^+} + 1) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{8} \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} (e^{F_k^+} - e^{F_k^-}) (F_k^+ - F_k^-) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{N} D_k F D_k e^F \right],$$

which improves on (1.12.3).

Similarly the sharp inequality of [155] can be recovered by taking $F = \varphi(M_n)$ in

Ent
$$\left[e^{F}\right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[e^{F}\sum_{k=0}^{N}p_{k}q_{k}(\nabla_{k}Fe^{\nabla_{k}F}-\nabla_{k}F+1)\right]$$
$$=\frac{\lambda}{n}\left(1-\frac{\lambda}{n}\right)\mathbb{E}\left[M_{n}e^{\varphi(M_{n})}\right]$$

$$\times \left(\left(\varphi(M_n) - \varphi(M_n - 1) \right) \mathrm{e}^{\varphi(M_n) - \varphi(M_n - 1)} - \mathrm{e}^{\varphi(M_n) - \varphi(M_n - 1)} + 1 \right) \right]$$

$$+ \frac{\lambda}{n} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda}{n} \right) \mathbb{E} \left[(n - M_n) \mathrm{e}^{\varphi(M_n)} \right]$$

$$\times \left(\left(\varphi(M_n + 1) - \varphi(M_n) \right) \mathrm{e}^{\varphi(M_n + 1) - \varphi(M_n)} - \mathrm{e}^{\varphi(M_n + 1) - \varphi(M_n)} + 1 \right) \right],$$

which, in the limit as n goes to infinity, yields

Ent
$$\left[e^{\varphi(U)}\right] \leq \lambda \mathbb{E}\left[e^{\varphi(U)}((\varphi(U+1)-\varphi(U))e^{\varphi(U+1)-\varphi(U)}-e^{\varphi(U+1)-\varphi(U)}+1)\right],$$

where U is a Poisson random variable with parameter λ .

1.13 Change of Variable Formula

In this section we state a discrete-time analog of Itô's change of variable formula which will be useful for the predictable representation of random variables and for option hedging.

Proposition 1.13.1. Let $(M_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a square-integrable martingale and $f : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{R}$. We have

$$f(M_n, n) = f(M_{-1}, -1) + \sum_{k=0}^{n} D_k f(M_k, k) Y_k + \sum_{k=0}^{n} \mathbb{E} \left[f(M_k, k) - f(M_{k-1}, k-1) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right].$$
(1.13.1)

Proof. By Proposition 1.7.5 there exists square-integrable process $(u_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that

$$M_n = M_{-1} + \sum_{k=0}^n u_k Y_k, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

We write

$$f(M_n, n) - f(M_{-1}, -1) = \sum_{k=0}^n \left(f(M_k, k) - f(M_{k-1}, k-1) \right)$$

= $\sum_{k=0}^n \left(f(M_k, k) - f(M_{k-1}, k) + f(M_{k-1}, k) - f(M_{k-1}, k-1) \right)$
= $\sum_{k=0}^n \sqrt{\frac{p_k}{q_k}} \left(f\left(M_{k-1} + u_k \sqrt{\frac{q_k}{p_k}}, k \right) - f(M_{k-1}, k) \right) Y_k$
+ $\frac{p_k}{q_k} \mathbf{1}_{\{X_k=-1\}} \left(f\left(M_{k-1} + u_k \sqrt{\frac{q_k}{p_k}}, k \right) - f(M_{k-1}, k) \right)$

$$+\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}\left(f\left(M_{k-1}-u_{k}\sqrt{\frac{p_{k}}{q_{k}}},k\right)-f(M_{k-1},k)\right)$$
$$+\sum_{k=0}^{n}\left(f(M_{k-1},k)-f(M_{k-1},k-1)\right)$$
$$=\sum_{k=0}^{n}\sqrt{\frac{p_{k}}{q_{k}}}\left(f\left(M_{k-1}+u_{k}\sqrt{\frac{q_{k}}{p_{k}}},k\right)-f(M_{k-1},k)\right)Y_{k}$$
$$+\sum_{k=0}^{n}\frac{1}{q_{k}}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{k}=-1\}}\mathbb{E}\left[f(M_{k},k)-f(M_{k-1},k)\mid\mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right]$$
$$+\sum_{k=0}^{n}\left(f(M_{k-1},k)-f(M_{k-1},k-1)\right).$$

Similarly we have

$$f(M_n, n) = f(M_{-1}, -1) - \sum_{k=0}^n \sqrt{\frac{q_k}{p_k}} \left(f\left(M_{k-1} - u_k \sqrt{\frac{p_k}{q_k}}, k\right) - f(M_{k-1}, k) \right) Y_k + \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{1}{p_k} \mathbf{1}_{\{X_k=1\}} \mathbb{E} \left[f(M_k, k) - f(M_{k-1}, k) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] + \sum_{k=0}^n \left(f(M_{k-1}, k) - f(M_{k-1}, k-1) \right).$$

Multiplying each increment in the above formulas respectively by q_k and p_k and summing on k we get

$$f(M_n, n) = f(M_{-1}, -1) + \sum_{k=0}^n (f(M_k, k) - f(M_{k-1}, k-1))$$

= $f(M_{-1}, -1) + \sum_{k=0}^n q_k (f(M_k, k) - f(M_{k-1}, k-1))$
+ $\sum_{k=0}^n p_k (f(M_k, k) - f(M_{k-1}, k-1))$
= $f(M_{-1}, -1) + \sum_{k=0}^n \sqrt{p_k q_k} \left(f\left(M_{k-1} + u_k \sqrt{\frac{q_k}{p_k}}, k\right) - f(M_{k-1}, k) \right) Y_k$
- $\sum_{k=0}^n \sqrt{p_k q_k} \left(f\left(M_{k-1} - u_k \sqrt{\frac{p_k}{q_k}}, k\right) - f(M_{k-1}, k) \right) Y_k$
+ $\sum_{k=0}^n \mathbb{E} \left[f(M_k, k) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] - f(M_{k-1}, k)$

$$+\sum_{k=0}^{n} \left(f(M_{k-1},k) - f(M_{k-1},k-1) \right)$$

= $f(M_{-1},-1)$
+ $\sum_{k=0}^{n} \sqrt{p_k q_k} \left(f\left(M_{k-1} + u_k \sqrt{\frac{q_k}{p_k}}, k \right) - f\left(M_{k-1} - u_k \sqrt{\frac{p_k}{q_k}}, k \right) \right) Y_k$
+ $\sum_{k=0}^{n} \mathbb{E} \left[f(M_k,k) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right] - f(M_{k-1},k-1).$

Note that in (1.13.1) we have

$$D_k f(M_k, k) = \sqrt{p_k q_k} \left(f\left(M_{k-1} + u_k \sqrt{\frac{q_k}{p_k}}, k\right) - f\left(M_{k-1} - u_k \sqrt{\frac{p_k}{q_k}}, k\right) \right),$$

$$k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

On the other hand, the term

$$\mathbb{E}\left[f(M_k,k) - f(M_{k-1},k-1) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}\right]$$

is analog to the generator part in the continuous time Itô formula, and can be written as

$$p_k f\left(M_{k-1} + u_k \sqrt{\frac{q_k}{p_k}}, k\right) + q_k f\left(M_{k-1} - u_k \sqrt{\frac{p_k}{q_k}}, k\right) - f\left(M_{k-1}, k-1\right).$$

When $p_n = q_n = 1/2, n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$f(M_n, n) = f(M_{-1}, -1) + \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{f(M_{k-1} + u_k, k) - f(M_{k-1} - u_k, k)}{2} Y_k + \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{f(M_{k-1} + u_k, k) + f(M_{k-1} - u_k, k) - 2f(M_{k-1}, k - 1)}{2}$$

The above proposition also provides an explicit version of the Doob decomposition for supermartingales. Naturally if $(f(M_n, n))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a martingale we have

$$f(M_n, n) = f(M_{-1}, -1) + \sum_{k=0}^n \sqrt{p_k q_k} \left(f\left(M_{k-1} + u_k \sqrt{\frac{q_k}{p_k}}, k\right) - f\left(M_{k-1} - u_k \sqrt{\frac{p_k}{q_k}}, k\right) \right) Y_k = f(M_{-1}, -1) + \sum_{k=0}^n D_k f(M_k, k) Y_k.$$

50 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). In this case the Clark formula, the martingale representation formula Proposition 1.7.5 and the change of variable formula all coincide, and we have in particular

$$D_k f(M_k, k) = \mathbb{E} \left[D_k f(M_n, n) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right]$$

= $\mathbb{E} \left[D_k f(M_k, k) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1} \right], \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}.$

If F is an \mathcal{F}_N -measurable random variable and f is a function such that

$$\mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{F}_n] = f(M_n, n), \qquad -1 \le n \le N,$$

we have $F = f(M_N, N), \mathbb{E}[F]] = f(M_{-1}, -1)$ and

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{k=0}^{n} \mathbb{E}[D_k f(M_N, N) | \mathcal{F}_{k-1}] Y_k$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{k=0}^{n} D_k f(M_k, k) Y_k$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{k=0}^{n} D_k \mathbb{E}[f(M_N, N) | \mathcal{F}_k] Y_k.$$

Such a function f exists if $(M_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Markov and $F = h(M_N)$. In this case, consider the semi-group $(P_{k,n})_{0 \le k < n \le N}$ associated to $(M_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and defined by

$$(P_{k,n}h)(x) = \mathbb{E}\left[h(M_n) \mid M_k = x\right].$$

Letting $f(x,n) = (P_{n,N}h)(x)$ we can write

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{k=0}^{n} \mathbb{E}[D_k h(M_N) \mid \mathcal{F}_{k-1}] Y_k$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{k=0}^{n} D_k(P_{k,N} h(M_k)) Y_k.$$

1.14 Option Hedging

In this section we give a presentation of the Black-Scholes formula in discrete time, or in the Cox-Ross-Rubinstein model, see e.g. [47], [78], [129], or §15-1 of [153], as an application of the Clark formula.

In order to be consistent with the notation of the previous sections we choose to use the time scale \mathbb{N} , hence the index 0 is that of the first random value of any stochastic process, while the index -1 corresponds to its deterministic

initial value.

Let $(A_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a riskless asset with initial value A_{-1} , and defined by

$$A_n = A_{-1} \prod_{k=0}^n (1+r_k), \qquad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

where $(r_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$, is a sequence of deterministic numbers such that $r_k > -1$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Consider a stock price with initial value S_{-1} , given in discrete time as

$$S_n = \begin{cases} (1+b_n)S_{n-1} & \text{if } X_n = 1, \\ (1+a_n)S_{n-1} & \text{if } X_n = -1, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}, \end{cases}$$

where $(a_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(b_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ are sequences of deterministic numbers such that

$$-1 < a_k < r_k < b_k, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

We have

$$S_n = S_{-1} \prod_{k=0}^n \sqrt{(1+b_k)(1+a_k)} \left(\frac{1+b_k}{1+a_k}\right)^{X_k/2}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Consider now the discounted stock price given as

$$\tilde{S}_n = S_n \prod_{k=0}^n (1+r_k)^{-1}$$

= $S_{-1} \prod_{k=0}^n \left(\frac{1}{1+r_k} \sqrt{(1+b_k)(1+a_k)} \left(\frac{1+b_k}{1+a_k} \right)^{X_k/2} \right), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$

If $-1 < a_k < r_k < b_k$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, then $(\tilde{S}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a martingale with respect to $(\mathcal{F}_n)_{n \geq -1}$ under the probability \mathbb{P}^* given by

$$p_k = \frac{r_k - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, \quad q_k = \frac{b_k - r_k}{b_k - a_k}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

In other terms, under \mathbb{P}^* we have

$$\mathbb{E}^* [S_{n+1} \mid \mathcal{F}_n] = (1 + r_{n+1})S_n, \qquad n \ge -1,$$

where \mathbb{E}^* denotes the expectation under \mathbb{P}^* . Recall that under this probability measure there is absence of arbitrage and the market is complete. From the change of variable formula Proposition 1.13.1 or from the Clark formula (1.7.1) we have the martingale representation

$$\tilde{S}_n = S_{-1} + \sum_{k=0}^n Y_k D_k \tilde{S}_k = S_{-1} + \sum_{k=0}^n \tilde{S}_{k-1} \sqrt{p_k q_k} \frac{b_k - a_k}{1 + r_k} Y_k.$$

Definition 1.14.1. A portfolio strategy is represented by a pair of predictable processes $(\eta_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(\zeta_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ where η_k , resp. ζ_k represents the numbers of units invested over the time period (k, k + 1] in the asset S_k , resp. A_k , with $k \ge 0$.

The value at time $k \geq -1$ of the portfolio $(\eta_k, \zeta_k)_{0 \leq k \leq N}$ is defined as

$$V_k = \zeta_{k+1} A_k + \eta_{k+1} S_k, \qquad k \ge -1, \tag{1.14.1}$$

and its discounted value is defined as

$$\tilde{V}_n = V_n \prod_{k=0}^n (1+r_k)^{-1}, \qquad n \ge -1.$$
(1.14.2)

Definition 1.14.2. A portfolio $(\eta_k, \zeta_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is said to be self-financing if

$$A_k(\zeta_{k+1} - \zeta_k) + S_k(\eta_{k+1} - \eta_k) = 0, \qquad k \ge 0.$$

Note that the self-financing condition implies

$$V_k = \zeta_k A_k + \eta_k S_k, \qquad k \ge 0.$$

Our goal is to hedge an arbitrary claim on Ω , i.e. given an \mathcal{F}_N -measurable random variable F we search for a portfolio $(\eta_k, \zeta_k)_{0 \le k \le n}$ such that the equality

$$F = V_N = \zeta_N A_N + \eta_N S_N \tag{1.14.3}$$

holds at time $N \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proposition 1.14.3. Assume that the portfolio $(\eta_k, \zeta_k)_{0 \le k \le N}$ is self-financing. Then we have the decomposition

$$V_n = V_{-1} \prod_{k=0}^n (1+r_k) + \sum_{i=0}^n \eta_i S_{i-1} \sqrt{p_i q_i} (b_i - a_i) Y_i \prod_{k=i+1}^n (1+r_k). \quad (1.14.4)$$

Proof. Under the self-financing assumption we have

$$V_{i} - V_{i-1} = \zeta_{i}(A_{i} - A_{i-1}) + \eta_{i}(S_{i} - S_{i-1})$$

$$= r_{i}\zeta_{i}A_{i-1} + (a_{i}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{i}=-1\}} + b_{i}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{i}=1\}})\eta_{i}S_{i-1}$$

$$= \eta_{i}S_{i-1}(a_{i}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{i}=-1\}} + b_{i}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{i}=1\}} - r_{i}) + r_{i}V_{i-1}$$

$$= \eta_{i}S_{i-1}((a_{i} - r_{i})\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{i}=-1\}} + (b_{i} - r_{i})\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{i}=1\}}) + r_{i}V_{i-1}$$

$$= (b_{i} - a_{i})\eta_{i}S_{i-1}(-p_{i}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{i}=-1\}} + q_{i}\mathbf{1}_{\{X_{i}=1\}}) + r_{i}V_{i-1}$$

$$= \eta_i S_{i-1} \sqrt{p_i q_i} (b_i - a_i) Y_i + r_i V_{i-1}, \qquad i \in \mathbb{N},$$

by Relation (1.4.5), hence for the discounted portfolio we get:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{V}_i - \tilde{V}_{i-1} &= \prod_{k=1}^i (1+r_k)^{-1} V_i - \prod_{k=1}^{i-1} (1+r_k)^{-1} V_{i-1} \\ &= \prod_{k=1}^i (1+r_k)^{-1} (V_i - V_{i-1} - r_i V_{i-1}) \\ &= \eta_i S_{i-1} \sqrt{p_i q_i} (b_i - a_i) Y_i \prod_{k=1}^i (1+r_k)^{-1}, \qquad i \in \mathbb{N}, \end{split}$$

which successively yields (1.14.4).

As a consequence of (1.14.4) and (1.14.2) we immediately obtain

$$\tilde{V}_n = \tilde{V}_{-1} + \sum_{i=0}^n \eta_i S_{i-1} \sqrt{p_i q_i} (b_i - a_i) Y_i \prod_{k=0}^i (1 + r_k)^{-1}, \qquad (1.14.5)$$

 $n \geq -1$. The next proposition provides a solution to the hedging problem under the constraint (1.14.3).

Proposition 1.14.4. Given $F \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_N)$, let

$$\eta_n = \frac{1}{S_{n-1}\sqrt{p_n q_n}(b_n - a_n)} \mathbb{E}^* \left[D_n F \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1} \right] \prod_{k=n+1}^N (1 + r_k)^{-1}, \qquad (1.14.6)$$

 $0\leq n\leq N, \ and$

$$\zeta_n = A_n^{-1} \left(\prod_{k=n+1}^N (1+r_k)^{-1} \mathbb{E}^* \left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_n \right] - \eta_n S_n \right), \qquad (1.14.7)$$

 $0 \leq n \leq N$. Then the portfolio $(\eta_k, \zeta_k)_{0 \leq k \leq n}$ is self financing and satisfies

$$\zeta_n A_n + \eta_n S_n = \prod_{k=n+1}^N (1+r_k)^{-1} \mathbb{E}^* [F \mid \mathcal{F}_n],$$

 $0 \leq n \leq N$, in particular we have $V_N = F$, hence $(\eta_k, \zeta_k)_{0 \leq k \leq N}$ is a hedging strategy leading to F.

Proof. Let $(\eta_k)_{-1 \le k \le N}$ be defined by (1.14.6) and $\eta_{-1} = 0$, and consider the process $(\zeta_n)_{0 \le n \le N}$ defined by

$$\zeta_{-1} = \frac{\mathbb{E}^*[F]}{S_{-1}} \prod_{k=0}^N (1+r_k)^{-1}$$
 and $\zeta_{k+1} = \zeta_k - \frac{(\eta_{k+1} - \eta_k)S_k}{A_k}$,

 $k = -1, \ldots, N-1$. Then $(\eta_k, \zeta_k)_{-1 \le k \le N}$ satisfies the self-financing condition

$$A_k(\zeta_{k+1} - \zeta_k) + S_k(\eta_{k+1} - \eta_k) = 0, \qquad -1 \le k \le N - 1.$$

Let now

$$V_{-1} = \mathbb{E}^* [F] \prod_{k=0}^N (1+r_k)^{-1}$$
, and $V_n = \zeta_n A_n + \eta_n S_n$, $0 \le n \le N$,

and

$$\tilde{V}_n = V_n \prod_{k=0}^n (1+r_k)^{-1}, \qquad -1 \le n \le N.$$

Since $(\eta_k, \zeta_k)_{-1 \le k \le N}$ is self-financing, Relation (1.14.5) shows that

$$\tilde{V}_n = \tilde{V}_{-1} + \sum_{i=0}^n Y_i \eta_i S_{i-1} \sqrt{p_i q_i} (b_i - a_i) \prod_{k=1}^i (1 + r_k)^{-1}, \qquad (1.14.8)$$

 $-1 \leq n \leq N.$ On the other hand, from the Clark formula (1.7.1) and the definition of $(\eta_k)_{-1 \leq k \leq N}$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}^{*} [F \mid \mathcal{F}_{n}] \prod_{k=0}^{N} (1+r_{k})^{-1}$$

$$= \mathbb{E}^{*} \left[\mathbb{E}^{*} [F] \prod_{k=0}^{N} (1+r_{k})^{-1} + \sum_{i=0}^{N} Y_{i} \mathbb{E}^{*} [D_{i}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{i-1}] \prod_{k=0}^{N} (1+r_{k})^{-1} \middle| \mathcal{F}_{n} \right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}^{*} [F] \prod_{k=0}^{N} (1+r_{k})^{-1} + \sum_{i=0}^{n} Y_{i} \mathbb{E}^{*} [D_{i}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{i-1}] \prod_{k=0}^{N} (1+r_{k})^{-1}$$

$$= \mathbb{E}^{*} [F] \prod_{k=0}^{N} (1+r_{k})^{-1} + \sum_{i=0}^{n} Y_{i} \eta_{i} S_{i-1} \sqrt{p_{i} q_{i}} (b_{i} - a_{i}) \prod_{k=1}^{i} (1+r_{k})^{-1}$$

$$= \tilde{V}_{n}$$

from (1.14.8). Hence

$$\tilde{V}_n = \mathbb{E}^* \left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_n \right] \prod_{k=0}^N (1+r_k)^{-1}, \qquad -1 \le n \le N,$$

and

$$V_n = \mathbb{E}^* [F \mid \mathcal{F}_n] \prod_{k=n+1}^N (1+r_k)^{-1}, \qquad -1 \le n \le N.$$

In particular we have $V_N = F$. To conclude the proof we note that from the relation $V_n = \zeta_n A_n + \eta_n S_n$, $0 \le n \le N$, the process $(\zeta_n)_{0 \le n \le N}$ coincides with $(\zeta_n)_{0 \le n \le N}$ defined by (1.14.7).

Note that we also have

$$\zeta_{n+1}A_n + \eta_{n+1}S_n = \mathbb{E}^* \left[F \mid \mathcal{F}_n \right] \prod_{k=n+1}^N (1+r_k)^{-1}, \qquad -1 \le n \le N.$$

The above proposition shows that there always exists a hedging strategy starting from

$$\tilde{V}_{-1} = \mathbb{E}^* [F] \prod_{k=0}^N (1+r_k)^{-1}.$$

Conversely, if there exists a hedging strategy leading to

$$\tilde{V}_N = F \prod_{k=0}^N (1+r_k)^{-1},$$

then $(\tilde{V}_n)_{-1 \le n \le N}$ is necessarily a martingale with initial value

$$\tilde{V}_{-1} = \mathbb{E}^* \left[\tilde{V}_N \right] = \mathbb{E}^* \left[F \right] \prod_{k=0}^N (1+r_k)^{-1}.$$

When $F = h(\tilde{S}_N)$, we have $\mathbb{E}^* \left[h(\tilde{S}_N) \mid \mathcal{F}_k \right] = f(\tilde{S}_k, k)$ with

$$f(x,k) = \mathbb{E}^* \left[h \left(x \prod_{i=k+1}^n \frac{\sqrt{(1+b_k)(1+a_k)}}{1+r_k} \left(\frac{1+b_k}{1+a_k} \right)^{X_k/2} \right) \right].$$

The hedging strategy is given by

$$\eta_{k} = \frac{1}{S_{k-1}\sqrt{p_{k}q_{k}}(b_{k}-a_{k})} D_{k}f(\tilde{S}_{k},k) \prod_{i=k+1}^{N} (1+r_{i})^{-1}$$
$$= \frac{\prod_{i=k+1}^{N} (1+r_{i})^{-1}}{S_{k-1}(b_{k}-a_{k})} \left(f\left(\tilde{S}_{k-1}\frac{1+b_{k}}{1+r_{k}},k\right) - f\left(\tilde{S}_{k-1}\frac{1+a_{k}}{1+r_{k}},k\right) \right),$$

 $k \geq -1$. Note that η_k is non-negative (i.e. there is no short-selling) when f is an increasing function, e.g. in the case of European options we have $f(x) = (x - K)^+$.

1.15 Notes and References

This chapter is a revision of [117] with some additions, and is mainly based on [61] and [119]. It is included for the sake of consistency and for the role it plays as an introduction to the next chapters. Other approaches to discretetime stochastic analysis include [55], [56], [50], [82] and [92]; see [9] for an approach based on quantum probability. Deviation inequalities and logarithmic Sobolev inequalities are treated in [20], [48], [61]. We also refer to [6], [18], [19], [63], [79], for other versions of logarithmic Sobolev inequalities in discrete settings. See [78], §15-1 of [153], and [129], for other derivations of the Black-Scholes formula in the discrete time Cox-Ross-Rubinstein model.

Chapter 2 Continuous-Time Normal Martingales

This chapter is concerned with the basics of stochastic calculus in continuous time. In continuation of Chapter 1 we keep considering the point of view of normal martingales and structure equations, which provides a unified treatment of stochastic integration and calculus that applies to both continuous and discontinuous processes. In particular we cover the construction of single and multiple stochastic integrals with respect to normal martingales and we discuss other classical topics such as quadratic variations and the Itô formula.

2.1 Normal Martingales

Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ be a probability space equipped with a right-continuous filtration $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, i.e. an increasing family of sub σ -algebras of \mathcal{F} such that

$$\mathcal{F}_t = \bigcap_{s>t} \mathcal{F}_s, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

We refer to Section 9.5 in the Appendix for recalls on martingales in continuous time.

Definition 2.1.1. A square-integrable martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[(M_t - M_s)^2 | \mathcal{F}_s\right] = t - s, \qquad 0 \le s < t, \tag{2.1.1}$$

is called a normal martingale.

Every square-integrable process $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ with centered independent increments and generating the filtration $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ satisfies

$$\mathbb{E}\left[(M_t - M_s)^2 | \mathcal{F}_s\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[(M_t - M_s)^2\right], \qquad 0 \le s \le t,$$

hence the following remark.

Remark 2.1.2. A square-integrable process $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ with centered independent increments is a normal martingale if and only if

$$\mathbb{E}\left[(M_t - M_s)^2\right] = t - s, \qquad 0 \le s \le t.$$

In our presentation of stochastic integration we will restrict ourselves to normal martingales. As will be seen in the next sections, this family contains Brownian motion and the standard Poisson process as particular cases.

Remark 2.1.3. A martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is normal if and only if $(M_t^2 - t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a martingale, *i.e.*

$$\mathbb{E}\left[M_t^2 - t | \mathcal{F}_s\right] = M_s^2 - s, \qquad 0 \le s < t.$$

Proof. This follows from the equalities

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[(M_t - M_s)^2 |\mathcal{F}_s\right] - (t - s) \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[M_t^2 - M_s^2 - 2(M_t - M_s)M_s |\mathcal{F}_s\right] - (t - s) \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[M_t^2 - M_s^2 |\mathcal{F}_s\right] - 2M_s \mathbb{E}\left[M_t - M_s |\mathcal{F}_s\right] - (t - s) \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[M_t^2 |\mathcal{F}_s\right] - t - (\mathbb{E}\left[M_s^2 |\mathcal{F}_s\right] - s). \end{split}$$

Throughout the remainder of this chapter, $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ will be a normal martingale and $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ will be the right-continuous filtration generated by $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, i.e.

$$\mathcal{F}_t = \sigma(M_s : 0 \le s \le t), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

2.2 Brownian Motion

In this section and the next one we present Brownian motion and the compensated Poisson process as the fundamental examples of normal martingales. Stochastic processes, as sequences of random variables can be naturally constructed in an infinite dimensional setting. Similarly to Remark 1.4.1 where an infinite product of discrete Bernoulli measures is mapped to the Lebesgue measure, one can map the uniform measure on "infinite dimensional spheres" to a Gaussian measure, cf. e.g. [89], [51], and references therein. More precisely, the surface of the *n*-dimensional sphere with radius r is

$$s_n(r) = \frac{n\pi^{n/2}}{\Gamma(\frac{n}{2}+1)} r^{n-1} \simeq \pi^{n/2} \sqrt{2n\pi} e^{n/2} \left(\frac{n}{2}\right)^{-n/2} r^{n-1},$$

with $s_1(r) = 2$, where the equivalence is given by Stirling's formula as n goes to infinity. The set of points on the sphere $S_n(\sqrt{n})$ whose first coordinate x_1 lies between a and a + da has the measure

$$\sigma_n(\{(x_1, \dots, x_n) \in S_n(\sqrt{n}) : a \le x_1 \le a + da\})$$

$$= \frac{s_{n-1}(\sqrt{n-a^2})}{s_n(\sqrt{n})} \frac{da}{\sqrt{1-a^2/n}}$$

$$\simeq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left(\sqrt{1-\frac{a^2}{n}}\right)^{n-2} da$$

$$\to \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-a^2/2} da, \qquad [n \to \infty].$$

When a point is chosen uniformly on the sphere, its components have an approximately Gaussian distribution as n becomes large. Namely, the uniform measure $\sigma_n(dx)$ on $S_n(\sqrt{n})$ converges weakly as n goes to infinity to the infinite dimensional Gaussian measure

$$\gamma_{\mathbb{N}}(dx) = \bigotimes_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \mathrm{e}^{-x_k^2/2} dx_k, \qquad (2.2.1)$$

on $(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{N}}, \mathcal{B}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\otimes \mathbb{N}})$, cf. e.g. Ex. 5, page 66 of [54], which gives a numerical model of Gaussian space in the sense of [87], §I-3. Since the *n*-dimensional sphere with radius *r* has curvature $(n-1)/r^2$, $S_n(\sqrt{n})$ has curvature 1-1/n, and can be viewed as an infinite dimensional space with unit curvature when *n* is large. We refer to [30] and to Chapter 5 of [52] for approaches to this phenomenon using non standard analysis and white noise analysis respectively.

Thus our starting point is now a family $(\xi_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of independent standard Gaussian random variables under $\gamma_{\mathbb{N}}$, constructed as the canonical projections from $(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{N}}, \mathcal{B}_{\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{N}}}, \gamma_{\mathbb{N}})$ into \mathbb{R} . The measure $\gamma_{\mathbb{N}}$ is characterized by its Fourier transform

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha \longmapsto \mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\langle\xi, \alpha\rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}\right)\right] &= \mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\xi_{n}\alpha_{n}\right)\right] \\ &= \prod_{n=0}^{\infty}e^{-\alpha_{n}^{2}/2} \\ &= e^{-\frac{1}{2}\|\alpha\|_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N})}^{2}}, \quad \alpha \in \ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}), \end{aligned}$$

i.e. $\langle \xi, \alpha \rangle_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}$ is a centered Gaussian random variable with variance $\|\alpha\|^2_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})}$. Let $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ denote an orthonormal basis $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$.

Definition 2.2.1. Given $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ with decomposition

$$u = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \langle u, e_n \rangle e_n,$$

we let $J_1: L^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \longrightarrow L^2(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{N}}, \gamma^{\mathbb{N}})$ be defined as

$$J_1(u) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \xi_n \langle u, e_n \rangle.$$
(2.2.2)

We have the isometry property

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|J_1(u)|^2\right] = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |\langle u, e_n \rangle|^2 \mathbb{E}\left[\xi_n^2\right]$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |\langle u, e_n \rangle|^2$$

$$= ||u||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)},$$
(2.2.3)

and the characteristic function of $J_1(u)$ is given by

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{iJ_{1}(u)}\right] = \prod_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{i\xi_{n}\langle u, e_{n}\rangle}\right]$$
$$= \prod_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{2}\langle u, e_{n}\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2}}$$
$$= \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2}\right),$$

hence $J_1(u)$ is a centered Gaussian random variable with variance $||u||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2$, cf. Section 9.2. Next is a constructive definition of Brownian motion, using the mapping J_1 and the decomposition

$$\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e_n \int_0^t e_n(s) ds.$$

Definition 2.2.2. For all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, let

$$B_t = J_1(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \xi_n \int_0^t e_n(s) ds.$$
 (2.2.4)

Clearly, $B_t - B_s = J_1(\mathbf{1}_{[s,t]})$ is a Gaussian centered random variable with variance:

$$\mathbb{E}[(B_t - B_s)^2] = \mathbb{E}[|J_1(\mathbf{1}_{[s,t]})|^2] = \|\mathbf{1}_{[s,t]}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 = t - s.$$
(2.2.5)

Moreover, the isometry formula (2.2.3) shows that if u_1, \ldots, u_n are orthogonal in $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ then $J_1(u_1), \ldots, J_1(u_n)$ are also mutually orthogonal in $L^2(\Omega)$,

hence from Corollary 16.1 of [71], see Proposition 9.2.1 in the Appendix, we get the following.

Proposition 2.2.3. Let u_1, \ldots, u_n be an orthogonal family in $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, i.e.

 $\langle u_i, u_j \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} = 0, \qquad 1 \le i \ne j \le n.$

Then $(J_1(u_1), \ldots, J_1(u_n))$ is a vector of independent Gaussian centered random variables with respective variances $||u_1||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}, \ldots, ||u_1||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}$.

As a consequence of Proposition 2.2.3, $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has centered independent increments hence it is a martingale from Proposition 9.5.2 in the Appendix.

Moreover, from (2.2.5) and Remark 2.1.2 we deduce the following proposition.

Proposition 2.2.4. The Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a normal martingale.

2.3 Compensated Poisson Martingale

The compensated Poisson process will provide a second example of a normal martingale. As mentioned at the beginning of Section 2, Gaussian distributions arise from uniform measures on infinite-dimensional spheres. They also can be constructed from the central limit theorem which states that if (Y_1^n, \ldots, Y_n^n) is a sequence of independent, identically distributed centered random variables with variance σ^2/n ,

$$Y_1^n + \dots + Y_n^n, \qquad n \ge 1,$$

converges in distribution to a centered Gaussian random variable with variance $\sigma^2.$

In a discrete setting we let

$$S_n = Z_1^n + \dots + Z_n^n, \qquad n \ge 1,$$

where $Z_1^n, \ldots, Z_n^n \in \{0, 1\}$ is a family of independent Bernoulli random variables with same parameter λ/n , i.e.

$$\mathbb{P}(Z_k^n = 1) = \frac{\lambda}{n}, \qquad 1 \le k \le n.$$

Then S_n has a binomial distribution with parameter $(n, \lambda/n)$:

$$\mathbb{P}(Z_1^n + \dots + Z_n^n = k) = \binom{n}{k} \left(\frac{\lambda}{n}\right)^k \left(1 - \frac{\lambda}{n}\right)^{n-k}$$

which converges to $\frac{\lambda^k}{k!}e^{-\lambda}$ as *n* goes to infinity, i.e.

$$Z_1^n + \dots + Z_n^n$$

converges in distribution to a Poisson random variable with intensity $\lambda > 0$. This defines a probability measure π_{λ} on \mathbb{Z} as

$$\pi_{\lambda}(\{k\}) = p_{\lambda}(k) := \mathbf{1}_{\{k \ge 0\}} \frac{\lambda^k}{k!} \mathrm{e}^{-\lambda}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(2.3.1)

with the convolution property

$$\pi_{\lambda} \star \pi_{\mu} = \pi_{\lambda + \mu}.$$

Let now $(\tau_n)_{n\geq 1}$ denote a sequence of independent and identically exponentially distributed random variables, with parameter $\lambda > 0$, i.e.

$$\mathbb{E}[f(\tau_1,\ldots,\tau_n)] = \lambda^n \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda(s_1+\cdots+s_n)} f(s_1,\ldots,s_n) ds_1 \cdots ds_n,$$
(2.3.2)

for all sufficiently integrable $f : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}$. Let also

$$T_n = \tau_1 + \dots + \tau_n, \qquad n \ge 1.$$

Next we consider the canonical point process associated to $(T_k)_{k\geq 1}$.

Definition 2.3.1. The point process $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ defined by

$$N_t = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{[T_k,\infty)}(t), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+$$
(2.3.3)

is called the standard Poisson point process with intensity $\lambda > 0$.

Relation (2.3.2) can be rewritten as

$$\mathbb{E}[f(T_1,\ldots,T_n)] = \lambda^n \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t_n} f(t_1,\ldots,t_n) \mathbf{1}_{\{t_1 < \cdots < t_n\}} dt_1 \cdots dt_n,$$
(2.3.4)

hence the law of (T_1, \ldots, T_n) has density

$$(t_1,\ldots,t_n) \longmapsto \lambda^n \mathrm{e}^{-\lambda t_n} \mathbf{1}_{\{0 \le t_1 < \cdots < t_n\}}$$

on \mathbb{R}^n_+ .

From this we may directly show that N_t has a Poisson distribution with parameter λt :

$$\mathbb{P}(N_t = k) = \mathbb{P}(T_k \le t < T_{k+1})$$
$$= \lambda^{k+1} \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t_{k+1}} \int_0^{t_{k+1}} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_k < t \le t_{k+1}\}} dt_1 \cdots dt_{k+1}$$

= $\lambda^{k+1} \int_t^\infty e^{-\lambda t_{k+1}} \int_0^t \int_0^{t_k} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} dt_1 \cdots dt_{k+1}$
= $\frac{t^k}{k!} \lambda^{k+1} \int_t^\infty e^{-\lambda t_{k+1}} dt_{k+1}$
= $\frac{(\lambda t)^k}{k!} e^{-\lambda t}, \quad t > 0.$

Proposition 2.3.2. The law of T_n has the density $t \mapsto \lambda^n e^{-\lambda t} \frac{t^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}$ on $\mathbb{R}_+, n \ge 1$.

Proof. We have

$$\mathbb{P}(T_1 > t) = \mathbb{P}(N_t = 0) = e^{-\lambda t}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

and by induction, assuming that

$$\mathbb{P}(T_{n-1} > t) = \lambda \int_t^\infty e^{-\lambda s} \frac{(\lambda s)^{n-2}}{(n-2)!} ds, \qquad n \ge 2,$$

we obtain

$$\mathbb{P}(T_n > t) = \mathbb{P}(T_n > t \ge T_{n-1}) + \mathbb{P}(T_{n-1} > t)$$

= $\mathbb{P}(N_t = n - 1) + \mathbb{P}(T_{n-1} > t)$
= $e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} + \lambda \int_t^\infty e^{-\lambda s} \frac{(\lambda s)^{n-2}}{(n-2)!} ds$
= $\lambda \int_t^\infty e^{-\lambda s} \frac{(\lambda s)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} ds, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$

For any bounded measurable functions $g:\mathbb{R}_+\to\mathbb{R}$ and $f:\mathbb{R}^n_+\to\mathbb{R}$ we also have

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}[g(T_{n+1})\mathbb{E}[f(T_1,\ldots,T_n)|T_{n+1}]] = \mathbb{E}[g(T_{n+1})f(T_1,\ldots,T_n)] \\ &= \lambda^{n+1} \int_0^\infty g(t_{n+1})\mathrm{e}^{-\lambda t_{n+1}} \int_0^{t_{n+1}} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} f(t_1,\ldots,t_n) dt_1 \cdots dt_{n+1} \\ &= \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty \frac{n!}{t_{n+1}^n} f(t_1,\ldots,t_n) \mathbf{1}_{\{t_1 < \cdots < t_{n+1}\}} dt_1 \cdots dt_n g(t_{n+1}) d\mathbb{P}(T_{n+1} = t_{n+1}) \\ &= \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[f(T_1,\ldots,T_n)|T_{n+1} = t_{n+1}]g(t_{n+1}) d\mathbb{P}(T_{n+1} = t_{n+1}), \end{split}$$

where $d\mathbb{P}(T_{n+1} = t_{n+1})$ denotes $\mathbb{P}(T_{n+1} \in dt_{n+1})$. As a consequence, we have the next proposition.

Proposition 2.3.3. The conditional density of (T_1, \ldots, T_n) given that $T_{n+1} = T$ is

$$(t_1,\ldots,t_n)\longmapsto \frac{n!}{T^n}\mathbf{1}_{\{0\leq t_1<\cdots< t_n\leq T\}}.$$

Moreover we have

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[f\left(\frac{T_{1}}{T_{n+1}},\dots,\frac{T_{n}}{T_{n+1}}\right)g(T_{n+1})\right] \\ &= \lambda^{n+1}\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t_{n+1}}\int_{0}^{t_{n+1}}\dots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}f\left(\frac{t_{1}}{t_{n+1}},\dots,\frac{t_{n}}{t_{n+1}}\right)g(t_{n+1})dt_{1}\dots dt_{n+1} \\ &= \lambda^{n+1}\int_{0}^{\infty}(t_{n+1})^{n}g(t_{n+1})e^{-\lambda t_{n+1}}\int_{0}^{1}\int_{0}^{s_{n}}\dots\int_{0}^{s_{2}}f(s_{1},\dots,s_{n})ds_{1}\dots ds_{n}dt_{n+1} \\ &= n!\int_{0}^{1}\int_{0}^{s_{n}}\dots\int_{0}^{s_{2}}f(s_{1},\dots,s_{n})ds_{1}\dots ds_{n}\int_{0}^{\infty}g(t_{n+1})d\mathbb{P}(T_{n+1}=t_{n+1}) \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[f\left(\frac{T_{1}}{T_{n+1}},\dots,\frac{T_{n}}{T_{n+1}}\right)\right]\mathbb{E}[g(T_{n+1})], \end{split}$$

hence $\left(\frac{T_1}{T_{n+1}}, \ldots, \frac{T_n}{T_{n+1}}\right)$ is independent of T_{n+1} and has density

$$(s_1,\ldots,s_n) \longmapsto n! \mathbf{1}_{\{0 \le s_1 < \cdots < s_n \le 1\}}$$

on $[0, 1]^n$, cf. e.g. [28]. As will be seen in Proposition 2.5.10 below, the random sum

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N_a} f(T_k)$$

used in the next proposition can be interpreted as the Stieltjes integral

$$\int_0^a f(t) dN_t$$

of f with respect to $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$.

Proposition 2.3.4. Let a > 0 and let $f : [0, a] \to \mathbb{R}$ be measurable. We have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\sum_{k=1}^{N_a} f(T_k)\right)\right] = \exp\left(\lambda \int_0^a (e^{if(t)} - 1)dt\right).$$

Proof. Let $g_n, n \ge 1$, be defined as

$$g_n(t_1,\ldots,t_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{k-1} < a < t_k\}} e^{if(t_1) + \cdots + if(t_{k-1})} + \mathbf{1}_{\{t_n < a\}} e^{if(t_1) + \cdots + if(t_n)},$$

with $t_0 = 0$, so that

$$\exp\left(i\sum_{k=1}^{n\wedge N_a} f(T_k)\right) = g_n(T_1,\ldots,T_n).$$

Then we have

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\sum_{k=1}^{n\wedge N_{a}}f(T_{k})\right)\right] = \mathbb{E}[g_{n}(T_{1},\ldots,T_{n})] \\ &= \lambda^{n}\sum_{k=1}^{n}\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-\lambda t_{n}}\int_{0}^{t_{n}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}\mathbf{1}_{\{t_{k-1}< a< t_{k}\}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{k-1})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{n} \\ &+\lambda^{n}\int_{0}^{a}e^{-\lambda t_{n}}\int_{0}^{t_{n}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{n})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{n} \\ &= \lambda^{n}\sum_{k=1}^{n}\int_{a}^{\infty}e^{-\lambda t_{n}}\frac{(t_{n}-a)^{n-k}}{(n-k-1)!}dt_{n} \\ &\times\int_{0}^{a}\int_{0}^{t_{k-1}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{k-1})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{n-1} \\ &+\lambda^{n}\int_{0}^{a}e^{-\lambda t_{n}}\int_{0}^{t_{n}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{n})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{n} \\ &= e^{-\lambda a}\sum_{k=1}^{n}\lambda^{k}\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-\lambda t}\frac{(\lambda t)^{n-k}}{(n-k-1)!}dt \\ &\times\int_{0}^{a}\int_{0}^{t_{k-1}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{n})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{n-1} \\ &+\lambda^{n}\int_{0}^{a}e^{-\lambda t_{n}}\int_{0}^{t_{n-1}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{n})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{n} \\ &= e^{-\lambda a}\sum_{k=1}^{n}\lambda^{k}\int_{0}^{a}\int_{0}^{t_{k-1}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{n})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{n-1} \\ &+e^{-\lambda a}\sum_{k=n}^{\infty}\lambda^{k}\int_{0}^{a}\int_{0}^{t_{k-1}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{k-1})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{k-1} \\ &+e^{-\lambda a}\sum_{k=n}^{\infty}\lambda^{k}\int_{0}^{a}\int_{0}^{t_{k-1}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{k-1})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{k-1} \\ &+e^{-\lambda a}\sum_{k=n}^{\infty}\lambda^{k}\int_{0}^{a}\int_{0}^{t_{k-1}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{k-1})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{k-1} \\ &+e^{-\lambda a}\sum_{k=n}^{\infty}\lambda^{k}\int_{0}^{a}\int_{0}^{t_{k}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{k-1})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{k-1} \\ &+e^{-\lambda a}\sum_{k=n}^{\infty}\lambda^{k}\int_{0}^{a}\int_{0}^{t_{k}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{k-1})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{k} \\ &\times\int_{0}^{t_{n+1}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{k})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{k} \\ &=e^{-\lambda a}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\lambda^{k}\int_{0}^{a}\int_{0}^{t_{k}}\cdots\int_{0}^{t_{2}}e^{if(t_{1})+\cdots+if(t_{k\wedge n})}dt_{1}\cdots dt_{k}. \end{split}$$

67 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

Hence as n goes to infinity,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\sum_{k=1}^{N_a}f(T_k)\right)\right] = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\sum_{k=1}^{n \wedge N_a}f(T_k)\right)\right]$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} e^{-\lambda a} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^k}{k!} \int_0^a \cdots \int_0^a e^{if(t_1) + \dots + if(t_k \wedge n)} dt_1 \cdots dt_k$$
$$= e^{-\lambda a} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^k}{k!} \int_0^a \cdots \int_0^a e^{if(t_1) + \dots + if(t_k)} dt_1 \cdots dt_k$$
$$= \exp\left(\lambda \int_0^a (e^{if(t)} - 1) dt\right).$$

The next corollary states the standard definition of the Poisson process.

Corollary 2.3.5. The counting process $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ defined by (2.3.3) has independent increments which are distributed according to the Poisson law, i.e. for all $0 \le t_0 \le t_1 < \cdots < t_n$,

$$(N_{t_1} - N_{t_0}, \dots, N_{t_n} - N_{t_{n-1}})$$

is a vector of independent Poisson random variables with respective parameters $% \left(\frac{1}{2} \right) = 0$

$$(\lambda(t_1-t_0),\ldots,\lambda(t_n-t_{n-1})).$$

Proof. Letting

$$f = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \alpha_k \mathbf{1}_{(t_{k-1}, t_k]},$$

from Proposition 2.3.4 we get

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\sum_{k=1}^{n}\alpha_{k}(N_{t_{k}}-N_{t_{k-1}})\right)\right] = \prod_{k=1}^{n}e^{\lambda(t_{k}-t_{k-1})(e^{i\alpha_{k}}-1)}$$
$$= \exp\left(\lambda\sum_{k=1}^{n}(t_{k}-t_{k-1})(e^{i\alpha_{k}}-1)\right)$$
$$= \prod_{k=1}^{n}\mathbb{E}\left[e^{i\alpha_{k}(N_{t_{k}}-N_{t_{k-1}})}\right],$$

for all $0 = t_0 \le t_1 < \cdots < t_n$, hence the components of the vector

$$(N_{t_1} - N_{t_0}, \dots, N_{t_n} - N_{t_{n-1}})$$

are independent Poisson random variables with parameters

$$(\lambda(t_n-t_{n-1}),\ldots,\lambda(t_1-t_0)).$$

In particular, for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, we have

$$\mathbb{P}(N_t = n) = p_n(t) = e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^n}{n!},$$

i.e. $p_{n-1}: \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+, n \ge 1$, is the density function of T_n , and

$$p'_n(t) = p_{n-1}(t) - p_n(t), \qquad n \in \mathbb{Z}, \ t \in \mathbb{R}_+$$

Relation (2.3.4) above can be extended as a statement in conditional expectation using the independent increment property of the Poisson process. Let

$$\Delta_n = \{ (t_1, \dots, t_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ : 0 \le t_1 < \dots < t_n \}, \qquad n \ge 1.$$

Proposition 2.3.6. For any $f \in L^1(\Delta_n, e^{-s_n} ds_1 \cdots ds_n)$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[f(T_1, \dots, T_n) | \mathcal{F}_t]$$

$$= \int_t^\infty e^{-(s_n - t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t + 2}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t + 1}, \dots, s_n) ds_{N_t + 1} \cdots ds_n.$$
(2.3.5)

Proof. Apply Relation (2.3.4) using the fact that for fixed t > 0, $(N_s - N_t)_{s \ge t}$ is a standard Poisson process independent of \mathcal{F}_t .

In particular we have

$$\mathbb{E}[f(T_n)|\mathcal{F}_t] = \mathbb{1}_{\{N_t \ge n\}} f(T_n) + \int_t^\infty p_{n-1-N_t}(x-t) f(x) dx, \qquad (2.3.6)$$

and taking t = 0 in (2.3.5) recovers Relation (2.3.4).

Proposition 2.3.7. Given that $\{N_T \geq n\}$, the (unordered) jump times $\{T_1, \ldots, T_n\}$ of the Poisson process $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ are independent uniformly distributed random variables on $[0, T]^n$.

Proof. For all $n \ge 1$ and $f_n \in \mathcal{C}_c([0,T]^n)$ a symmetric function in n variables, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[f_{n}(T_{1},\ldots,T_{n})\mathbf{1}_{\{N_{T}\geq n\}}\right] = \lambda^{n} \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\lambda t_{n}} \int_{0}^{t_{n}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f_{n}(t_{1},\ldots,t_{n})dt_{1}\cdots dt_{n}$$
$$= e^{-\lambda T} \lambda^{n} \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \lambda^{k-n} \int_{0}^{T} \frac{(T-t_{n})^{k-n}}{(k-n)!} \int_{0}^{t_{n}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f_{n}(t_{1},\ldots,t_{n})dt_{1}\cdots dt_{n}$$
$$= e^{-\lambda T} \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \lambda^{k} \int_{t_{n}}^{T} \int_{t_{n}}^{t_{k}} \cdots \int_{t_{n}}^{t_{n+2}} dt_{n+1}\cdots dt_{k}$$
$$\times \int_{0}^{t_{n+1}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f_{n}(t_{1},\ldots,t_{n})dt_{1}\cdots dt_{n}$$

69 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

$$= e^{-\lambda T} \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \lambda^{k} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f_{n}(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{k}$$

$$= e^{-\lambda T} \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^{k}}{k!} \int_{0}^{T} \cdots \int_{0}^{T} f_{n}(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{k} \qquad (2.3.7)$$

$$= \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \frac{1}{T^{k}} \mathbb{P}(N_{T} = k) \int_{0}^{T} \cdots \int_{0}^{T} f_{n}(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{k}$$

$$= \frac{1}{T^{n}} \int_{0}^{T} \cdots \int_{0}^{T} f_{n}(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{n} \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \mathbb{P}(N_{T} = k)$$

$$= \frac{1}{T^{n}} \mathbb{P}(N_{T} \ge n) \int_{0}^{T} \cdots \int_{0}^{T} f_{n}(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{n}$$

$$= \mathbb{E} [f_{n}(T_{1}, \dots, T_{n}) | N_{T} \ge n] \mathbb{P}(N_{T} \ge n),$$

where we used the symmetry of f_n in (2.3.7), hence we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[f_n(T_1,\ldots,T_n)|N_T \ge n\right] = \frac{1}{T^n} \int_0^T \cdots \int_0^T f_n(t_1,\ldots,t_n) dt_1 \cdots dt_n.$$

As a consequence of Corollary 2.3.5, $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} = \lambda^{-1/2} (N_t - \lambda t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has centered independent increments, hence it is a martingale. Moreover a direct variance computation under the Poisson law shows that we have

$$\mathbb{E}[(M_t - M_s)^2 | \mathcal{F}_s] = \mathbb{E}[(M_t - M_s)^2]$$

= t - s.

hence from Remark 2.1.2 we get the next proposition.

Proposition 2.3.8. The normalized compensated Poisson process

$$\lambda^{-1/2} (N_t - \lambda t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$$

is a normal martingale.

2.4 Compound Poisson Martingale

In this section, $(Y_k)_{k\geq 1}$ denotes an *i.i.d.* sequence of random variables with probability distribution $\nu(dy)$ on \mathbb{R} .

Definition 2.4.1. The process

$$X_t = \sum_{k=1}^{N_t} Y_k, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

70 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

 \square

is called a compound Poisson process.

For simplicity we only consider real-valued compound processes, however this notion is easily extended to the \mathbb{R}^d -valued case, see Relation (6.3.2) in Section 6.3 below.

The compound Poisson processes provide other examples of normal martingales.

Proposition 2.4.2. For any $t \in [0, T]$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\alpha(X_T - X_t)\right)\right] = \exp\left(\lambda(T - t)\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (e^{iy\alpha} - 1)\nu(dy)\right),$$

 $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}.$

Proof. Since N_t has a Poisson distribution with parameter t > 0 and is independent of $(Y_k)_{k \ge 1}$, for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ we have by conditioning:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\alpha(X_T - X_t)\right)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\alpha\sum_{k=N_t}^{N_T} Y_k\right) \left| N_T - N_t\right]\right]\right]$$
$$= e^{-\lambda(T-t)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} (T-t)^n \mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\alpha\sum_{k=1}^n Y_k\right) \left| N_T - N_t = n\right]\right]$$
$$= e^{-\lambda(T-t)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} (T-t)^n \mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\alpha\sum_{k=1}^n Y_k\right)\right]$$
$$= e^{-\lambda(T-t)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} (T-t)^n \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(i\alpha Y_1\right)\right]\right)^n$$
$$= e^{-\lambda(T-t)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(\lambda(T-t) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\alpha y} \nu(dy)\right)^n$$
$$= \exp\left(\lambda(T-t) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (e^{i\alpha y} - 1) \nu(dy)\right),$$

since $\nu(dy)$ is the probability distribution of Y_1 . In particular we have

$$\mathbb{E}[X_t] = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=1}^{N_t} Y_k \middle| N_t\right]\right]$$
$$= e^{-\lambda t} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n t^n}{n!} \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=1}^n Y_k \middle| N_t = n\right]$$
$$= e^{-\lambda t} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n t^n}{n!} \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=1}^n Y_k\right]$$

71 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

$$= e^{-\lambda t} \mathbb{E}[Y_1] \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n t^n}{(n-1)!}$$
$$= \lambda t \mathbb{E}[Y_1],$$

and

$$\begin{split} &\operatorname{Var}\left[X_{t}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{k=1}^{N_{t}}Y_{k} - \mathbb{E}[X_{t}]\right)^{2}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{k=1}^{N_{t}}Y_{k} - \mathbb{E}[X_{t}]\right)^{2} \middle| N_{t}\right]\right] \\ &= e^{-\lambda t}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{\lambda^{n}t^{n}}{n!}\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n}Y_{k} - \lambda t\mathbb{E}[Y_{1}]\right)^{2} \middle| N_{t} = n\right]\right] \\ &= e^{-\lambda t}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{\lambda^{n}t^{n}}{n!}\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n}Y_{k} - \lambda t\mathbb{E}[Y_{1}]\right)^{2}\right] \\ &= e^{-\lambda t}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{\lambda^{n}t^{n}}{n!}\mathbb{E}\left[2\sum_{1\leq k< l\leq n}Y_{k}Y_{l} + \sum_{k=1}^{n}|Y_{k}|^{2} - 2\lambda t\mathbb{E}[Y_{1}]\sum_{k=1}^{n}Y_{k} + \lambda^{2}t^{2}(\mathbb{E}[Y_{1}])^{2}\right] \\ &= e^{-\lambda t}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{\lambda^{n}t^{n}}{n!}(n(n-1)(\mathbb{E}[Y_{1}])^{2} + n\mathbb{E}[|Y_{1}|^{2}] - 2n\lambda t(\mathbb{E}[Y_{1}])^{2} + \lambda^{2}t^{2}(\mathbb{E}[Y_{1}])^{2}) \\ &= e^{-\lambda t}(\mathbb{E}[Y_{1}])^{2}\sum_{n=2}^{\infty}\frac{\lambda^{n}t^{n}}{(n-2)!} + e^{-\lambda t}\mathbb{E}[|Y_{1}|^{2}]\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\frac{\lambda^{n}t^{n}}{(n-1)!} \\ &-2e^{-\lambda t}\lambda t(\mathbb{E}[Y_{1}])^{2}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\frac{\lambda^{n}t^{n}}{(n-1)!} + \lambda^{2}t^{2}(\mathbb{E}[Y_{1}])^{2}) \\ &= \lambda t\mathbb{E}[|Y_{1}|^{2}]. \end{split}$$

Both relations can be recovered from the characteristic function of X_t , as

$$\mathbb{E}[X_t] = -i\frac{d}{d\alpha}\mathbb{E}[e^{i\alpha X_t}]_{|\alpha=0}$$
$$= \lambda t \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y\mu(dy)$$
$$= \lambda t \mathbb{E}[Y_1],$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Var}\left[X_{t}\right] &= \mathbb{E}[|X_{t}|^{2}] - (\mathbb{E}[X_{t}])^{2} \\ &= -\frac{d^{2}}{d\alpha^{2}} \mathbb{E}[\mathrm{e}^{i\alpha X_{t}}]_{|\alpha=0} - \lambda^{2} t^{2} (\mathbb{E}[Y_{1}])^{2} \end{aligned}$$

72 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

$$\begin{split} &=\lambda t\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}|y|^{2}\mu(dy)\\ &=\lambda t\mathbb{E}[|Y_{1}|^{2}]. \end{split}$$

We can show as in Corollary 2.3.5 that $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has independent increments, in particular for all $0 \le t_0 \le t_1 \cdots \le t_n$ and $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\prod_{k=1}^{n} e^{i\alpha_k (X_{t_k} - X_{t_{k-1}})}\right] = \exp\left(\lambda \sum_{k=1}^{n} (t_k - t_{k-1}) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (e^{i\alpha_k y} - 1)\nu(dy)\right)$$
$$= \prod_{k=1}^{n} \exp\left(\lambda (t_k - t_{k-1}) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (e^{i\alpha_k y} - 1)\nu(dy)\right)$$
$$= \prod_{k=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{i\alpha_k (X_{t_k} - X_{t_{k-1}})}\right].$$

Consider the compensated and rescaled process $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ defined by

$$M_t := \frac{X_t - \lambda t \mathbb{E}[Y_1]}{\sqrt{\lambda \mathbb{E}[Y_1^2]}}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

We note that

$$\mathbb{E}[(M_t - M_s)^2 | \mathcal{F}_s] = \mathbb{E}[(M_t - M_s)^2] = t - s, \qquad 0 \le s \le t.$$

hence the following proposition.

Proposition 2.4.3. The compensated and rescaled process $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a normal martingale.

Compound Poisson processes belong to the more general family of Lévy processes, see Section 6.1 of Chapter 6.

2.5 Stochastic Integrals

In this section we construct the Itô stochastic integral of square-integrable adapted processes with respect to normal martingales. Recall that the filtration $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is generated by $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, i.e.

$$\mathcal{F}_t = \sigma(M_s : 0 \le s \le t), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

A process $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is said to be \mathcal{F}_t -adapted if X_t is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable for all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

Definition 2.5.1. Let $L^p_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$, $p \in [1, \infty]$, denote the space of \mathcal{F}_t -adapted processes in $L^p(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$.

Stochastic integrals will be first constructed as integrals of simple predictable processes.

Definition 2.5.2. Let S be a space of random variables dense in $L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$. Consider the following spaces of simple processes:

i) let \mathcal{U} denote the space of simple processes of the form

$$u_t = \sum_{i=1}^n F_i \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^n, t_i^n]}(t), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

 $F_1, \ldots, F_n \in \mathcal{S}, t_0^n := 0 \le t_1^n < \cdots < t_n^n, n \ge 1.$

ii) let \mathcal{P} denote the subspace of \mathcal{U} made of simple predictable processes $(u_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ of the form

$$u_t = \sum_{i=1}^n F_i \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^n, t_i^n]}(t), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(2.5.1)

where F_i is $\mathcal{F}_{t_{i-1}^n}$ -measurable, $i = 1, \ldots, n$.

One easily checks that the set \mathcal{P} of simple predictable processes forms a linear space. Part (ii) of the next proposition also follows from Lemma 1.1 of [66], pages 22 and 46.

Proposition 2.5.3. Let $p \ge 1$.

- i) The space \mathcal{U} of simple processes is dense in $L^p(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$.
- ii) The space \mathcal{P} of simple predictable processes is dense in $L^p_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$.

Proof. We will prove both (i) and (ii) by the same argument, starting with the case p = 2. Let $(u_t)_{t \in [0,T]} \in L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$ and consider the sequence $(u^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of simple processes defined as

$$u_t^n = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^n, t_i^n]} \frac{1}{t_{i-1}^n - t_{i-2}^n} \int_{t_{i-2}^n}^{t_{i-1}^n} u_s ds, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad n \ge 1,$$
(2.5.2)

where $0 = t_{-1}^n < t_0^n < t_1^n < \cdots < t_{n-1}^n < t_n^n = T$ is a subdivision of [0, T]. Clearly, u^n belongs to \mathcal{U} and in addition it is predictable and belongs to \mathcal{P} when $(u_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ is adapted. We have

$$\|u - u^n\|_{L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)}^2$$

= $\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty \left(u_s - \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^n, t_i^n]}(s) \frac{1}{t_{i-1}^n - t_{i-2}^n} \int_{t_{i-2}^n}^{t_{i-1}^n} u_\tau d\tau\right)^2 ds\right]$

74 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

$$\begin{split} &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^{n}, t_{i}^{n}]}(s) \left(u_{s} - \frac{1}{t_{i-1}^{n} - t_{i-2}^{n}} \int_{t_{i-2}^{n}}^{t_{i-1}^{n}} u_{\tau} d\tau\right)\right)^{2} ds\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^{n}, t_{i}^{n}]}(s) \frac{1}{t_{i-1}^{n} - t_{i-2}^{n}} \int_{t_{i-2}^{n}}^{t_{i-1}^{n}} (u_{s} - u_{\tau}) d\tau\right)^{2} ds\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^{n}, t_{i}^{n}]}(s) \left(\int_{t_{i-2}^{n}}^{t_{i-1}^{n}} \frac{u_{s} - u_{\tau}}{t_{i-1}^{n} - t_{i-2}^{n}} d\tau\right)^{2} ds\right] \\ &\leq \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^{n}, t_{i}^{n}]}(s) \frac{1}{t_{i-1}^{n} - t_{i-2}^{n}} \int_{t_{i-2}^{n}}^{t_{i-1}^{n}} (u_{s} - u_{\tau})^{2} d\tau ds\right] \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_{i}^{n} - t_{i-1}^{n}) \int_{t_{i-1}^{n}}^{t_{i}^{n}} \int_{t_{i-2}^{n}}^{t_{i-1}^{n}} \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{(u_{s} - u_{\tau})^{2}}{(t_{i}^{n} - t_{i-1}^{n})(t_{i-1}^{n} - t_{i-2}^{n})}\right] d\tau ds, \end{split}$$

which tends to 0 provided that $(u_t)_{t\in[0,T]}$ is (uniformly) continuous in $L^2(\Omega)$ on [0,T]. If $(u_t)_{t\in[0,T]} \in L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$ is uniformly bounded but not continuous in $L^2(\Omega)$, then it can be approximated in $L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$ by continuous processes in $L^2(\Omega)$ using convolution by a smooth approximation of unity:

$$\begin{split} u_t^{\varepsilon}(\omega) &= \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u_s(\omega) \varphi\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right) ds \\ &= \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{-\infty}^t u_s(\omega) \varphi\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right) ds \end{split}$$

as $\varepsilon > 0$ tends to 0, where $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R})$ is supported on [0, 1] and such that $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \varphi(x) dx = 1$. Moreover, the process u^{ε} is adapted when $(u_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ is adapted.

The conclusion follows by approximation of $(u_t)_{t\in[0,T]}$ in $L^p(\Omega \times [0,T])$ by uniformly bounded (adapted) processes, $p \ge 1$.

Note that an argument similar to the above shows that the simple processes

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{t_{i-1}^{n}} \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^{n}, t_{i}^{n}]}$$

also converges to $(u_t)_{t\in[0,T]}$ in $L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$ when $(u_t)_{t\in[0,T]}$ is continuous on [0,T], a.e. uniformly on $[0,T] \times \Omega$, since

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty \left(u_s - \sum_{i=1}^n u_{t_{i-1}^n} \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^n, t_i^n]}(s)\right)^2 ds\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^{n}, t_{i}^{n}]}(s) \left(u_{s} - u_{t_{i-1}^{n}}\right)\right)^{2} ds\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^{n}, t_{i}^{n}]}(s) \left(u_{s} - u_{t_{i-1}^{n}}\right)^{2} ds\right]$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_{i}^{n} - t_{i-1}^{n}) \int_{t_{i-1}^{n}}^{t_{i}^{n}} \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{(u_{s} - u_{t_{i-1}^{n}})^{2}}{(t_{i}^{n} - t_{i-1}^{n})}\right] ds.$$

The stochastic integral of a simple predictable processes $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ of the form (2.5.1) with respect to the normal martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is defined as

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} u_t dM_t := \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i (M_{t_i} - M_{t_{i-1}}).$$
(2.5.3)

Proposition 2.5.4. The definition (2.5.3) of the stochastic integral with respect to the normal martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ on simple predictable processes extends to $u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ via the (conditional) isometry formula

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{[s,\infty)} u_t dM_t \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{[s,\infty)} v_t dM_t \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{s}^{\infty} u_t v_t dt \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right], \qquad s \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$
(2.5.4)

Proof. We start by showing that the isometry (2.5.4) holds for the simple predictable process $u = \sum_{i=1}^{n} G_i \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1},t_i]}$, with $s = t_0 < t_1 < \cdots t_n$:

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{t} dM_{t}\right)^{2} \left|\mathcal{F}_{s}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})\right)^{2} \left|\mathcal{F}_{s}\right]\right] \\ & = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} |G_{i}|^{2}(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{2} \left|\mathcal{F}_{s}\right]\right] \\ & + 2\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} G_{i}G_{j}(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})(M_{t_{j}} - M_{t_{j-1}})\right] \left|\mathcal{F}_{s}\right] \\ & = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[|G_{i}|^{2}(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{2}|\mathcal{F}_{t_{i-1}}\right] \left|\mathcal{F}_{s}\right] \\ & + 2\sum_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[G_{i}G_{j}(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})(M_{t_{j}} - M_{t_{j-1}})|\mathcal{F}_{t_{j-1}}\right]\right] \left|\mathcal{F}_{s}\right] \\ & = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}\left[|G_{i}|^{2}\mathbb{E}\left[(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{2}|\mathcal{F}_{t_{i-1}}\right]|\mathcal{F}_{s}\right] \\ & + 2\sum_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \mathbb{E}[G_{i}G_{j}(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})\mathbb{E}[(M_{t_{j}} - M_{t_{j-1}})|\mathcal{F}_{t_{j-1}}]|\mathcal{F}_{s}] \end{split}$$

76 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} |G_i|^2 (t_i - t_{i-1}) \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty |u_t|^2 dt \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[||u||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 \Big| \mathcal{F}_s \right].$$

As in the discrete case, cf. Proposition 1.2.2, the stochastic integral operator extends to $L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ by density and a Cauchy sequence argument, applying the isometry (2.5.4) with s = 0, i.e.

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty u_t dM_t \int_0^\infty v_t dM_t\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty u_t v_t dt\right].$$
 (2.5.5)

Similarly, the limit is clearly independent of the choice of the approximating sequence $(u^k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ as we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_0^\infty u_t^n dM_t - \lim_{n\to\infty}\int_0^\infty v_t^n dM_t\right)^2\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\lim_{n\to\infty}\left(\int_0^\infty (u_t^n - v_t^n) dM_t\right)^2\right]$$
$$\leq \liminf_{n\to\infty}\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_0^\infty (u_t^n - v_t^n) dM_t\right)^2\right]$$
$$= \lim_{n\to\infty}\mathbb{E}\left[\|u^n - v^n\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2\right]$$
$$= 0.$$

In particular, $\int_0^\infty f(t) dM_t$ is defined for all deterministic functions $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, with the isometry formula

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_0^\infty f(t)dM_t\right)^2\right] = \int_0^\infty |f(t)|^2 dt.$$

The Itô integral with respect to the normal martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the following locality property.

Proposition 2.5.5. Let $A \in \mathcal{F}$ and $u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ such that

 $u_s(\omega) = 0,$ $\mathbf{1}_A(\omega)ds \times \mathbb{P}(d\omega) - a.e.$

Then we have

$$\int_0^\infty u_s dM_s = 0,$$

 $\mathbb{P}(d\omega)$ -a.e. on A.

Proof. Consider the sequence $(u_s^n)_{s \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, of simple predictable processes defined as

$$u^{n} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^{n}, t_{i}^{n}]} \frac{1}{t_{i-1}^{n} - t_{i-2}^{n}} \int_{t_{i-2}^{n}}^{t_{i-1}^{n}} u_{s} ds, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

in the proof Proposition 2.5.3, which converges to u in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$. Clearly, u_s^n vanishes on A, $dsd\mathbb{P}$ -a.e., hence $\int_0^T u_s^n dM_s = 0$, $\mathbb{P}(d\omega)$ -a.e. on A for all $n \ge 0$. We get the desired result by taking the limit as n goes to infinity.

The Itô integral of $u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ on the interval (a, b) is defined by

$$\int_a^b u_s dM_s := \int_0^\infty \mathbf{1}_{[a,b]}(s) u_s dM_s,$$

with the Chasles relation

$$\int_{a}^{c} u_{s} dM_{s} = \int_{a}^{b} u_{s} dM_{s} + \int_{b}^{c} u_{s} dM_{s}, \qquad 0 \le a \le b \le c.$$
(2.5.6)

Proposition 2.5.6. For all T > 0, the indefinite integral process

$$\left(\int_0^t u_s dM_s\right)_{t\in[0,T]}$$

has a measurable version in $L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times [0,T])$.

Proof. Let $(u^n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of simple predictable processes converging to u in $L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$. We have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T \left(\int_0^t u_s dM_s - \int_0^t u_s^n dM_s\right)^2 dt\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T \int_0^t |u_s - u_s^n|^2 ds dt\right]$$
$$\leq T \times \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T |u_s - u_s^n|^2 ds\right]$$
$$< \infty.$$

Hence

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_0^t u_s^n dM_s = \int_0^t u_s dM_s, \qquad t \in [0, T],$$

in $L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$, and the convergence holds $dt \times \mathbb{P}(d\omega)$ -a.e. for a certain subsequence of $(u^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$.

As a consequence, if a process $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is locally in $L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T |u_s|^2 ds\right] < \infty, \qquad T > 0,$$

then the indefinite integral process $\left(\int_0^t u_s dM_s\right)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ has a version which also belongs locally to $L^2_{ad}(\Omega\times\mathbb{R}_+)$. Note also that the sequence

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{[t_{i-1},t_i]} \int_0^{t_{i-1}} u_s dM_s, \qquad n \ge 1,$$

converges to $\left(\int_0^t u_s dM_s\right)_{t \in [0,T]}$ in $L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times [0,T])$ as the mesh of the partition $0 = t_0 \leq t_1 < \cdots < t_n = T$ goes to zero.

As a consequence of Proposition 2.5.7 below with $\mathcal{F}_0 = \{\emptyset, \Omega\}$ we find in particular that the Itô integral is a centered random variable:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty u_s dM_s\right] = 0, \qquad u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+).$$
(2.5.7)

Proposition 2.5.7. For any $u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty u_s dM_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right] = \int_0^t u_s dM_s, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+$$

In particular, $\int_0^t u_s dM_s$ is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

Proof. Let $u \in \mathcal{U}$ of the form $u = G\mathbf{1}_{(a,b]}$, where G is bounded and \mathcal{F}_{a} -measurable.

i) If $0 \le a \le t$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s} dM_{s} \middle| \mathcal{F}_{t}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[G(M_{b} - M_{a}) \middle| \mathcal{F}_{t}\right]$$

$$= G\mathbb{E}\left[(M_{b} - M_{a}) \middle| \mathcal{F}_{t}\right]$$

$$= G\mathbb{E}\left[(M_{b} - M_{t}) \middle| \mathcal{F}_{t}\right] + G\mathbb{E}\left[(M_{t} - M_{a}) \middle| \mathcal{F}_{t}\right]$$

$$= G(M_{t} - M_{a})$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(s) u_{s} dM_{s}.$$

ii) If $0 \le t \le a$ we have for all bounded \mathcal{F}_t -measurable random variable F:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[F\int_0^\infty u_s dM_s\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[FG(M_b - M_a)\right] = 0,$$

hence

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s} dM_{s} \middle| \mathcal{F}_{t}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[G(M_{b} - M_{a}) \middle| \mathcal{F}_{t}\right]$$
$$= 0$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(s) u_{s} dM_{s}.$$

This statement is extended by linearity and density, since by Fatou's lemma and continuity of the conditional expectation on L^2 we have:

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{t} u_{s} dM_{s} - \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s} dM_{s} \left|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right]\right)^{2}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\int_{0}^{t} u_{s}^{n} dM_{s} - \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s} dM_{s} \left|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right]\right)^{2}\right] \\ &\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{t} u_{s}^{n} dM_{s} - \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s} dM_{s} \left|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right]\right)^{2}\right] \\ &= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s}^{n} dM_{s} - \int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s} dM_{s} \left|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right]\right)^{2}\right] \\ &\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s}^{n} dM_{s} - \int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s} dM_{s}\right)^{2} \left|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right]\right] \\ &= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} (u_{s}^{n} - u_{s}) dM_{s}\right)^{2}\right] \\ &= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} |u_{s}^{n} - u_{s}|^{2} ds\right] \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

as in the proof of Proposition 1.2.3.

The following is an immediate corollary of Proposition 2.5.7.

Corollary 2.5.8. The indefinite stochastic integral $\left(\int_0^t u_s dM_s\right)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ of $u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ is a martingale, i.e.:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^t u_\tau dM_\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right] = \int_0^s u_\tau dM_\tau, \qquad 0 \le s \le t.$$

Recall that since the Poisson martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} = (N_t - t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a normal martingale, the stochastic integral

$$\int_0^T u_t dM_t$$

is defined in Itô sense as an $L^2(\varOmega)\text{-limit}$ of stochastic integrals of simple adapted processes.

In the particular case of Brownian motion, i.e. when

$$(M_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+} = (B_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+},$$

we find from (2.2.2), (2.2.4) and (2.5.3) that for all deterministic $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, the random variable $J_1(f)$ coincides with the single stochastic integral with

respect to $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, i.e. we have

$$J_1(f) = \int_0^\infty f(t) dB_t.$$

In particular, it follows from page 62 and the Itô isometry (2.5.4) that $\int_0^\infty f(t) dB_t$ is a centered Gaussian random variable with variance

$$\int_0^\infty f^2(t)dt.$$

The next result is an integration by parts for Brownian motion.

Remark 2.5.9. In case $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} = (B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a standard Brownian motion, we have

$$\int_0^\infty f(t)dB_t = -\int_0^\infty f'(t)B_t dt$$

provided that $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is \mathcal{C}^1 on \mathbb{R}_+ and such that $\lim_{t\to\infty} t|f(t)|^2 = 0$. Proof. First, we note that we have

$$f(t) \int_0^t f(s) ds \le \sqrt{t} f(t) \sqrt{\int_0^t |f(s)|^2 ds} \le \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} \sqrt{t} f(t), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

hence

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} f(t) \int_0^t f(s) ds = 0,$$

since $\lim_{t\to\infty} t|f(t)|^2 = 0$. Next, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \int_{0}^{\infty} f(t) dB_{t} + \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(t) B_{t} dt \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ &= \left\| \int_{0}^{\infty} f(t) dB_{t} \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \left\| \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(t) B_{t} dt \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ &+ 2 \left\langle \int_{0}^{\infty} f(t) dB_{t}, \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(t) B_{t} dt \right\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} |f(t)|^{2} dt + \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(t) f'(s) B_{t} B_{s} ds dt \right] \\ &+ 2 \left\langle \int_{0}^{\infty} f(s) dB_{s}, \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(t) \int_{0}^{t} dB_{s} dt \right\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} |f(t)|^{2} dt + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(t) f'(s) \mathbb{E} [B_{t} B_{s}] ds dt + 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(t) \int_{0}^{t} f(s) ds dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} |f(t)|^{2} dt + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(t) f'(s) (t \wedge s) ds dt + 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(t) \int_{0}^{t} f(s) ds dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} |f(t)|^{2} dt + 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(t) \int_{0}^{t} sf'(s) ds dt - 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} |f(t)|^{2} dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} |f(t)|^{2} dt - 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} tf'(t) f(t) dt - 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} |f(t)|^{2} dt \end{split}$$

$$= -\lim_{t \to \infty} t f^2(t)$$
$$= 0.$$

Since the Itô integral is defined in the $L^2(\Omega)$ sense on adapted processes in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+, d\mathbb{P} \otimes dt)$ the integrals of the adapted and predictable version of a given square-integrable process coincide, as follows from Proposition 2.5.3-*ii*), see also [33], page 199.

In particular, for the compensated Poisson martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} = (N_t - \lambda t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, the integrals

$$\int_0^\infty u_t dM_t$$
 and $\int_0^\infty u_{t-} dM_t$

coincide in $L^2(\Omega)$ whenever $t \mapsto u_t$ has left and right limits, \mathbb{P} -a.s., since the set of discontinuities of a function having left and right limits in every point is always countable, cf. e.g. [54], page 5.

In the Poisson case, in addition to its definition in L^2 sense, the Itô integral also admits a pathwise interpretation as the Stieltjes integral of $(u_{t-})_{t>0}$ under uniform continuity conditions, as shown in the next proposition, in which

$$(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} = \lambda^{-1/2} (N_t - \lambda t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$$

is the compensated Poisson martingale with intensity $\lambda > 0$.

Proposition 2.5.10. Let $(u_t)_{t \in [0,T]} \in L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$ be an adapted process with a càdlàg version (i.e. continuous on the right with left limits), $(\bar{u}_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{t \in [\varepsilon, T]} |\bar{u}_{t^-} - \bar{u}_{t-\varepsilon}|^2 = 0, \qquad (2.5.8)$$

in $L^4(\Omega)$. Then we have

$$\int_0^T u_t dM_t = \lambda^{-1/2} \int_0^T \bar{u}_{t-}(\omega(dt) - \lambda dt),$$

 $\mathbb{P}(d\omega)$ -almost surely, where $\omega(dt)$ denotes the random measure

$$\omega(dt) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \delta_{T_k}(dt).$$

Proof. Let

$$A^{u}_{\varepsilon} = \sup_{t \in [\varepsilon, T]} |\bar{u}_{t^{-}} - \bar{u}_{t-\varepsilon}|^{2}, \qquad 0 < \varepsilon < T,$$

and $\bar{u}_t^- = \bar{u}_{t^-}, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$. Given a subdivision

Q

$$\pi = \{ 0 = t_0 < t_1 < \dots < t_n = T \}$$

of [0, T], with $|\pi| = \max_{i=1,...,n} |t_i - t_{i-1}|$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \bar{u}_{\cdot}^{-1} \mathbf{1}_{[0,T]}(\cdot) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{t_{i-1}}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1},t_{i}]}(\cdot) \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times [0,T])}^{2} \\ &= \left\| \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\bar{u}^{-} - u_{t_{i-1}}^{n}) \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1},t_{i}]} \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times [0,T])}^{2} \leq T \|A_{|\pi|}^{u}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}, \end{aligned}$$

hence from (2.5.8), $\sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{t_i}^n \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1},t_i]}$ defined by (2.5.2) converges to \bar{u}^- in $L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$, and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{t_i}^n (M_{t_i} - M_{t_{i-1}})$$

converges to $\int_0^\infty \bar{u}_{t^-} dM_t$ as $|\pi|$ goes to zero. On the other hand we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \lambda^{-1/2} \int_{0}^{T} \bar{u}_{t^{-}} (\omega(dt) - \lambda dt) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{t_{i-1}}^{n} (M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}}) \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &= \lambda^{-1/2} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{N_{T}} \bar{u}_{T_{k}^{-}} - \int_{0}^{T} u_{s} ds + \sum_{i=1}^{N_{T}} u_{t_{i-1}}^{n} (t_{i} - t_{i-1}) - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{t_{i-1}}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{[t_{i-1},t_{i}]} (T_{k}) \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \lambda^{-1/2} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{N_{T}} \bar{u}_{T_{k}^{-}} - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{t_{i-1}}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{[t_{i-1},t_{i}]} (T_{k}) \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &+ \lambda^{-1/2} \left\| \int_{0}^{T} u_{s} ds - \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{t_{i-1}}^{n} (t_{i} - t_{i-1}) \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &= \lambda^{-1/2} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{N_{T}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{[t_{i-1},t_{i}]} (T_{k}) (\bar{u}_{T_{k}^{-}} - u_{t_{i-1}}^{n}) \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &+ \lambda^{-1/2} \left\| \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{[t_{i-1},t_{i}]} (u_{s} - u_{t_{i-1}}^{n}) ds \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \lambda^{-1/2} \left\| A_{\varepsilon}^{u} \right\|_{L^{4}(\Omega)}^{2} \left\| N_{T} \right\|_{L^{4}(\Omega)}^{2} + \lambda^{-1/2} T^{1/2} \left\| A_{\varepsilon}^{u} \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}, \end{split}$$

hence as $|\pi|$ goes to zero,

$$\int_{0}^{T} u_{t} dM_{t} = \lim_{|\pi| \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{t_{i-1}} (M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})$$

$$= \lambda^{-1/2} \int_0^T \bar{u}_{t^-}(\omega(dt) - \lambda dt),$$

where the limit is taken in $L^2(\Omega)$.

Proposition 2.5.10 admits the following simplified corollary.

Corollary 2.5.11. Let T > 0 and let $(u_t)_{t \in [0,T]} \in L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$ be an adapted process with a uniformly càdlàg version $(\bar{u}_t)_{t \in [0,T]} \in L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$ and such that $u \in L^4(\Omega, L^{\infty}([0,T]))$, i.e

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} |u_t| \in L^4(\Omega).$$
(2.5.9)

Then we have, $\mathbb{P}(d\omega)$ -almost surely,

$$\int_0^T u_t dM_t = \lambda^{-1/2} \int_0^T \bar{u}_{t-}(\omega(dt) - \lambda dt), \qquad T > 0.$$

Proof. It suffices to check that Condition (2.5.8) holds under the hypothesis (2.5.9).

Concerning the compound Poisson process

$$X_t = \sum_{k=1}^{N_t} Y_k, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

of Section 2.4, under similar conditions we get

$$\int_0^T u_t dM_t = (\lambda \operatorname{Var}[Y_1])^{-1/2} \int_0^T u_{t-}(Y_{N_t}\omega(dt) - \lambda \mathbb{E}[Y_1]dt),$$

where

$$M_t := rac{X_t - \lambda t \mathbb{E}[Y_1]}{\sqrt{\lambda \operatorname{Var}[Y_1]}}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

2.6 Predictable Representation Property

Definition 2.6.1. We say that the martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the predictable representation property if

$$\left\{c + \int_0^\infty u_t dM_t : c \in \mathbb{R}, \ u \in \mathcal{P}\right\}$$

is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$.

By the Itô isometry (2.5.4), the predictable representation property of Definition 2.6.1 is equivalent to stating that any $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ can be written as

Q

$$F = E[F] + \int_0^\infty u_t dM_t$$

where $u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ is a certain adapted square-integrable process.

The next proposition is the continuous-time analog of Proposition 1.7.5.

Proposition 2.6.2. The martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the predictable representation property if and only if any square-integrable martingale $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ with respect to $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ can be represented as

$$X_t = X_0 + \int_0^t u_s dM_s, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
 (2.6.1)

where $(u_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}\in L^2_{ad}(\Omega\times\mathbb{R}_+)$ is an adapted process such that

$$u\mathbf{1}_{[0,T]} \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$$

for all T > 0.

Proof. Assume that for any square-integrable martingale $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ a representation of the form (2.6.1) exists. Given $F \in L^2(\Omega)$, letting

$$X_t = \mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{F}_t], \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

defines a square-integrable martingale $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$. If F is in $L^2(\Omega)$, Proposition 9.4.1 in the Appendix shows that $(X_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to F in $L^2(\Omega)$. On the other hand, X_n can be represented from (2.6.1) as

$$X_n = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^n u_s^n dM_s, \qquad n \ge 1,$$

where for all $n \geq 1$ the process u^n can be approximated by a sequence of elements of \mathcal{P} by Proposition 2.5.3. Hence

$$\left\{c + \int_0^\infty u_t dM_t : c \in \mathbb{R}, \ u \in \mathcal{P}\right\}$$

is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$.

Conversely, assume that the predictable representation property of Definition 2.6.1 holds and let $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ be an L^2 martingale. Then for all $n \ge 1$ there exists a sequence $(u_t^{n,k})_{t \in [0,n]}$ in \mathcal{P} such that the limit

$$X_n = X_0 + \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_0^n u_t^{n,k} dM_t$$

exists in $L^2(\Omega)$. By the Itô isometry (2.5.4), the sequence $(u_t^{n,k})_{t\in[0,n]}$ is Cauchy in $L^2(\Omega \times [0,n])$ and by completeness of L^p spaces it converges to a process $(u_t^n)_{t\in[0,n]} \in L^2(\Omega \times [0,n])$ such that

$$X_n = X_0 + \int_0^n u_s^n dM_s, \qquad n \ge 1.$$

Then from Proposition 2.5.7 we have, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $t \in [n, n+1)$:

$$\begin{split} X_t &= \mathbb{E}[X_{n+1}|\mathcal{F}_t] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[X_0 + \int_0^{n+1} u_s^{n+1} dM_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[X_0 + \int_0^n u_s^{n+1} dM_s + \int_n^{n+1} u_s^{n+1} dM_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[X_0 + \int_0^n u_s^{n+1} dM_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_n\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_n^{n+1} u_s^{n+1} dM_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[X_0 + \int_0^{n+1} u_s^{n+1} dM_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_n\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_n^{n+1} u_s^{n+1} dM_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[X_{n+1} \middle| \mathcal{F}_n\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_n^{n+1} u_s^{n+1} dM_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right] \\ &= X_n + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_n^{n+1} u_s^{n+1} dM_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right] \\ &= X_n + \int_n^t u_s^{n+1} dM_s. \end{split}$$

Letting the process $(u_s)_{s \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ be defined by

$$u_s = u_s^{n+1}, \qquad n \le s < n+1, \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

we obtain

$$X_t = X_0 + \int_0^t u_s dM_s, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

which is (2.6.1).

In the sequel we will show that Brownian motion and the compensated Poisson process have the predictable representation property. This is however not true of compound Poisson processes in general, see (2.10.6) below.

2.7 Multiple Stochastic Integrals

Multiple stochastic integrals have originally been defined with respect to Brownian motion, cf. [68], and with respect to Lévy processes, cf. [69]. In this section we construct the multiple stochastic integral with respect to a normal martingale $(M_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$. Let $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$ denote the subspace of $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\otimes n} = L^2(\mathbb{R}_+^n)$, made of symmetric functions f_n in n variables (see Section 9.7 in the Appendix for a review of tensor products). The multiple stochastic integral of a symmetric function $f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$ is defined as an

iterated integral. First we let

$$I_1(f) = \int_0^\infty f(t) dM_t, \qquad f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+).$$

As a convention we identify $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ 0}$ to \mathbb{R} and let

$$I_0(f_0) = f_0, \qquad f_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ 0} \simeq \mathbb{R}.$$

Proposition 2.7.1. The multiple stochastic integral $I_n(f_n)$ of $f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$, defined by induction as

$$I_n(f_n) = n \int_0^\infty I_{n-1}(f_n(*,t)\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n-1}}(*)) dM_t, \quad n \ge 1,$$
(2.7.1)

satisfies the isometry formula

$$\mathbb{E}[I_n(f_n)I_m(g_m)] = n!\mathbf{1}_{\{n=m\}}\langle f_m, g_m \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n_+)},$$

 $f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}, f_m \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ m}, n, m \in \mathbb{N}.$

Proof. Note that the process

$$t \longmapsto I_{n-1}(f_n(*,t)\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n-1}}(*))$$

is \mathcal{F}_t -adapted, cf. Proposition 2.5.7, hence the iterated stochastic integral in (2.7.1) is well-defined by Proposition 2.5.4. If $n = m \ge 1$ we have from (2.7.1) and the Itô isometry (2.5.5):

$$\mathbb{E}[|I_n(f_n)|^2] = n^2 \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[|I_{n-1}(f_n(*,t)\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n-1}}(*))|^2] dt,$$

with the convention $I_0(f_0) = f_0 \in \mathbb{R}$. By induction on $n \ge 1$ this yields:

$$\mathbb{E}[I_n(f_n)^2] = n!^2 \int_0^\infty \int_0^{t_n} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} |f_n(t_1, \dots, t_n)|^2 dt_1 \cdots dt_n$$

= $n! ||f_n||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n_+)}.$

On the other hand, from (2.5.7) we have

$$\mathbb{E}[I_1(f_1)I_0(g_0)] = I_0(g_0)\mathbb{E}[I_1(f_1)] = 0.$$

By induction on the rank $n \ge 1$ of $I_n(f_n)$, assuming that

$$\mathbb{E}[I_n(f_n)I_k(f_k)] = 0, \qquad 0 \le k < n,$$

 $f_k \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ k}, 0 \le k \le n$, we have for all $0 \le k \le n$:

$$\mathbb{E}[I_{n+1}(f_n)I_k(f_k)]$$

$$= k(n+1) \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[I_n(f_{n+1}(*,t)\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^n}(*))I_{k-1}(f_k(*,t)\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{k-1}}(*))]dt$$

= 0,

hence for all $n \ge 1$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[I_n(f_n)I_k(g_k)] = 0, \qquad 0 \le k \le n-1.$$

In particular we have $\mathbb{E}[I_n(f_n)] = 0$ for all $n \ge 1$.

We also have

$$I_n(f_n) = n! \int_0^\infty \int_0^{t_n} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} f_n(t_1, \dots, t_n) dM_{t_1} \cdots dM_{t_n}.$$
 (2.7.2)

On the other hand, the symmetric tensor product $u \circ f_n$ satisfies

$$u \circ f_n(t_1, \dots, t_{n+1}) = \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} u(t_i) f_n(t_1, \dots, t_{i-1}, t_{i+1}, \dots, t_{n+1}), \quad (2.7.3)$$

 $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$, hence

$$I_{n+1}(u \circ f_n) = n \int_0^\infty I_n(f_n(*, s) \circ u(\cdot) \mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^n}(*, \cdot)) dM_s \qquad (2.7.4)$$
$$+ \int_0^\infty u(s) I_n(f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^n}) dM_s.$$

Lemma 2.7.2. For all $f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$, $n \ge 1$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}[I_n(f_n) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = I_n(f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^n}), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Proof. Since the indefinite Itô integral is a martingale from (2.7.2) and Proposition 2.5.7 we have

$$\mathbb{E}[I_n(f_n) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = n! \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty \int_0^{t_n} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} f_n(t_1, \dots, t_n) dM_{t_1} \cdots dM_{t_n} \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right]$$
$$= n! \int_0^t \int_0^{t_n} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} f_n(t_1, \dots, t_n) dM_{t_1} \cdots dM_{t_n}$$
$$= I_n(f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^n}).$$

-	_	-	
L			
L			
L			

As a consequence of Lemma 2.7.2, $I_n(f_n)$ is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable if and only if

$$f_n = f_n \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^n},$$

i.e. $f_n = 0$ over $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus [0, t]^n$.

2.8 Chaos Representation Property

Let now

$$\mathcal{S} = \left\{ f_0 + \sum_{k=1}^n I_k(f_k) : f_0 \in \mathbb{R}, \ f_k \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ k} \cap L^4(\mathbb{R}_+^k), \ k = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}$$

Let also $\mathcal{H}_0 = \mathbb{R}$ and

$$\mathcal{H}_n = \{ I_n(f_n) : f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n} \}, \quad n \ge 1.$$

We have

$$\mathcal{S} \subset \operatorname{Vect}\left\{\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty}\mathcal{H}_n\right\},$$

where $Vect \{U\}$ denotes the smallest linear space generated by U.

The following is the definition of the Fock space over $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$.

Definition 2.8.1. The closure of S in $L^2(\Omega)$ is denoted by the direct sum

$$\bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}_n.$$

The chaos representation property states that every $F \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ admits a decomposition

$$F = f_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} I_n(f_n),$$

where $f_0 = \mathbb{E}[F]$ and $f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$, $n \ge 1$.

It is equivalent to stating that S is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$, and can also be formulated as in the next definition.

Definition 2.8.2. The martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the chaos representation property if

$$L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}_n.$$

In case $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the chaos representation property, the multiple stochastic integrals I_n provide an isometric isomorphism between $L^2(\Omega)$ and the Fock space $\Phi(L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))$ defined as the direct sum

$$\Phi(L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)) = \mathbb{R} \oplus \bigoplus_{n=1}^{\infty} L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}.$$

Definition 2.8.3. The number operator L is defined on S by $L = \delta D$.

The operator L satisfies

 $LI_n(f_n) = nI_n(f_n), \qquad f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$

We will note later, cf. Proposition 5.1.5 and Proposition 6.3.2, that Brownian motion and the compensated Poisson martingale have the chaos representation property.

Moreover, the chaos representation property of Definition 2.6.1 implies the predictable representation property, as will be shown in Proposition 4.2.4 below.

2.9 Quadratic Variation

Next, we introduce the quadratic variation of a normal martingale.

Definition 2.9.1. The quadratic variation of the martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is the process $([M, M]_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ defined as

$$[M, M]_t = M_t^2 - 2\int_0^t M_s dM_s, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$
(2.9.1)

Note that we have

$$[M, M]_t - [M, M]_s = (M_t - M_s)^2 - 2\int_s^t (M_\tau - M_s) dM_\tau, \quad 0 < s < t, \ (2.9.2)$$

since

$$M_s(M_t - M_s) = \int_s^t M_s dM_\tau, \qquad 0 \le s \le t,$$

as an immediate consequence of the definition 2.5.3 of the stochastic integral. Let now

 $\pi^n = \{0 = t_0^n < t_1^n < \dots < t_{n-1}^n < t_n^n = t\}$

denote a family of subdivision of [0, t], such that $|\pi^n| := \max_{i=1,...,n} |t_i^n - t_{i-1}^n|$ converges to 0 as n goes to infinity.

Proposition 2.9.2. Let $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ be a normal martingale. We have

$$[M, M]_t = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^n (M_{t_i^n} - M_{t_{i-1}^n})^2, \quad t \ge 0,$$

where the limit exists in $L^2(\Omega)$ and is independent of the sequence $(\pi^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of subdivisions chosen.

Proof. We have

90 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

$$[M, M]_{t_i^n} - [M, M]_{t_{i-1}^n} = M_{t_i^n}^2 - M_{t_{i-1}^n}^2 - 2 \int_{t_{i-1}^n}^{t_i^n} M_s dM_s$$
$$= (M_{t_i^n} - M_{t_{i-1}^n})^2 + 2 \int_{t_{i-1}^n}^{t_i^n} (M_{t_{i-1}^n} - M_s) dM_s,$$

hence

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[\left([M,M]_{t} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (M_{t_{i}^{n}} - M_{t_{i-1}^{n}})^{2}\right)^{2}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} [M,M]_{t_{i}^{n}} - [M,M]_{t_{i-1}^{n}} - (M_{t_{i}^{n}} - M_{t_{i-1}^{n}})^{2}\right)^{2}\right] \\ &= 4\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{t} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}^{n},t_{i}^{n}]}(s)(M_{s} - M_{t_{i-1}^{n}})dM_{s}\right)^{2}\right] \\ &= 4\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{t_{i-1}^{t_{i}^{n}}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (M_{s} - M_{t_{i-1}^{n}})^{2}ds\right] \\ &= 4\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{t_{i-1}^{n}}^{t_{i}^{n}} (s - t_{i-1}^{n})ds \\ &\leq 4t|\pi^{n}|, \end{split}$$

which tends to 0 as n tends to infinity.

Proposition 2.9.3. The quadratic variation of Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is

$$[B,B]_t = t, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Proof. (cf. e.g. [125], Theorem I-28). For every subdivision $\{0 = t_0^n < \cdots < t_n^n = t\}$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(t - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (B_{t_{i}^{n}} - B_{t_{i-1}^{n}})^{2}\right)^{2}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (B_{t_{i}^{n}} - B_{t_{i-1}^{n}})^{2} - (t_{i}^{n} - t_{i-1}^{n})\right)^{2}\right]$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_{i}^{n} - t_{i-1}^{n})^{2} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\frac{(B_{t_{i}^{n}} - B_{t_{i-1}^{n}})^{2}}{t_{i}^{n} - t_{i-1}^{n}} - 1\right)^{2}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[(Z^{2} - 1)^{2}]\sum_{i=0}^{n} (t_{i}^{n} - t_{i-1}^{n})^{2}$$

91 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

$$\leq |\pi^{n}|\mathbb{E}[(Z^{2}-1)^{2}]\sum_{i=0}^{n}(t_{i}^{n}-t_{i-1}^{n})$$
$$=t|\pi^{n}|\mathbb{E}[(Z^{2}-1)^{2}],$$

where Z is a standard Gaussian random variable.

Concerning the Poisson process, a simple analysis of the paths of $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ shows that the quadratic variation of the compensated Poisson process $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} = (N_t - t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is

$$[M,M]_t = N_t, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Similarly for the compensated compound Poisson martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ defined as

$$M_t := \frac{X_t - \lambda t \mathbb{E}[Y_1]}{\sqrt{\lambda \mathbb{E}[Y_1^2]}}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

where

$$X_t = \sum_{k=1}^{N_t} Y_k, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

we have

$$[M, M]_t = \frac{1}{\lambda \mathbb{E}[Y_1^2]} \sum_{k=1}^{N_t} |Y_k|^2, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Definition 2.9.4. The angle bracket $\langle M, M \rangle_t$ is defined as the unique increasing process such that

$$M_t^2 - \langle M, M \rangle_t, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

is a martingale.

As a consequence of Remark 2.1.3 we have

$$\langle M, M \rangle_t = t, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

for all normal martingales.

2.10 Structure Equations

We refer to [39] for the following definition.

Definition 2.10.1. An equation of the form

$$[M, M]_t = t + \int_0^t \phi_s dM_s, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(2.10.1)

Q

where $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ is a square-integrable adapted process, is called a structure equation.

In the sequel we will always consider a right-continuous version of $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$.

From (2.9.2) we get that for any normal martingale satisfying the structure equation (2.10.1) we have

$$(M_t - M_s)^2 = 2 \int_s^t (M_\tau - M_\tau) dM_\tau + \int_s^t \phi_\tau dM_\tau + t - s, \qquad 0 \le s \le t.$$
(2.10.2)

Moreover,

$$[M,M]_t - \langle M,M\rangle_t, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

is also a martingale as a consequence of Remark 2.1.3 and Corollary 2.5.8, since by Definition 2.9.1 we have

$$[M, M]_t - \langle M, M \rangle_t = [M, M]_t - t$$

$$= M_t^2 - t - 2 \int_0^t M_s dM_s, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$
(2.10.3)

As a consequence we have the following proposition.

Proposition 2.10.2. Assume that $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a normal martingale in L^4 having the predictable representation property. Then $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ satisfies the structure equation (2.10.1), i.e. there exists a square-integrable adapted process $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ such that

$$[M,M]_t = t + \int_0^t \phi_s dM_s, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Proof. Since $([M, M]_t - t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a martingale by (2.10.3) and $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the chaos representation property, Proposition 2.6.2 shows the existence of a square-integrable adapted process $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ such that

$$[M,M]_t - t = \int_0^t \phi_s dM_s, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

In general, letting

$$i_t = \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_t = 0\}}$$
 and $j_t = 1 - i_t = \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_t \neq 0\}}, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$ (2.10.4)

the continuous part of $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is given by $dM_t^c = i_t dM_t$ and the eventual jump of $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ at time $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ is given as $\Delta M_t = \phi_t$ on $\{\Delta M_t \neq 0\}$, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, see [39], page 70.

In particular,

a) Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ satisfies the structure equation (2.10.1) with $\phi_t = 0$, since the quadratic variation of $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is $[B, B]_t = t, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$. In (2.10.7) we have $\Delta B_t = \pm \sqrt{\Delta t}$ with equal probabilities 1/2.

b) The compensated Poisson martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} = \lambda (N_t^{\lambda} - t/\lambda^2)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, where $(N_t^{\lambda})_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a standard Poisson process with intensity $1/\lambda^2$, satisfies the structure equation (2.10.1) with $\phi_t = \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, since

$$[M,M]_t = \lambda^2 N_t^{\lambda} = t + \lambda M_t, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

In this case, $\Delta M_t \in \{0, \lambda\}$ in (2.10.7), with respective probabilities $1 - \lambda^{-2} \Delta t$ and $\lambda^{-2} \Delta t$.

c) If $(\phi_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ is deterministic, then $(M_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ can be represented as

$$dM_t = i_t dB_t + \phi_t (dN_t - \lambda_t dt), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \qquad M_0 = 0, \qquad (2.10.5)$$

with $\lambda_t = j_t/\phi_t^2$, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, where $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a standard Brownian motion, and $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ a Poisson process independent of $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, with intensity $\nu_t = \int_0^t \lambda_s ds, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, cf. [39].

d) The Azéma martingales correspond to $\phi_t = \beta M_t$, $\beta \in [-2, 0)$, and provide other examples of processes having the chaos representation property, and dependent increments, cf. [39].

e) Not all normal martingales satisfy a structure equation and have the predictable representation property. For instance, for the compound Poisson process

$$X_t = \sum_{k=1}^{N_t} Y_k, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

and the compensated compound Poisson martingale

$$M_t = \frac{X_t - \lambda t \mathbb{E}[Y_1]}{\sqrt{\lambda \mathbb{E}[Y_1^2]}}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(2.10.6)

of Section 2.4, we have

$$[M, M]_t = (\lambda \mathbb{E}[Y_1^2])^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{N_t} |Y_k|^2$$

= $(\lambda \mathbb{E}[Y_1^2])^{-1} \int_0^t |Y_{1+N_{s^-}}|^2 dN_s$
= $(\lambda \mathbb{E}[Y_1^2])^{-1} \int_0^t \frac{|Y_{1+N_{s^-}}|^2}{Y_{N_s}} d(X_s - \lambda \mathbb{E}[Y_1]ds)$

$$\begin{split} + \mathbb{E}[Y_1](\mathbb{E}[Y_1^2])^{-1} \int_0^t \frac{|Y_{1+N_{s^-}}|^2}{Y_{N_s}} ds \\ = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda \mathbb{E}[Y_1^2]}} \int_0^t \frac{|Y_{1+N_{s^-}}|^2}{Y_{N_s}} dM_s \\ + \mathbb{E}[Y_1](\mathbb{E}[Y_1^2])^{-1/2} \int_0^t \frac{|Y_{1+N_{s^-}}|^2}{Y_{N_s}} ds, \end{split}$$

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, hence $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ does not satisfy a structure equation and as a consequence of Proposition 2.6.2 it does not have the predictable representation property, and it does not satisfy (2.10.1), unless Y_1 is a constant.

Another way to verify this fact is to consider for example the sum

$$M_t = N_t^1 - t + \alpha (N_t^2 - t)$$

where $|\alpha| \neq 1$ and (N_t^1) , (N_t^2) are independent standard Poisson processes. In this case,

$$(M_T)^2 - 2\int_0^T M_{s^-} dM_s = N_T^1 + |\alpha|^2 N_T^2,$$

can clearly not be represented as a stochastic integral with respect to $(M_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ when $|\alpha| \neq 1$.

The structure equation (2.10.1) can be informally written as

$$(\Delta M_t)^2 = \Delta t + \phi_t \Delta M_t,$$

with solution

$$\Delta M_t = \frac{\phi_t}{2} \pm \sqrt{\left(\frac{\phi_t}{2}\right)^2 + \Delta t}, \qquad (2.10.7)$$

which is a continuous-time analog of Relation (1.4.2). By the martingale property of $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ we have the equation $\mathbb{E}[\Delta M_t] = 0$ which yields the respective probabilities

$$\frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{\phi_t}{2\sqrt{\phi_t^2 + 4\Delta t}}$$

compare with (1.4.2) and (1.4.4). This provides a procedure to simulate sample paths of a normal martingale.

Figure 2.1 presents a simulation of the paths of an Azéma martingale, in which case we have

$$\Delta M_t = \frac{\beta M_{t^-}}{2} \pm \sqrt{\left(\frac{\beta M_{t^-}}{2}\right)^2 + \Delta t},$$

with probabilities

$$\frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{\beta M_{t^-}}{2\sqrt{(\beta M_{t^-})^2 + 4\Delta t}},$$

for some $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$.



Fig. 2.1: Sample path of an Azéma martingale with $\beta = -0.5$.

Informally, the above calculations of quadratic variations can be obtained by applying the rules

$$\begin{cases} |dB_t|^2 = dt, \\ |dN_t|^2 = dN_t, \\ |dX_t|^2 = |Y_{N_t}|^2 dN_t, \\ |dt|^2 = 0. \end{cases}$$

2.11 Product Formula for Stochastic Integrals

In this section we present a multiplication formula in $L^2(\Omega)$ for stochastic integrals with respect to normal martingales. For this we need to be able to control their L^4 norms as in the next proposition.

Assumption 2.11.1. Assume that for some constant K > 0,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{a}^{b}\phi_{s}^{2}ds\Big|\mathcal{F}_{a}\right] \leq K^{2}(b-a), \qquad \mathbb{P}-a.s., \quad 0 \leq a \leq b.$$
(2.11.1)

Note that Condition (2.11.1) holds whenever $(\phi_t)_{t\in[0,T]} \in L^{\infty}_{ad}(\Omega \times [0,T])$. This condition is satisfied in all cases of interest here, since for Azéma martingales we have $(\phi_t)_{t\in[0,T]} = (\beta M_t)_{t\in[0,T]}, \beta \in (-2,0)$, and $\sup_{t\in[0,T]} |M_t| \leq (-2/\beta)^{1/2} < \infty$ (see [39], page 83). In addition, Brownian motion and the compensated Poisson martingales satisfy this hypothesis. Assumption 2.11.1 leads to the next proposition.

Proposition 2.11.2. Under the Assumption 2.11.1 we have

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s} dM_{s} \right\|_{L^{4}(\Omega)} \\ & \leq C(\|u\|_{L^{4}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})} + \|u\|_{L^{4}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))} + \|u\|_{L^{4}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}^{1/2} \|u\|_{L^{4}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}^{1/2}), \end{split}$$

for all $u \in L^4_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+) \cap L^4(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))$, where C > 0 is a constant.

Proof. Let $u \in \mathcal{P}$ a simple predictable process of the form

$$u = \sum_{i=1}^{n} G_i \mathbf{1}_{(t_{i-1}, t_i]},$$
(2.11.3)

for a given a subdivision $\pi = \{0 = t_0 < t_1 < \dots < t_n\}$ with

$$|\pi| := \max_{i=1,\dots,n} |t_i - t_{i-1}| \le 1.$$

We have, using Relation (2.1.1),

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s} dM_{s}\right)^{4}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})\right)^{4}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}^{4}(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{4}\right]$$
$$+ 2\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{1 \leq i < j \leq n}^{n} G_{i}^{2}G_{j}^{2}(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{2}(M_{t_{j}} - M_{t_{j-1}})^{2}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}^{4}(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{4}\right]$$
$$+ 2\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{1 \leq i < j \leq n}^{n} G_{i}^{2}G_{j}^{2}(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{2}(t_{j} - t_{j-1})\right]$$

$$\leq \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}^{4} (M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{4}\right] \\ + 2\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}^{2} (M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{2} \int_{t_{i}}^{\infty} |u_{s}|^{2} ds\right] \\ \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}^{4} (M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{4}\right] \\ + 2\left(\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} |u_{s}|^{2} ds\right)^{2}\right]\right)^{1/2} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}^{2} (M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{2}\right)^{2}\right]\right)^{1/2}.$$

We will deal successively with the three terms in the above expression. From Relation $\left(2.10.2\right)$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}^{2} (M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{2}\right)^{2}\right]$$

$$(2.11.4)$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} 2G_{i}^{2} \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} (M_{\tau} - M_{t_{i-1}}) dM_{\tau} + G_{i}^{2} \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} \phi_{\tau} dM_{\tau} + G_{i}^{2} (t_{i-1} - t_{i})\right)^{2}\right]$$

$$\leq 3\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} 4G_{i}^{4} \left(\int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} (M_{\tau} - M_{t_{i-1}}) dM_{\tau}\right)^{2} + G_{i}^{4} \left(\int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} \phi_{\tau} d\tau\right)^{2} + G_{i}^{4} (t_{i-1} - t_{i})^{2}\right]$$

$$\leq 3\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} 4G_{i}^{4} \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} (M_{\tau} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{2} d\tau + G_{i}^{4} (t_{i} - t_{i-1}) \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} |\phi_{\tau}|^{2} d\tau + G_{i}^{4} (t_{i-1} - t_{i})^{2}\right]$$

$$\leq 3\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} 4G_{i}^{4} \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} (\tau - t_{i-1}) d\tau + G_{i}^{4} (t_{i} - t_{i-1}) \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} |\phi_{\tau}|^{2} d\tau + G_{i}^{4} (t_{i-1} - t_{i})^{2}\right]$$

$$\leq 3\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}^{4} \left(4 \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} (\tau - t_{i-1}) d\tau + (K^{2} + 1) (t_{i} - t_{i-1})^{2}\right)\right]$$

$$\leq 3(5 + K^{2}) |\pi||u||_{L^{4}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}^{4}.$$

Next from Relation (2.10.2) we have

$$(M_t - M_s)^4 = (t - s) \left(2 \int_s^t (M_\tau - M_s) dM_\tau + \int_s^t \phi_\tau dM_\tau + t - s \right) + 2 \int_s^t (M_\tau - M_s) dM_\tau \left(2 \int_s^t (M_\tau - M_s) dM_\tau + \int_s^t \phi_\tau dM_\tau + t - s \right) + \int_s^t \phi_\tau dM_\tau \left(2 \int_s^t (M_\tau - M_s) dM_\tau + \int_s^t \phi_\tau dM_\tau + t - s \right),$$

98 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). hence from Proposition 2.5.7, Relations (2.1.1) and (2.5.4), and the conditional Itô isometry (2.5.4) we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[(M_t - M_s)^4 | \mathcal{F}_s] &= (t - s)^2 + 4\mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t (M_\tau - M_s)^2 d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right] \\ &+ 4\mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t \phi_\tau (M_\tau - M_s) d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t \phi_\tau^2 d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right] \\ &= (t - s)^2 + 4\int_s^t (\tau - s)^2 d\tau \\ &+ 4\mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t \phi_\tau (M_\tau - M_s) d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t \phi_\tau^2 d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right] \\ &\leq (t - s)^2 + 4\int_s^t (\tau - s)^2 d\tau + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t \phi_\tau^2 d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right] \\ &+ 4\left(\mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t \phi_\tau^2 d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right]\right)^{1/2} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t (M_\tau - M_s)^2 d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right]\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq (t - s)^2 + 4\int_s^t (\tau - s)^2 d\tau + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t \phi_\tau^2 d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right] \\ &+ 4\left(\mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t \phi_\tau^2 d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right]\right)^{1/2} \left(\int_s^t (\tau - s)^2 d\tau\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq (t - s)^2 + \frac{4}{3}(t - s)^3 + \frac{4}{\sqrt{3}}|t - s|^{3/2} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t \phi_\tau^2 d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right]\right)^{1/2} \\ &+ \mathbb{E}\left[\int_s^t \phi_\tau^2 d\tau \Big| \mathcal{F}_s\right] \\ &\leq (t - s) \left(K^2 + t - s + \frac{4K}{\sqrt{3}}(t - s) + \frac{4}{3}(t - s)^2\right), \end{split}$$

which yields

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}^{4} (M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{4}\right] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[G_{i}^{4} \mathbb{E}[(M_{t_{i}} - M_{t_{i-1}})^{4} | \mathcal{F}_{t_{i-1}}]]$$

$$\leq \left(K^{2} + |\pi| + \frac{4K}{\sqrt{3}} |\pi| + \frac{4}{3} |\pi|^{2}\right) \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{i}^{4} (t_{i} - t_{i-1})\right] \quad (2.11.5)$$

$$\leq \tilde{K}^{2} \|u\|_{L^{4}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}^{4},$$

for some constant $\tilde{K} > 0$. Finally, (2.11.4) and (2.11.5) lead to (2.11.2). \Box Next we state a multiplication formula for stochastic integrals with respect to a normal martingale.

Proposition 2.11.3. Under the Assumption 2.11.1, for all $u \in L^4_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+) \cap L^4(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))$ we have $\int_0^\infty u_s dM_s \in L^4(\Omega)$ and

$$\left(\int_0^\infty u_s dM_s\right)^2 = 2\int_0^\infty u_s \int_0^s u_\tau dM_\tau dM_s + \int_0^\infty |u_s|^2 \phi_s dM_s + \int_0^\infty |u_s|^2 ds.$$
(2.11.6)

Proof. For simple predictable processes $(u_s)_{s \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ of the form (2.11.3), formula (2.11.6) follows from (2.10.2). It is extended to $u \in L^4_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+) \cap L^4(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))$ using (2.11.2) and the Itô isometry (2.5.4) which shows that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_0^\infty |u_s|^2 \phi_s dM_s\right)^2\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^n |G_i|^4 \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_i} |\phi_s|^2 ds\right]$$
$$\leq K \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^n |G_i|^4 (t_i - t_{i-1})\right]$$
$$= K \|u\|_{L^4(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)}^4,$$

and

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{s} \int_{0}^{s} u_{\tau} dM_{\tau} dM_{s}\right)^{2}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} |u_{s}|^{2} \left(\int_{0}^{s} u_{\tau} dM_{\tau}\right)^{2} ds\right]$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[|u_{s}|^{4}\right]^{1/2} ds \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{s} u_{\tau} dM_{\tau}\right)^{4}\right]^{1/2}$$

$$\leq C \|u\|_{L^{4}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2} (\|u\|_{L^{4}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2} + \|u\|_{L^{4}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}^{2} \|u\|_{L^{4}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2}),$$

for some constant C > 0.

The proof of Proposition 2.11.3 can easily be modified to show that we have

$$\left(\int_{0}^{t} u_{s} dM_{s} + \int_{0}^{t} a_{s} ds\right) \left(\int_{0}^{t} v_{s} dM_{s} + \int_{0}^{t} b_{s} ds\right)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} u_{s} \int_{0}^{s} b_{\tau} d\tau dM_{s} + \int_{0}^{t} b_{s} \int_{0}^{s} u_{\tau} dM_{\tau} ds$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} v_{s} \int_{0}^{s} a_{\tau} d\tau dM_{s} + \int_{0}^{t} a_{s} \int_{0}^{s} v_{\tau} dM_{\tau} ds$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} a_{s} \int_{0}^{s} b_{\tau} d\tau ds + \int_{0}^{t} b_{s} \int_{0}^{s} a_{\tau} d\tau ds$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} u_{s} \int_{0}^{s} v_{\tau} dM_{\tau} dM_{s} + \int_{0}^{t} v_{s} \int_{0}^{s} u_{\tau} dM_{\tau} dM_{s}$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \phi_{s} u_{s} v_{s} dM_{s} + \int_{0}^{t} u_{s} v_{s} ds, \qquad (2.11.7)$$

where all terms belong to $L^4(\Omega)$, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, for all $u, v, a, b \in L^4_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+) \cap L^4(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))$.

As a corollary we have the following multiplication formula for multiple stochastic integrals.
Corollary 2.11.4. Let $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ and $v \in L^4(\mathbb{R}_+)$. Then under Assumption 2.11.1 we have for all $n \ge 1$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$:

$$\begin{split} &I_{1}(u\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]})I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n}}v^{\otimes n})\\ &=\int_{0}^{t}u_{s}I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n}}v^{\otimes n})dM_{s}+n\int_{0}^{t}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})\int_{0}^{s}u_{\tau}dM_{\tau}dM_{s}\\ &+n\int_{0}^{t}\phi_{s}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})dM_{s}+n\int_{0}^{t}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})ds. \end{split}$$

Proof. Applying Proposition 2.11.3 to u_s and $v_s I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})$, we have

$$\begin{split} I_{1}(u\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]})I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n}}v^{\otimes n}) &= n\int_{0}^{t}u_{s}dM_{s}\int_{0}^{t}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)})dM_{s} \\ &= n\int_{0}^{t}u_{s}\int_{0}^{s}v_{\tau}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,\tau]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)})dM_{\tau}dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)})\int_{0}^{s}u_{\tau}dM_{\tau}dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t}\phi_{s}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)})dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)})dS \\ &= \int_{0}^{t}u_{s}I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n}}v^{\otimes n})dM_{s} + n\int_{0}^{t}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)})\int_{0}^{s}u_{\tau}dM_{\tau}dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t}\phi_{s}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)})dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t}\omega_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)})dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)})dM_{s} \end{split}$$

2.12 Itô Formula

Consider a normal martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ satisfying the structure equation

$$d[M,M]_t = dt + \phi_t dM_t.$$

Such an equation is satisfied in particular if $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the predictable representation property, cf. Proposition 2.10.2.

The following is a statement of Itô's formula for normal martingales, cf. [39], page 70, for a proof using formal semimartingales. The proof presented here is in the L^2 sense, and when $\phi_s = 0$ the fractions in (2.12.2) should be replaced with their limits as $\phi_s = 0$ tends to 0 (i.e. with their corresponding first and second derivatives).

Proposition 2.12.1. Assume that $\phi \in L^{\infty}_{ad}([0,T] \times \Omega)$. Let $(X_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ be a process given by

$$X_t = X_0 + \int_0^t u_s dM_s + \int_0^t v_s ds, \qquad t \in [0, T],$$
(2.12.1)

where $(u_s)_{s \in [0,T]}$ and $(v_s)_{s \in [0,T]}$ are adapted processes in $L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times [0,T])$. Then for all $f \in \mathcal{C}^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R})$ we have

$$f(t, X_t) - f(0, X_0) = \int_0^t \frac{f(s, X_{s^-} + \phi_s u_s) - f(s, X_{s^-})}{\phi_s} dM_s \qquad (2.12.2)$$
$$+ \int_0^t \frac{f(s, X_s + \phi_s u_s) - f(s, X_s) - \phi_s u_s \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s, X_s)}{\phi_s^2} ds$$
$$+ \int_0^t v_s \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s, X_s) ds + \int_0^t \frac{\partial f}{\partial s}(s, X_s) ds, \qquad t \in [0, T].$$

Proof. We prove the formula in the case where f does not depend on time and $v_s = 0$, $s \in \mathbb{R}_+$, since this generalization can be done using standard calculus arguments. Assume now that $u \in \mathcal{U}$ is a simple predictable process of the form $u = G\mathbf{1}_{[a,b]}$, with $G \in L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_a)$. Clearly the formula (2.12.2) holds when f = c is a constant function. By induction on $n \geq 1$, we assume that it holds when applied to $f(x) = x^n$, i.e.

$$X_{t}^{n} = X_{0}^{n} + \int_{0}^{t} L_{s}^{n} ds + \int_{0}^{t} U_{s}^{n} dM_{s},$$

with

$$U_s^n = \frac{(X_{s^-} + \phi_s u_s)^n - (X_{s^-})^n}{\phi_s}$$

and

$$L_{s}^{n} = \frac{(X_{s} + \phi_{s}u_{s})^{n} - (X_{s})^{n} - n\phi_{s}u_{s}(X_{s})^{n-1}}{\phi_{s}^{2}}, \quad s \in \mathbb{R}_{+}.$$

From Proposition 2.11.3 we have

$$\begin{split} X_t^{n+1} - X_0^n &= (X_t - X_0)(X_t^n - X_0^n) + X_0(X_t^n - X_0^n) + X_0^n(X_t - X_0) \\ &= \int_0^t u_s \int_0^s L_\tau^n d\tau dM_s + \int_0^t u_s \int_0^s U_\tau^n dM_\tau dM_s \\ &+ \int_0^t L_s^n \int_0^s u_\tau dM_\tau ds + \int_0^t U_s^n \int_0^s u_\tau dM_\tau dM_s \\ &+ \int_0^t \phi_s u_s U_s^n dM_s + \int_0^t u_s U_s^n ds \\ &+ X_0 \int_0^t L_s^n ds + X_0 \int_0^t U_s^n dM_s, + X_0^n \int_0^t u_s dM_s \\ &= \int_0^t X_s U_s^n dM_s + \int_0^t X_s L_s^n ds + \int_0^t X_s^n u_s dM_s \end{split}$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} u_{s} \phi_{s} U_{s}^{n} dM_{s} + \int_{0}^{t} u_{s} U_{s}^{n} ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} L_{s}^{n+1} ds + \int_{0}^{t} U_{s}^{n+1} dM_{s},$$

since

$$U_s^{n+1} = u_s (X_{s^-})^n + X_{s^-} U_s^n + u_s \phi_s U_s^n = u_s X_{s^-}^n + X_{s^-} U_s^n + u_s \phi_s U_s^n,$$

and

$$L_s^{n+1} = U_s^n u_s + X_{s-} L_s^n, \qquad s \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

This proves the formula for f polynomial and $u \in \mathcal{P}$. For all $n \ge 1$, let

$$\tau_n = \inf\{s \in \mathbb{R}_+ : |X_s| > n\}.$$

Let $f \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R})$ and let $(f_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of polynomials converging uniformly to f on [-n, n]. Since $\mathbf{1}_{\{s \leq \tau_n\}} = 1$, a.s., $0 \leq s \leq t$, on $\{t \leq \tau_n\}$, from the locality property of the stochastic integral (Proposition 2.5.5) we have for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{1}_{\{t \le \tau_n\}}(f_m(X_t) - f_m(X_0)) &= \mathbf{1}_{\{t \le \tau_n\}} \int_0^t \frac{f_m(X_{s^-} + \phi_s u_s) - f_m(X_{s^-})}{\phi_s} dM_s \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{\{t \le \tau_n\}} \int_0^t \frac{f_m(X_{s^-} + \phi_s u_s) - f_m(X_{s^-}) - \phi_s u_s f'_m(X_{s^-})}{\phi_s^2} ds \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{t \le \tau_n\}} \int_0^t \mathbf{1}_{\{s \le \tau_n\}} \frac{f_m(X_{s^-} + \phi_s u_s) - f_m(X_{s^-})}{\phi_s} dM_s \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{\{t \le \tau_n\}} \int_0^t \mathbf{1}_{\{s \le \tau_n\}} \frac{f_m(X_{s^-} + \phi_s u_s) - f_m(X_{s^-}) - \phi_s u_s f'_m(X_{s^-})}{\phi_s^2} ds. \end{split}$$

Letting m go to infinity we get

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{1}_{\{t \leq \tau_n\}} & (f(X_t) - f(X_0)) \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{t \leq \tau_n\}} \int_0^t \mathbf{1}_{\{s \leq \tau_n\}} \frac{f(X_{s^-} + \phi_s u_s) - f(X_{s^-})}{\phi_s} dM_s \\ &\quad + \mathbf{1}_{\{t \leq \tau_n\}} \int_0^t \mathbf{1}_{\{s \leq \tau_n\}} \frac{f(X_{s^-} + \phi_s u_s) - f(X_{s^-}) - \phi_s u_s f'(X_{s^-})}{\phi_s^2} ds, \end{split}$$

and it remains to let n go to infinity, which proves the formula for $f \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R})$ by locality of the Itô integral, see e.g. Proposition 2.5.5. The formula is then extended to $u \in L^2_{ad}([0,T] \times \Omega)$, by density of \mathcal{U} in $L^2_{ad}([0,T] \times \Omega)$, and finally to all $f \in C^2(\mathbb{R})$, again by locality of the Itô integral.

Note that if $\phi_s = 0$, the terms

$$\frac{f(X_{s^{-}} + \phi_s u_s) - f(X_{s^{-}})}{\phi_s}$$

and

$$\frac{f(X_s + \phi_s u_s) - f(X_s) - \phi_s u_s f'(X_s)}{\phi_s^2}$$

have to be replaced by their respective limits $u_s f'(X_{s^-})$ and $\frac{1}{2}u_s^2 f''(X_{s^-})$ as $\phi_s \to 0$. This gives

$$\begin{split} f(t,X_t) - f(0,X_0) &= \int_0^t i_s u_s \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s,X_s) dM_s + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t i_s u_s^2 \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x^2}(s,X_s) ds \\ &+ \int_0^t j_s \frac{f(s,X_{s^-} + \phi_s u_s) - f(s,X_{s^-})}{\phi_s} dM_s \\ &+ \int_0^t j_s \frac{f(s,X_s + \phi_s u_s) - f(s,X_s) - \phi_s u_s \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s,X_s)}{\phi_s^2} ds \\ &+ \int_0^t v_s \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s,X_s) ds + \int_0^t \frac{\partial f}{\partial s}(s,X_s) ds, \qquad t \in [0,T], \end{split}$$

where the processes $(i_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ and $(j_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ have been defined in (2.10.4).

Examples

i) In the case of Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ we have $\phi_s = 0, s\in\mathbb{R}_+$, hence the Itô formula reads

$$f(B_t) = f(0) + \int_0^t f'(B_s) dB_s + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t f''(B_s) ds.$$

ii) For the compensated Poisson process $(N_t - t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ we have $\phi_s = 1$, $s \in \mathbb{R}_+$, hence

$$f(N_t - t) = f(0) + \int_0^t (f(1 + N_{s^-} - s) - f(N_{s^-} - s))d(N_s - s) + \int_0^t (f(1 + N_s - s) - f(N_s - s) - f'(N_s - s))ds.$$

In the Poisson case this formula can actually be recovered by elementary calculus, as follows:

$$f(N_t - t) = f(0) + f(N_t - t) - f(N_t - T_{N_t}) + \sum_{k=1}^{N_t} f(k - T_k) - f(k - 1 - T_{k-1}) = f(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{N_t} f(k - T_k) - f(k - 1 - T_k) - \int_{T_{N_t}}^t f'(N_t - s) ds - \sum_{k=1}^{N_t} \int_{T_{k-1}}^{T_k} f'(k - 1 - s) ds$$

$$= f(0) + \int_0^t (f(1+N_{s^-}-s) - f(N_{s^-}-s))dN_s - \int_0^t f'(N_s-s)ds$$

= $f(0) + \int_0^t (f(1+N_{s^-}-s) - f(N_{s^-}-s))(dN_s - ds)$
+ $\int_0^t (f(1+N_s-s) - f(N_s-s) - f'(N_s-s))ds.$

iii) More generally, in case $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is deterministic we have

$$M_t = \int_0^t \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_s=0\}} dB_s + \int_0^t \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_s\neq0\}} \phi_s \left(dN_s - \frac{ds}{\phi_s^2} \right), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

and

$$\begin{split} f(M_t) &= f(0) + \int_0^t \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_s=0\}} f'(M_s) dB_s + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_s=0\}} f''(M_s) dB_s \\ &+ \int_0^t \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_s \neq 0\}} (f(M_{s^-} + \phi_s) - f(M_{s^-})) \left(dN_s - \frac{ds}{\phi_s^2} \right) \\ &+ \int_0^t \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_s \neq 0\}} (f(M_{s^-} + \phi_s) - f(M_{s^-}) - \phi_s f'(M_s)) \frac{ds}{\phi_s^2}. \end{split}$$

iv) For the compound Poisson martingale

$$M_t := \frac{X_t - \lambda t \mathbb{E}[Y_1]}{\sqrt{\lambda \operatorname{Var}\left[Y_1\right]}}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

of Section 2.4 we have

$$f(M_t) = f(0) + \int_0^t (f(Y_{N_s} + M_{s^-}) - f(M_{s^-}))d(N_s - \lambda s)$$
(2.12.3)

$$+\lambda \int_0^t \left(f(Y_{N_s} + M_s) - f(M_s) - \frac{\mathbb{E}[Y_1]}{\sqrt{\lambda \operatorname{Var}[Y_1]}} f'(M_s) \right) ds.$$

However, as noted above the compound Poisson martingale (2.10.6) does not have the predictable representation property. Thus it does not satisfy the hypotheses of this section and the above formula is actually distinct from (2.12.1) since here the stochastic integral is not with respect to $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ itself. Note also that the pathwise stochastic integral (2.12.3) is not in the sense of Proposition 2.5.10 since the integrand $(f(Y_{N_t} + M_{t^-}) - f(M_{t^-}))$ is not a left limit due to the presence of Y_{N_t} .

The change of variable formula can be extended to the multidimensional case as in Proposition 2 of [39]. Here we use the convention 0/0 = 0.

Proposition 2.12.2. Let $X = (X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ be a \mathbb{R}^n -valued process given by

$$dX_t = R_t dt + K_t dM_t, \quad X_0 > 0,$$

where $(R_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ and $(K_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ are predictable square-integrable \mathbb{R}^n -valued processes. For any $f \in \mathcal{C}^2_b(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R})$ we have

$$f(t, X_t) = f(0, X_0) + \int_0^t L_s f(s, X_s) dM_s + \int_0^t U_s f(s, X_s) ds + \int_0^t \frac{\partial f}{\partial s}(s, X_s) ds,$$
(2.12.4)

where

$$L_{s}f(s, X_{s}) = i_{s}\langle K_{s}, \nabla f(s, X_{s})\rangle + \frac{j_{s}}{\phi_{s}}(f(s, X_{s^{-}} + \phi_{s}K_{s^{-}}) - f(s, X_{s^{-}})),$$
(2.12.5)

and

$$U_s f(s, X_s) = R_s \nabla f(s, X_s) + \alpha_s^2 \left(\frac{1}{2} i_s \langle \text{Hess } f(s, X_s), K_s \otimes K_s \rangle \right. \\ \left. + \frac{j_s}{\phi_s^2} (f(s, X_{s^-} + \phi_s K_{s^-}) - f(s, X_{s^-}) - \phi_s \langle K_s, \nabla f(s, X_s) \rangle) \right).$$

2.13 Exponential Vectors

The exponential vectors are a stochastic analog of the generating function for polynomials. In this section they are presented as the solutions of linear stochastic differential equations with respect to a normal martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ having the predictable representation property, and satisfying a structure equation of the form (2.10.1).

In the next proposition, the solution (2.13.2) of Equation 2.13.1 can be derived using the Itô formula, and the uniqueness can be proved using the Itô isometry and classical arguments.

Proposition 2.13.1. For any $u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$, the equation

$$Z_t = 1 + \int_0^t Z_{s^-} u_s dM_s, \quad t \in [0, T]$$
(2.13.1)

has a unique solution $(\xi_t(u))_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ given by

$$\xi_t(u) = \exp\left(\int_0^t u_s dM_s - \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t u_s^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_s=0\}} ds\right) \prod_{s \in J_M^t} (1 + u_s \phi_s) e^{-u_s \phi_s}, \quad (2.13.2)$$

where J_M^t denotes the set of jump times of $(M_s)_{s \in [0,t]}$, $t \in [0,T]$.

In the pure jump case, from Proposition 2.5.10, $(Z_s)_{s \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ satisfies the pathwise stochastic differential equation with jumps

$$dG_t = u(t)G_{t^-}(dN_t - dt), \quad G_0 = 1,$$
 (2.13.3)

which can be directly solved on each interval $(T_{k-1}, T_k], k \ge 1$, to get

$$G_t = e^{-\int_0^t u(s)ds} \prod_{k=1}^{N_t} (1 + u(T_k)), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+$$

Proposition 2.13.2. Given $u \in L^{\infty}([0,T])$, $\xi_T(u)$ can be represented as

$$\xi_T(u) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} I_n(u^{\otimes n} \mathbf{1}_{[0,T]^n}).$$
(2.13.4)

Proof. Letting

$$Z_t^n = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{k!} I_k(u^{\otimes k} \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^k}),$$

we have

$$1 + \int_0^t u_\tau Z_\tau^n dM_\tau = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} \frac{1}{k!} I_k(u^{\otimes k} \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^k})$$
$$= Z_t^{n+1},$$

which yields

$$Z_t = 1 + \int_0^t u_\tau Z_\tau dM_\tau, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

as n goes to infinity, where integrals and sums have been interchanged in the L^2 sense. Hence $\xi_t(u)$ and Z_t coincide since they solve the same equation (2.13.1).

In particular, letting T go to infinity in (2.13.2) and (2.13.4) yields the identity

$$\xi(u) = \exp\left(\int_0^\infty u_s dM_s - \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty u_s^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_s=0\}} ds\right) \prod_{\Delta N_s \neq 0} (1 + u_s \phi_s) e^{-u_s \phi_s}.$$
(2.13.5)

Definition 2.13.3. Let \mathcal{E} denote the linear space generated by exponential vectors of the form $\xi(u)$, where $u \in L^{\infty}([0,T])$.

Under the chaos representation property of Definition 2.8.2 the space \mathcal{E} is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$, and from the following lemma, \mathcal{E} is an algebra for the pointwise multiplication of random variables when $(\phi_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ is a deterministic function.

Lemma 2.13.4. For any $u, v \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$, we have the relation

$$\xi(u)\xi(v) = \exp(\langle u, v \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)})\xi(u+v+\phi uv).$$
(2.13.6)

Proof. From Proposition 2.11.3 we have for $u, v \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$:

 $d(\xi_t(u)\xi_t(v))$

$$\begin{split} &= u_t \xi_{t^-}(u) \xi_{t^-}(v) dM_t + v_t \xi_{t^-}(v) \xi_{t^-}(u) dM_t + v_t u_t \xi_{t^-}(v) \xi_{t^-}(u) d[M, M]_t \\ &= u_t \xi_{t^-}(u) \xi_{t^-}(v) dM_t + v_t \xi_{t^-}(v) \xi_{t^-}(u) dM_t + v_t u_t \xi_t(v) \xi_t(u) dt \\ &+ \phi_t u_t v_t \xi_{t^-}(v) \xi_{t^-}(u) dM_t \\ &= v_t u_t \xi_t(v) \xi_t(u) dt + \xi_{t^-}(v) \xi_{t^-}(u) (u_t + v_t + \phi_t u_t v_t) dM_t. \end{split}$$

hence

$$d(e^{-\int_0^t u_s v_s ds} \xi_t(u)\xi_t(v)) = e^{-\int_0^t u_s v_s ds} \xi_{t-}(v)\xi_{t-}(u)(u_t + v_t + \phi_t u_t v_t) dM_t,$$

which shows that

$$\exp(-\langle u, v \rangle_{L^2([0,T])})\xi(u)\xi(v) = \xi(u+v+\phi uv).$$

Relation (2.13.6) then follows by comparison with (2.13.1).

2.14 Vector-Valued Case

In this section we consider multiple stochastic integrals of vector-valued functions with respect to a *d*-dimensional normal martingale $(M_t)_{0 \le t \le T}$ with independent components $M_t = (M_t^{(1)}, \ldots, M_t^{(d)})$.

Let $g_n \in L^2([0,T]^n)$ and let (e_1,\ldots,e_d) denote the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^d . We define the *n*-th iterated integral of $g_n e_{i_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes e_{i_n}$, with $1 \leq i_1,\ldots,i_n \leq d$, as

$$I_n(g_n e_{i_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes e_{i_n}) = n! \int_0^T \int_0^{t_n} \ldots \int_0^{t_2} g_n(t_1, \ldots, t_n) dM_{t_1}^{(i_1)} \ldots dM_{t_n}^{(i_n)}.$$
(2.14.1)
For $g_n \in L^2([0, T]^n), h_m \in L^2([0, T]^m)$, with $1 \le i_1, \ldots, i_n \le d$ and $1 \le j_1, \ldots, j_m \le d$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[I_n(g_ne_{i_1}\otimes\ldots\otimes e_{i_n})I_m(h_me_{j_1}\otimes\ldots\otimes e_{j_m})\right] \\ = \begin{cases} n!\langle g_n,h_m\rangle_{L^2([0,T]^n)} & \text{if } n=m \text{ and } i_l=j_l, \ 1\leq l\leq n, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Given $f_n = (f_n^{(i_1,\ldots,i_n)})_{1 \le i_1,\ldots,i_n \le d} \in L^2([0,T],\mathbb{R}^d)^{\otimes n}$, we define the *n*-th iterated integral of f_n by

$$I_n(f_n) = n! \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_n=1}^d \int_0^T \int_0^{t_n} \dots \int_0^{t_2} f_n^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)}(t_1,\dots,t_n) dM_{t_1}^{(i_1)}\dots dM_{t_n}^{(i_n)}$$

$$=\sum_{i_1,\ldots,i_n=1}^d I_n(f_n^{(i_1,\ldots,i_n)}e_{i_1}\otimes\ldots\otimes e_{i_n}).$$

Let Σ_n denote the set of all permutations of $\{1, \ldots, n\}$. We have

$$I_n(\tilde{f}_n) = I_n(f_n),$$

where \tilde{f}_n is the symmetrization of f_n in $L^2([0,T], \mathbb{R}^d)^{\circ n}$, i.e for $1 \leq i_1, \ldots, i_n \leq d$, we have

$$\tilde{f}_n^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)}(t_1,\dots,t_n) = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_n} f_n^{(i_{\sigma(1)},\dots,i_{\sigma(n)})}(t_{\sigma(1)},\dots,t_{\sigma(n)}).$$

Given

$$f_n = (f_n^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)})_{1 \le i_1,\dots,i_n \le d} \in L^2([0,T], \mathbb{R}^d)^{\otimes n}$$

and

$$g_m = (g_m^{(j_1,\dots,j_m)})_{1 \le j_1,\dots,j_m \le d} \in L^2([0,T], \mathbb{R}^d)^{\otimes m}$$

we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[I_{n}(f_{n})I_{m}(g_{m})\right] = \begin{cases} \sum_{\substack{i_{1}, \cdots, i_{n}=1\\j_{1}, \cdots, j_{m}=1}}^{d} n! \langle f_{n}^{(i_{1}, \dots, i_{n})}, g_{m}^{(j_{1}, \dots, j_{m})} \rangle_{L^{2}([0,T]^{n})} \text{ if } i_{l} = j_{l}, \ 1 \leq l \leq n, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Finally we consider the multidimensional Poisson and mixed Brownian-Poisson cases.

Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}, P)$ be a probability space with the filtration $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ generated by a *d*-dimensional Poisson process $N_t = (N_t^{(1)}, \ldots, N_t^{(p)}), 0 \le t \le T$, and independent components, with deterministic intensity

$$\left(\int_0^t \lambda_s^{(1)} ds, \dots, \int_0^t \lambda_s^{(d)} ds\right).$$

The iterated stochastic integral of a symmetric function

$$f_n = (f_n^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)})_{1 \le i_1,\dots,i_n \le d} \in L^2([0,T],\mathbb{R}^d)^{\circ n},$$

where $f_n^{(i_1,...,i_n)} \in L^2([0,T]^n)$, is defined by

$$I_n(f_n) := n! \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_n=1}^d \int_0^T \int_0^{t_n} \dots \int_0^{t_2}$$

$$f_n^{(i_1,\ldots,i_n)}(t_1,\ldots,t_n)(dN_{t_1}^{(i_1)}-\lambda_{t_1}^{(i_1)}dt_1)\ldots(dN_{t_n}^{(i_n)}-\lambda_{t_n}^{(i_n)}dt_n).$$

In the mixed Brownian-Poisson case let $(B_t)_{0 \le t \le T}$ with $B_t = (B_t^{(1)}, \ldots, B_t^{(d)})$ be a *d*-dimensional Brownian motion with independent components, let $(N_t)_{0 \le t \le T}$ with $N_t = (N_t^{(1)}, \ldots, N_t^{(p)})$ be a *p*-dimensional Poisson process with independent components and intensity

$$\left(\int_0^t \lambda_s^{(1)} ds, \dots, \int_0^t \lambda_s^{(d)} ds\right)$$

We work on a filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in [0,T]}, P)$, where \mathcal{F}_t is the filtration generated by $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ and $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, which are assumed to be independent. We denote by $M = (M^{(1)}, \ldots, M^{(p)})$ the compensated Poisson process given by

$$dM^{(l)} = dN_t^{(l)} - \lambda_t^{(l)} dt, \qquad t \in [0, T], \qquad l = 1, \dots, p.$$

Let

$$(X_t^{(1)}, \dots, X_t^{(d)}, X_t^{(d+1)}, \dots, X_t^{(d+p)}) = (B_t^{(1)}, \dots, B_t^{(d)}, M_t^{(1)}, \dots, M_t^{(p)}).$$

The iterated stochastic integral of a symmetric function

$$f_n = (f_n^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)})_{1 \le i_1,\dots,i_n \le d+p} \in L^2([0,T], \mathbb{R}^{(d+p)})^{\otimes n},$$

where $f_n^{(i_1,\ldots,i_n)} \in L^2([0,T]^n)$, is given by

$$I_n(f_n) := n! \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_n=1}^{d+p} \int_0^T \int_0^{t_n} \dots \int_0^{t_2} f_n^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)}(t_1,\dots,t_n) dX_{t_1}^{(i_1)}\dots dX_{t_n}^{(i_n)}.$$

The chaos representation property holds in the multidimensional case, i.e. for any $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ there exists a unique sequence $(f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of symmetric deterministic functions

$$f_n = (f_n^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)})_{i_1,\dots,i_n \in \{1,\dots,d\}} \in L^2([0,T],\mathbb{R}^d)^{\circ n}$$

such that

$$F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n).$$

2.15 Notes and References

Our presentation of stochastic calculus is restricted to normal martingales, which are well fitted to the construction of multiple stochastic integrals and chaos expansions in the L^2 sense. We refer to e.g. [125] for the the standard approach to stochastic calculus using local martingales and semimartingales. The systematic study of normal martingales started in [39], and d-dimensional normal martingales have been considered in [10], [11]. Several books and survevs exist on multiple stochastic integrals, see [41], [60], [77], [86]. A number of properties of Brownian motion, such as almost sure path continuity, have been omitted here and can be found in [126]. See [28], page 317, and [26], [157] for the absence of predictable representation property of compound Poisson processes. The Itô change of variable formula Proposition 2.12.1 can be found in Proposition 2 in [39] with a different formulation and proof. We refer to [125], Theorem 36, page 77, for results on exponential vectors. Lemma 2.13.4 is a version of Yor's formula [156], cf. also Theorem 37 of [123], page 79, for martingales with deterministic bracket $\langle M, M \rangle_t$. Proposition 2.3.6 can be proved using the independence of increments of the Poisson process and arguments of [91]. The presentation of multidimensional Poisson and mixed Brownian-Poisson integrals is based on [73].

Chapter 3 Gradient and Divergence Operators

In this chapter we construct an abstract framework for stochastic analysis in continuous time with respect to a normal martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, using the construction of stochastic calculus presented in Section 2. In particular we identify some minimal properties that should be satisfied in order to connect a gradient and a divergence operator to stochastic integration, and to apply them to the predictable representation of random variables. Some applications, such as logarithmic Sobolev and deviation inequalities, are formulated in this general setting. In the next chapters we will examine concrete examples of operators that can be included in this framework, in particular when $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a Brownian motion or a compensated Poisson process.

3.1 Definition and Closability

In this chapter, $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ denotes a normal martingale as considered in Chapter 2. We let S, \mathcal{U} , and \mathcal{P} denote the spaces of random variables, simple processes and simple predictable processes introduced in Definition 2.5.2, and we note that S is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$ by Definition 2.5.2 and \mathcal{U}, \mathcal{P} are dense in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ and $L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ respectively from Proposition 2.5.3.

Let now

$$D: L^2(\Omega, d\mathbb{P}) \to L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+, d\mathbb{P} \times dt)$$

and

$$\delta: L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+, d\mathbb{P} \times dt) \to L^2(\Omega, d\mathbb{P})$$

be linear operators defined respectively on S and U. In particular, $(D_t F)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a stochastic process for $F \in S$, and we assume that the following duality relation holds.

Assumption 3.1.1. (Duality relation) The operators D and δ satisfy the relation

$$\mathbb{E}[\langle DF, u \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}] = \mathbb{E}[F\delta(u)], \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}, \ u \in \mathcal{U}.$$
(3.1.1)

Note that $D\mathbf{1} = 0$ is equivalent to $\mathbb{E}[\delta(u)] = 0$, for all $u \in \mathcal{U}$. In the next proposition we use the notion of closability for operators in normed linear spaces, whose definition is recalled in Section 9.8 of the Appendix. The next proposition is actually a general result on the closability of the adjoint of a densely defined operator.

Proposition 3.1.2. The duality assumption 3.1.1 implies that D and δ are closable.

Proof. If $(F_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges to 0 in $L^2(\Omega)$ and $(DF_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges to $U \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$, the relation

$$\mathbb{E}[\langle DF_n, u \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}] = \mathbb{E}[F_n \delta(u)], \qquad u \in \mathcal{U},$$

implies

$$\begin{split} |\langle U, u \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}| &= |\mathbb{E}[\langle U, u \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}]| \\ &\leq |\mathbb{E}[\langle DF_{n}, u \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}] - \mathbb{E}[\langle U, u \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}]| + |\mathbb{E}[\langle DF_{n}, u \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}|] \\ &= |\mathbb{E}[\langle DF_{n} - U, u \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}]| + |\mathbb{E}[F_{n}\delta(u)]| \\ &\leq \|DF_{n} - U\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}\|u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})} + \|F_{n}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}\|\delta(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}, \end{split}$$

hence as *n* goes to infinity we get $\mathbb{E}[\langle U, u \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}] = 0, u \in \mathcal{U}$, i.e. U = 0 since \mathcal{U} is dense in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$. The proof of closability of δ is similar: if $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to 0 in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ and $(\delta(u_n))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to $F \in L^2(\Omega)$, we have for all $G \in \mathcal{S}$:

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{E}[FG]| &\leq |\mathbf{E}[\langle DG, u_n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}] - \mathbf{E}[FG]| + |\mathbf{E}[\langle DG, u_n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}]| \\ &= |\mathbf{E}[G(\delta(u_n) - F)]| + |\mathbf{E}[\langle DG, u_n \rangle_{L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)}]| \\ &\leq \|\delta(u_n) - F\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \|G\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|u_n\|_{L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)} \|DG\|_{L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)}, \end{aligned}$$

hence $\mathbb{E}[FG] = 0, G \in \mathcal{S}$, i.e. F = 0 since \mathcal{S} is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$.

From the above proposition these operators are respectively extended to their closed domains Dom(D) and $\text{Dom}(\delta)$, and for simplicity their extensions will remain denoted by D and δ .

3.2 Clark Formula and Predictable Representation

In this section we study the connection between D, δ , and the predictable representation of random variables using stochastic integrals.

Assumption 3.2.1. (Clark formula). Every $F \in S$ can be represented as

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] dM_t.$$
(3.2.1)

This assumption is connected to the predictable representation property for the martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, cf. Proposition 3.2.8 and Proposition 3.2.6 below.

Definition 3.2.2. Given $k \ge 1$, let $\mathbb{D}_{2,k}([a,\infty))$, a > 0, denote the completion of S under the norm

$$\|F\|_{I\!\!D_{2,k}([a,\infty))} = \|F\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \sum_{i=1}^k \sqrt{\mathbb{E}\left[\int_a^\infty |D_t^i F|^2 dt\right]},$$

where $D_t^i = D_t \cdots D_t$ denotes the *i*-th iterated power of D_t , $i \ge 1$.

In other words, for any $F \in \mathbb{D}_{2,k}([a,\infty))$, the process $(D_tF)_{t\in[a,\infty)}$ exists in $L^2(\Omega \times [a,\infty))$. Clearly we have $\text{Dom}(D) = \mathbb{D}_{2,1}([0,\infty))$. Under the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1, a representation result for $F \in ID_{2,1}([a,\infty))$ can be stated as a consequence of the Clark formula:

Proposition 3.2.3. For all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $F \in \mathbb{D}_{2,1}([t,\infty))$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t] = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^t \mathbb{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s] dM_s, \qquad (3.2.2)$$

 \square

and

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t] + \int_t^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s] dM_s, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$
(3.2.3)

Proof. This is a direct consequence of (3.2.1) and Proposition 2.5.7. By uniqueness of the predictable representation of $F \in L^2(\Omega)$, an expression of the form

$$F = c + \int_0^\infty u_t dM_t$$

where $c \in \mathbb{R}$ and $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is adapted and square-integrable, implies

 $u_t = \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t], \qquad dt \times d\mathbb{P} - a.e.$

The covariance identity proved in the next lemma is a consequence of Proposition 3.2.3 and the Itô isometry (2.5.5).

Lemma 3.2.4. For all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $F \in \mathbb{D}_{2,1}([t,\infty))$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[(\mathbb{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t])^2] = (\mathbb{E}[F])^2 + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^t (\mathbb{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s])^2 ds\right]$$
(3.2.4)

$$= \mathbb{E}[F^2] - \mathbb{E}\left[\int_t^\infty (\mathbb{E}[D_s F | \mathcal{F}_s])^2 ds\right].$$
(3.2.5)

Proof. From the Itô isometry (2.5.4) and Relation (3.2.2) we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}[(\mathbf{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t])^2] &= \mathbf{E}\left[\left(\mathbf{E}[F] + \int_0^t \mathbf{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s] dM_s\right)^2\right] \\ &= (\mathbf{E}[F])^2 + \mathbf{E}\left[\left(\int_0^t \mathbf{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s] dM_s\right)^2\right] \\ &= (\mathbf{E}[F])^2 + \mathbf{E}\left[\int_0^t (\mathbf{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s])^2 ds\right], \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \end{split}$$

which shows (3.2.4). Next, concerning (3.2.5) we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}[F^2] &= \mathbf{E}\left[\left(\mathbf{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t] + \int_t^{\infty} \mathbf{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s] dM_s\right)^2\right] \\ &= \mathbf{E}\left[\left(\mathbf{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t]\right)^2\right] + \mathbf{E}\left[\mathbf{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t]\int_t^{\infty} \mathbf{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s] dM_s\right] \\ &\quad + \mathbf{E}\left[\left(\int_t^{\infty} \mathbf{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s] dM_s\right)^2\right] \\ &= \mathbf{E}\left[\left(\mathbf{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t]\right)^2\right] + \mathbf{E}\left[\int_t^{\infty} \mathbf{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t] \mathbf{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s] dM_s\right] \\ &\quad + \mathbf{E}\left[\int_t^{\infty} \left(\mathbf{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s]\right)^2 ds\right] \\ &= \mathbf{E}\left[\left(\mathbf{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t]\right)^2\right] + \mathbf{E}\left[\int_t^{\infty} \left(\mathbf{E}[D_s F|\mathcal{F}_s]\right)^2 ds\right], \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \end{split}$$

since from (2.5.7) the Itô stochastic integral has expectation 0, which shows (3.2.5).

The next remark applies in general to any mapping sending a random variable to the process involved in its predictable representation with respect to a normal martingale.

Lemma 3.2.5. The operator

$$F \longmapsto (\mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t])_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$$

defined on S extends to a continuous operator from $L^2(\Omega)$ into $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$. Proof. This follows from the bound

$$\|\mathbb{E}[D.F|\mathcal{F}.]\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2} = \|F\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} - (\mathbb{E}[F])^{2}$$

$$\leq \|F\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2},$$

which is consequence of Relation (3.2.5) with t = 0, or of (3.2.4) with $t = +\infty$.

As a consequence of Lemma 3.2.5, the Clark formula can be extended in Proposition 3.2.6 below as in the discrete case, cf. Proposition 1.7.2.

Proposition 3.2.6. The Clark formula

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] dM_t$$

can be extended to all F in $L^2(\Omega)$.

Similarly, the results of Proposition 3.2.3 and Lemma 3.2.4 also extend to $F \in L^2(\Omega)$.

The Clark representation formula naturally implies a Poincaré type inequality.

Proposition 3.2.7. Under Assumption 3.2.1, for all $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ we have

$$\operatorname{Var}\left(F\right) \le \|DF\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2}.$$

Proof. From Lemma 3.2.4 we have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Var}\left(F\right) &= \mathbb{E}[|F - \mathbb{E}[F]|^{2}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[D_{t}F|\mathcal{F}_{t}]dM_{t}\right)^{2}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\mathbb{E}[D_{t}F|\mathcal{F}_{t}]\right)^{2}dt\right] \\ &\leq \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[|D_{t}F|^{2}|\mathcal{F}_{t}]dt\right] \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}[|D_{t}F|^{2}|\mathcal{F}_{t}]\right]dt \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[|D_{t}F|^{2}\right]dt \\ &\leq \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} |D_{t}F|^{2}dt\right], \end{aligned}$$

hence the conclusion.

Since the space S is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$ by Definition 2.5.2, the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 implies the predictable representation property of Definition 2.6.1 for $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ as a consequence of the next corollary.

Corollary 3.2.8. Under the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 the martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the predictable representation property.

Proof. Definition 2.6.1 is satisfied because S is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$ and the process $(\mathbb{E}[D_tF \mid \mathcal{F}_t])_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ in (3.2.1) can be approximated by a sequence in \mathcal{P} from Proposition 2.5.3.

Alternatively, one may use Proposition 2.6.2 and proceed as follows. Consider a square-integrable martingale $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ with respect to $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ and let

$$u_s := \mathbb{E}[D_s X_{n+1} | \mathcal{F}_n], \qquad s \in [n, n+1).$$

Then $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is an adapted process such that $u\mathbf{1}_{[0,T]} \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ for all T > 0, and the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 and Proposition 3.2.6 imply

$$\begin{aligned} X_t &= \mathbb{E}[X_{n+1} \mid \mathcal{F}_t] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[X_0 + \int_0^{n+1} \mathbb{E}[D_s X_{n+1} \mid \mathcal{F}_s] dM_s \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right] \\ &= X_0 + \int_0^t \mathbb{E}\left[D_s X_{n+1} \mid \mathcal{F}_s\right] dM_s \\ &= X_0 + \int_0^n \mathbb{E}\left[D_s X_{n+1} \mid \mathcal{F}_s\right] dM_s + \int_n^t \mathbb{E}\left[D_s X_{n+1} \mid \mathcal{F}_s\right] dM_s \\ &= X_n + \int_n^t \mathbb{E}[D_s X_{n+1} \mid \mathcal{F}_s] dM_s \\ &= X_n + \int_n^t \mathbb{E}[D_s X_{n+1} \mid \mathcal{F}_s] dM_s \end{aligned}$$

where we used the Chasles relation (2.5.6), hence

$$X_t = X_0 + \int_0^t u_s dM_s, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
 (3.2.6)

hence from Proposition 2.6.2, $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the predictable representation property.

In particular, the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 and Relation (3.2.3) of Proposition 3.2.3 imply the following proposition.

Proposition 3.2.9. For any \mathcal{F}_T -measurable $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_T] = 0, \qquad 0 \le T \le t.$$
(3.2.7)

Proof. From from Relation (3.2.3) we have $F = \mathbb{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_T]$ if and only if

$$\int_{T}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] dM_t = 0,$$

which implies $\mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] = 0, t \ge T$, by the Itô isometry (2.5.4), hence (3.2.7) holds as

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_T] = \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] | \mathcal{F}_T] = 0, \qquad t \ge T,$$

by the tower property of conditional expectations stated in Section 9.3. \Box

The next assumption is a stability property for the gradient operator D.

Assumption 3.2.10. (Stability property) For all \mathcal{F}_T -measurable $F \in \mathcal{S}$, $D_t F$ is \mathcal{F}_T -measurable for all $t \geq T$.

Proposition 3.2.11. Let T > 0. Under the stability Assumption 3.2.10, for any \mathcal{F}_T -measurable random variable $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ we have $F \in \mathbb{D}_{[T,\infty)}$ and

$$D_t F = 0, \qquad t \ge T$$

Proof. Since F is \mathcal{F}_T -measurable, $D_t F$ is \mathcal{F}_T -measurable, $t \geq T$, by the stability Assumption 3.2.10, and from Proposition 3.2.9 we have

$$D_t F = \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_T] = 0, \qquad 0 \le T \le t.$$

118 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

3.3 Divergence and Stochastic Integrals

In this section we are interested in the connection between the operator δ and the stochastic integral with respect to $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$.

Proposition 3.3.1. Under the duality Assumption 3.1.1 and the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1, the operator δ applied to any square-integrable adapted process $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ coincides with the stochastic integral

$$\delta(u) = \int_0^\infty u_t dM_t, \qquad u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+), \tag{3.3.1}$$

of $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ with respect to $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, and the domain Dom (δ) of δ contains $L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$.

Proof. Let $u \in \mathcal{P}$ be a simple \mathcal{F}_t -predictable process as in Definition 2.5.2. From the duality Assumption 3.1.1 and the fact (2.5.7) that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty u_t dM_t\right] = 0,$$

we have:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E} \left[F \int_0^\infty u_t dM_t \right] &= \mathbf{E}[F] \, \mathbf{E} \left[\int_0^\infty u_t dM_t \right] + \mathbf{E} \left[(F - \mathbf{E}[F]) \int_0^\infty u_t dM_t \right] \\ &= \mathbf{E} \left[(F - \mathbf{E}[F]) \int_0^\infty u_t dM_t \right] \\ &= \mathbf{E} \left[\int_0^\infty \mathbf{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] dM_t \int_0^\infty u_t dM_t \right] \\ &= \mathbf{E} \left[\int_0^\infty u_t \, \mathbf{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] dt \right] \\ &= \mathbf{E} \left[\int_0^\infty \mathbf{E}[u_t D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] dt \right] \\ &= \int_0^\infty \mathbf{E} \left[\mathbf{E}[u_t D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] \right] dt \\ &= \int_0^\infty \mathbf{E} \left[u_t D_t F \right] dt \\ &= \mathbf{E} \left[\int_0^\infty u_t D_t F dt \right] \\ &= \mathbf{E} \left[\int_0^\infty u_t D_t F dt \right] \\ &= \mathbf{E}[\mathcal{F}\delta(u)], \end{split}$$

for all $F \in \mathcal{S}$, hence the denseness of \mathcal{S} in $L^2(\Omega)$ we have

$$\delta(u) = \int_0^\infty u_t dM_t$$

for all \mathcal{F}_t -predictable $u \in \mathcal{P}$. In the general case, from Proposition 2.5.3 we approximate $u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ by a sequence $(u^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathcal{P}$ of simple \mathcal{F}_t predictable processes converging to u in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ and use the Itô isometry (2.5.4).

As a consequence of the proof of Proposition 3.3.1 we have the isometry

$$\|\delta(u)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = \|u\|_{L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)}, \qquad u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+).$$

$$(3.3.2)$$

We also have the following partial converse to Proposition 3.3.1.

Proposition 3.3.2. Assume that

i) $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the predictable representation property, and

ii) the operator δ coincides with the stochastic integral with respect to $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ on the space $L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ of square-integrable adapted processes.

Then the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 holds for the adjoint D of δ .

Proof. For all $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ and square-integrable adapted process u we have:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}[(F - \mathbf{E}[F])\delta(u)] &= \mathbf{E}[F\delta(u)] \\ &= \mathbf{E}[\langle DF, u \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}] \\ &= \mathbf{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{t} \, \mathbf{E}[D_{t}F|\mathcal{F}_{t}]dt\right] \\ &= \mathbf{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{t} dM_{t} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbf{E}[D_{t}F|\mathcal{F}_{t}]dM_{t}\right] \\ &= \mathbf{E}\left[\delta(u) \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbf{E}[D_{t}F|\mathcal{F}_{t}]dM_{t}\right], \end{split}$$

hence

$$F - \mathbb{E}[F] = \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] dM_t,$$

since by (ii) we have

$$\left\{\delta(u) : u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)\right\} = \left\{\int_0^\infty u_t dM_t : u \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)\right\},$$

which is dense in $\{F \in L^2(\Omega) : \mathbb{E}[F] = 0\}$ by (i) and Definition 2.6.1. \Box

3.4 Covariance Identities

Covariance identities will be useful in the proof of concentration and deviation inequalities. The Clark formula and the Itô isometry imply the following covariance identity, which uses the L^2 extension of the Clark formula, cf. Proposition 3.2.6. **Proposition 3.4.1.** For any $F, G \in L^2(\Omega)$ we have

$$\operatorname{Cov}(F,G) = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] \mathbb{E}[D_t G | \mathcal{F}_t] dt\right].$$
(3.4.1)

Proof. We have

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) &= \mathbb{E}[(F - \mathbb{E}[F])(G - \mathbb{E}[G])] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[D_{t}F|\mathcal{F}_{t}]dM_{t}\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[D_{t}G|\mathcal{F}_{t}]dM_{t}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[D_{t}F|\mathcal{F}_{t}] \mathbb{E}[D_{t}G|\mathcal{F}_{t}]dt\right]. \end{split}$$

The identity (3.4.1) can be rewritten as

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[D_{t}F|\mathcal{F}_{t}] \mathbb{E}[D_{t}G|\mathcal{F}_{t}]dt\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[D_{t}F|\mathcal{F}_{t}]D_{t}G|\mathcal{F}_{t}]dt\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[D_{t}F|\mathcal{F}_{t}]D_{t}Gdt\right],$$

provided that $G \in \text{Dom}(D)$.

As is well known, if X is a real random variable and f, g are monotone functions then f(X) and g(X) are non-negatively correlated. Lemma 3.4.2, which is an immediate consequence of (3.4.1), provides an analog of this result for normal martingales, replacing the ordinary derivative with the adapted process $(\mathbb{E}[D_tF|\mathcal{F}_t])_{t\in[0,1]}$.

Lemma 3.4.2. Let $F, G \in L^2(\Omega)$ such that

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] \cdot \mathbb{E}[D_t G | \mathcal{F}_t] \ge 0, \qquad dt \times d\mathbb{P} - a.e.$$

Then F and G are non-negatively correlated:

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) \ge 0.$$

If $G \in \text{Dom}(D)$, resp. $F, G \in \text{Dom}(D)$, the above condition can be replaced by

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad D_t G \ge 0, \qquad dt \times d\mathbb{P} - a.e.,$$

resp.

$$D_t F \ge 0$$
 and $D_t G \ge 0$, $dt \times d\mathbb{P} - a.e.$

Iterated versions of Lemma 3.2.4 can also be proved. Let

$$\Delta_n = \{ (t_1, \dots, t_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ : 0 \le t_1 < \dots < t_n \},\$$

and assume further that

Assumption 3.4.3. (Domain condition) For all $F \in S$ we have

$$D_{t_n}\cdots D_{t_1}F \in \mathbb{D}_{2,1}([t_n,\infty)), \qquad a.e. \ (t_1,\ldots,t_n) \in \Delta_n.$$

We denote by $I\!D_{2,k}(\Delta_k)$ the L^2 domain of D^k , i.e. the completion of S under the norm

$$\|F\|_{\mathbb{D}_{2,k}(\Delta_k)}^2 = \mathbb{E}\left[F^2\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\Delta_k} |D_{t_k}\cdots D_{t_1}F|^2 dt_1\cdots dt_k\right].$$

Note the inclusion $I\!\!D_{2,k}(\Delta_k) \subset I\!\!D_{2,1}(\Delta_k), \ k \ge 1.$

Next we prove an extension of the covariance identity of [58], with a shortened proof.

Theorem 3.4.4. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $F, G \in \bigcap_{k=1}^{n+1} \mathbb{I}_{2,k}(\Delta_k)$. We have

$$\operatorname{Cov}(F,G) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{\Delta_k} (D_{t_k} \cdots D_{t_1} F) (D_{t_k} \cdots D_{t_1} G) dt_1 \cdots dt_k \right] (3.4.2) + (-1)^n \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{\Delta_{n+1}} D_{t_{n+1}} \cdots D_{t_1} F \mathbb{E} \left[D_{t_{n+1}} \cdots D_{t_1} G | \mathcal{F}_{t_{n+1}} \right] dt_1 \cdots dt_{n+1} \right].$$

Proof. By polarization we may take F = G. For n = 0, (3.4.2) is a consequence of the Clark formula. Let $n \ge 1$. Applying Lemma 3.2.4 to $D_{t_n} \cdots D_{t_1} F$ with $t = t_n$ and $ds = dt_{n+1}$, and integrating on $(t_1, \ldots, t_n) \in \Delta_n$ we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\Delta_n} \left(\mathbb{E}[D_{t_n}\cdots D_{t_1}F|\mathcal{F}_{t_n}]\right)^2 dt_1\cdots dt_n\right]$$

= $\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\Delta_n} |D_{t_n}\cdots D_{t_1}F|^2 dt_1\cdots dt_n\right]$
- $\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\Delta_{n+1}} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[D_{t_{n+1}}\cdots D_{t_1}F|\mathcal{F}_{t_{n+1}}\right]\right)^2 dt_1\cdots dt_{n+1}\right],$

which concludes the proof by induction.

The variance inequality

$$\sum_{k=1}^{2n} (-1)^{k+1} \|D^k F\|_{L^2(\Delta_k)}^2 \le \operatorname{Var}(F) \le \sum_{k=1}^{2n-1} (-1)^{k+1} \|D^k F\|_{L^2(\Delta_k)}^2,$$

for $F \in \bigcap_{k=1}^{2n} \mathbb{D}_{2,k}(\Delta_k)$, is a consequence of Theorem 3.4.4, and extends (2.15) in [58]. It also recovers the Poincaré inequality Proposition 3.2.7 when n = 1.

3.5 Logarithmic Sobolev Inequalities

The logarithmic Sobolev inequalities on Gaussian space provide an infinite dimensional analog of Sobolev inequalities, cf. e.g. [81]. In this section logarithmic Sobolev inequalities for normal martingales are proved as an application of the Itô and Clark formulas. Recall that the entropy of a sufficiently integrable random variable F > 0 is defined by

$$\operatorname{Ent} [F] = \mathbb{E}[F \log F] - \mathbb{E}[F] \log \mathbb{E}[F].$$

Proposition 3.5.1. Let $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ be lower bounded with $F > \eta$ a.s. for some $\eta > 0$. We have

Ent
$$[F] \leq \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{E} \left[\frac{1}{F} \int_0^\infty (2 - \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_t = 0\}}) |D_t F|^2 dt \right].$$
 (3.5.1)

Proof. Let us assume that F is bounded and \mathcal{F}_T -measurable, and let

$$X_t = \mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = X_0 + \int_0^t u_s dM_s, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

with $u_s = \mathbb{E}[D_s F \mid \mathcal{F}_s], s \in \mathbb{R}_+$. The change of variable formula Proposition 2.12.1 applied to $f(x) = x \log x$ shows that, since $X_T = F$,

$$\begin{split} F \log F - \mathbb{E}[F] \log \mathbb{E}[F] &= f(X_T) - f(X_0) \\ &= \int_0^T \frac{f(X_{t^-} + \phi_t u_t) - f(X_{t^-})}{\phi_t} dM_t + \int_0^T i_t u_t f'(X_{t^-}) dM_t \\ &+ \int_0^T \frac{j_t}{\phi_t^2} \Psi(X_{t^-}, \phi_t u_t) dt + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^T i_t \frac{u_t^2}{X_t} dt, \end{split}$$

with the convention 0/0 = 0, and

$$\Psi(u,v) = (u+v)\log(u+v) - u\log u - v(1+\log u), \qquad u, u+v > 0.$$

Using the inequality

$$\Psi(u,v) \le v^2/u, \qquad u > 0, \quad u + v > 0,$$

we obtain

$$\operatorname{Ent}\left[F\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{j_{t}}{\phi_{t}^{2}} \Psi(X_{t}, \phi_{t}u_{t})dt + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{T} i_{t} \frac{u_{t}^{2}}{X_{t}}dt\right]$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{T} (2 - i_{t}) \frac{u_{t}^{2}}{X_{t}}dt\right]$$
(3.5.2)

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_0^T \mathbb{E} \left[(2 - i_t) \frac{|D_t F|^2}{F} \Big| \mathcal{F}_t \right] dt \right]$$
(3.5.3)

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{1}{2} \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \left[\mathbb{E} \left[(2-i_t) \frac{|D_t F|^2}{F} \Big| \mathcal{F}_t \right] \right] dt \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \left[(2-i_t) \frac{|D_t F|^2}{F} \right] dt \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{E} \left[\frac{1}{F} \int_0^T (2-i_t) |D_t F|^2 dt \right]. \end{split}$$

where from (3.5.2) to (3.5.3) we applied Jensen's inequality (9.3.1) to the convex function $(u, v) \to v^2/u$ on $\mathbb{R} \times (0, \infty)$. Finally we apply the above to the approximating sequence $F_n = F \wedge n$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and let n go to infinity. \Box

If $\phi_t = 0$, i.e. $i_t = 1, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, then $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a Brownian motion and we obtain the classical modified Sobolev inequality

Ent
$$[F] \leq \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{E} \left[\frac{1}{F} \| DF \|_{L^2([0,T])}^2 \right].$$
 (3.5.4)

If $\phi_t = 1, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ then $i_t = 0, t \in \mathbb{R}_+, (M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a standard compensated Poisson process and we obtain the modified Sobolev inequality

Ent
$$[F] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{F} \|DF\|_{L^{2}([0,T])}^{2}\right].$$
 (3.5.5)

More generally, the logarithmic Sobolev inequality (3.5.4) can be proved to hold as

$$\operatorname{Ent}\left[F^{2}\right] \leq 2 \operatorname{I\!E}\left[\|DF\|_{L^{2}\left([0,T]\right)}^{2}\right]$$

for any gradient operator D satisfying both the derivation rule Assumption 3.5.2 below and the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1, see Proposition 5.7.5 in Chapter 5.7 for Riemannian Brownian motion, and also (7.2.5) in Chapter 7 for another example on the Poisson space.

Assumption 3.5.2. (Derivation rule) For all $F, G \in S$ we have

$$D_t(FG) = FD_tG + GD_tF, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$
(3.5.6)

Note that by polynomial approximation, Relation (3.5.6) extends as

$$D_t f(F) = f'(F) D_t F, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \tag{3.5.7}$$

for $f \in \mathcal{C}^1_b(\mathbb{R})$.

3.6 Deviation Inequalities

In this section we assume that D is a gradient operator satisfying both the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 and the derivation rule Assumption 3.5.2. Examples of such operators will be provided in the Wiener and Poisson cases in Chapters 5 and 7.

Under the derivation rule Assumption 3.5.2 we get the following deviation bound.

Proposition 3.6.1. Let $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$. If $||DF||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+,L^{\infty}(\Omega))} \leq C$ for some C > 0, then

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2C\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}}\right), \qquad x \ge 0.$$
(3.6.1)

In particular we have

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathrm{e}^{\lambda F^2}] < \infty, \qquad \lambda < \frac{1}{2C \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}}.$$
(3.6.2)

Proof. We first consider a bounded random variable $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$. The general case follows by approximating $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ by the sequence

$$(\max(-n,\min(F,n)))_{n\geq 1}.$$

 ${\rm Let}$

$$\eta_F(t) = \mathbb{E}[D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t], \qquad t \in [0, T].$$

Since F is bounded, the derivation rule (3.5.7) shows that

$$D_t e^{sF} = s e^{sF} D_t F, \qquad s, t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

hence assuming first that $\mathbb{E}[F] = 0$ and letting

$$L(s) = \mathbb{E}[\exp(sF)], \qquad s \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

by Proposition 3.4.1 we get

$$\begin{split} L'(s) &= \mathbb{E}[F e^{sF}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T D_u e^{sF} \cdot \eta_F(u) du\right] \\ &= s \mathbb{E}\left[e^{sF} \int_0^T D_u F \cdot \eta_F(u) du\right] \\ &\leq s \mathbb{E}\left[e^{sF} \|DF\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} \|\eta_F\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}\right] \\ &\leq s \mathbb{E}\left[e^{sF}\right] \|\eta_F\|_{L^\infty(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))} \|DF\|_{L^\infty(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))} \end{split}$$

$$\leq sC \mathbb{E}\left[e^{sF}\right] \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}$$

$$\leq sCL(s) \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))},$$

where

$$\begin{split} \|\eta_F\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))} &= \|\operatorname{\mathbb{E}}[D.F \mid \mathcal{F}.]\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))} \\ &= \left\|\int_0^{\infty} |\operatorname{\mathbb{E}}[D_tF \mid \mathcal{F}.]|^2 dt\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \left\|\int_0^{\infty} \operatorname{\mathbb{E}}[|D_tF|^2 \mid \mathcal{F}.] dt\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \int_0^{\infty} \left\||D_tF|^2 \mid \mathcal{F}.]\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} dt \\ &\leq \|DF\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+,L^{\infty}(\Omega))} \\ &\leq C. \end{split}$$

In the general case, letting

$$L(s) = \mathbb{E}[\exp(s(F - \mathbb{E}[F]))], \quad s \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

we obtain:

$$\log \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(t(F - \mathbb{E}[F])\right)\right]\right) = \int_0^t \frac{L'(s)}{L(s)} ds$$

$$\leq \int_0^t \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[(F - \mathbb{E}[F])\exp\left(s(F - \mathbb{E}[F])\right)\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(s(F - \mathbb{E}[F])\right)\right]} ds$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}t^2 C \|DF\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, L^{\infty}(\Omega))}, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

By Chebyshev's inequality we conclude that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $t \in [0, T]$,

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le e^{-tx} \mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(t(F - \mathbb{E}[F])\right)\right]$$
$$\le \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}t^2 C \|DF\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, L^{\infty}(\Omega))} - tx\right),$$

which yields (3.6.1) after minimization in $t \in [0, T]$. The proof of (3.6.2) is completed as in Proposition 1.11.3.

3.7 Markovian Representation

This subsection presents a predictable representation method that can be used to compute $\mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t]$, based on the Itô formula and the Markov property, cf. Section 9.6 in the appendix. It can applied to Delta hedging in mathematical finance, cf. Proposition 8.2.2 in Chapter 8, and [124]. Let $(X_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ be a \mathbb{R}^{n} -valued Markov (not necessarily time homogeneous) process defined on Ω , generating a filtration $(\mathcal{F}_{t})_{t \in \mathbb{R}_{+}}$ and satisfying a change of variable formula of the form

$$f(X_t) = f(X_0) + \int_0^t L_s f(X_s) dM_s + \int_0^t U_s f(X_s) ds, \quad t \in [0, T], \quad (3.7.1)$$

where L_s , U_s are operators defined on $f \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Let the (non homogeneous) semi-group $(P_{s,t})_{0 \le s \le t \le T}$ associated to $(X_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ be defined on $\mathcal{C}_b^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ functions by

$$P_{s,t}f(X_s) = \mathbb{E}[f(X_t) \mid X_s]$$

= $\mathbb{E}[f(X_t) \mid \mathcal{F}_s], \quad 0 \le s \le t \le T,$

with

$$P_{s,t} \circ P_{t,u} = P_{s,u}, \qquad 0 \le s \le t \le u \le T.$$

Proposition 3.7.1. For any $f \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the process $(P_{t,T}f(X_t))_{t \in [0,T]}$ is an \mathcal{F}_t -martingale.

Proof. By the tower property of conditional expectations, cf. Section 9.3, we have

$$\mathbb{E}[P_{t,T}f(X_t) \mid \mathcal{F}_s] = \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[f(X_T) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] \mid \mathcal{F}_s]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[f(X_T) \mid \mathcal{F}_s]$$
$$= P_{s,T}f(X_s),$$

 $0\leq s\leq t\leq T.$

Next we use above the framework with application to the Clark formula. When $(\phi_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ is random the probabilistic interpretation, of D is unknown in general, nevertheless it is possible to explicitly compute the predictable representation of $f(X_T)$ using (3.7.1) and the Markov property.

Lemma 3.7.2. Let $f \in \mathcal{C}_b^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We have

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t f(X_T) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = (L_t(P_{t,T} f))(X_t), \quad t \in [0,T].$$
(3.7.2)

Proof. We apply the change of variable formula (3.7.1) to $t \mapsto P_{t,T}f(X_t) = \mathbb{E}[f(X_T) | \mathcal{F}_t]$, since $P_{t,T}f$ is \mathcal{C}^2 . Using the fact that the finite variation term vanishes since $(P_{t,T}f(X_t))_{t\in[0,T]}$ is a martingale, (see e.g. Corollary 1, p. 64 of [123]), we obtain:

$$P_{t,T}f(X_t) = P_{0,T}f(X_0) + \int_0^t (L_s(P_{s,T}f))(X_s)dM_s, \quad t \in [0,T],$$

with $P_{0,T}f(X_0) = \mathbb{E}[f(X_T)]$. Letting t = T, we obtain (3.7.2) by uniqueness of the representation (4.2.2) applied to $F = f(X_T)$.

In practice we can use Proposition 3.2.6 to extend $(\mathbb{E}[D_t f(X_T) \mid \mathcal{F}_t])_{t \in [0,T]}$ to a less regular function $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$.

As an example, if ϕ_t is written as $\phi_t = \varphi(t, M_t)$, and

$$dS_t = \sigma(t, S_t) dM_t + \mu(t, S_t) dt,$$

we can apply Proposition 2.12.2, with $(X_t)_{t \in [0,T]} = ((S_t, M_t))_{t \in [0,T]}$ and

$$\begin{split} L_t f(S_t, M_t) &= i_t \sigma(t, S_t) \partial_1 f(S_t, M_t) + i_t \partial_2 f(S_t, M_t) \\ &+ \frac{j_t}{\varphi(t, M_t)} (f(S_t + \varphi(t, M_t) \sigma(t, S_t), M_t + \varphi(t, M_t)) - f(S_t, M_t)), \end{split}$$

where $j_t = \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_t \neq 0\}}, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, since the eventual jump of $(M_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ at time t is $\varphi(t, M_t)$. Here, ∂_1 , resp. ∂_2 , denotes the partial derivative with respect to the first, resp. second, variable. Hence

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t f(S_T, M_T) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = i_t \sigma(t, S_t) (\partial_1 P_{t,T} f)(S_t, M_t) + i_t (\partial_2 P_{t,T} f)(S_t, M_t) + \frac{j_t}{\varphi(t, M_t)} (P_{t,T} f)(S_t + \varphi(t, M_t)\sigma(t, S_t), M_t + \varphi(t, M_t)) - \frac{j_t}{\varphi(t, M_t)} (P_{t,T} f)(S_t, M_t).$$

When $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ and $\sigma(t, x) = \sigma_t$, are deterministic functions of time and $\mu(t, x) = 0, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, the semi-group $P_{t,T}$ can be explicitly computed as follows.

In this case, from (2.10.5), the martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ can be represented as

$$dM_t = i_t dB_t + \phi_t (dN_t - \lambda_t dt), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \qquad M_0 = 0,$$

with $\lambda_t = j_t/\phi_t^2$, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, where $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is an independent Poisson process with intensity λ_t , $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$. Let

$$\Gamma_t(T) = \int_t^T \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_s=0\}} \sigma_s^2 ds, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

denote the variance of $\int_t^T i_s \sigma_s dB_s = \int_t^T \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_s=0\}} \sigma_s dB_s, \ 0 \le t \le T$, and let

$$\Gamma_t(T) = \int_t^T \lambda_s ds, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

denote the intensity parameter of the Poisson random variable $N_T - N_t$. **Proposition 3.7.3.** We have for $f \in C_b(\mathbb{R})$

$$P_{t,T}f(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\Gamma_t(T)}}{k!} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{e}^{-t_0^2/2} \int_{[t,T]^k} \lambda_{t_1} \cdots \lambda_{t_k}$$
$$f\left(x\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{\Gamma_t(T)}{2} + \sqrt{\Gamma_t(T)}t_0 - \int_t^T \phi_s \lambda_s \sigma_s ds} \prod_{i=1}^k (1 + \sigma_{t_i} \phi_{t_i})\right) dt_1 \cdots dt_k dt_0.$$

Proof. We have $P_{t,T}f(x) = \mathbb{E}[f(S_T)|S_t = x] = \mathbb{E}[f(S_{t,T}^x)]$, and

$$P_{t,T}f(x) = \exp(-\Gamma_t(T))\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\Gamma_t(T))^k}{k!} \mathbb{E}\left[f(S_{t,T}^x)\Big|N_T - N_t = k\right]$$

 $k \in \mathbb{N}$. It can be shown (see e.g. Proposition 6.1.8 below) that the time changed process $\left(N_{\Gamma_t^{-1}(s)} - N_t\right)_{s \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a standard Poisson process with jump times $(\tilde{T}_k)_{k \ge 1} = (\Gamma_t(T_{k+N_t}))_{k \ge 1}$. Hence from Proposition 2.3.7, conditionally to $\{N_T - N_t = k\}$, the jump times $(\tilde{T}_1, \ldots, \tilde{T}_k)$ have the law

$$\frac{k!}{(T-t)^k} \mathbf{1}_{\{0 < t_1 < \dots < t_k < T-t\}} dt_1 \cdots dt_k.$$

over $[0, T - t]^k$. Consequently, conditionally to $\{N_T - N_t = k\}$, the k first jump times (T_1, \ldots, T_k) of $(N_s)_{s \in [t,T]}$ have the distribution

$$\frac{k!}{(\Gamma_t(T))^k} \mathbf{1}_{\{t < t_1 < \dots < t_k < T\}} \lambda_{t_1} \cdots \lambda_{t_k} dt_1 \cdots dt_k$$

We then use the identity in law between $S_{t,T}^x$ and

$$xX_{t,T}\exp\left(-\int_t^T\phi_s\lambda_s(1+\phi_s\psi_s)\sigma_sds\right)\prod_{k=1+N_t}^{N_T}(1+\sigma_{T_k}\phi_{T_k}),$$

where $X_{t,T}$ has same distribution as

$$\exp\left(W\sqrt{\Gamma_t(T)} - \Gamma_t(T)/2\right),\,$$

and W a standard Gaussian random variable, independent of $(N_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$, which holds because $(B_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ is a standard Brownian motion, independent of $(N_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$.

3.8 Notes and References

Several examples of gradient operators satisfying the hypotheses of this chapter will be provided in Chapters 4, 5, 6, and 7, on the Wiener and Poisson

space and also on Riemannian path space. The Itô formula has been used for the proof of logarithmic Sobolev inequalities in [5], [7], [155] for the Poisson process, and in [24] on Riemannian path space, and Proposition 3.5.1 can be found in [115]. The probabilistic interpretations of D as a derivation operator and as a finite difference operator has been studied in [120] and will be presented in more detail in the sequel. The extension of the Clark formula presented in Proposition 3.2.6 is related to the approach of [93] of [146]. The covariance identity (3.4.1) can be found in Proposition 2.1 of [61]. See also [8] for a unified presentation of the Malliavin calculus based on the Fock space.

Chapter 4 Annihilation and creation operators

In this chapter we present a first example of a pair of gradient and divergence operators satisfying the duality Assumption 3.1.1, the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 and the stability Assumption 3.2.10 of Section 3.1. This construction is based on annihilation and creation operators acting on multiple stochastic integrals with respect to a normal martingale. In the following chapters we will implement several constructions of such operators, respectively when the normal martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a Brownian motion or a compensated Poisson process. Other examples of operators satisfying the above assumptions will be built in the sequel by addition of a process with vanishing adapted projection to the gradient D, such as in Section 7.7 on the Poisson space.

4.1 Duality Relation

The annihilation and creation operators on multiple stochastic integrals provide a first concrete example of operators D, δ satisfying the hypotheses of Chapter 2. Let the spaces S and U of Section 3.1 be taken equal to

$$S = \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{n} I_k(f_k) : f_k \in L^4(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ k}, \ k = 0, \dots, n, \ n \in \mathbb{N} \right\},$$
(4.1.1)

and

$$\mathcal{U} = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{[t_i, t_{i-1})} F_i : F_i \in \mathcal{S}, \ 0 = t_0 \le t_1 < \dots < t_n, \ n \ge 1 \right\},\$$

which is contained in

$$\tilde{\mathcal{U}} := \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{n} I_k(g_k(*,\cdot)) : g_k \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ k} \otimes L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), \ k = 0, \dots, n, \ n \in \mathbb{N} \right\},$$

where the symmetric tensor product \circ is defined in (9.7.1), cf. Section 9.7 of the Appendix.

In the following statements, the definition of the operators D and δ are stated on multiple stochastic integrals (random variables and processes), whose linear combinations span S and U.

Definition 4.1.1. Let

$$D: \mathcal{S} \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$$

be the linear operator defined by

$$D_t I_n(f_n) = n I_{n-1}(f_n(*,t)), \qquad d\mathbb{P} \times dt - a.e., \quad f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$$

Due to its role as a lowering operator on the degree of multiple stochastic integrals, the operator D is called an *annihilation* operator in the sequel, in reference to the use of Fock space expansions (see Definition 2.8.1) in quantum field theory.

Definition 4.1.2. Let

$$\delta: \tilde{\mathcal{U}} \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega)$$

be the linear operator defined by

$$\delta(I_n(f_{n+1}(*,\cdot))) = I_{n+1}(\tilde{f}_{n+1}), \quad f_{n+1} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n} \otimes L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), \quad (4.1.2)$$

where \tilde{f}_{n+1} is the symmetrization of f_{n+1} in n+1 variables defined as:

$$\tilde{f}_{n+1}(t_1,\ldots,t_{n+1}) = \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} f_{n+1}(t_1,\ldots,t_{k-1},t_{k+1},\ldots,t_{n+1},t_k).$$

In particular we have

$$f \circ g_n(t_1, \dots, t_{n+1}) = \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} f(t_k) g_n(t_1, \dots, t_{k-1}, t_{k+1}, \dots, t_{n+1}), \quad (4.1.3)$$

i.e. $f \circ g_n$ is the symmetrization of $f \otimes g_n$ in n+1 variables, cf. Section 9.7.

Similarly to the above, the operator δ is usually referred to as a *creation* operator, due to the fact that it raises the degree of multiple stochastic integrals. The operator δ is also called the Skorohod integral.

Note that

$$\delta(f) = I_1(f) = \int_0^\infty f(t) dM_t, \qquad f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+),$$

and, in particular, from (2.7.4) we have

$$\delta(uI_n(f_n)) = n \int_0^\infty I_n(f_n(*,s) \circ u.\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^n}(*,\cdot)) dM_s + \int_0^\infty u_s I_n(f_n\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^n}) dM_s,$$

 $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), g_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$, where as a convention "*" denotes the n-1 first variables and "·" denotes the last integration variable in I_n . In the next proposition we show that D and δ satisfy the duality Assumption 3.1.1.

Proposition 4.1.3. The operators D and δ satisfy the duality relation

$$\mathbb{E}[F\delta(u)] = \mathbb{E}[\langle DF, u \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}], \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}, \ u \in \mathcal{U}.$$
(4.1.4)

Proof. As in Proposition 1.8.2, we consider $F = I_n(f_n)$ and $u_t = I_m(g_{m+1}(*,t))$, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+, f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}, g_{m+1} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ m} \otimes L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$. We have

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}[F\delta(u)] = \mathbb{E}[I_{m+1}(\tilde{g}_{m+1})I_n(f_n)] \\ &= n! \mathbf{1}_{\{n=m+1\}} \langle f_n, \tilde{g}_n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n_+)} \\ &= n! \mathbf{1}_{\{n=m+1\}} \langle f_n, g_n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n_+)} \\ &= n! \mathbf{1}_{\{n-1=m\}} \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty f_n(s_1, \dots, s_{n-1}, t) g_n(s_1, \dots, s_{n-1}, t) ds_1 \cdots ds_{n-1} dt \\ &= n \mathbf{1}_{\{n-1=m\}} \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[I_{n-1}(f_n(*, t))I_{n-1}(g_n(*, t))] dt \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\langle D.I_n(f_n), I_m(g_{m+1}(*, \cdot)) \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\langle DF, u \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}]. \end{split}$$

In Proposition 4.2.3 below we will show that the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 is also satisfied by D.

Proposition 4.1.4. For any $u \in \tilde{\mathcal{U}}$ we have

$$D_t \delta(u) = u_t + \delta(D_t u), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Proof. Letting $u_t = f(t)I_n(g_n), t \in \mathbb{R}_+, f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), g_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$, we have, by (4.1.3),

$$\begin{split} D_t \delta(u) &= D_t \delta(f I_n(g_n)) \\ &= D_t I_{n+1}(f \otimes g_n) \\ &= D_t I_{n+1}(f \circ g_n) \\ &= (n+1) I_{n+1}((f \circ g_n)(*,t)) \\ &= f(t) I_n(g_n) + n I_n(f \circ g_n(*,t)) \\ &= f(t) I_n(g_n) + n \delta(I_{n-1}(f \circ g_n(*,t))) \\ &= f(t) I_n(g_n) + \delta(D_t I_n(f \circ g_n(*,t))) \\ &= u_t + \delta(D_t u). \end{split}$$

133 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

Remark 4.1.5. By construction, the operator D satisfies the stability Assumption 3.2.10 of Chapter 2, thus the conclusion of Proposition 3.2.11 is valid for D, i.e. we have $D_sF = 0$, s > t, for any \mathcal{F}_t -measurable $F \in S$, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

4.2 Annihilation Operator

From now on we will assume that S is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$, which is equivalent to saying that $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the chaos representation property according to Definition 2.8.2. As a consequence of Proposition 3.1.2 and Proposition 4.1.3 we have the following.

Proposition 4.2.1. The operators D and δ are closable in the sense of Section 9.8 on $L^2(\Omega)$ and $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ respectively.

It also follows from the density of \mathcal{S} in $L^2(\Omega)$ that \mathcal{U} is dense in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$.

Proposition 4.2.2. The domain $\text{Dom}(D) = \mathbb{ID}([0,\infty))$ of D consists in the space of square-integrable random variables with chaos expansion

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} I_k(f_k), \qquad (4.2.1)$$

such that the series

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} k I_{k-1}(f_k(*,\cdot))$$

converges in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ as n goes to infinity.

Given $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ with the expansion (4.2.1) we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|DF\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2}\right] = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} kk! \|f_{k}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}^{k})}^{2} < \infty,$$

and

$$D_t F = f_1(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k I_{k-1}(f_k(*, t)), \qquad dt d\mathbb{P} - a.e.,$$

by Definition 4.1.1. In particular, we have

$$D_t I_k(f_k) = k I_{k-1}(f_k(*,t)), \qquad dt d\mathbb{P} - a.e.$$

and the exponential vector $\xi(u)$, of (2.13.4) belongs to Dom (D) for all $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, with

$$D_s\xi_t(u) = \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(s)u(s)\xi_t(u), \qquad s,t \in [0,T].$$

134 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

The following Proposition 4.2.3 shows that the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 is satisfied by D. Its proof parallels the classical argument

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_n x^n$$
$$= \alpha_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n\alpha_n \int_0^x y^{n-1} dy$$
$$= f(0) + \int_0^x f'(y) dy,$$

described in the introduction for functions of one variable, using the identity

$$x^n = n \int_0^x y^{n-1} dy.$$

It shows in particular that the operator D defined in this chapter satisfies the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 on predictable representation.

Proposition 4.2.3. Every $F \in S$ can be represented as

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] dM_t.$$
(4.2.2)

Proof. By linearity, in order to prove the statement for $F \in S$, it suffices to consider $F = I_n(f_n)$. By the definitions of $I_n(f_n)$ and $D_t I_n(f_n)$ and using Lemma 2.7.2 we have, since $\mathbb{E}[I_n(f_n)] = 0$,

$$I_n(f_n) = n \int_0^\infty I_{n-1}(f_n(*,t)\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n-1}}(*)) dM_t$$

= $n \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[I_{n-1}(f_n(*,t)) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] dM_t$
= $\int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t I_n(f_n) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] dM_t.$

As in the abstract framework of Chapter 3, the Clark formula (4.2.2) extends to Dom (D) from the closability of D as in Proposition 3.2.3, and to $L^2(\Omega)$ by continuity of $F \mapsto \mathbb{E}[D.F | \mathcal{F}]$, cf. Proposition 3.2.6.

Since S defined by (4.1.1) is assumed to be dense in $L^2(\Omega)$, Corollary 3.2.8 and Proposition 4.2.3 show that $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the chaos representation property as in Definition 2.8.2.

More generally, the following proposition follows from the fact that the denseness of S is equivalent to the chaos representation property.

Proposition 4.2.4. If $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the chaos representation property then it has the predictable representation property.

 \square

By iteration, the Clark formula (4.2.2) yields the following proposition. **Proposition 4.2.5.** For all $F \in \bigcap_{n \ge 1} \text{Dom}(D^n)$ we have

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} I_n(f_n),$$

where

$$f_n(t_1,\ldots,t_n) = \frac{1}{n!} \mathbb{E}[D_{t_1}\cdots D_{t_n}F],$$

 $dt_1 \cdots dt_n d\mathbb{P}$ -a.e., $n \ge 1$.

Proof. It suffices to note that

$$D_{t_1} \cdots D_{t_n} F = n! f_n(t_1, \dots, t_n) + \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} \frac{k!}{(k-n)!} I_{k-n}(f_k(*, t_1, \dots, t_n)),$$

and to use the fact that

$$\mathbb{E}[I_{k-n}(f_k(*,t_1,\ldots,t_n))] = 0, \qquad dt_1\cdots dt_n - a.e., \quad k > n \ge 1,$$

that follows from Proposition 2.7.1 or Lemma 2.7.2.

The above result is analogous to the following expression of Taylor's formula:

$$f(x) = f(0) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{x^n}{n!} \frac{\partial^n f}{\partial x^n}(0),$$

with the following correspondence:

calculus on \mathbb{R}	stochastic analysis
f(x)	F
f(0)	${\rm I\!E}[F]$
$\frac{\partial^n}{\partial x^n}$	D^n
$\frac{\partial^n f}{\partial x^n}(0)$	$\mathbb{E}[D^n F]$

The gradient operator D can be extended to the multidimensional case using the vector-valued multiple stochastic integral (2.14.1).

Definition 4.2.6. Let $l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$. We define the operator

$$D^{(l)}$$
: Dom $(D^{(l)}) \subset L^2(\Omega) \to L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$

136 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).
which maps any $F \in \text{Dom}(D^{(l)})$ with decomposition

$$F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n),$$

to the process $(D_t^{(l)}F)_{t\in[0,T]}$ given by

$$D_{t}^{(l)}F = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{h=1}^{n} \sum_{i_{1},\dots,i_{n}=1}^{d} \mathbf{1}_{\{i_{h}=l\}}$$

$$I_{n-1}(f_{n}^{i_{1},\dots,i_{n}}(t_{1},\dots,t_{l-1},t,t_{l+1},\dots,t_{n})e_{i_{1}}\otimes\dots\otimes e_{i_{h-1}}\otimes e_{i_{h+1}}\dots\otimes e_{i_{n}})$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nI_{n-1}(f_{n}^{l}(*,t)), \quad d\mathbb{P} \times dt - a.e. \qquad (4.2.3)$$

with

$$f_n^l = (f_n^{i_1,\dots,i_{n-1},l}e_{i_1}\otimes\dots\otimes e_{i_{n-1}})_{1\leq i_1,\dots,i_{n-1}\leq d}$$

The domain of $D^{(l)}$ is given by

$$Dom (D^{(l)}) = \left\{ F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_n=1}^{d} I_n(f_n^{i_1,\dots,i_n} e_{i_1} \otimes \dots \otimes e_{i_n}) : \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nn! \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_n=1}^{d} \|f_n^{i_1,\dots,i_n}\|_{L^2([0,T]^n)}^2 < \infty \right\}.$$

The Clark formula extends to the multidimensional setting of Section 2.14 as the next proposition.

Proposition 4.2.7. Let
$$F \in \bigcap_{l=1}^{d} \text{Dom}(D^{(l)})$$
. We have

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{l=1}^{d} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}[D_{t}^{(l)}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}] dM_{t}^{(l)}.$$
(4.2.4)

In the multidimensional Poisson case we define the operator $D^{N^{(l)}}$ as in (4.2.3) and we have the following Clark formula:

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{l=1}^{d} \int_{0}^{\infty} |\lambda_{t}^{(l)}|^{-1/2} \mathbb{E}[D_{t}^{N^{(l)}}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}](dN_{t}^{(l)} - \lambda_{t}^{(l)}dt),$$

for $F \in \bigcap_{l=1}^{d} \text{Dom}(D^{N^{(l)}})$. In the mixed Poisson-Brownian setting of Section 2.14, the operators $D^{X^{(l)}}$ are also defined as in (4.2.3) and we have the

Clark formula

$$\begin{split} F &= \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{l=1}^{d} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}[D_{t}^{(l)}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}] dB_{t}^{(l)} + \sum_{l=1}^{p} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}[D_{t}^{N^{(l)}}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}] dM_{t}^{(l)}, \end{split}$$
 for $F \in \bigcap_{l=1}^{d+p} \operatorname{Dom}(D^{X^{(l)}}).$

4.3 Creation Operator

The domain $\text{Dom}(\delta)$ of δ is the space of processes $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ with

$$u_t = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_{n+1}(*,t)),$$

and such that

$$\mathbb{E}[|\delta(u)|^2] = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (n+1)! \|\tilde{f}_n\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)}^2 < \infty.$$

We will sometimes use the notation

$$\int_{a}^{b} u_s \delta M_s := \delta(\mathbf{1}_{[a,b]} u), \qquad (4.3.1)$$

to denote the Skorohod integral of $u \in \text{Dom}(\delta)$ on the interval $[a, b], 0 \le a \le b \le \infty$. The creation operator δ satisfies the following Itô-Skorohod type isometry, also called an energy identity for the Skorohod integral.

Proposition 4.3.1. Let $u \in \text{Dom}(\delta)$ such that $u_t \in \text{Dom}(D)$, dt-a.e., and $(D_s u_t)_{s,t \in \mathbb{R}_+} \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^2_+)$. We have

$$\mathbb{E}[|\delta(u)|^2] = \mathbb{E}\left[\|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty D_s u_t D_t u_s ds dt\right], \qquad (4.3.2)$$

Proof. By polarization, orthogonality and density it suffices to choose $u = gI_n(f^{\otimes n})$, $f, g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, and to note that by the Definition 4.1.2 of δ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[|\delta(u)|^2] = \mathbb{E}[|\delta(gI_n(f^{\otimes n}))|^2]$$

= $\mathbb{E}[|I_{n+1}(f^{\otimes n} \circ g)|^2]$
= $\frac{1}{(n+1)^2} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{i=0}^n I_{n+1}(f^{\otimes i} \otimes g \otimes f^{\otimes (n-i)})\right)^2\right]$

$$= \frac{1}{(n+1)^2} \left((n+1)!(n+1) \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^{2n} \|g\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 \\ + n(n+1)(n+1)! \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^{2n-2} \langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 \rangle \right) \\ = n! \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^{2n} \|g\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 + (n-1)!n^2 \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^{2n-2} \langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 \\ = \mathbb{E} \left[\|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 \right] + \langle \langle g, DI_n(f^{\otimes n}) \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}, \langle g, DI_n(f^{\otimes n}) \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \\ = \mathbb{E} \left[\|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 \right] + \mathbb{E} \left[\int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty D_s u_t D_t u_s ds dt \right].$$

By polarization, if u and v satisfy the conditions of Proposition 4.3.1 we also have

$$\langle \delta(u), \delta(v) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} = \langle u, v \rangle_{L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)} + \int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty \langle D_s u_t, D_t v_s \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} ds dt.$$

The proof of (4.3.2) does not depend on the particular type of normal martingale we are considering, and it can be rewritten as a Weitzenböck type identity, cf. [137] and Section 7.6 for details, i.e.:

$$\|\delta(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \|D_{s}u_{t} - D_{t}u_{s}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} ds dt \qquad (4.3.3)$$
$$= \|u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2} + \|Du\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+}^{2})}^{2}.$$

For Riemannian Brownian motion the study of identities such as (4.3.3) can be developed via intrinsic differential operators on Riemannian path space, cf. [29].

Definition 4.3.2. Let $\mathbb{I}_{p,1}$ denote the space of random processes $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ such that $u_t \in \text{Dom}(D)$, dt-a.e., and

$$\|u\|_{p,1}^p := \mathbb{E}\left[\|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^p\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty |D_s u_t|^p ds dt\right] < \infty.$$

The next result is a direct consequence of Proposition 4.3.1 and Definition 4.3.2 for p = 2.

Proposition 4.3.3. We have $\mathbb{I}_{2,1} \subset \text{Dom}(\delta)$.

As a consequence of Proposition 3.3.1, Proposition 4.1.3 and Proposition 4.2.3, the operator δ coincides with the Itô integral with respect to $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ on the square-integrable adapted processes, as stated in the next proposition.

Proposition 4.3.4. Let $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ be a square-integrable adapted process. We have

$$\delta(u) = \int_0^\infty u_t dM_t.$$

Proof. This result can also be recovered from the definition (4.1.2) of δ via multiple stochastic integrals. Since the adaptedness of $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} = (I_{n-1}(f_n(*,t)))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ implies

$$f_n(*,t) = f_n(*,t)\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n-1}}(*), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

by Lemma 2.7.2, we have

$$\delta(I_{n-1}(f_n(*,\cdot))) = I_n(\tilde{f}_n)$$

= $n \int_0^\infty I_{n-1}(\tilde{f}_n(*,t)\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n-1}}(*)) dM_t$
= $\int_0^\infty I_{n-1}(f_n(*,t)\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n-1}}(*)) dM_t$
= $\int_0^\infty I_{n-1}(f_n(*,t)) dM_t, \quad n \ge 1.$

Note that when $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ is a square-integrable adapted process, then Relation (4.3.2) becomes the Itô isometry as a consequence of Proposition 4.3.4, i.e. we have

$$\|\delta(u)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = \left\|\int_{0}^{\infty} u_{t} dM_{t}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}$$

$$= \|u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+})}, \quad u \in L^{2}_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_{+}),$$

$$(4.3.4)$$

as follows from Remark 4.1.5 since $D_t u_s = 0$, $0 \le s \le t$, cf. also Relation (3.3.2) of Proposition 3.3.1.

The following proposition is a Fubini type property for the exchange of Skorohod and Itô stochastic integrals with respect to normal martingales.

Lemma 4.3.5. Let $u, v \in L^4_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$. For all t > 0 we have

$$\int_0^t u_s \int_s^t v_r dM_r \delta M_s = \int_0^t \int_0^r u_s v_r \delta M_s dM_r, \qquad (4.3.5)$$

where the indefinite Skorohod integral is defined in (4.3.1).

Proof. First, note that

$$\int_0^r u_s v_r \delta M_s = \delta \left(u_{\cdot} \mathbf{1}_{\{\cdot < r\}} v_r \right)$$

is \mathcal{F}_r -measurable, $r \in \mathbb{R}_+$, hence the stochastic integral in the right hand side of (4.3.5) exists in the Itô sense by Proposition 2.5.4. On the other hand, by the duality relation (4.1.4) between D and δ and using the Itô-Skorohod isometry (4.3.4), we have

 \square

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[I_n(f^{\otimes n})\delta\left(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(\cdot)u,\int_{\cdot}^{t}v_r dM_r\right)\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{t}u_s\int_{s}^{t}v_r dM_r D_s I_n(f^{\otimes (n-1)})ds\right] \\ &= n\int_{0}^{t}f(s)\mathbb{E}\left[\delta(f(\cdot)I_{n-2}(f^{\otimes (n-2)}))\delta(\mathbf{1}_{[s,t]}u_sv.)\right]ds \\ &= n\int_{0}^{t}f(s)\mathbb{E}\left[I_{n-2}(f^{\otimes (n-2)})u_s\int_{s}^{t}f(r)v_r dr\right]ds \\ &= n\mathbb{E}\left[I_{n-2}(f^{\otimes (n-2)})\int_{0}^{t}f(s)u_s\int_{s}^{t}f(r)v_r dr ds\right] \\ &= n\mathbb{E}\left[I_{n-2}(f^{\otimes (n-2)})\int_{0}^{t}f(r)v_r\int_{0}^{r}f(s)u_s ds dr\right] \\ &= n\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{t}\delta(u.\mathbf{1}_{\{\cdot < r\}}v_r)f(r)dr I_{n-1}(f^{\otimes (n-1)})\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{t}\delta(u.\mathbf{1}_{\{\cdot < r\}}v_r)D_r I_n(f^{\otimes n})dr\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[I_n(f^{\otimes n})\int_{0}^{t}\delta(u.\mathbf{1}_{\{\cdot < r\}}v_r)dM_r\right], \end{split}$$

for $n \geq 1$ and $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, since the processes u and v are adapted. Hence by density of S in $L^2(\Omega)$ we get

$$\delta\left(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(\cdot)u.\int_{\cdot}^{t}v_{r}dM_{r}\right) = \int_{0}^{t}\delta\left(u.\mathbf{1}_{\{\cdot < r\}}v_{r}\right)dM_{r},$$

which implies (4.3.5) by (4.3.1).

As a consequence of Proposition 2.11.3 we have the following divergence formula. The hypothesis of the next proposition is satisfied in particular when $\phi \in L^{\infty}_{ad}([0,T] \times \Omega)$.

Proposition 4.3.6. Suppose that Assumption 2.11.1 holds, i.e.

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{a}^{b}\phi_{s}^{2}ds\Big|\mathcal{F}_{a}\right] \leq K^{2}(b-a), \qquad \mathbb{P}-a.s., \quad 0 \leq a \leq b.$$

Then for all T > 0 and $u \in L^{\infty}([0,T])$ we have

$$I_1(u)F = \delta(uF) + \langle u, DF \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} + \delta(u\phi DF), \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}.$$
(4.3.6)

Proof. We prove this result by induction for all $F = I_n(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^n} v^{\otimes n}), n \in \mathbb{N}$. The formula clearly holds for n = 0. From Corollary 2.11.4 we have

 \square

$$\begin{split} I_{1}(u\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]})I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n}}v^{\otimes n}) \\ &= \int_{0}^{t} u_{s}I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n}}v^{\otimes n})dM_{s} + n\int_{0}^{t} v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})\int_{0}^{s} u_{\tau}dM_{\tau}dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t} \phi_{s}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t} u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})dS. \end{split}$$

Applying the induction hypothesis and Relation (4.1.2) we get

$$\begin{split} I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)}) & \int_{0}^{s} u_{\tau} dM_{\tau} = \delta(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]}uI_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)})) \\ & + (n-1) \int_{0}^{s} u_{\tau}v_{\tau} d\tau I_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-2}}v^{\otimes(n-2)}) \\ & + (n-1)\delta(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}\phi uvI_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-2}}v^{\otimes(n-2)}))) \\ & = I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n}}v^{\otimes(n-1)} \circ u) + (n-1) \int_{0}^{s} u_{\tau}v_{\tau}d\tau I_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-2}}v^{\otimes(n-2)}) \\ & + (n-1)\delta(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]}\phi uvI_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-2)})), \end{split}$$

hence

$$\begin{split} I_{1}(u\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]})I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n}}v^{\otimes n}) &= \int_{0}^{t} u_{s}I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n}}v^{\otimes n})dM_{s} \\ &+ n(n-1)\int_{0}^{t} v_{s}\int_{0}^{s} u_{\tau}v_{\tau}d\tau I_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-2}}v^{\otimes (n-2)})dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t} v_{s}I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n}}v^{\otimes (n-1)} \circ u)dM_{s} \\ &+ n(n-1)\int_{0}^{t} v_{s}\delta(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]}\phi uvI_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-2)}))dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t} \phi_{s}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t} u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})dM_{s} \\ &+ n(n-1)\int_{0}^{t} v_{s}\delta(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]}\phi uvI_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-2)}))dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t} \phi_{s}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})dM_{s} \\ &+ n(n-1)\int_{0}^{t} v_{s}\int_{0}^{s} \phi_{\tau}v_{\tau}d\tau I_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-2}}v^{\otimes (n-2)})dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t} u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})dS \\ &= I_{n+1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n+1}}v^{\otimes n} \circ u) \\ &+ n(n-1)\int_{0}^{t} v_{s}\delta(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]}\phi uvI_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-2)}))dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t} \phi_{s}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})dS \\ &= I_{n+1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n+1}}v^{\otimes n} \circ u) \\ &+ n(n-1)\int_{0}^{t} v_{s}\delta(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]}\phi uvI_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-2)}))dM_{s} \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t} \phi_{s}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})dS \\ &= I_{n+1}(\mathbf{1}_{0,t]^{n+1}}v^{\otimes n} \circ u) \\ &+ n\int_{0}^{t} \phi_{s}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes (n-1)})dM_{s} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} &+n \int_{0}^{t} u_{s} v_{s} ds I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n-1}} v^{\otimes (n-1)}) ds \\ &= \delta(u \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]} I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n}} v^{\otimes n})) + \delta(u \phi \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]} DI_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n}} v^{\otimes n})) \\ &+ \langle u \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}, DI_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n}} v^{\otimes n}) \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}, \end{aligned}$$

where in the final equality we used the relations

$$\begin{split} I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)}) \int_{0}^{t} u_{s}v_{s}ds &= \int_{0}^{t} \phi_{s}u_{s}v_{s}I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}}v^{\otimes(n-1)})dM_{s} \\ &+ (n-1) \int_{0}^{t} v_{s} \int_{0}^{s} u_{\tau}v_{\tau}d\tau I_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-2}}v^{\otimes(n-2)})dM_{s}, \end{split}$$

cf. (2.11.7), and

$$\begin{split} \delta(\phi uv \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]} I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]^{n-1}} v^{\otimes (n-1)})) \\ &= (n-1)\delta\left(\phi uv \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]} \int_{0}^{t} v_{s} I_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-2}} v^{\otimes (n-2)}) dM_{s}\right) \\ &= (n-1)\delta\left(\phi . u. v. \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(\cdot) \int_{\cdot}^{t} v_{s} I_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-2}} v^{\otimes (n-2)}) dM_{s}\right) \\ &+ (n-1)\delta\left(\phi . u. v. \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(\cdot) \int_{0}^{\cdot} v_{s} I_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-2}} v^{\otimes (n-2)}) dM_{s}\right) \\ &= (n-1) \int_{0}^{t} \phi . u. v. \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(\cdot) \int_{\cdot}^{t} v_{r} I_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,r]^{n-2}} v^{\otimes (n-2)}) dM_{r} \delta M_{s} \\ &+ \delta\left(\phi . u. v. \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(\cdot) I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,\cdot]^{n-1}} v^{\otimes (n-1)})\right) \\ &= (n-1) \int_{0}^{t} v_{s} \delta(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]} \phi . u. v. I_{n-2}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-2}} v^{\otimes (n-2)})) dM_{s} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} \phi_{s} u_{s} v_{s} I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]^{n-1}} v^{\otimes (n-1)}) dM_{s}, \end{split}$$

that follows from Lemma 4.3.5.

4.4 Ornstein-Uhlenbeck Semi-Group

As in the discrete case, a covariance identity can be obtained from the Clark formula in Section 3.4. In this section we focus on covariance identities obtained from the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck (O.-U.) semi-group $(P_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ defined as

$$P_t F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{-nt} I_n(f_n),$$
 (4.4.1)

with $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n)$, i.e. $P_t = e^{-tL}$ with $L = \delta D$.

Proposition 4.4.1. Let $F, G \in \text{Dom}(D)$. We have the covariance identity

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-s} D_{u} F P_{s} D_{u} G du ds\right].$$
(4.4.2)

Proof. It suffices to prove this identity for $F = I_n(f_n)$ and $G = I_n(g_n)$ as

$$\operatorname{Cov} (F, G) = \mathbb{E}[I_n(f_n)I_n(g_n)]$$

= $n!\langle f_n, g_n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n_+)}$
= $\frac{1}{n} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_0^\infty D_u F D_u G du \right]$
= $\mathbb{E} \left[\int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty D_u F e^{-ns} D_u G du ds \right]$
= $\mathbb{E} \left[\int_0^\infty e^{-s} \int_0^\infty D_u F P_s D_u G du ds \right].$

Let L^{-1} denote the inverse of the number operator $L = \delta D$, cf. Definition 2.8.3, defined on

$$\{F \in L^2(\Omega) : \mathbb{E}[F] = 0\}$$

as

$$L^{-1}F = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} I_n(f_n)$$

provided F is written as

$$F = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} I_n(f_n).$$

Note that using the identity

$$L^{-1} = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{e}^{-tL} dt = \int_0^\infty P_t dt,$$

and the commutation relation $DP_t = e^{-t}P_tD$, Relation (4.4.2) can also be obtained from a general semi-group argument:

$$\operatorname{Cov}(F,G) = \mathbb{E}[LL^{-1}(F - \mathbb{E}[F])G]$$

= $\mathbb{E}[\langle DL^{-1}(F - \mathbb{E}[F]), DG \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)}]$
= $\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \langle DP_{t}(F - \mathbb{E}[F]), DG \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} dt\right]$
= $\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t} \langle P_{t}D(F - \mathbb{E}[F]), DG \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} dt\right]$
= $\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t} \langle P_{t}DF, DG \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} dt\right].$

Relation (4.4.2) implies the covariance inequality

$$|\operatorname{Cov}(F,G)| \le \left| \mathbb{E}\left[\|DF\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-s} \|P_{s}DG\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} ds \right] \right|$$

$$\leq \|DG\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))} \mathbb{E}\left[\|DF\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}\right]$$

$$\leq \|DG\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))} \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))},$$

 $F, G \in \text{Dom}(D)$, provided P_s satisfies the following continuity property.

Assumption 4.4.2. (Continuity property) For all $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ we have

$$\|P_t DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))} \le \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

$$(4.4.3)$$

This property is satisfied in particular when $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is deterministic, cf. Section 4.7.

4.5 Deterministic Structure Equations

When the process $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a deterministic function, Corollary 2.11.4 or Proposition 4.3.6 can be rewritten as a multiplication formula for multiple stochastic integrals, without requiring a smoothness condition on $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$.

Proposition 4.5.1. Assume that $\phi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is a bounded, deterministic, function. Then we have

$$I_{1}(u)I_{n}(v^{\otimes n}) = I_{n+1}(v^{\otimes n} \circ u) + nI_{n}((\phi uv) \circ v^{\otimes (n-1)})$$

$$+ n\langle u, v \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}I_{n-1}(v^{\otimes (n-1)}),$$
(4.5.1)

for all $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+).$

From the above proposition we obtain in particular that for every $n \ge 1$ there exists a polynomial $Q_n(x)$ such that

$$I_n(v^{\otimes n}) = Q_n(I_1(v)), \qquad n \ge 1,$$
(4.5.2)

see [120] for details when $(\phi_s)_{s \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a random process. As seen in Chapters 5 and 6, the Hermite and Charlier polynomials are respectively used to represent multiple stochastic integrals with respect to Brownian motion and the compensated Poisson process.

On the other hand, if $s_1 < \cdots < s_n$ and $n = n_1 + \cdots + n_d$, we have

$$\mathbf{1}_{[t_0,t_1]}^{\otimes n_1} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{[t_{d-1},t_d]}^{\otimes n_d}(s_1,\ldots,s_n) = \frac{n_1!\cdots n_d!}{n!} \mathbf{1}_{[t_0,t_1]^{n_1}\times\cdots\times[t_{d-1},t_d]^{n_d}}(s_1,\ldots,s_n),$$

hence if $0 \leq t_0 < \cdots < t_d$,

$$I_n(\mathbf{1}_{[t_0,t_1]}^{\otimes n_1} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{[t_{d-1},t_d]}^{\otimes n_d})$$

= $n! \int_0^\infty \int_0^{s_n} \cdots \int_0^{s_2} \mathbf{1}_{[t_0,t_1]}^{\otimes n_1} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{[t_{d-1},t_d]}^{\otimes n_d}(s_1,\ldots,s_n) dM_{s_1} \cdots dM_{s_n}$

$$= n_{1}! \cdots n_{d}! \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{s_{n}} \cdots \int_{0}^{s_{2}} \mathbf{1}_{[t_{0},t_{1}]^{n_{1}} \times \cdots \times [t_{d-1},t_{d}]^{n_{d}}} (s_{1},\ldots,s_{n}) dM_{s_{1}} \cdots dM_{s_{n}}$$

$$= \prod_{k=1}^{d} \left(n_{k}! \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{s_{n_{k}}} \cdots \int_{0}^{s_{2}} \mathbf{1}_{[t_{k-1},t_{k}]}^{\otimes n_{k}} (s_{1},\ldots,s_{n_{k}}) dM_{s_{1}} \cdots dM_{s_{n_{k}}} \right)$$

$$= \prod_{k=1}^{d} I_{n_{k}} (\mathbf{1}_{[t_{k-1},t_{k}]}^{\otimes n_{k}}). \tag{4.5.3}$$

The following is a product rule for the operator D.

Proposition 4.5.2. Assume that $\phi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is a bounded, deterministic function. We have

$$D_t(FG) = FD_tG + GD_tF + \phi_t D_tFD_tG, \qquad (4.5.4)$$

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+, F, G \in \mathcal{S}.$

Proof. We first notice that for $F = I_1(u)$ and $G = I_n(f_n)$, this formula is a consequence of the multiplication formula Proposition 4.5.1 since

$$\begin{aligned} D_t(I_1(u)I_n(f_n)) \\ &= D_t \left(I_{n+1}(f_n \circ u) + n \int_0^\infty u_s I_{n-1}(f_n(\cdot, s)ds + nI_n(f_n \circ (\phi u))) \right) \\ &= I_n(f_n)D_t I_1(u) + nI_n(f_n(\cdot, t) \circ u) + n(n-1)\int_0^\infty u_s I_{n-2}(f_n(\cdot, t, s))ds \\ &+ n(n-1)I_n(f_n(\cdot, t) \circ (\phi u)) + \phi_t D_t I_1(u)D_t I_n(f_n) \\ &= I_n(f_n)D_t I_1(u) + I_1(u)D_t I_n(f_n) + \phi_t D_t I_1(u)D_t I_n(f_n), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+. \end{aligned}$$

Next, we prove by induction on $k \in \mathbb{N}$ that

$$D_t(I_n(f_n)(I_1(u))^k) = (I_1(u))^k D_t I_n(f_n) + I_n(f_n) D_t(I_1(u))^k + \phi_t D_t (I_1(u))^k D_t I_n(f_n),$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Clearly this formula holds for k = 0. From Proposition 4.5.1 we have

$$I_n(f_n)I_1(u) \in \mathcal{H}_{n-1} \oplus \mathcal{H}_n \oplus \mathcal{H}_{n+1}, \qquad n \ge 1,$$

hence by the induction hypothesis applied at the rank k we have

$$\begin{split} &D_t(I_n(f_n)(I_1(u))^{k+1}) \\ &= (I_1(u))^k D_t(I_n(f_n)I_1(u)) + I_n(f_n)I_1(u) D_t(I_1(u))^k \\ &+ \phi_t D_t(I_1(u))^k D_t(I_n(f_n)I_1(u)) \\ &= (I_1(u))^{k+1} D_t I_n(f_n) + I_n(f_n)I_1(u) D_t(I_1(u))^k + I_n(f_n)(I_1(u))^k D_t I_1(u) \\ &+ \phi_t I_n(f_n) D_t I_1(u) D_t(I_1(u))^k + \phi_t I_1(u) D_t(I_1(u))^k D_t I_n(f_n) \\ &+ \phi_t(I_1(u))^k D_t I_1(u) D_t I_n(f_n) + \phi_t^2 D_t I_1(u) D_t(I_1(u))^k D_t I_n(f_n) \\ &= (I_1(u))^{k+1} D_t I_n(f_n) + I_n(f_n) D_t(I_1(u))^{k+1} + \phi_t D_t(I_1(u))^{k+1} D_t I_n(f_n). \end{split}$$

Consequently, (4.5.4) holds for any polynomial in single stochastic integrals, hence from Relation (4.5.2) it holds for any F and G of the form $F = I_n(u^{\otimes n})$, $G = I_n(v^{\otimes n})$. The extension of $F, G \in S$ is obtained by an approximation argument in $L^2(\Omega)$ from Proposition (2.11.2).

In case $\phi_t = 0, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, in order for the product relation (4.5.4) of Proposition 4.5.2 to be satisfied it suffices that D_t be a derivation operator. On the other hand, if $\phi_t \neq 0, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, Relation (4.5.4) is satisfied by any finite difference operator of the form

$$F \longmapsto \frac{1}{\phi_t} (F_t^{\phi} - F).$$

By induction on $r \ge 1$ we obtain the following generalization of Relation (4.5.4).

Corollary 4.5.3. For all $F, G \in S$ we have

$$D_{t_1} \cdots D_{t_r}(FG) = \sum_{p=0}^r \sum_{q=r-p}^r$$
(4.5.5)

$$\sum_{\{k_1 < \dots < k_p\} \cup \{l_1 < \dots < l_q\} = \{1, \dots, r\}} D_{t_{k_1}} \cdots D_{t_{k_p}} F D_{t_{l_1}} \cdots D_{t_{l_q}} G \prod_{i \in \{k_1, \dots, k_p\} \cap \{l_1, \dots, l_q\}} \phi(t_i),$$

 $t_1,\ldots,t_r\in\mathbb{R}_+.$

From Proposition 4.5.2, Proposition 4.3.6 can be extended to random $u \in \mathcal{U}$ as in the next result.

Proposition 4.5.4. Let $T \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and assume that $\phi \in L^{\infty}([0,T])$ is a locally bounded deterministic function. Then for all $u \in \mathcal{U}$ and $F \in \mathcal{S}$ we have

$$\delta(u)F = \delta(uF) + \langle DF, u \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} + \delta(\phi uDF).$$
(4.5.6)

Proof. The proof of this statement follows by duality from Proposition 4.5.2. Letting u = vG we have for $F, G_1, G_2 \in S$:

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[FG_1\delta(u)] &= \mathbb{E}[G_2\langle v, D(FG_1)\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[G_2F\langle v, DG_1\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}] + \mathbb{E}[G_2G_1\langle v, DF\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}] \\ &+ \mathbb{E}[G_2\langle v, \phi DFDG_1\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[G_1\delta(uF)] + \mathbb{E}[G_1\langle vG_2, DF\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}] + \mathbb{E}[G_1\delta(G_2v\phi DF)]. \end{split}$$

If $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is random the probabilistic interpretation of the gradient operator D is unknown, however we have the following conditional product rule.

Proposition 4.5.5. For $F, G \in S$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t(FG) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = \mathbb{E}[FD_tG \mid \mathcal{F}_t] + \mathbb{E}[GD_tF \mid \mathcal{F}_t] + \phi_t \mathbb{E}[D_tFD_tG \mid \mathcal{F}_t],$$

 \square

 $F, G \in \mathcal{S}, t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$

Proof. We write (4.5.6) for $u \in \mathcal{U}$ adapted and apply the duality between D and δ :

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}[\langle u, D(FG) \rangle] = \mathbb{E}[\delta(u)FG] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[G(\delta(uF) + \langle u, DF \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} + \delta(u\phi DF)] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\langle u, FDG \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} + \langle u, GDF \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} + \langle u, \phi DFDG \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}]. \end{split}$$

With help of (4.5.4) and Proposition 4.2.5, the following multiplication formula can been proved as a generalization of (4.5.1), cf. [111]. For $f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$ and $g_m \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ m}$, we define $f_n \otimes_k^l g_m$, $0 \leq l \leq k$, to be the function

$$(x_{l+1},\ldots,x_n,y_{k+1},\ldots,y_m) \longmapsto \phi(x_{l+1})\cdots\phi(x_k)\int_{\mathbb{R}^l_+} f_n(x_1,\ldots,x_n)g_m(x_1,\ldots,x_k,y_{k+1},\ldots,y_m)dx_1\cdots dx_l$$

of n + m - k - l variables. We denote by $f_n \circ_k^l g_m$ the symmetrization in n + m - k - l variables of $f_n \otimes_k^l g_m$, $0 \le l \le k$.

Proposition 4.5.6. We have the chaos expansion

$$I_n(f_n)I_m(g_m) = \sum_{s=0}^{2(n \wedge m)} I_{n+m-s}(h_{n,m,s}), \qquad (4.5.7)$$

if and only if the functions

$$h_{n,m,s} = \sum_{s \le 2i \le 2(s \land n \land m)} i! \binom{n}{i} \binom{m}{i} \binom{i}{s-i} f_n \circ_i^{s-i} g_m$$

belong to $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n+m-s}, \ 0 \le s \le 2(n \land m).$

Proof. From Corollary 4.5.3 we have

$$D_{t_1} \cdots D_{t_r} (I_n(f_n) I_m(g_m)) = \sum_{p=0}^r \sum_{q=r-p}^r \sum_{\{k_1 < \dots < k_p\} \cup \{l_1 < \dots < l_q\} = \{1, \dots, r\}}^r \frac{n!}{(n-p)!} \frac{m!}{(m-q)!} I_{n-p}(f_n(\cdot, t_{k_1}, \dots, t_{k_p})) I_{m-q}(g_m(\cdot, t_{l_1}, \dots, t_{l_q}))$$
$$\times \prod_{i \in \{k_1, \dots, k_p\} \cap \{l_1, \dots, l_q\}} \phi(t_i).$$

Define a function $h_{n,m,n+m-r} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ r}$ as

148 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).
$$\begin{aligned} h_{n,m,n+m-r}(t_1,\dots,t_r) &= \frac{1}{r!} \mathbb{E}[D_{t_1}\cdots D_{t_r}(I_n(f_n)I_m(g_m))] \\ &= \frac{1}{r!} \sum_{p=0}^{r \wedge n} \sum_{q=r-p}^{r} \mathbf{1}_{\{n-p=m-q\}} \frac{n!}{(n-p)!} \frac{m!}{(m-q)!} (n-p)! a_{n,m,p,r} f_n \circ_{q+p-r}^{n-p} g_m(t_1,\dots,t_r), \\ &= \frac{1}{r!} \sum_{n-m+r \leq 2p \leq 2(n \wedge r)} \frac{n!m!}{(n-p)!} a_{n,m,p,r} f_n \circ_{m-r+p}^{n-p} g_m(t_1,\dots,t_r), \end{aligned}$$

where $a_{n,m,p,r}$ is the number of sequences $k_1 < \cdots < k_p$ and $l_1 < \cdots < l_q$ such that $\{k_1, \ldots, k_p\} \cup \{l_1, \ldots, l_q\} = \{1, \ldots, r\}$, with exactly m - r + p - (n - p) terms in common. This number is

$$a_{n,m,p,r} = \frac{r!}{(r-p)!p!} \frac{p!}{(m-n-r+2p)!(n+r-m-p)!}$$

Hence

 $h_{n,m,n+m-r}$

$$=\sum_{n-m+r\leq 2p\leq 2(n\wedge r)}\frac{n!m!f_n\circ_{m-r+p}^{n-p}g_m}{(r-p)!(m-n-r+2p)!(n+r-m-p)!(n-p)!}$$

$$=\sum_{n+m-r\leq 2i\leq 2((n+m-r)\wedge n\wedge m)}\frac{n!}{(n-i)!}\frac{m!}{(m-i)!}\frac{1}{(2i-l)!}\frac{1}{(l-i)!}f_n\circ_i^{l-i}g_m$$

$$=\sum_{l\leq 2i\leq 2(l\wedge n\wedge m)}i!\binom{n}{i}\binom{m}{i}\binom{i}{l-i}f_n\circ_i^{l-i}g_m,$$

with l = n + m - r and i = p + m - r. The chaos expansion follows from Proposition 4.2.5, first for f_n , g_m continuous with compact supports. The general case follows by a density argument.

In the next remark we give a necessary condition for the independence of multiple stochastic integrals.

Remark 4.5.7. Let $f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$ and $g_m \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ m}$ and assume that the $I_n(f_n)$ and $I_m(g_m)$ are independent. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{s-i}_{+}} f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n) g_m(x_1, \dots, x_k, y_{i+1}, \dots, y_m) dx_1 \cdots dx_{s-i} = 0, \quad (4.5.8)$$

 $\phi(x_{s-i+1})\cdots\phi(x_i)dx_{s-i+1}\cdots dx_ndy_{s-i+1}\cdots dx_m - a.e., \ 1 \le 2i \le s \le 2(n \land m).$

Proof. If $I_n(f_n)$ and $I_m(g_m)$ are independent, then $I_n(f_n)I_m(g_m) \in L^2(\Omega)$ and

$$(n+m)! \mid f_n \otimes g_m \mid_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\otimes (n+m)}}^2 = \mid f_n \circ g_m \mid_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ (m+m)}}^2 \\ \geq n!m! \mid f_n \mid_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\otimes n}}^2 \mid g_m \mid_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\otimes m}}^2$$

$$= E \left[I_n(f_n)^2 \right] E \left[I_m(g_m)^2 \right] = E \left[(I_n(f_n)I_m(g_m))^2 \right]$$

= $\sum_{r=0}^{2(n \wedge m)} (n+m-r)! | h_{n,m,r} |_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\otimes (n+m-r)}}^2$
= $(n+m)! | f_n \otimes g_m |_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\otimes (n+m)}}^2$
+ $\sum_{r=1}^{2(n \wedge m)} (n+m-r)! | h_{n,m,r} |_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\otimes (n+m-r)}}^2$,

hence $h_{n,m,r} = 0, r = 1, ..., 2(n \land m)$, which implies (4.5.8).

4.6 Exponential Vectors

We define a linear transformation T_t^{ϕ} on the space \mathcal{E} spanned by the exponential vectors introduced in Definition 2.13.3.

Definition 4.6.1. Given $\phi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$, we let

$$T_t^{\phi}\xi(u) = (1 + u_t\phi_t)\xi(u), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+).$$

The transformation T_t^{ϕ} is well-defined on \mathcal{E} because $\xi(u_1), \ldots, \xi(u_n)$, are linearly independent if u_1, \ldots, u_n are distinct elements of $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$.

Lemma 4.6.2. The transformation T_t^{ϕ} is multiplicative, i.e.

$$T^{\phi}_t(FG) = (T^{\phi}_t F)(T^{\phi}_t G), \quad F, G \in \mathcal{E}.$$

Proof. From Lemma 2.13.4 we have

$$\begin{aligned} T_t^{\phi}(\xi(u)\xi(v)) &= \exp(\langle u, v \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}) T_t^{\phi} \xi(u+v+\phi uv) \\ &= \exp(\langle u, v \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}) (1+\phi_t(u_t+v_t+\phi_t u_t v_t)) \xi(u+v+\phi uv) \\ &= (1+\phi_t u_t) (1+\phi_t v_t) \xi(u) \xi(v) \\ &= T_t^{\phi} \xi(u) T_t^{\phi} \xi(v). \end{aligned}$$

The following proposition provides an interpretation of T_t^{ϕ} using the construction of exponential vectors as solutions of stochastic differential equations, cf. Proposition 2.13.1.

Proposition 4.6.3. For all $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, $T_t^{\phi}\xi_T(u)$ coincides $dt \times d\mathbb{P}$ -a.e. with the limit as T goes to infinity of the solution Z_T^t to the equation

$$Z_{s}^{t} = 1 + \int_{0}^{s} Z_{\tau^{-}}^{t} u_{\tau} dM_{\tau}^{t}, \qquad s \in \mathbb{R}_{+},$$
(4.6.1)

150 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

where $(M_s^t)_{s \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is defined as

$$M_s^t = M_s + \phi_t \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}(s), \qquad s \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Proof. Clearly by Proposition 2.13.1 we have $Z_s^t = \xi_s(u), s < t$. Next, at time t we have

$$Z_t^t = (1 + \phi_t u_t) Z_{t^-}^t$$

= $(1 + \phi_t u_t) \xi_{t^-}(u)$
= $(1 + \phi_t u_t) \xi_t(u),$

since $\xi_{t-}(u) = \xi_t(u)$ a.s. for fixed t because $\Delta M_t = 0$, $dt \times d\mathbb{P}$ -a.e. Finally, for s > t we have

$$Z_s^t = Z_t^t + \int_t^s Z_{\tau^-}^t u_\tau dM_\tau$$

= $(1 + \phi_t u_t)\xi_t(u) + \int_t^s Z_{\tau^-}^t u_\tau dM_\tau,$

hence

$$\frac{Z_s^t}{1+\phi_t u_t} = \xi_t(u) + \int_t^s \frac{Z_{\tau^-}^t}{1+\phi_t u_t} u_\tau dM_\tau, \quad s > t,$$

which implies from (2.13.1):

$$\frac{Z_s^t}{1+\phi_t u_t} = \xi_s(u), \quad s > t,$$

and

$$Z_T^t = (1 + \phi_t u_t)\xi(u) = T_t^{\phi}\xi(u),$$

 \mathbb{P} -a.s., $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

In other words, $T_t^{\phi} F$, $F \in \mathcal{E}$, can be interpreted as the evaluation of F on the trajectories of $(M_s)_{s \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ perturbed by addition of a jump of height ϕ_t at time t.

In Chapters 5 and 6 we will express the multiple stochastic integrals in terms of polynomials in the Brownian and Poisson cases. Note that such expressions using polynomials are not available in other cases, see e.g. [120] in the case $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is random, in particular for the Azéma martingales.

Finally we turn to the probabilistic interpretation of the gradient D. In case $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a deterministic function, the probabilistic interpretation of D_t is known and $D_t F$ can be explicitly computed. Define the operator

$$D^B: \mathcal{E} \to L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+, d\mathbb{P} \times dt)$$

on the space \mathcal{E} of exponential vectors as

 \square

$$\langle D^B F, u \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} = \frac{d}{d\varepsilon} F\left(M(\cdot) + \varepsilon \int_0^{\cdot} i_s u_s ds \right)_{\varepsilon = 0}, \quad F \in \mathcal{E}, \quad u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+).$$
(4.6.2)

We have, for $F = \xi(u)$ and $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$,

$$\langle D^B F, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} = \frac{d}{d\varepsilon} \exp\left(\varepsilon \int_0^\infty g_s u_s i_s ds\right) \xi(u) \Big|_{\varepsilon=0}$$

= $\int_0^\infty g_s u_s i_s ds \ \xi(u),$

hence $D_t^B \xi(u) = i_t u_t \xi(u), t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, where

$$\xi(u) = \exp\left(\int_0^\infty u_s dM_s - \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty |u_s|^2 i_s ds\right) \prod_{s \in J_M} (1 + u_s \phi_s) e^{-u_s \phi_s}, \quad (4.6.3)$$

and J_M denotes the set of jump times of $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$. We have the following proposition, which recovers and makes more precise the statement of Proposition (4.5.2). Let again $i_t = \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_t=0\}}$ and $j_t = 1 - i_t = \mathbf{1}_{\{\phi_t\neq 0\}}, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

Proposition 4.6.4. We have

$$D_t F = D_t^B F + \frac{j_t}{\phi_t} (T_t^{\phi} F - F), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad F \in \mathcal{E}.$$
(4.6.4)

Proof. When $\phi_t = 0$ we have $D_t^B F = i_t u_t \xi(u) = i_t D_t F$, hence

$$D_t\xi(u) = i_t D_t\xi(u) + j_t D_t\xi(u)$$

= $i_t u_t\xi(u) + j_t u_t\xi(u)$
= $D_t^B\xi(u) + \frac{j_t}{\phi_t}(T_t^{\phi}\xi(u) - \xi(u)), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$

Concerning the product rule we have from Lemma 2.13.4:

$$D_t(\xi(u)\xi(v)) = \exp\left(\int_0^\infty u_s v_s ds\right) D_t \xi(u+v+\phi uv)$$

= $\exp\left(\int_0^\infty u_s v_s ds\right) (u_t+v_t+\phi_t u_t v_t)\xi(u+v+\phi uv)$
= $(u_t+v_t+\phi_t u_t v_t)\xi(u)\xi(v)$
= $\xi(u)D_t\xi(v)+\xi(v)D_t\xi(u)+\phi_t D_t\xi(u)D_t\xi(v),$

 $u, v \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$, see also Relation (6) of [111].

4.7 Deviation Inequalities

In this section we work under the continuity Assumption 4.4.2, which is satisfied when $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a deterministic function since in this case an Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ can be associated to the semi-group $(P_s)_{s \in \mathbb{R}_+}$. The proof of the next lemma makes forward references to Lemmas 5.3.1 and 6.8.1.

Lemma 4.7.1. The continuity Assumption 4.4.2 is satisfied if $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a deterministic function.

Proof. Let $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ be defined as in (2.10.5) on the product space $\Omega = \Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$ of independent Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ and Poisson process $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$. Using the decomposition (2.10.5), i.e.

$$dM_t = i_t dB_t + \phi_t (dN_t - \lambda_t dt), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

any element

$$G = f(I_1(u_1), \ldots, I_1(u_n))$$

of S can be constructed as a functional $G: \Omega_1 \times \Omega_2 \to \mathbb{R}$. From Lemma 5.3.1 and Lemma 6.8.1 we have

$$P_t G(\omega) = \int_{\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2} G(\mathcal{T}_t^1(\omega_1, \tilde{\omega}_1), \mathcal{T}_t^2(\omega_2, \tilde{\omega}_2)) p_t(\omega_1, \omega_2, d\tilde{\omega}_1, d\tilde{\omega}_2),$$

for some probability kernel p_t and mappings

$$\mathcal{T}_t^1: \Omega_1 \times \Omega_1 \to \Omega_1, \qquad \mathcal{T}_t^2: \Omega_1 \times \Omega_1 \to \Omega_1.$$

This implies

$$\begin{aligned} \|P_t DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))} &\leq \|P_t\| DF\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \end{aligned}$$

for all $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$.

Proposition 4.7.2. Let $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ be such that $\mathbb{E}[e^{T|F|}] < \infty$, and $e^{sF} \in \text{Dom}(D)$, $0 < s \leq T$, for some T > 0. Let h be the function defined by

$$h(s) = \left\| \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-sF} \mathrm{D} \mathrm{e}^{sF}}{DF} \right\|_{\infty} \| DF \|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}^{2}, \qquad s \in [0, T].$$

Then

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\int_0^x h^{-1}(s)ds\right), \qquad 0 < x < h(T),$$

where h^{-1} is the inverse of h.

If h is not strictly increasing we may use the left-continuous inverse of h:

$$h^{-1}(x) = \inf\{t > 0 : h(t) \ge x\}, \qquad 0 < x < h(T^{-}).$$

Proof. Assume first that $\mathbb{E}[F] = 0$. Since the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(P_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ satisfies the continuity Assumption 4.4.2, then using Proposition 4.4.1 we have

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}[Fe^{sF}] = \operatorname{Cov}\left(F, e^{sF}\right) \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-v} \int_{0}^{\infty} D_{u} e^{sF} P_{v} D_{u} F du dv\right] \\ &\leq \left\|\frac{e^{-sF} De^{sF}}{DF}\right\|_{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{sF} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-v} \int_{0}^{\infty} D_{u} F P_{v} D_{u} F dv du\right] \\ &\leq \left\|\frac{e^{-sF} De^{sF}}{DF}\right\|_{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{sF} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-v} \|DF\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} \|P_{v} DF\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} dv\right] \\ &\leq \left\|\frac{e^{-sF} De^{sF}}{DF}\right\|_{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{sF}\right] \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))} \left\|\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-v} P_{v} \|DF\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} dv\right\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \left\|\frac{e^{-sF} De^{sF}}{DF}\right\|_{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{sF}\right] \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-v} \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))} dv \\ &\leq \mathbb{E}\left[e^{sF}\right] \left\|\frac{e^{-sF} De^{sF}}{DF}\right\|_{\infty} \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}. \\ &\leq h(s) \mathbb{E}\left[e^{sF}\right]. \end{split}$$

In the general case, letting $L(s) = \mathbb{E}[e^{s(F - \mathbb{E}[F])}]$, we have

$$\log(\mathbb{E}[e^{t(F-\mathbb{E}[F])}]) = \int_0^t \frac{L'(s)}{L(s)} ds$$
$$= \int_0^t \frac{\mathbb{E}[(F-\mathbb{E}[F])e^{s(F-\mathbb{E}[F])}]}{\mathbb{E}[e^{s(F-\mathbb{E}[F])}]} ds$$
$$= \int_0^t h(s) ds,$$

 $0 \leq t \leq T$. We have for all $x \in \mathbb{R}_+$:

$$e^{tx} \mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \mathbb{E}[e^{t(F - \mathbb{E}[F])}]$$
$$\le e^{H(t)}, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where

$$H(t) = \int_0^t h(s)ds, \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

For any 0 < t < T we have $\frac{d}{dt}(H(t) - tx) = h(t) - x$, hence

$$\begin{split} \min_{0 < t < T} (H(t) - tx) &= -xh^{-1}(x) + H(h^{-1}(x)) \\ &= -xh^{-1}(x) + \int_0^{h^{-1}(x)} h(s) ds \\ &= -xh^{-1}(x) + \int_0^x s dh^{-1}(s) \\ &= -\int_0^x h^{-1}(s) ds. \end{split}$$

From now on we work with $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ a deterministic function, i.e. $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is written as in (2.10.5) and from Lemma 4.7.1, the continuity Assumption 4.4.2 is satisfied.

This covers the Gaussian case for $\phi_t = 0, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, and also the general Poisson case when ϕ_t is a non-zero constant.

Proposition 4.7.3. Let $K \ge 0$ and $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ be such that $\phi_t D_t F \le K$, $dtd\mathbb{P}$ -a.e. for some $K \ge 0$ and $\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))} < \infty$. Then we have

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}^{2}}{K^{2}}g\left(\frac{xK}{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}^{2}}\right)\right)$$
$$\le \exp\left(-\frac{x}{2K}\log\left(1 + \frac{xK}{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}^{2}}\right)\right), \quad (4.7.1)$$

 $x \ge 0$, with $g(u) = (1+u)\log(1+u) - u$, $u \ge 0$. If K = 0 (decreasing functionals) we have

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}^2}\right).$$
(4.7.2)

Proof. We first assume that $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ is a bounded random variable. Let us assume that $\mathbb{E}[F] = 0$. From Proposition 4.5.2 we have as in the proof of Proposition 1.11.1:

$$0 \leq \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-sF} D_u \mathrm{e}^{sF}}{D_u F}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\phi_u D_u F} \left(\mathrm{e}^{s\phi_u D_u F} - 1 \right)$$
$$\leq \frac{\mathrm{e}^{sK} - 1}{K},$$

since the function $x \mapsto (e^x - 1)/x$ is positive and increasing on \mathbb{R} . Hence in Proposition 4.7.2 we can take

$$h(s) = \left| \frac{e^{sK} - 1}{K} \right| \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}^{2}, \qquad s \in [0, T],$$

and

$$\begin{split} \min_{0 < t < T} (H(t) - tx) &= -\int_0^x h^{-1}(s) ds \\ &\leq -\frac{1}{K} \int_0^x \log \left(1 + tK \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}^{-2} \right) dt \\ &= -\frac{1}{K} \left((x + \frac{1}{K} \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}^2) \log \left(1 + xK \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}^{-2} \right) - x \right) \\ &\leq -\frac{x}{2K} \log \left(1 + \frac{xK}{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}^2} \right). \end{split}$$

If K = 0, the above proof is still valid by replacing all terms by their limits as $K \to 0$. If $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ is not bounded the conclusion holds for

$$F_n = \max(-n, \min(F, n)) \in \text{Dom}(D), \quad n \ge 1,$$

and $(F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, $(DF_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, converge respectively to F and DF in $L^2(\Omega)$, resp. $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$, with $\|DF_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}^2 \leq \|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}^2$. \Box

By the same argument as in Proposition 1.11.3, the bounds (4.7.1) and (4.7.2) respectively imply

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathrm{e}^{\alpha|F|\log_+|F|}] < \infty$$

for some $\alpha > 0$, and

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathrm{e}^{\alpha F^2}] < \infty$$

for all $\alpha < (2\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}^2)^{-1}$.

Applying Proposition 4.7.3 with the condition $\phi DF \leq \phi K$ for constant $\phi_t = \phi \in \mathbb{R}_+, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, we have the following.

Corollary 4.7.4. Assume that $\phi_t = \phi \in \mathbb{R}_+$, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, is constant. Let $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ be such that $DF \leq K$ for some $K \geq 0$ and $\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))} < \infty$. Then

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}^{2}g\left(\frac{x\phi K}{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}^{2}}\right)\right)$$
$$\le \exp\left(-\frac{x}{2\phi K}\log\left(1 + \frac{x\phi K}{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))}^{2}}\right)\right),$$

with $g(u) = (1+u)\log(1+u) - u$, $u \ge 0$. If $\phi = 0$ (Wiener case) or K = 0 (decreasing functionals) we have

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}^2}\right).$$
(4.7.3)

In particular if F is \mathcal{F}_T -measurable, then $\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))} \leq KT$ and

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{T}{\phi^2}g\left(\frac{\phi x}{KT}\right)\right)$$
$$\le \exp\left(-\frac{x}{2K}\log\left(1 + \frac{\phi x}{KT}\right)\right),$$

which improves (as in [155]) the inequality

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x}{4\phi K}\log\left(1 + \frac{\phi x}{2KT}\right)\right), \qquad (4.7.4)$$

which follows from Proposition 6.1 in [7], and relies on modified (not sharp) logarithmic Sobolev inequalities on Poisson space.

4.8 Derivation of Fock Kernels

In this section we introduce some differential operators which will used to construct other instances of operators satisfying Assumptions 3.1.1-3.4.3, namely on the Wiener space in Section 5.8 and on the Poisson space in Section 7.7, by infinitesimal time changes on the paths of the underling process. We let $C_c^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ denote the space of continuously differentiable functions with compact support in \mathbb{R}_+ .

Definition 4.8.1. We define the linear operator

$$\nabla^{\ominus}: \mathcal{S} \to L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$$

on S by

$$\nabla_t^{\ominus} I_n(f^{\otimes n}) = -nI_n((f'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\otimes (n-1)}),$$

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+, f \in \mathcal{C}^1_c(\mathbb{R}_+), n \in \mathbb{N}, and by polarization of this expression.$

The operator ∇^{\ominus} is unbounded, densely defined, and maps functionals of the *n*-th chaos \mathcal{H}_n into \mathcal{H}_n , $n \geq 1$.

For $h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, let $\stackrel{\circ}{h}$ denote the function defined by

$$\overset{\circ}{h}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} h(s) ds, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_{+}$$

Definition 4.8.2. We define the linear operator $\nabla^{\oplus} : \mathcal{U} \to L^2(\Omega)$ by

$$\nabla^{\oplus}(hI_n(f^{\otimes n})) = nI_n((f_h^{\circ})' \circ f^{\otimes (n-1)}),$$

 $f, h \in \mathcal{C}^1_c(\mathbb{R}_+)$, and extend it by linearity and polarization. Next we show that the operators ∇^{\oplus} and ∇^{\ominus} are mutually adjoint.

Proposition 4.8.3. The operators

$$\nabla^{\ominus}: \mathcal{S} \to L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$$

and

$$\nabla^{\oplus}: \mathcal{U} \to L^2(\Omega)$$

satisfy the duality relation

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\langle \nabla^{\ominus} F, u \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[F\nabla^{\oplus}(u)\right], \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}, \quad u \in \mathcal{U}.$$
(4.8.1)

Proof. By polarization, we need to prove the following. Letting $F = I_n(f^{\otimes n})$, $u = hI_n(g^{\otimes n})$ and $f, g, h \in \mathcal{C}^1_c(\mathbb{R}_+)$, we have

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[\langle \nabla^{\oplus} F, u \rangle \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\langle \nabla^{\oplus} I_{n}(f^{\otimes n}), h \rangle \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} I_{n}(g^{\otimes n}] \\ &= -n \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} I_{n}((f'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\otimes (n-1)}) I_{n}(g^{\otimes n})h(t)dt\right] \\ &= -n^{2} \langle I_{n-1}(f^{\otimes (n-1)}), I_{n-1}(g^{\otimes (n-1)}) \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})^{\circ (n-1)}} \int_{0}^{\infty} h(t) \int_{t}^{\infty} f'(s)g(s)dsdt \\ &= -n^{2}(n-1)! \langle f^{\otimes (n-1)}, g^{\otimes (n-1)} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})^{\circ (n-1)}} \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(t)g(t) \mathring{h}(t)dt \\ &= n^{2}(n-1)! \langle f^{\otimes (n-1)}, g^{\otimes (n-1)} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})^{\circ (n-1)}} \int_{0}^{\infty} f(t) (\mathring{h}g)'(t)dt \\ &= n \mathbb{E}\left[I_{n}(f^{\otimes n}) I_{n}((g^{\circ} h)' \circ g^{\otimes (n-1)})\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[I_{n}(f^{\otimes n}) \nabla^{\oplus}(hI_{n}(g^{\otimes n}))\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[F\nabla^{\oplus}(u)\right], \end{split}$$

hence Relation (4.8.1) holds.

Note that the operators ∇^{\ominus} and ∇^{\oplus} are closable from Propositions 3.1.2 and 4.8.3.

4.9 Notes and References

The terminology "Skorohod integral" is adopted in reference to [140]. The first systematic investigation of the relations between the multiple stochastic integrals with respect to normal and the associated annihilation operator and Skorohod integral appeared in [85]. Proposition 4.2.5 is also known as

the Stroock formula, cf. [142] and Relations (7.4) and (7.5), pages 26-27 of [70]. We refer to page 216 of [33], and to [72], [144], [145], for other versions of Proposition 4.5.6 in the Poisson case. In [130] a more general result is proved, and yields a decomposition the product $I_n(f_n)I_m(q_m)$ as a sum of $n \wedge m$ integral terms. Those terms are not necessarily linear combinations of multiple stochastic integrals with respect to $(M_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$, except when the bracket $d[M, M]_t$ is a linear deterministic combination of dt and dM_t , cf. [120]. Remark 4.5.7 is an extension the necessary condition for independence proved in the Wiener case in [148]. The necessary and sufficient conditions obtained in [111], [113], [145] are true only when f_n and g_m have constant signs. Necessary and sufficient condition for the independence of multiple stochastic integrals with respect to symmetric α -stable random measures with $0 < \alpha < 2$ have been obtained in [128] as a disjoint support condition on f_n and g_m . However, finding a necessary and sufficient condition two given symmetric functions f_n and g_m for the independence of $I_n(f_n)$ and $I_m(g_m)$ in the Poisson case is still an open problem. We refer to [105] for the classical Gaussian deviation inequality (4.7.2) in the case $\phi_t = 0, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, i.e. on Wiener space. The material on multidimensional stochastic integrals is taken from [73]. White noise versions of the annihilation and creation operators, as well as connections with quantum field theory can be found in [53]. The Skorohod isometry Proposition 4.3.1 has also been stated for Brownian motion on Lie groups and on Riemannian manifolds respectively in [45] and [29].

Chapter 5 Analysis on the Wiener Space

In this chapter we consider the particular case where the normal martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a standard Brownian motion. The general results stated in Chapters 3 and 4 are developed in this particular setting of a continuous martingale. Here, the gradient operator has the derivation property and can be interpreted as a derivative in the directions of Brownian paths, while the multiple stochastic integrals are connected to the Hermite polynomials. The connection is also made between the gradient and divergence operators and other transformations of Brownian motion, e.g. by time changes. We also describe in more detail the specific forms of covariance identities and deviation inequalities that can be obtained on the Wiener space and on Riemannian path space.

5.1 Multiple Wiener Integrals

In this chapter we consider in detail the particular case where $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a standard Brownian motion, i.e. $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ solves the structure equation (2.10.1) with $\phi_t = 0, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, i.e.

$$[M,M]_t = t, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

The Hermite polynomials will be used to represent the multiple Wiener integrals.

Definition 5.1.1. The Hermite polynomial $H_n(x; \sigma^2)$ of degree $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and parameter $\sigma^2 > 0$ is defined with

$$H_0(x;\sigma^2) = 1,$$
 $H_1(x;\sigma^2) = x,$ $H_2(x;\sigma^2) = x^2 - \sigma^2,$

and more generally from the recurrence relation

$$H_{n+1}(x;\sigma^2) = xH_n(x;\sigma^2) - n\sigma^2 H_{n-1}(x;\sigma^2), \qquad n \ge 1.$$
 (5.1.1)

In particular we have

$$H_n(x;0) = x^n, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The generating function of Hermite polynomials is defined as

$$\psi_{\lambda}(x,\sigma^2) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} H_n(x;\sigma^2), \quad \lambda \in (-1,1).$$

Proposition 5.1.2. The following statements hold on the Hermite polynomials:

i) Generating function:

$$\psi_{\lambda}(x,\sigma^2) = e^{\lambda x - \lambda^2 \sigma^2/2}, \quad x, \lambda \in \mathbb{R}.$$

ii) Derivation rule:

$$\frac{\partial H_n}{\partial x}(x;\sigma^2) = nH_{n-1}(x;\sigma^2), \qquad (5.1.2)$$

iii) Creation rule:

$$H_{n+1}(x;\sigma^2) = \left(x - \sigma^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right) H_n(x;\sigma^2).$$

Proof. The recurrence relation (5.1.1) shows that the generating function ψ_{λ} satisfies the differential equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \psi_{\lambda}}{\partial \lambda}(x,\sigma) = (x - \lambda \sigma^2) \psi_{\lambda}(x,\sigma^2), \\ \\ \psi_0(x,\sigma^2) = 1, \end{cases}$$

which proves (i). From the expression of the generating function we deduce (ii), and by rewriting (5.1.1) we obtain (iii).

Let

$$\phi_d^{\sigma}(s_1,\ldots,s_d) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} e^{-(s_1^2 + \cdots + s_d^2)/2}, \qquad (s_1,\ldots,s_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

denote the standard Gaussian density function with covariance $\sigma^2 Id$ on \mathbb{R}^n .

From Relation (5.1.2) we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}(\phi_1^{\sigma}(x)H_n(x;\sigma^2)) = \phi_1^{\sigma}(x)\left(\frac{\partial H_n}{\partial x}(x;\sigma^2) - \frac{x}{\sigma^2}H_n(x;\sigma^2)\right)$$

$$= -\frac{\phi_1^{\sigma}(x)}{\sigma^2}H_{n+1}(x;\sigma^2),$$

hence by induction, Proposition 5.1.2-(iii) implies

$$\sigma^{2(k_1+\dots+k_d)} \frac{(-1)^{k_1+\dots+k_d}}{\phi_d^{\sigma}(x_1,\dots,x_d)} \partial_{x_1}^{k_1} \cdots \partial_{x_d}^{k_d} \phi_d^{\sigma}(x_1,\dots,x_d) = \prod_{i=1}^d H_{k_i}(x_i;\sigma^2).$$
(5.1.3)

Let now $I_n(f_n)$ denote the multiple stochastic integral of $f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$ with respect to $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, as defined in Section 2.7.

Note that here $I_1(f)$ coincides with $J_1(f)$ defined in (2.2.2) for all $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$. In particular,

$$I_1(f) = \int_0^\infty f(t) dB_t \simeq \mathcal{N}\left(0, \int_0^\infty |f(t)|^2 dt\right)$$

has a centered Gaussian distribution with variance

$$||f||_2^2 := ||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 = \int_0^\infty |f(t)|^2 dt, \qquad f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+).$$

In addition, the multiplication formula (4.5.1) of Proposition 4.5.1 reads

$$I_{1}(u)I_{n}(v^{\otimes n}) = I_{n+1}(v^{\otimes n} \circ u) + n\langle u, v \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}I_{n-1}(v^{\otimes (n-1)})$$
(5.1.4)

for $n \ge 1$, since with $\phi_t = 0, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, and we have in particular

$$I_1(u)I_1(v) = I_2(v \circ u) + \langle u, v \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}$$

for n = 1. More generally, Relation (4.5.7) of Proposition 4.5.6 reads

$$I_n(f_n)I_m(g_m) = \sum_{s=0}^{n \wedge m} \binom{n}{s} \binom{m}{s} I_{n+m-2s}(h_{n,m,2s}),$$

where $h_{n,m,2s}$ is the symmetrization in n + m - 2s variables of

$$(x_{s+1},\ldots,x_n,y_{s+1},\ldots,y_m) \longmapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^s_+} f_n(x_1,\ldots,x_n)g_m(x_1,\ldots,x_i,y_{s+1},\ldots,y_m)dx_1\cdots dx_s.$$

Proposition 5.1.3. For any orthogonal family $\{u_1, \ldots, u_d\}$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ we have

$$I_n(u_1^{\otimes n_1} \circ \dots \circ u_d^{\otimes n_d}) = \prod_{k=1}^d H_{n_k}(I_1(u_k); ||u_k||_2^2),$$

where $n = n_1 + \dots + n_d$. Proof. We have

$$H_0(I_1(u); ||u||_2^2) = I_0(u^{\otimes 0}) = 1$$
 and $H_1(I_1(u); ||u||_2^2) = I_1(u),$

hence the proof follows by induction on $n \ge 1$, by comparison of the recurrence formula (5.1.1) with the multiplication formula (5.1.4). \Box In particular,

$$I_n\left(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}^{\otimes n}\right) = n! \int_0^t \int_0^{s_n} \cdots \int_0^{s_2} dB_{s_1} \cdots dB_{s_n} = H_n(B_t; t),$$
(5.1.5)

and from (4.5.3) we have

$$I_n \left(\mathbf{1}_{[t_0,t_1]}^{\otimes n_1} \circ \dots \circ \mathbf{1}_{[t_{d-1},t_d]}^{\otimes n_d} \right) = \prod_{k=1}^d I_{n_k} \left(\mathbf{1}_{[t_{k-1},t_k]}^{\otimes n_k} \right)$$
$$= \prod_{k=1}^d H_{n_k} (B_{t_k} - B_{t_{k-1}}; t_k - t_{k-1}).$$

From this we recover the orthonormality properties of the Hermite polynomials with respect to the Gaussian density:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H_n(x;t) H_m(x;t) e^{-x^2/(2t)} \frac{dx}{\sqrt{2\pi t}} = \mathbb{E}[H_n(B_t;t) H_m(B_t;t)]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[I_n(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}^{\otimes n}) I_m(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}^{\otimes m})]$$
$$= \mathbf{1}_{\{n=m\}} n! t^n.$$

In addition, by Lemma 2.7.2 we have

$$H_n(B_t; t) = I_n \left(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}^{\otimes n} \right)$$
$$= \mathbb{E} \left[I_n(\mathbf{1}_{[0,T]}^{\otimes n}) \middle| \mathcal{F}_t \right], \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

is a martingale which, from Itô's formula, can be written as

$$\begin{split} H_n(B_t;t) &= I_n(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}^{\otimes n}) \\ &= H_n(0;0) + \int_0^t \frac{\partial H_n}{\partial x}(B_s;s) dB_s + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \frac{\partial^2 H_n}{\partial x^2}(B_s;s) ds + \int_0^t \frac{\partial H_n}{\partial s}(B_s;s) ds \\ &= n \int_0^t I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]}^{\otimes (n-1)}) dB_s \\ &= n \int_0^t H_{n-1}(B_s;s) dB_s \end{split}$$

from Proposition 2.12.1. By identification we recover Proposition 5.1.2-(ii), i.e.

$$\frac{\partial H_n}{\partial x}(x;s) = nH_{n-1}(x;s), \qquad (5.1.6)$$

and the partial differential equation

$$\frac{\partial H_n}{\partial s}(x;s) = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 H_n}{\partial x^2}(x;s),$$

i.e the heat equation with initial condition

 $H_n(x;0) = x^n, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$

Given $f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)^{\otimes n}$ with orthogonal expansion

$$f_n = \sum_{\substack{n_1 + \dots + n_d = n \\ k_1, \dots, k_d \ge 0}} a_{k_1, \dots, k_d}^{n_1, \dots, n_d} e_{k_1}^{\otimes n_1} \circ \dots \circ e_{k_d}^{\otimes n_d},$$

in an orthonormal basis $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, we have

$$I_n(f_n) = \sum_{\substack{n_1 + \dots + n_d = n \\ k_1, \dots, k_d \ge 0}} a_{k_1, \dots, k_d}^{n_1, \dots, n_d} H_{n_1}(I_1(e_{k_1}); 1) \cdots H_{n_d}(I_1(e_{k_d}); 1),$$

where the coefficients $a_{k_1,\ldots,k_d}^{n_1,\ldots,n_d}$ are given by

$$a_{k_1,\dots,k_d}^{n_1,\dots,n_d} = \frac{1}{n_1!\cdots n_d!} \langle I_n(f_n), I_n(e_{k_1}^{\otimes n_1} \circ \cdots \circ u_{k_d}^{\otimes n_d}) \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}$$
$$= \langle f_n, e_{k_1}^{\otimes n_1} \circ \cdots \circ e_{k_d}^{\otimes n_d} \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n_+)}.$$

Proposition 2.13.1 implies the following relation for exponential vectors, that can be recovered independently using the Hermite polynomials.

Proposition 5.1.4. We have

$$\xi(u) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} I_n(u^{\otimes n}) = \exp\left(I_1(u) - \frac{1}{2} \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2\right).$$
(5.1.7)

Proof. Relation (5.1.7) follows from Proposition 5.1.2-*i*) and Proposition 5.1.3 which reads $I_n(u^{\otimes n}) = H_n(I_1(u); ||u||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2), n \ge 1.$

We refer to Section 2.8 for the notion of chaos representation property.

Proposition 5.1.5. The Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the chaos representation property.

Proof. Theorem 4.1, p. 134 of [52], shows by a Fourier transform argument that the linear space spanned by the exponential vectors

$$\left\{ \exp\left(I_1(u) - \frac{1}{2} \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 \right) : u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \right\}$$

is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$. To conclude we note that the exponential vectors belong to the closure of S in $L^2(\Omega)$.

From Proposition 5.1.5, any $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ has a chaos decomposition

$$F = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} I_k(g_k),$$

where

$$I_{k}(g_{k})$$

$$= \sum_{d=1}^{k} \sum_{k_{1}+\dots+k_{d}=k} \frac{1}{k_{1}!\cdots k_{d}!} \mathbb{E}[FI_{k}(u_{1}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \dots \circ u_{d}^{\otimes k_{d}})]I_{k}(u_{1}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \dots \circ u_{d}^{\otimes k_{d}})$$

$$= \sum_{d=1}^{k} \sum_{k_{1}+\dots+k_{d}=k} \frac{1}{k_{1}!\cdots k_{d}!} \mathbb{E}[FI_{k}(u_{1}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \dots \circ u_{d}^{\otimes k_{d}})]\prod_{i=1}^{n} H_{k_{i}}(I_{1}(u_{i}); ||u_{i}||_{2}^{2}),$$

is a finite sum since for all $m \ge 1$ and l > k,

$$\mathbb{E}[I_m(e_l^{\otimes m})g(I_1(e_1),\ldots,I_1(e_k))]=0.$$

Lemma 5.1.6. Assume that F has the form $F = g(I_1(e_1), \ldots, I_1(e_k))$ for some

$$g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^k, (2\pi)^{-k/2} \mathrm{e}^{-|x|^2/2} dx),$$

and admits the chaos expansion

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} I_n(f_n).$$

Then for all $n \geq 1$ there exists a (multivariate) Hermite polynomial P_n of degree n such that

$$I_n(f_n) = P_n(I_1(e_1), \dots, I_1(e_k)).$$

Proof. The polynomial P_n is given by (5.1.8) above, which is a finite sum.

Lemma 5.1.6 can also be recovered from the relation

$$f(I_{1}(e_{1}),\ldots,I_{1}(e_{d}))$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{k_{1}+\cdots+k_{d}=n\\k_{1}\geq0,\ldots,k_{d}\geq0}} \frac{(-1)^{n}}{k_{1}!\cdots k_{d}!} \langle f,\partial_{1}^{k_{1}}\cdots\partial_{d}^{k_{d}}\phi_{d}^{1} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} I_{n}(e_{1}^{\otimes k_{1}}\circ\cdots\circ e_{d}^{\otimes k_{d}}),$$
(5.1.9)

which follows from (5.1.6) and (5.1.3).

166 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

5.2 Gradient and Divergence Operators

In the Brownian case D has the derivation property, as an application of Proposition 4.5.2 with $\phi_t = 0, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, i.e.

$$D_t(FG) = FD_tG + GD_tF, \qquad F, G \in \mathcal{S}.$$
(5.2.1)

More precisely we have the following result.

Proposition 5.2.1. Let $u_1, \ldots, u_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ and

$$F = f(I_1(u_1), \ldots, I_1(u_n)),$$

where f is a polynomial or $f \in \mathcal{C}^1_b(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We have

$$D_t F = \sum_{i=1}^n u_i(t) \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_i} (I_1(u_1), \dots, I_1(u_n)), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$
 (5.2.2)

Proof. Using the derivation rule (5.1.2), Definition 4.1.1 and Proposition 5.1.3, this statement is obvious when

$$F = I_n(u^{\otimes n}) = H_n(I_1(u); ||u||_2^2), \qquad u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+).$$

By the product rule (5.2.1), the above relation extends to multivariate polynomials f (precisely, to linear combinations of products of Hermite polynomials), and then to $F \in S$. In the general case we may assume that $u_1, \ldots, u_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ are orthonormal, and that $f \in \mathcal{C}^1_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then from Lemma 5.1.6, we have the chaotic decomposition

$$F = f(I_1(u_1), \dots, I_1(u_n))$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} I_k(g_k),$$

where $I_k(g_k)$ is a polynomial in $I_1(u_1), \ldots, I_1(u_n)$. The sequence

$$F_k := \sum_{l=0}^k I_l(g_l), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N},$$

is a sequence of polynomial functionals contained in S and converging to F in $L^2(\Omega)$. By tensorization of the finite-dimensional integration by parts

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f'(x) H_n(x; 1) e^{-x^2/2} \frac{dx}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$$

=
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x) (x H_n(x; 1) - H'_n(x; 1)) e^{-x^2/2} \frac{dx}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x)(xH_n(x;1) - nH_{n-1}(x;1))e^{-x^2/2}\frac{dx}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$$
$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x)H_{n+1}(x;1)e^{-x^2/2}\frac{dx}{\sqrt{2\pi}},$$

we get

$$\mathbb{E}\left[I_{k}(u_{1}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ u_{n}^{\otimes k_{n}})\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{i}}(I_{1}(u_{1}),\ldots,I_{1}(u_{n}))\right]$$

= $\mathbb{E}[f(I_{1}(u_{1}),\ldots,I_{1}(u_{n}))I_{k+1}(u_{1}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ u_{n}^{\otimes k_{n}} \circ u_{i})]$
= $\mathbb{E}[I_{k+1}(g_{k+1})I_{k+1}(u_{1}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ u_{n}^{\otimes k_{n}} \circ u_{i})]$
= $\mathbb{E}[\langle DI_{k+1}(g_{k+1}),u_{i}\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}I_{k}(u_{1}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ u_{n}^{\otimes k_{n}})].$

This shows that $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_i}(I_1(u_1),\ldots,I_1(u_n))$ has the chaotic decomposition

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_i}(I_1(u_1),\ldots,I_1(u_n)) = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \langle DI_l(g_l),u_i \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)},$$

where the series converges in $L^2(\Omega)$, hence

$$DF_k = \sum_{i=1}^n u_i \sum_{l=1}^k \langle DI_l(g_l), u_i \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}$$

converges in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ to

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_i} (I_1(u_1), \dots, I_1(u_n)) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \langle DI_k(g_k), u_i \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} DI_k(g_k).$$

In particular, for f polynomial and for $f\in \mathcal{C}^1_b(\mathbb{R}^n)$ we have

$$D_t f(B_{t_1}, \dots, B_{t_n}) = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbf{1}_{[0, t_i]}(t) \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_i}(B_{t_1}, \dots, B_{t_n}), \qquad 0 \le t_1 < \dots < t_n,$$
(5.2.3)

and (5.2.2) can also be written as

$$\langle DF, h \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}$$

$$= \frac{d}{d\varepsilon} f \left(\int_0^\infty u_1(t) (dB(t) + \varepsilon h(t) dt), \dots, \int_0^\infty u_n(t) (dB(t) + \varepsilon h(t) dt) \right)_{|\varepsilon=0},$$

$$(5.2.4)$$

168 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

Q

$$= \frac{d}{d\varepsilon} F(\omega + \epsilon h)_{|\varepsilon=0},$$

 $h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, where the limit exists in $L^2(\Omega)$. We refer to the above identity as the *probabilistic interpretation* of the gradient operator D on the Wiener space.

From Proposition 4.2.3, the operator D satisfies the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1.

Corollary 5.2.2. For all $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ we have

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] dB_t.$$

Moreover, since $\phi_t = 0, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, Proposition 4.5.4 becomes a divergence formula as in the next proposition.

Proposition 5.2.3. For all $u \in U$ and $F \in S$ we have

$$\delta(u)F = \delta(uF) + \langle DF, u \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}.$$

On the other hand, applying Proposition 4.5.6 yields the following multiplication formula for Wiener multiple stochastic integrals:

$$I_n(f_n)I_m(g_m) = \sum_{k=0}^{n \wedge m} k! \binom{n}{k} \binom{m}{k} I_{n+m-2k}(f_n \circ_k g_m),$$

where $f_n \circ_k g_m$ is the symmetrization in n+m-2k variables of the contraction

$$(t_{k+1},\ldots,t_n,s_{k+1},\ldots,s_m) \longmapsto \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty f_n(t_1,\ldots,t_n)g_m(t_1,\ldots,t_k,s_{k+1},\ldots,s_m)dt_1\ldots dt_k,$$

$$t_{k+1},\ldots,t_n,s_{k+1},\ldots,s_m \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

From Proposition 4.3.4, the Skorohod integral $\delta(u)$ coincides with the Itô integral of $u \in L^2(W; H)$ with respect to Brownian motion, i.e.

$$\delta(u) = \int_0^\infty u_t dB_t,$$

when u is square-integrable and adapted with respect to the Brownian filtration $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$.

We have the following corollary, that completes Proposition 4.2.2 and can be proved using the density property of smooth functions in finite-dimensional Sobolev spaces, cf. e.g. Lemma 1.2 of [95] or [100].

For simplicity we work with a Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ on [0,1] and we assume that $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is the dyadic basis of $L^2([0,1])$ given by

$$e_k = 2^{n/2} \mathbf{1}_{\left[\frac{k-2^n}{2^n}, \frac{k+1-2^n}{2^n}\right]}, \qquad 2^n \le k \le 2^{n+1} - 1, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(5.2.5)

Corollary 5.2.4. Given $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ define the σ -algebra

$$\mathcal{G}_n = \sigma(I_1(e_{2^n}), \dots, I_1(e_{2^{n+1}-1})),$$

let $F_n = \mathbb{E}[F|\mathcal{G}_n]$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and consider f_n a square-integrable function with respect to the standard Gaussian measure on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} , such that

$$F_n = f_n(I_1(e_{2^n}), \dots, I_1(e_{2^{n+1}-1})).$$

Then $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ if and only if f_n belongs for all $n \ge 1$ to the Sobolev space $W^{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^{2^n})$ with respect to the standard Gaussian measure on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} , and the sequence

$$D_t F_n := \sum_{i=1}^{2^n} e_{2^n + i - 1}(t) \frac{\partial f_n}{\partial x_i} (I_1(e_{2^n}), \dots, I_1(e_{2^{n+1} - 1})), \qquad t \in [0, 1],$$

converges in $L^2(\Omega \times [0,1])$. In this case we have

$$DF = \lim_{n \to \infty} DF_n.$$

We close this section by considering the case of a *d*-dimensional Brownian motion $(B_t)_{0 \le t \le T} = (B_t^{(1)}, \ldots, B_t^{(d)})_{0 \le t \le T}$, where $(B_t^{(1)})_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}, \ldots, (B_t^{(d)})_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, are independent copies of Brownian motion. In this case the gradient D can be defined with values in $H = L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, X \otimes \mathbb{R}^d)$, where X is a Hilbert space, by

$$D_t F = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbf{1}_{[0,t_i]}(t) \nabla_i f(B_{t_1}, \dots, B_{t_n}), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,,$$

for F of the form

$$F = f(B_{t_1}, \dots, B_{t_n}), \tag{5.2.6}$$

 $f \in \mathcal{C}_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, X), t_1, \dots, t_n \in \mathbb{R}_+, n \ge 1.$

We let $I\!\!D_{p,k}(X)$ denote the completion of the space of smooth X-valued random variables under the norm

$$||u||_{D_{p,k}(X)} = \sum_{l=0}^{k} ||D^{l}u||_{L^{p}(W,X\otimes H^{\otimes l})}, \quad p>1,$$

where $X \otimes H$ denotes the completed symmetric tensor product of X and H. For all p, q > 1 such that $p^{-1} + q^{-1} = 1$ and $k \ge 1$, the Skorohod integral

operator

$$\delta: I\!\!D_{p,k}(X \otimes H) \to I\!\!D_{q,k-1}(X)$$

adjoint of

$$D: I\!\!D_{p,k}(X) \to I\!\!D_{q,k-1}(X \otimes H),$$

satisfies

$$E[\langle F, \delta(u) \rangle_X] = E[\langle DF, u \rangle_{X \otimes H}],$$

$$F \in I\!\!D_{p,k}(X), \, u \in I\!\!D_{q,k}(X \otimes H)$$

Finally we note that the chaos representation property extends to d-dimensional Brownian motion.

Theorem 5.2.5. For any $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ there exists a unique sequence $(f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of deterministic symmetric functions

$$f_n = (f_n^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)})_{i_1,\dots,i_n \in \{1,\dots,d\}} \in L^2([0,T],\mathbb{R}^d)^{\circ n}$$

such that

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} I_n(f_n).$$

 $Moreover \ we \ have$

$$\|F\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i_{1},\dots,i_{n}=1}^{d} n! \|f_{n}^{(i_{1},\dots,i_{n})}\|_{L^{2}([0,T]^{n})}^{2}$$

Given $F = f(B_{t_1}, \ldots, B_{t_n}) \in L^2(\Omega)$ where $(t_1, \ldots, t_n) \in [0, T]^n$ and

$$f(x^{1,1}, \dots, x^{d,1}, \dots, x^{1,n}, \dots, x^{d,n})$$

is in $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{b}(\mathbb{R}^{dn})$, for $l = 1, \ldots, d$ we have:

$$D_t^{(l)}F = \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^{l,k}} \left(B_{t_1}, \dots, B_{t_n} \right) \mathbf{1}_{[0,t_k]}(t).$$

Similarly the Clark formula of Corollary 5.2.2 extends to the *d*-dimensional case as c^{∞}

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] \cdot dB_t, \qquad (5.2.7)$$

 $F \in L^2(\Omega).$

5.3 Ornstein-Uhlenbeck Semi-Group

Recall the Definition 4.4.1 of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group $(P_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ as

$$P_t F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e^{-nt} I_n(f_n), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(5.3.1)

for any $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ with the chaos representation

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} I_n(f_n).$$

In this section we show that on the Wiener space, P_t admits the integral representation, known as the Mehler formula,

$$P_t F(\omega) = \int_{\Omega} F(\mathrm{e}^{-t}\omega + \sqrt{1 - \mathrm{e}^{-2t}}\tilde{\omega}) d\mathbb{P}(\tilde{\omega}), \qquad \mathbb{P}(d\omega) - a.s., \qquad (5.3.2)$$

 $F \in L^2(\Omega), t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, cf. e.g. [96], [147], [151]. Precisely we have the following. Lemma 5.3.1. Let F of the form

$$F = f(I_1(u_1), \ldots, I_1(u_n)),$$

where $f \in \mathcal{C}_b(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $u_1, \ldots, u_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ are mutually orthogonal. For all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ we have:

$$P_t F(\omega) = \int_{\Omega} f(\mathrm{e}^{-t} I_1(u_1)(\omega) + \sqrt{1 - \mathrm{e}^{-2t}} I_1(u_1)(\tilde{\omega}), \dots$$
$$\dots, \mathrm{e}^{-t} I_1(u_n)(\omega) + \sqrt{1 - \mathrm{e}^{-2t}} I_1(u_n)(\tilde{\omega})) \mathbb{P}(d\tilde{\omega}).$$

Proof. Since, by Proposition 5.1.5, the exponential vectors are total in $L^2(\Omega)$ and P_t is continuous on $L^2(\Omega)$, it suffices to consider

$$f_u(x) = \exp\left(x - \frac{1}{2} ||u||_2^2\right),$$

and to note that by Proposition 5.1.4 we have

$$\xi(f_u) = \exp\left(I_1(u) - \frac{1}{2} ||u||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} H_n(I_1(u); ||u||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)})$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} I_n(u^{\otimes n}).$$

Hence

$$P_t\xi(f_u) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-nt}}{n!} I_n(u^{\otimes n})$$
$$= \exp\left(e^{-t}I_1(u) - \frac{1}{2}e^{-2t} \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2\right),\,$$

and

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} f_u(\mathrm{e}^{-t}I_1(u)(\omega) + \sqrt{1 - \mathrm{e}^{-2t}}I_1(u)(\tilde{\omega}))\mathbb{P}(d\tilde{\omega}) \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(\mathrm{e}^{-t}I_1(u)(\omega) + \sqrt{1 - \mathrm{e}^{-2t}}y - \frac{1}{2}\|u\|_2^2 - \frac{y^2}{2\|u\|_2^2}\right)\frac{dy}{\sqrt{2\pi}\|u\|_2} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(\mathrm{e}^{-t}I_1(u)(\omega) - \frac{1}{2}\|\mathrm{e}^{-t}u\|_2^2 - \frac{(y - \sqrt{1 - \mathrm{e}^{-2t}}\|u\|_2^2)^2}{2\|u\|_2^2}\right)\frac{dy}{\sqrt{2\pi}\|u\|_2} \\ &= \exp\left(\mathrm{e}^{-t}I_1(u)(\omega) - \frac{1}{2}\|\mathrm{e}^{-t}u\|_2^2\right) \\ &= P_t f_u(I_1(u))(\omega). \end{split}$$

The result is extended by density of the exponential vectors in $L^2(\Omega)$ since Brownian motion has the chaos representation property from Proposition 5.2.5.

Lemma 5.3.1 implies the following bound which is used in the proof of deviation inequalities in Section 4.7, cf. Lemma 4.7.1.

Lemma 5.3.2. We have for $u \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$:

$$||P_t u||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))} \le ||u||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Proof. Using the integral representation of Lemma 5.3.1 together with Jensen's inequality (9.3.1) we have

$$|P_s u(\omega)||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} = \int_0^\infty |P_s u_t(\omega)|^2 dt$$

$$\leq \int_0^\infty P_s |u_t(\omega)|^2 dt$$

$$\leq ||u||^2_{L^\infty(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}.$$

	_	

5.4 Covariance Identities and Inequalities

In this section we present some covariance identities and inequalities that can be obtained in the particular setting of the Wiener space, in addition to the general results of Section 3.4, 3.5 and 4.4, and to the logarithmic Sobolev inequality (3.5.4).

We consider the order relation introduced in [12] when $\Omega = C_0(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is the space of continuous functions on \mathbb{R}_+ starting at 0.

Definition 5.4.1. Given $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in \Omega$, we say that $\omega_1 \preceq \omega_2$ if and only if we have

$$\omega_1(t_2) - \omega_1(t_1) \le \omega_2(t_2) - \omega_2(t_1), \qquad 0 \le t_1 \le t_2.$$

The class of non-decreasing functionals with respect to \preceq is larger than that of non-decreasing functionals with respect to the pointwise order on Ω defined by

$$\omega_1(t) \le \omega_2(t), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad \omega_1, \omega_2 \in \Omega.$$

Definition 5.4.2. A random variable $F : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be non-decreasing *if*

$$\omega_1 \preceq \omega_2 \Rightarrow F(\omega_1) \leq F(\omega_2), \qquad \mathbb{P}(d\omega_1) \otimes \mathbb{P}(d\omega_2) - a.s.$$

The next result is the FKG inequality on the Wiener space. It recovers Theorem 4 of [12] under weaker (i.e. almost-sure) hypotheses.

Theorem 5.4.3. For any non-decreasing functionals $F, G \in L^2(\Omega)$ we have

$$\operatorname{Cov}(F,G) \ge 0.$$

The proof of this result is a direct consequence of Lemma 3.4.2 and the next lemma.

Lemma 5.4.4. For every non-decreasing $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ we have

$$D_t F \ge 0, \qquad dt \times d\mathbb{P} - a.e.$$

Proof. Without loss of generality we state the proof for a Brownian motion on the interval [0, 1]. Let

$$H = \left\{ h: [0,1] \to \mathbb{R} : \int_0^1 |\dot{h}(s)|^2 ds < \infty \right\}$$

denote the Cameron-Martin space, i.e. the space of absolutely continuous functions with square-integrable derivative.

For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let π_n denotes the orthogonal projection from $L^2([0,1])$ onto the linear space generated by the sequence $(e_k)_{2^n \leq k < 2^{n+1}}$ introduced in (5.2.5). Given $h \in H$, let

$$h_n(t) = \int_0^t [\pi_n \dot{h}](s) ds, \qquad t \in [0, 1], \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Let Λ_n denote the square-integrable and \mathcal{G}_n -measurable random variable

$$\Lambda_n = \exp\left(\int_0^1 [\pi_n \dot{h}](s) dB_s - \frac{1}{2} \int_0^1 |[\pi_n \dot{h}](s)|^2 ds\right),\,$$

where \mathcal{G}_n is defined in Corollary 5.2.4. Letting $F_n = \mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{G}_n], n \in \mathbb{N}$, a suitable change of variable on \mathbb{R}^n with respect to the standard Gaussian density (or an application of the Cameron-Martin theorem cf. e.g. [150]) shows that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and \mathcal{G}_n -measurable bounded random variable \mathcal{G}_n shows that

$$\mathbb{E}[F_n(\cdot + h_n)G_n] = \mathbb{E}[\Lambda_n F_n G_n(\cdot - h_n)]$$

= $\mathbb{E}[\Lambda_n \mathbb{E}[F|\mathcal{G}_n]G_n(\cdot - h_n)]$
= $\mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[\Lambda_n F G_n(\cdot - h_n)|\mathcal{G}_n]]$
= $\mathbb{E}[\Lambda_n F G_n(\cdot - h_n)]$
= $\mathbb{E}[F(\cdot + h_n)G_n],$

hence

$$F_n(\omega + h_n) = \mathbb{E}[F(\cdot + h_n)|\mathcal{G}_n](\omega), \qquad \mathbb{P}(d\omega) - a.s.$$

If \dot{h} is non-negative, then $\pi_n \dot{h}$ is non-negative by construction hence $\omega \leq \omega + h_n, \ \omega \in \Omega$, and we have

$$F(\omega) \le F(\omega + h_n), \qquad \mathbb{P}(d\omega) - a.s.,$$

since from the Cameron-Martin theorem, $\mathbb{P}(\{\omega + h_n : \omega \in \Omega\}) = 1$. Hence we have

$$\begin{split} F_{n}(\omega+h) &= f_{n}(I_{1}(e_{2^{n}}) + \langle e_{2^{n}}, \dot{h} \rangle_{L^{2}([0,1])}, \dots, I_{1}(e_{2^{n+1}-1}) + \langle e_{2^{n+1}-1}, \dot{h} \rangle_{L^{2}([0,1])}) \\ &= f_{n}(I_{1}(e_{2^{n}}) + \langle e_{2^{n}}, \pi_{n}\dot{h} \rangle_{L^{2}([0,1])}, \dots, I_{1}(e_{2^{n+1}-1}) + \langle e_{2^{n+1}-1}, \pi_{n}\dot{h} \rangle_{L^{2}([0,1])}) \\ &= F_{n}(\omega+h_{n}) \\ &= \mathbb{E}[F(\cdot+h_{n})|\mathcal{G}_{n}](\omega) \\ &\geq \mathbb{E}[F|\mathcal{G}_{n}](\omega) \\ &= F_{n}(\omega), \qquad \mathbb{P}(d\omega) - a.s., \end{split}$$

where $(e_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is the dyadic basis defined in (5.2.5). Consequently, for any $\varepsilon_1 \leq \varepsilon_2$ and $h \in H$ such that \dot{h} is non-negative we have

$$F_n(\omega + \varepsilon_1 h) \le F_n(\omega + \varepsilon_2 h),$$

i.e. the smooth function $\varepsilon \longmapsto F_n(\omega + \varepsilon h)$ is non-decreasing in ε on [-1, 1], $\mathbb{P}(d\omega)$ -a.s. As a consequence,

$$\langle DF_n, \dot{h} \rangle_{L^2([0,1])} = \frac{d}{d\varepsilon} F_n(\omega + \epsilon h)_{|\varepsilon=0} \ge 0,$$

for all $h \in H$ such that $\dot{h} \ge 0$, hence $DF_n \ge 0$. Taking the limit of $(DF_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ as n goes to infinity shows that $DF \ge 0$.

Next, we extend Lemma 5.4.4 to $F \in L^2(\Omega)$.

Proposition 5.4.5. For any non-decreasing functional $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] \ge 0, \qquad dt \times d\mathbb{P} - a.e.$$

Proof. Assume that $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ is non-decreasing. Then $P_{1/n}F$, $n \geq 1$, is non-decreasing from (5.3.2), and belongs to Dom (D) from Relation (5.3.1). From Lemma 5.4.4 we have

$$D_t P_{1/n} F \ge 0, \qquad dt \times d\mathbb{P} - a.e.,$$

hence

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t P_{1/n} F | \mathcal{F}_t] \ge 0, \qquad dt \times d\mathbb{P} - a.e.$$

Taking the limit as n goes to infinity yields $\mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] \ge 0$, $dt \times d\mathbb{P}$ -a.e. from Proposition 3.2.6 and the fact that $P_{1/n}F$ converges to F in $L^2(\Omega)$ as n goes to infinity.

Finally, using the change of variable $\alpha = e^{-t}$, the covariance identity (4.4.2) can be rewritten with help of Lemma 5.3.1 as

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla f(I_{1}(u_{1}),\ldots,I_{1}(u_{n}))(\omega), \nabla g(\alpha I_{1}(u_{1})(\omega) + \sqrt{1-\alpha^{2}}I_{1}(u_{1})(\tilde{\omega}), \\ &\ldots, \alpha I_{1}(u_{n})(\omega) + \sqrt{1-\alpha^{2}}I_{1}(u_{n})(\tilde{\omega})) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \mathbb{P}(d\tilde{\omega}) d\alpha. \end{aligned}$$

This identity can be recovered using characteristic function: letting

$$\varphi(t) = \mathbb{E}[e^{itI_1(u)}] = e^{-t^2 ||u||_2^2/2}$$

and

$$\varphi_{\alpha}(s,t) := \mathbb{E}[\mathrm{e}^{is\alpha I_1(u)(\omega) + it\sqrt{1-\alpha^2}I_1(u)(\tilde{\omega})}] = (\varphi(s+t))^{\alpha}(\varphi(s))^{1-\alpha}(\varphi(t))^{1-\alpha},$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Var}\left[\mathrm{e}^{isI_{1}(u)}\right] &= \varphi_{1}(s,t) - \varphi_{0}(s,t) \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial \varphi_{\alpha}}{\partial \alpha}(s,t) d\alpha \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha}((\varphi(t))^{1-\alpha}(\varphi(t+s))^{\alpha}(\varphi(s))^{1-\alpha}) d\alpha \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \log\left(\frac{\varphi(s+t)}{\varphi(s)\varphi(t)}\right) \varphi_{\alpha}(s,t) d\alpha \\ &= -st \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2} \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{\alpha}(s,t) d\alpha \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} \langle \mathrm{De}^{isI_{1}(u)}(\omega), \mathrm{De}^{itI_{1}(u)}(\alpha\omega + \sqrt{1-\alpha^{2}}\tilde{\omega})) \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \mathbb{P}(d\tilde{\omega}) d\alpha, \end{aligned}$$

hence

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(\mathrm{e}^{isI_{1}(u)}, \mathrm{e}^{isI_{1}(v)}\right) = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} \langle D \mathrm{e}^{isI_{1}(u)}(\omega), D \mathrm{e}^{itI_{1}(v)}(\alpha\omega + \sqrt{1 - \alpha^{2}}\tilde{\omega})) \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \mathbb{P}(d\tilde{\omega}) d\alpha.$$

Since D is a derivation operator from Proposition 5.2.1, the deviation results of Proposition 3.6.1 hold, i.e. for any $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ such that $\|DF\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, L^{\infty}(\Omega))} \leq C$ for some C > 0 we have

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2C\|DF\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, L^{\infty}(\Omega))}}\right), \qquad x \ge 0.$$

5.5 Moment identities for Skorohod integrals

In this section we prove a moment identity that extends the Skorohod isometry to arbitrary powers of the Skorohod integral on the Wiener space. As simple consequences of this identity we obtain sufficient conditions for the Gaussianity of the law of the Skorohod integral and a recurrence relation for the moments of second order Wiener integrals.

Here, $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a standard \mathbb{R}^d -valued Brownian motion on the Wiener space (W, μ) with $W = \mathcal{C}_0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^d)$.

Each element of $X\otimes H$ is naturally identified to a linear operator from H to X via

$$(a \otimes b)c = a\langle b, c \rangle, \qquad a \otimes b \in X \otimes H, \quad c \in H.$$

For $u \in \mathbb{D}_{2,1}(H)$ we identify $Du = (D_t u_s)_{s,t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ to the random operator $Du : H \to H$ almost surely defined by

$$(Du)v(s) = \int_0^\infty (D_t u_s)v_t dt, \quad s \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad v \in L^2(W; H),$$

and define its adjoint D^*u on $H \otimes H$ as

$$(D^*u)v(s) = \int_0^\infty (D_s^{\dagger}u_t)v_t dt, \qquad s \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad v \in L^2(W; H),$$

where $D_s^{\dagger} u_t$ denotes the transpose matrix of $D_s u_t$ in $\mathbb{R}^d \otimes \mathbb{R}^d$.

The Skorohod isometry of Proposition 4.3.1 reads

$$\mathbb{E}[|\delta(u)|^2] = \mathbb{E}[\langle u, u \rangle_H] + \mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{trace}\left(Du\right)^2\right], \qquad u \in \mathbb{D}_{2,1}(H), \qquad (5.5.1)$$

with

trace
$$(Du)^2 = \langle Du, D^*u \rangle_{H \otimes H}$$

$$=\int_0^\infty\int_0^\infty \langle D_s u_t, D_t^\dagger u_s\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^d\otimes\mathbb{R}^d} ds dt,$$

and the commutation relation

$$D\delta(u) = u + \delta(D^*u), \qquad u \in \mathbb{D}_{2,2}(H).$$
 (5.5.2)

Next we state a moment identity for Skorohod integrals.

Theorem 5.5.1. For any $n \ge 1$ and $u \in \mathbb{D}_{n+1,2}(H)$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[(\delta(u))^{n+1}] = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{n!}{(n-k)!} \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k}\right]$$
(5.5.3)

$$\left(\langle (Du)^{k-1}u, u \rangle_H + \operatorname{trace} (Du)^{k+1} + \sum_{i=2}^k \frac{1}{i} \langle (Du)^{k-i}u, D\operatorname{trace} (Du)^i \rangle_H \right) \right],$$

where

trace
$$(Du)^{k+1}$$

= $\int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty \langle D_{t_{k-1}}^\dagger u_{t_k}, D_{t_{k-2}} u_{t_{k-1}} \cdots D_{t_0} u_{t_1} D_{t_k} u_{t_0} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^d \otimes \mathbb{R}^d} dt_0 \cdots dt_k.$

For n = 1 the above identity coincides with the Skorohod isometry (5.5.1). The proof of Theorem 5.5.1 will be given at the end of this section.

In particular we obtain the following immediate consequence of Theorem 5.5.1. Recall that trace $(Du)^k = 0, k \ge 2$, when the process u is adapted with respect to the Brownian filtration.

Corollary 5.5.2. Let $n \ge 1$ and $u \in \mathbb{D}_{n+1,2}(H)$ such that $\langle u, u \rangle_H$ is deterministic and

trace
$$(Du)^{k+1} + \sum_{i=2}^{k} \frac{1}{i} \langle (Du)^{k-i}u, D \text{trace} (Du)^{i} \rangle_{H} = 0, \quad a.s., \qquad 1 \le k \le n.$$

(5.5.4)

Then $\delta(u)$ has the same first n + 1 moments as the centered Gaussian distribution with variance $\langle u, u \rangle_H$.

Proof. We have

$$\begin{split} D_t \langle u, u \rangle &= D_t \int_0^\infty \langle u_s, u_s \rangle ds \\ &= \int_0^\infty \langle u_s, D_t u_s \rangle ds + \int_0^\infty \langle D_t u_s, u_s \rangle ds \\ &= 2 \int_0^\infty \langle D_t^{\dagger} u_s, u_s \rangle ds \\ &= 2 (D^* u) u, \end{split}$$

shows that

$$\langle (D^{k-1}u)u, u \rangle = \langle (D^*u)^{k-1}u, u \rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \langle u, (D^*)^{k-2}D \langle u, u \rangle \rangle$$

$$= 0,$$
(5.5.5)

 $k \geq 2$, when $\langle u, u \rangle$ is deterministic, $u \in ID_{2,1}(H)$. Hence under Condition (5.5.4), Theorem 5.5.1 yields

$$\mathbb{E}[(\delta(u))^{n+1}] = n \langle u, u \rangle_H \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-1} \right],$$

and by induction

$$\mathbb{E}[(\delta(u))^{2m}] = \frac{(2m)!}{2^m m!} \langle u, u \rangle_H^m, \qquad 0 \le 2m \le n+1,$$

and $\mathbb{E}[(\delta(u))^{2m+1}] = 0, 0 \le 2m \le n$, while $\mathbb{E}[\delta(u)] = 0$ for all $u \in \mathbb{D}_{2,1}(H)$.

As a consequence of Corollary 5.5.2 we recover Theorem 2.1-b) of [149], i.e. $\delta(Rh)$ has a centered Gaussian distribution with variance $\langle h, h \rangle_H$ when u = Rh, $h \in H$, and R is a random mapping with values in the isometries of H, such that $Rh \in \bigcap_{p>1} \mathbb{D}_{p,2}(H)$ and trace $(DRh)^{k+1} = 0$, $k \geq 1$. Note that in [149] the condition $Rh \in \bigcap_{p>1,k\geq 2} \mathbb{D}_{p,k}(H)$ is assumed instead of $Rh \in \bigcap_{p>1} \mathbb{D}_{p,2}(H)$.

In the sequel, all scalar products will be simply denoted by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$. We will need the following lemma.

Lemma 5.5.3. Let $n \ge 1$ and $u \in \mathbb{D}_{n+1,2}(H)$. Then for all $1 \le k \le n$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\delta(u)\right)^{n-k}\langle (Du)^{k-1}u, D\delta(u)\rangle\right] - (n-k)\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\delta(u)\right)^{n-k-1}\langle (Du)^{k}u, D\delta(u)\rangle\right] \\
= \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\delta(u)\right)^{n-k} \\
\left(\langle (Du)^{k-1}u, u\rangle + \operatorname{trace}\left(Du\right)^{k+1} + \sum_{i=2}^{k}\frac{1}{i}\langle (Du)^{k-i}u, D\operatorname{trace}\left(Du\right)^{i}\rangle\right)\right].$$

Proof. We have $(Du)^{k-1}u \in \mathbb{D}_{(n+1)/k,1}(H)$, $\delta(u) \in \mathbb{D}_{(n+1)/(n-k+1),1}(\mathbb{R})$, and using Relation (5.5.2) we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k}\langle (Du)^{k-1}u, D\delta(u)\rangle\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k}\langle (Du)^{k-1}u, u+\delta(D^*u)\rangle\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k}\langle (Du)^{k-1}u, u\rangle\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k}\langle (Du)^{k-1}u, \delta(Du)\rangle\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k}\langle (Du)^{k-1}u, u\rangle\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\langle D^*u, D((\delta(u))^{n-k}(Du)^{k-1}u)\rangle\right] \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k} \langle (Du)^{k-1}u, u \rangle \right] + \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k} \langle D^*u, D((Du)^{k-1}u) \rangle \right] \\ &+ \mathbb{E}\left[\langle D^*u, ((Du)^{k-1}u) \otimes D(\delta(u))^{n-k} \rangle \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k} \left(\langle (Du)^{k-1}u, u \rangle + \langle D^*u, D((Du)^{k-1}u) \rangle \right) \right] \\ &+ (n-k) \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k-1} \langle D^*u, ((Du)^{k-1}u) \otimes D\delta(u) \rangle \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k} \left(\langle (Du)^{k-1}u, u \rangle + \langle D^*u, D((Du)^{k-1}u) \rangle \right) \right] \\ &+ (n-k) \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k-1} \langle (Du)^k u, D\delta(u) \rangle \right]. \end{split}$$

Next,

$$\begin{split} \langle D^*u, D((Du)^{k-1}u) \rangle \\ &= \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty \langle D_{t_{k-1}}^\dagger u_{t_k}, D_{t_k}(D_{t_{k-2}}u_{t_{k-1}}\cdots D_{t_0}u_{t_1}u_{t_0}) \rangle dt_0 \cdots dt_k \\ &= \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty \langle D_{t_{k-1}}^\dagger u_{t_k}, D_{t_{k-2}}u_{t_{k-1}}\cdots D_{t_0}u_{t_1}D_{t_k}u_{t_0} \rangle dt_0 \cdots dt_k \\ &+ \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty \langle D_{t_{k-1}}^\dagger u_{t_k}, D_{t_k}(D_{t_{k-2}}u_{t_{k-1}}\cdots D_{t_0}u_{t_1})u_{t_0} \rangle dt_0 \cdots dt_k \\ &= \operatorname{trace} (Du)^{k+1} + \sum_{i=0}^{k-2} \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty \\ &\quad \langle D_{t_{k-1}}^\dagger u_{t_k}, D_{t_k}u_{t_{k+1}}\cdots D_{t_{i+1}}u_{t_{i+2}}(D_{t_i}D_{t_k}u_{t_{i+1}})D_{t_{i-1}}u_{t_i}\cdots D_{t_0}u_{t_1}u_{t_0} \rangle \\ &\quad dt_0 \cdots dt_k \\ &= \operatorname{trace} (Du)^{k+1} + \sum_{i=0}^{k-2} \frac{1}{k-i} \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty \\ &\quad \langle D_{t_i} \langle D_{t_{k-1}}^\dagger u_{t_k}, D_{t_k}u_{t_{k+1}}\cdots D_{t_{i+1}}u_{t_{i+2}}D_{t_k}u_{t_{i+1}} \rangle, D_{t_{i-1}}u_{t_i}\cdots D_{t_0}u_{t_1}u_{t_0} \rangle \\ &\quad dt_0 \cdots dt_k \\ &= \operatorname{trace} (Du)^{k+1} + \sum_{i=0}^{k-2} \frac{1}{k-i} \langle (Du)^i u, D\operatorname{trace} (Du)^{k-i} \rangle. \end{split}$$

Proof of Theorem 5.5.1. We decompose

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}[(\delta(u))^{n+1}] = \mathbb{E}[\langle u, D(\delta(u))^n \rangle] \\ &= n \mathbb{E}[(\delta(u))^{n-1} \langle u, D\delta(u) \rangle] \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{n!}{(n-k)!} \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k} \langle (Du)^{k-1} u, D\delta(u) \rangle \right] \\ &\quad - \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{n!}{(n-k)!} (n-k) \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta(u))^{n-k-1} \langle (Du)^k u, D\delta(u) \rangle \right], \end{split}$$

as a telescoping sum and then apply Lemma 5.5.3, which yields (5.5.3). \Box

5.6 Differential Calculus on Random Morphisms

In this section, in addition to the shift of Brownian paths by absolutely continuous functions as in (5.2.4), we consider a general class of transformations of Brownian motion and its associated differential calculus. The main result Corollary 5.6.5 of this section will be applied in Section 5.7 to construct another example of a gradient operator satisfying the assumptions of Chapter 3. Here we work with a *d*-dimensional Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ as in Section 2.14. Let

$$U: \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$$

be a random linear operator such that $Uf \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ is adapted for all f in a space $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ of functions dense in $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$.

The operator U is extended by linearity to the algebraic tensor product $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+;\mathbb{R}^d)\otimes\mathcal{S}$, in this case Uf is not necessarily adapted if $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+;\mathbb{R}^d)\otimes\mathcal{S}$.

Definition 5.6.1. Let $(h(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ be a square-integrable process, and let the transformation

$$\Lambda(U,h): \mathcal{S} \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$$

be defined as

$$\Lambda(U,h)F = f\left(I_1(Uu_1) + \int_0^\infty \langle u_1(t), h(t) \rangle dt, \dots, I_1(Uu_n) + \int_0^\infty \langle u_n(t), h(t) \rangle dt\right),$$

for $F \in S$ of the form

$$F = f(I_1(u_1), \ldots, I_1(u_n)),$$

 $u_1,\ldots,u_n\in\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+;\mathbb{R}^d),\ f\in\mathcal{C}_b^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{R}).$

In the particular case where

$$U: \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$$

is given as

$$[Uf](t) = V(t)f(t), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

by an adapted family of random endomorphisms

$$V(t): \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

this definition states that $\Lambda(U,h)F$ is the evaluation of F on the perturbed process of differential $V^*(t)dB(t) + h(t)dt$ instead of dB(t), where

$$V^*(t): \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d$$

denotes the dual of $V(t) : \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

We are going to define $\Lambda(U,h)$ on the space S of smooth functionals. For this we need to show that the definition of $\Lambda(U,h)F$ is independent of the particular representation

$$F = f(I_1(u_1), \dots, I_1(u_n)), \qquad u_1, \dots, u_n \in H,$$

chosen for $F \in \mathcal{S}$.

Lemma 5.6.2. Let $F, G \in S$ be written as

$$F = f(I_1(u_1), \dots, I_1(u_n)), \qquad u_1, \dots, u_n \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d), \quad f \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R}),$$

and

$$G = g(I_1(v_1), \dots, I_1(v_m)), \qquad v_1, \dots, v_m \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d), \quad g \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}^m; \mathbb{R}).$$

If $F = G \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. then $\Lambda(U, h)F = \Lambda(U, h)G, \mathbb{P}$ -a.s.

Proof. Let $e_1, \ldots, e_k \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ be orthonormal vectors that generate $u_1, \ldots, u_n, v_1, \ldots, v_m$. Assume that u_i and v_i are written as

$$u_i = \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_i^j e_j$$
 and $v_i = \sum_{j=1}^k \beta_i^j e_j$, $i = 1, ..., n$,

in the basis e_1, \ldots, e_k . Then F and G are also represented as

 $F = \tilde{f}(I_1(e_1), \ldots, I_1(e_k)),$

and $G = \tilde{g}(I_1(e_1), \ldots, I_1(e_k))$, where the functions \tilde{f} and \tilde{g} are defined by

$$\widetilde{f}(x_1,\ldots,x_k) = f\left(\sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_1^j x_j,\ldots,\sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_n^j x_j\right), \qquad x_1,\ldots,x_k \in \mathbb{R},$$

and

$$\tilde{g}(x_1,\ldots,x_k) = f\left(\sum_{j=1}^k \beta_1^j x_j,\ldots,\sum_{j=1}^k \beta_n^j x_j\right), \qquad x_1,\ldots,x_k \in \mathbb{R}$$

Since F = G and $I_1(e_1), \ldots, I_1(e_k)$ are independent, we have $\tilde{f} = \tilde{g}$ a.e., hence everywhere, and by linearity,

$$\Lambda(U,h)F = \tilde{f}\left(I_1(Ue_1) + \int_0^\infty \langle e_1(t), h(t) \rangle dt, \dots, I_1(Ue_k) + \int_0^\infty \langle e_k(t), h(t) \rangle dt\right),$$

and

$$\Lambda(U,h)G = \tilde{g}\left(I_1(Ue_1) + \int_0^\infty \langle e_1(t), h(t) \rangle dt, \dots, I_1(Ue_k) + \int_0^\infty \langle e_k(t), h(t) \rangle dt\right),$$

 \square

hence $\Lambda(U,h)F = \Lambda(U,h)G$.

Moreover, $\Lambda(U, h)$ is linear and multiplicative:

$$\Lambda(U,h)f(F_1,\ldots,F_n) = f(\Lambda(U,h)F_1,\ldots,\Lambda(U,h)F_n),$$

 $F_1,\ldots,F_n\in\mathcal{S},\ f\in\mathcal{C}^1_b(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{R}).$

Definition 5.6.3. Let $(U_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in [0,1]}$ be a family of linear operators

 $U_{\varepsilon}: \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d),$

such that

i) U_0 is the identity of $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+;\mathbb{R}^d)$, i.e. we have $U_0f = f$, \mathbb{P} -a.s., $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+;\mathbb{R}^d)$.

ii) for any
$$f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$$
, $U_{\varepsilon}f \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ and is adapted, $\varepsilon \in [0, 1]$,

iii) the family $(U_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in [0,1]}$ admits a derivative at $\varepsilon = 0$ in the form of an operator

$$\mathcal{L}: \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d),$$

such that

$$((U_{\varepsilon}f - f)/\varepsilon)_{\varepsilon \in [0,1]}$$

converges in $L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ to $\mathcal{L}f = (\mathcal{L}_t f)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ as ε goes to zero, $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$.

Let $h \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ be a square-integrable adapted process.

The operator \mathcal{L} is extended by linearity to $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d) \otimes \mathcal{S}$. The family $(U_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in [0,1]}$ needs not have the semigroup property. The above assumptions imply that $\mathcal{L}DF \in \text{Dom}(\delta), F \in \mathcal{S}$, with

$$\delta(\mathcal{L}DF) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_i f(I_1(u_1), \dots, I_1(u_n)) \delta(\mathcal{L}u_i)$$

$$- \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \langle u_i, \mathcal{L}u_j \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+;\mathbb{R}^d)} \partial_i \partial_j f(I_1(u_1), \dots, I_1(u_n)),$$
(5.6.1)

for $F = f(I_1(u_1), \ldots, I_1(u_n))$, where we used Relation (5.2.3). We now compute on S the derivative at $\varepsilon = 0$ of one-parameter families

$$\Lambda(U_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon h): \mathcal{S} \longrightarrow L^{2}(\Omega), \qquad \varepsilon \in \mathbb{R},$$

of transformations of Brownian functionals. Let the linear operator trace be defined on the algebraic tensor product $H\otimes H$ as

trace
$$u \otimes v = (u, v)_H, \quad u, v \in H.$$

Proposition 5.6.4. For $F \in S$, we have in $L^2(\Omega)$:

$$\frac{d}{d\varepsilon}\Lambda(U_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon h)F_{|\varepsilon=0} = \int_0^\infty \langle h_0(t), D_tF \rangle dt + \delta(\mathcal{L}DF) + \text{trace}\,(\text{Id}_H \otimes \mathcal{L})DDF.$$
(5.6.2)

Proof. Let $A: \mathcal{S} \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}$ be defined by

$$AF = \delta(\mathcal{L}DF) + \operatorname{trace}\left(\operatorname{Id}_{H} \otimes \mathcal{L}\right)DDF + \int_{0}^{\infty} \langle h_{0}(t), D_{t}F \rangle dt, \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}.$$

For $F = I_1(u), u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$, we have

$$\frac{d}{d\varepsilon}\Lambda(U_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon h)F_{|\varepsilon=0} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \langle h_{0}(t), u(t) \rangle dt + I_{1}(\mathcal{L}u)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \langle h_{0}(t), D_{t}F \rangle dt + \delta(\mathcal{L}DF) + \operatorname{trace}\left(\operatorname{Id}_{H} \otimes \mathcal{L}\right)DDF$$
$$= AF$$

since DDF = 0. From (5.6.1), for $F_1, \ldots, F_n \in \mathcal{S}$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R})$ we have

$$\begin{split} Af(F_1, \dots, F_n) &= \\ \delta(\mathcal{L}Df(F_1, \dots, F_n)) + \operatorname{trace} \left(\operatorname{Id}_H \otimes \mathcal{L}\right) DDf(F_1, \dots, F_n) \\ &+ \int_0^\infty \langle h_0(t), D_t f(F_1, \dots, F_n) \rangle dt \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n \delta\left(\partial_i f(F_1, \dots, F_n) \mathcal{L}DF_i\right) \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f(F_1, \dots, F_n) \operatorname{trace} \left(\operatorname{Id}_H \otimes \mathcal{L}\right) DDF_i \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^n \partial_i \partial_j f(F_1, \dots, F_n) \int_0^\infty \langle \mathcal{L}_s DF_i, D_s F_j \rangle ds \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f(F_1, \dots, F_n) \int_0^\infty \langle h_0(t), D_t F_i \rangle dt \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f(F_1, \dots, F_n) \delta(\mathcal{L}DF_i) + \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f(F_1, \dots, F_n) \operatorname{trace} \left(\operatorname{Id}_H \otimes \mathcal{L}\right) DDF_i \end{split}$$

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{i} f(F_{1}, \dots, F_{n}) \int_{0}^{\infty} \langle h_{0}(t), D_{t} F_{i} \rangle dt$$

$$=\sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{i} f(F_{1}, \dots, F_{n}) \left(\delta(\mathcal{L}DF_{i}) + \operatorname{trace} (\operatorname{Id}_{H} \otimes \mathcal{L}) DDF_{i} + \int_{0}^{\infty} \langle h_{0}(t), D_{t} F_{i} \rangle dt \right)$$

$$=\sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{i} f(F_{1}, \dots, F_{n}) AF_{i}.$$

Hence for $F_1 = I_1(u_1), \ldots, F_n = I_1(u_n) \in \mathcal{S}$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R})$:

$$Af(F_1, \dots, F_n) = \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f(F_1, \dots, F_n) AF_i$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f(F_1, \dots, F_n) \left(\frac{d}{d\varepsilon} \Lambda(U_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon h) F_i \right)_{|\varepsilon=0}$$
$$= \left(\frac{d}{d\varepsilon} \Lambda(U_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon h) f(F_1, \dots, F_n) \right)_{|\varepsilon=0}.$$

Consequently, Relation (5.6.2) holds on \mathcal{S} .

Corollary 5.6.5. Assume that $\mathcal{L}: L^2(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ is antisymmetric as an endomorphism of $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$, \mathbb{P} -a.s., we have in $L^2(\Omega)$:

$$\frac{d}{d\varepsilon}\Lambda(U_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon h)F_{|\varepsilon=0} = \int_0^\infty \langle h_0(t), D_tF \rangle dt + \delta(\mathcal{L}DF), \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}.$$

Proof. Since \mathcal{L} is antisymmetric, we have for any symmetric tensor $u \otimes u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d) \otimes \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$:

trace $(\mathrm{Id}_H \otimes \mathcal{L})u \otimes u = \mathrm{trace}\, u \otimes \mathcal{L}u = \langle u, \mathcal{L}u \rangle_H = -\langle \mathcal{L}u, u \rangle_H = 0.$

Hence the term trace $(\mathrm{Id}_H \otimes \mathcal{L})DDF$ of Proposition 5.6.4 vanishes \mathbb{P} -a.s. since DDF is a symmetric tensor. \Box

5.7 Riemannian Brownian Motion

In this section we mention another example of a gradient operator satisfying the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 of Chapter 3. As an application we derive concentration inequalities on path space using the method of covariance representation. This section is not self-contained and we refer to [42], [43], [46], [87] for details on Riemannian Brownian motion.

Let $(B(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ denote a \mathbb{R}^d -valued Brownian motion on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$, generating the filtration $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$. Let M be a Riemannian manifold of dimension d whose Ricci curvature is uniformly bounded from below, and let O(M)denote the bundle of orthonormal frames over M. The Levi-Civita parallel transport defines d canonical horizontal vector fields A_1, \ldots, A_d on O(M), and the Stratonovich stochastic differential equation

$$\begin{cases} dr(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} A_i(r(t)) \circ dx^i(t), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \\ r(0) = (m_0, r_0) \in O(M), \end{cases}$$

defines an O(M)-valued process $(r(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$. Let $\pi : O(M) \longrightarrow M$ be the canonical projection, let

$$\gamma(t) = \pi(r(t)), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

be the Brownian motion on M and let the Itô parallel transport along $(\gamma(t))_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ is defined as

$$t_{t\leftarrow 0} = r(t)r_0^{-1} : T_{m_0}M \simeq \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow T_{\gamma(t)}M, \qquad t \in [0,T].$$

Let $\mathcal{C}_0(\mathbb{R}_+;\mathbb{R}^d)$ denote the space of continuous \mathbb{R}^d -valued functions on \mathbb{R}_+ vanishing at the origin. Let also $\mathbf{P}(M)$ denote the set of continuous paths on M starting at m_0 , let

$$I: \mathcal{C}_0(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d) \longrightarrow \mathbf{P}(M)$$
$$(\omega(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} \longmapsto I(\omega) = (\gamma(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$$

be the Itô map, and let ν denote the image measure on $\mathbf{P}(M)$ of the Wiener measure \mathbb{P} by I. In order to simplify the notation we write F instead of $F \circ I$, for random variables and stochastic processes. Let Ω_r denote the curvature tensor and $\operatorname{ric}_r : \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d$ the Ricci tensor of M at the frame $r \in O(M)$. Given an adapted process $(z_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ with absolutely continuous trajectories, we let $(\hat{z}(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ be defined by

$$\dot{\hat{z}}(t) = \dot{z}(t) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{ric}_{r(t)} z(t), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \qquad \hat{z}(0) = 0.$$
 (5.7.1)

We recall that $z \mapsto \hat{z}$ can be inverted, i.e. there exists a process $(\tilde{z}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ such that $\hat{\tilde{z}} = z$, cf. Section 3.7 of [46]. Finally, let $Q_{t,s} : \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d$, be defined as

$$\frac{dQ_{t,s}}{dt} = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{ric}_{r(t)} Q_{t,s}, \qquad Q_{s,s} = \operatorname{Id}_{T_{m_0}}, \qquad 0 \le s \le t,$$

and let

186 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

$$q(t,z) = -\int_0^t \Omega_{r(s)}(\circ dB(s), z(s)), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

where $\circ dB(s)$ denotes the Stratonovich differential. Let $Q_{t,s}^*$ be the adjoint of $Q_{t,s}$, let $\mathbb{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^d)$, and let $\mathbf{H} = L^{\infty}(\mathbf{P}(M), \mathbb{H}; d\nu)$. Let finally $\mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(M^n)$ denote the space of infinitely differentiable functions with compact support in M^n .

In the sequel we endow $\mathbf{P}(M)$ with the σ -algebra \mathcal{F}^P on $\mathbf{P}(M)$ generated by subsets of the form

$$\{\gamma \in \mathbf{P}(M) : (\gamma(t_1), \dots, \gamma(t_n)) \in B_1 \times \dots \times B_n\},\$$

where $0 \leq t_1 < \cdots < t_n, B_1, \ldots, B_n \in \mathcal{B}(M), n \geq 1$.

Let

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}(M);\mathbb{R}) = \{F = f(\gamma(t_1), \dots, \gamma(t_n)) : f \in \mathcal{C}_b^{\infty}(M^n;\mathbb{R}), \\ 0 \le t_1 \le \dots \le t_n \le 1, n \ge 1\},\$$

and

$$\mathcal{U}(\mathbf{P}(M) \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d) = \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^n F_k \int_0^{\cdot} u_k(s) ds : F_1, \dots, F_n \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R}), \\ u_1, \dots, u_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d), \ n \ge 1 \right\}$$

In the following, the space $L^2(\mathbf{P}(M), \mathcal{F}^P, \nu)$ will be simply denoted by $L^2(\mathbf{P}(M))$. Note that the spaces $\mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R})$ and $\mathcal{U}(\mathbf{P}(M) \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ are dense in $L^2(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R})$ and in $L^2(\mathbf{P}(M) \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ respectively. The following definition of the intrisic gradient on $\mathbf{P}(M)$ can be found in [46].

Definition 5.7.1. Let $\hat{D} : L^2(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow L^2(\mathbf{P}(M) \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ be the gradient operator defined as

$$\hat{D}_t F = \sum_{i=1}^n t_{0 \leftarrow t_i} \nabla_i^M f(\gamma(t_1), \dots, \gamma(t_n)) \mathbf{1}_{[0,t_i]}(t), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

for $F \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R})$ of the form $F = f(\gamma(t_1), \ldots, \gamma(t_n))$, where ∇_i^M denotes the gradient on M applied to the *i*-th variable of f.

Given an adapted vector field $(Z(t))_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ on M with $Z(t) \in T_{\gamma(t)}M$, $t\in\mathbb{R}_+$, we let $z(t) = t_{0\leftarrow t}Z(t)$, $t\in\mathbb{R}_+$, and assume that $\dot{z}(t)$ exists, $\forall t\in\mathbb{R}_+$. Let

$$\nabla Z(t) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{t_{t \leftarrow t + \varepsilon} Z(t + \varepsilon) - Z(t)}{\varepsilon}$$

Then

$$\dot{z}(t) = t_{0 \leftarrow t} \nabla Z(t), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

let Ω_r denote the curvature tensor of M and let $\operatorname{ric}_r : \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d$ denote the Ricci tensor at the frame $r \in O(M)$, and let the process $(\hat{z}(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ be defined by

$$\begin{cases} \dot{z}(t) = \dot{z}(t) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{ric}_{r(t)} z(t), & t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \\ \dot{z}(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.7.2)

As a consequence of Corollary 5.6.5 we obtain the following relation between the gradient \hat{D} and the operators D and δ , cf. Theorem 2.3.8 and Theorem 2.6 of [29].

Corollary 5.7.2. Assume that the Ricci curvature of M is uniformly bounded, and let $z \in \mathcal{U}(\mathbf{P}(M) \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ be adapted. We have

$$\int_0^\infty \langle \hat{D}_t F, \dot{z}(t) \rangle dt = \int_0^\infty \langle D_t F, \dot{z}(t) \rangle dt + \delta(q(\cdot, z)D.F),$$
(5.7.3)

 $F \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R}), \text{ where } q(t, z) : \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d \text{ is defined as }$

$$q(t,z) = -\int_0^t \Omega_{r(s)}(\circ dB(s), z(s)), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+$$

Proof. We let $V_{\varepsilon}(t) = \exp(\varepsilon q(t, z)), t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \varepsilon \in \mathbb{R}$. Then from Proposition 3.5.3 of [46] we have

$$\int_0^\infty \langle \hat{D}F, \dot{z}(t) \rangle dt = \frac{d}{d\varepsilon} \Lambda(U_\varepsilon, \varepsilon \dot{\hat{z}}) F_{|\varepsilon=0}.$$

Since the Ricci curvature of M is bounded, we have $\dot{\hat{z}} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(W; \mathbb{R}))$ from (5.7.2). Moreover, from Theorem 2.2.1 of [46], $\varepsilon \mapsto \Lambda(U_{\varepsilon}, 0)r(t)$ is differentiable in $L^2(W; \mathbb{R})$, hence continuous, $\forall t \in \mathbb{R}_+$. Consequently, from (5.7.2) and by construction of $\mathcal{U}(\mathbb{P}(M) \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$, $\varepsilon \mapsto \Lambda(U_{\varepsilon}, 0)\dot{\hat{z}}$ is continuous in $L^2(W \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ and we can apply Corollary 5.6.5 with $\mathcal{L}_t = q(t, z)$ to obtain (5.7.3).

If $u \in \mathcal{U}(\mathbf{P}(M) \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ is written as $u = \sum_{i=1}^n G_i z_i, z_i$ deterministic, $G_i \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R}), i = 1, ..., n$, we let

trace
$$q(t, D_t u) = \sum_{i=1}^n q(t, z_i) D_t G_i.$$

Given $u \in \mathcal{U}(\mathbf{P}(M) \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ written as $u = \sum_{i=1}^n G_i z_i$, z_i deterministic, $G_i \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R}), i = 1, ..., n$, we let

$$\hat{u} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} G_i \hat{z}_i.$$

We now recall the inversion of $z \mapsto \hat{z}$ by the method of variation of constants described in Section 3.7 of [46]. Let $\mathrm{Id}_{\gamma(t)}$ denote the identity of $T_{\gamma(t)}M$. We have

$$\dot{z}(t) = \dot{\tilde{z}}(t) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{ric}_{r(t)} \tilde{z}(t), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

where $(\tilde{z}(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is defined as

$$\tilde{z}(t) = \int_0^t Q_{t,s} \dot{z}(s) ds, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

and $Q_{t,s}: \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d$ satisfies

$$\frac{dQ_{t,s}}{dt} = -\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{ric}_{r(t)}Q_{t,s}, \qquad Q_{s,s} = \operatorname{Id}_{\gamma(0)}, \qquad 0 \le s \le t.$$

Let also the process $(\hat{Z}(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ be defined by

$$\begin{cases} \nabla \hat{Z}(t) = \nabla Z(t) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Ric}_{\gamma(t)} Z(t), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \\ \hat{Z}(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$

with $\hat{z}(t) = \tau_{0 \leftarrow t} \hat{Z}(t), t \in \mathbb{R}_+$. In order to invert the mapping $Z \mapsto \hat{Z}$, let

$$\tilde{Z}(t) = \int_0^t R_{t,s} \nabla Z(s) ds, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

where $R_{t,s}: T_{\gamma(s)}M \longrightarrow T_{\gamma(t)}M$ is defined by the equation

$$\nabla_t R_{t,s} = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Ric}_{\gamma(t)} R_{t,s}, \qquad R_{s,s} = \operatorname{Id}_{\gamma(s)}, \qquad 0 \le s \le t,$$

 ∇_t denotes the covariant derivative along $(\gamma(t))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, and

$$\operatorname{Ric}_m: T_m M \longrightarrow T_m M$$

denotes the Ricci tensor at $m \in M$, with the relation

$$\operatorname{ric}_{r(t)} = t_{0 \leftarrow t} \circ \operatorname{Ric}_{\gamma(t)} \circ t_{t \leftarrow 0}.$$

Then we have

$$\begin{cases} \nabla Z(t) = \nabla \tilde{Z}(t) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Ric}_{\gamma(t)} \tilde{Z}(t), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \\ Z(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

We refer to [46] for the next definition.

Definition 5.7.3. The damped gradient

$$\tilde{D}: L^2(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow L^2(\mathbf{P}(M) \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$$

is defined as

$$\tilde{D}_t F = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbf{1}_{[0,t_i]}(t) Q_{t_i,t}^* t_{0\leftarrow t_i} \nabla_i^M f(\gamma(t_1),\ldots,\gamma(t_n)), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

for $F \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R})$ of the form $F = f(\gamma(t_1), \dots, \gamma(t_n))$, where

$$Q_{t,s}^*: \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d$$

denotes the adjoint of $Q_{t,s} : \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d, \ 0 \le s < t$.

Given $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(M^{n})$ we also have

$$\tilde{D}_t F = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathbf{1}_{[0,t_i]}(t) t_{0\leftarrow t} R^*_{t_i,t} \nabla^M_i f(\gamma(t_1),\dots,\gamma(t_n)), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

where $R_{t_i,t}^*: T_{\gamma(t_i)} \longrightarrow T_{\gamma(t)}$ is the adjoint of $R_{t_i,t}: T_{\gamma(t)} \longrightarrow T_{\gamma(t_i)}$. **Proposition 5.7.4.** We have for $z \in \mathcal{U}(\mathbf{P}(M) \times \mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R}^d)$:

$$\int_0^\infty \langle \tilde{D}_t F, \dot{z}(t) \rangle dt = \int_0^\infty \langle \hat{D}_t F, \dot{\tilde{z}}(t) \rangle dt, \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R}).$$
(5.7.4)

Proof. We compute

$$\begin{split} \int_0^\infty \langle \tilde{D}_t F, \dot{z}(t) \rangle dt &= \sum_{i=1}^n \int_0^{t_i} \langle Q_{t_i,s}^* t_{0 \leftarrow t_i} \nabla_i^M f(\gamma(t_1), \dots, \gamma(t_n)), \dot{z}(s) \rangle ds \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n \int_0^{t_i} \langle t_{0 \leftarrow t_i} \nabla_i^M f(\gamma(t_1), \dots, \gamma(t_n)), Q_{t_i,s} \dot{z}(s) \rangle dt \\ &= \int_0^\infty \langle \hat{D}_t F, \dot{\tilde{z}}(t) \rangle dt, \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R}). \end{split}$$

We also have

$$\int_0^\infty \langle \tilde{D}_t F, \dot{\tilde{z}}(t) \rangle dt = \int_0^\infty \langle \hat{D}_t F, \dot{z}(t) \rangle dt, \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}(M); \mathbb{R}).$$

Taking expectation on both sides of (5.7.3) and (5.7.4) it follows that the processes DF and DF have the same adapted projections:

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = \mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t], \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(5.7.5)

190 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

 $F = f(\gamma(t_1), \ldots, \gamma(t_n))$. Using this relation and the Clark formula

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] \cdot dB(t).$$

on the Wiener space, cf. Proposition 5.2.7 we obtain the expression of the Clark formula on path space, i.e. Assumption 3.2.1 is satisfied by \tilde{D} .

Proposition 5.7.5. Let $F \in \text{Dom}(\tilde{D})$, then

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] \cdot dB(t).$$

The following covariance identity is then a consequence of Proposition 3.4.1. **Proposition 5.7.6.** Let $F, G \in \text{Dom}(\tilde{D})$, then

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \tilde{D}_{t}F \cdot \mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_{t}G \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}] \, dt\right].$$
(5.7.6)

From Proposition 3.6.1 we obtain a concentration inequality on the path space.

Lemma 5.7.7. Let $F \in \text{Dom}(\tilde{D})$. If $\|\tilde{D}F\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+,L^{\infty}(\mathbf{P}(M)))} \leq C$, for some C > 0, then

$$\nu(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2C\|\tilde{D}F\|_{\mathbf{H}}}\right), \qquad x \ge 0.$$
(5.7.7)

In particular, $\mathbb{E}[e^{\lambda F^2}] < \infty$, for $\lambda < (2C \| \tilde{D}F \|_{\mathbf{H}})^{-1}$.

5.8 Time Changes on Brownian Motion

In this section we study the transformations given by time changes on Brownian motion, in connection with the operator ∇^{\ominus} of Definition 4.8.1.

Proposition 5.8.1. On the Wiener space, ∇^{\ominus} satisfies the relation

$$\nabla_t^{\ominus}(FG) = F \nabla_t^{\ominus} G + G \nabla_t^{\ominus} F - D_t F D_t G, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$
(5.8.1)

Proof. We will show by induction using the derivation property (5.2.3) of D that for all $k \ge 1$,

$$\nabla_t^{\ominus}(I_n(f^{\otimes n})I_1(g)^k) = I_n(f^{\otimes n})\nabla_t^{\ominus}\left(I_1(g)^k\right) + I_1(g)^k\nabla_t^{\ominus}I_n(f^{\otimes n}) -D_tI_n(f^{\otimes n})D_t\left(I_1(g)^k\right),$$
(5.8.2)

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$. We have

$$\nabla^{\ominus} \left(I_n(f^{\otimes n}) I_1(g) \right) = \nabla^{\ominus} \left(I_{n+1}(f^{\otimes n} \circ g) + n \langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} I_{n-1}(f^{\otimes (n-1)}) \right)$$

$$\begin{split} &= -I_{n+1}((g'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\otimes n}) - nI_{n+1}((f'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ g \circ f^{\otimes (n-1)}) \\ &- n(n-1)\langle f, g \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}I_{n-1}((f'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\otimes (n-2)}) \\ &= -nI_{n+1}((f'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\otimes (n-1)} \circ g) - n\langle g, (f'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}I_{n-1}(f^{\otimes (n-1)}) \\ &- I_{n+1}(f^{\otimes n} \circ (g'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)})) - n(n-1)\langle f, g \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}I_{n-1}(f^{\otimes (n-2)} \circ (f'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)})) \\ &- n\langle f, g'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}I_{n-1}(f^{\otimes (n-1)}) \\ &+ n\langle f'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}, g \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}I_{n-1}(f^{\otimes (n-1)}) + n\langle g'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}, f \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}I_{n-1}(f^{\otimes (n-1)}) \\ &= -nI_{n}((f'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\otimes (n-1)})I_{1}(g) - I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})I_{1}(g'\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \\ &- nf(t)g(t)I_{n-1}(f^{\otimes (n-1)}) \\ &= I_{1}(g)\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}I_{n}(f^{\otimes n}) + I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}I_{1}(g) - D_{t}I_{1}(g)D_{t}I_{n}(f^{\otimes n}), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_{+}, \end{split}$$

which shows (5.8.2) for k = 1. Next, assuming that (5.8.2) holds for some $k \ge 1$, we have

$$\begin{split} \nabla_{t}^{\ominus}(I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})I_{1}(g)^{k+1}) &= I_{1}(g)\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}(I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})I_{1}(g)^{k}) + I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})I_{1}(g)^{k}\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}I_{1}(g) \\ &- D_{t}I_{1}(g)D_{t}(I_{1}(g)^{k}\Gamma_{n}(f^{\otimes n})) \\ &= I_{1}(g)\left(I_{1}(g)^{k}\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}I_{n}(f^{\otimes n}) + I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}\left(I_{1}(g)^{k}\right) \\ &- D_{t}\left(I_{1}(g)^{k}\right)D_{t}I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})\right) \\ &+ I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})I_{1}(g)^{k}\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}I_{1}(g) - D_{t}I_{1}(g)\left(I_{1}(g)^{k}D_{t}I_{n}(f^{\otimes n}) \\ &+ I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})D_{t}\left(I_{1}(g)^{k}\right)\right) \\ &= I_{1}(g)^{k+1}\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}I_{n}(f^{\otimes n}) + I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}\left(I_{1}(g)^{k+1}\right) \\ &- D_{t}\left(I_{1}(g)^{k+1}\right)D_{t}I_{n}(f^{\otimes n}), \end{split}$$

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, which shows that (5.8.2) holds at the rank k + 1.

Definition 5.8.2. Let $h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, with $||h||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)} < 1$, and

$$\nu_h(t) = t + \int_0^t h(s) ds, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

We define a mapping $\mathcal{T}_h: \Omega \to \Omega, t, \varepsilon \in \mathbb{R}_+$, as

$$\mathcal{T}_h(\omega) = \omega \circ \nu_h^{-1}, \qquad h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), \ \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}_+} \mid h(x) \mid < 1.$$

The transformation \mathcal{T}_h acts on the trajectory of $(B_s)_{s \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ by change of time, or by perturbation of its predictable quadratic variation. Although \mathcal{T}_h is not absolutely continuous, the functional $F \circ \mathcal{T}_h$ is well-defined for $F \in \mathcal{S}$, since elements of \mathcal{S} can be defined trajectory by trajectory.

Proposition 5.8.3. We have for $F \in S$

$$\int_0^\infty h(t) \left(\nabla_t^{\ominus} + \frac{1}{2} D_t D_t \right) F dt = -\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} (F \circ \mathcal{T}_{\varepsilon h} - F).$$

Proof. We first notice that as a consequence of Proposition 5.8.1, the operator

$$\nabla_t^{\ominus} + \frac{1}{2} D_t D_t$$

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, has the derivation property. Indeed, by Proposition 5.8.1 we have

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_t^{\ominus}(FG) + \frac{1}{2}D_t D_t(FG) &= F \nabla_t^{\ominus} G + G \nabla_t^{\ominus} F - D_t F D_t G \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(F D_t D_t G + G D_t D_t F + 2 D_t F D_t G \right) \\ &= F \left(\nabla_t^{\ominus} G + \frac{1}{2} D_t D_t G \right) + G \left(\nabla_t^{\ominus} F + \frac{1}{2} D_t D_t F \right). \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, $\mathcal{T}_{\varepsilon h}$ is multiplicative, hence we only need to treat the particular case of $F = I_1(f)$. We have

$$I_1(f) \circ \mathcal{T}_{\varepsilon h} - I_1(f) = \int_0^\infty f(s) dB(\nu_{\varepsilon h}^{-1}(s)) - I_1(f)$$

=
$$\int_0^\infty f(\nu_{\varepsilon h}(s)) dB_s - \int_0^\infty f(s) dB_s$$

=
$$\int_0^\infty \left(f\left(t + \varepsilon \int_0^t h(s) ds\right) - f(t) \right) dB_t$$

After division by $\varepsilon > 0$, this converges in $L^2(\Omega)$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$ to

$$\int_0^\infty f'(t) \int_0^t h(s) ds dB_t = \int_0^\infty h(t) \int_t^\infty f'(s) dB_s dt$$
$$= -\int_0^\infty h(t) \nabla_t^{\ominus} I_1(f) dt$$
$$= -\int_0^\infty h(t) \left(\nabla_t^{\ominus} + \frac{1}{2} D_t D_t \right) I_1(f) dt.$$

5.9 Notes and References

Proposition 5.2.1 is usually taken as a definition of the Malliavin derivative D, see for example [96]. The relation between multiple Wiener integrals and Hermite polynomials originates in [136]. Corollary 5.2.4 can be found in Lemma 1.2 of [95] and in [100]. Finding the probabilistic interpretation of Dfor normal martingales other than the Brownian motion or the Poisson process, e.g. for the Azéma martingales, is still an open problem. In relation to

 \square

Proposition 5.6.1, see [29] for a treatment of transformations called Euclidean motions, in which case the operator $V(t) : \mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d$ is chosen to be an isometry and h is adapted, so that $\Lambda(U, h)$ is extended by quasi-invariance of the Wiener measure, see also [64]. Corollary 5.5.2 recovers and extend the sufficient conditions for the invariance of the Wiener measure under random rotations given in [149], i.e. the Skorohod integral $\delta(Rh)$ to has a Gaussian law when $h \in H = L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and R is a random isometry of H. We refer to [44], [46] for the Clark formula and the construction of gradient and divergence operators on Riemannian path space, to [24] for the logarithmic Sobolev inequality, and to [62] for the corresponding deviation results stated in Section 5.7.

Chapter 6 Analysis on the Poisson space

In this chapter we give the definition of the Poisson measure on a space of configurations of a metric space X, and we construct an isomorphism between the Poisson measure on X and the Poisson process on \mathbb{R}_+ . From this we obtain the probabilistic interpretation of the gradient D as a finite difference operator and the relation between Poisson multiple stochastic integrals and Charlier polynomials. Using the gradient and divergence operators we also derive an integration by parts characterization of Poisson measures, and other results such as deviation and concentration inequalities on the Poisson space.

6.1 Poisson Random Measures

Let X be a σ -compact metric space (i.e. X can be partitioned into a countable union of compact metric spaces) with a diffuse Radon measure σ . The space of configurations of X is the set of Radon measures

$$\Omega^X := \left\{ \omega = \sum_{k=0}^n \epsilon_{x_k} : (x_k)_{k=0}^n \subset X, \ n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \right\}, \tag{6.1.1}$$

where ϵ_x denotes the Dirac measure at $x \in X$, i.e.

$$\epsilon_x(A) = \mathbf{1}_A(x), \qquad A \in \mathcal{B}(X),$$

and Ω defined in (6.1.1) is restricted to locally finite configurations.

The configuration space Ω^X is endowed with the vague topology and its associated σ -algebra denoted by \mathcal{F}^X , cf. [4]. When X is compact we will consider Poisson functionals of the form

$$F(\omega) = f_0 \mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(X)=0\}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(X)=n\}} f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n),$$
(6.1.2)

where $f_n \in L^1(X^n, \sigma^{\otimes n})$ is symmetric in *n* variables, $n \ge 1$. As an example,

$$F(\omega) := \omega(A), \qquad \omega \in \Omega,$$

is represented using the symmetric functions

$$f_n(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n \mathbf{1}_A(x_k), \qquad n \ge 1.$$

Our construction of the Poisson measure is inspired by that of [94].

Definition 6.1.1. In case X is precompact (i.e. X has a compact closure), let \mathcal{F}^X denote the σ -field generated by all functionals F of the form (6.1.2), and let π_{σ}^X denote the probability measure on $(\Omega^X, \mathcal{F}^X)$ defined via

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}^{X}}[F] = \mathrm{e}^{-\sigma(X)} f_{0} + \mathrm{e}^{-\sigma(X)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{X} \cdots \int_{X} f_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \sigma(dx_{1}) \cdots \sigma(dx_{n}),$$
(6.1.3)

for all non-negative F of the form (6.1.2).

For example, for A a compact subset of X, the mapping $\omega \mapsto \omega(A)$ has the Poisson distribution with parameter $\sigma(A)$ under π_{σ}^{X} . Indeed we have

$$\mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(A)=k\}} = \sum_{n=k}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(X)=n\}} f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n),$$

with

$$f_n(x_1,...,x_n) = \frac{1}{k!(n-k)!} \sum_{\eta \in \Sigma_n} \mathbf{1}_{A^k}(x_{\eta(1)},...,x_{\eta(k)}) \mathbf{1}_{(X \setminus A)^{n-k}}(x_{\eta(k+1)},...,x_{\eta(n)}),$$

hence

$$\pi_{\sigma}^{X}(\omega(A) = k) = \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}^{X}}[\mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(A) = k\}}]$$
$$= e^{-\sigma(X)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!(n-k)!} \sigma(A)^{k} \sigma(X \setminus A)^{n-k}$$
$$= e^{-\sigma(A)} \frac{\sigma(A)^{k}}{k!}.$$
(6.1.4)

The above construction is then extended to σ -compact X in the next definition.

Definition 6.1.2. In case X is σ -compact we consider a countable partition $X = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} X_n$ in compact subsets, and let

$$\Omega^X = \prod_{n=0}^{\infty} \Omega^{X_n}, \qquad \mathcal{F}^X = \bigotimes_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}^{X_n}, \qquad \pi_{\sigma}^X = \bigotimes_{n=0}^{\infty} \pi_{\sigma}^{X_n}. \tag{6.1.5}$$

Note that π_{σ}^{X} in Definition 6.1.2 is independent of the choice of partition made for X in (6.1.5).

The argument leading to Relation (6.1.4) can be extended to n variables.

Proposition 6.1.3. Let A_1, \ldots, A_n be compact disjoint subsets of X. Under the measure π_{σ}^X on $(\Omega^X, \mathcal{F}^X)$, the \mathbb{N}^n -valued vector

$$\omega \longmapsto (\omega(A_1), \ldots, \omega(A_n))$$

has independent components with Poisson distributions of respective parameters $% \left(\frac{1}{2} \right) = 0$

$$\sigma(A_1),\ldots,\sigma(A_n)$$

Proof. Consider a disjoint partition $A_1 \cup \cdots \cup A_n$ of X and

$$F(\omega) = \mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(A_1)=k_1\}} \cdots \mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(A_n)=k_n\}}$$

= $\mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(X)=k_1+\dots+k_n\}} f_n(x_1^1,\dots,x_{k_1}^1,\dots,x_1^n,\dots,x_{k_n}^n),$

where

$$f_n(x_1, \dots, x_N) = \sum_{\eta \in \Sigma_N} \frac{1}{k_1! \cdots k_n!} \mathbf{1}_{A_1}(x_{\eta(1)}, \dots, x_{\eta(k_1)}) \cdots \mathbf{1}_{A_n}(x_{\eta(k_1 + \dots + k_{n-1} + 1)}, \dots, x_{\eta(N)})$$

is the symmetrization in $N = k_1 + \cdots + k_n$ variables of the function

$$(x_1^1, \dots, x_{k_1}^1, \dots, x_1^n, \dots, x_{k_n}^n) \\ \longmapsto \frac{(k_1 + \dots + k_n)!}{k_1! \cdots k_n!} \mathbf{1}_{A_1}(x_1^1, \dots, x_{k_1}^1) \cdots \mathbf{1}_{A_n}(x_1^n, \dots, x_{k_n}^n),$$

hence

$$\pi_{\sigma}^{X}(\omega(A_{1}) = k_{1}, \dots, \omega(A_{n}) = k_{n}) = \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}^{X}}[F]$$
$$= e^{-(\sigma(A_{1}) + \dots + \sigma(A_{n}))} \frac{\sigma(A_{1})^{k_{1}} \cdots \sigma(A_{n})^{k_{n}}}{k_{1}! \cdots k_{n}!}.$$

When X is compact, the conditional distribution of $\omega = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ given that $\omega(X) = n$ is given by the formula

$$\pi_{\sigma}^{X}(\{x_{1},\ldots,x_{n}\}\subset A^{n} \mid \omega(X)=n) = \left(\frac{\sigma(A)}{\sigma(X)}\right)^{n},$$

which follows from taking $f_n = \mathbf{1}_{A^n}$ in (6.1.2), and extends to symmetric Borel subsets of X^n .

In the next proposition we compute the Fourier transform of π_σ^X via the Poisson stochastic integral

$$\int_X f(x)\omega(dx) = \sum_{x \in \omega} f(x), \qquad f \in L^1(X, \sigma).$$

In the sequel we will drop the index X in π_{σ}^X .

Proposition 6.1.4. Let $f \in L^1(X, \sigma)$. We have

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}\left[\exp\left(i\int_{X}f(x)\omega(dx)\right)\right] = \exp\left(\int_{X}(e^{if(x)}-1)\sigma(dx)\right).$$
(6.1.6)

Proof. We first assume that X is compact. We have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}} \left[\exp\left(i \int_{X} f(x)\omega(dx)\right) \right] \\ &= \mathrm{e}^{-\sigma(X)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{X} \cdots \int_{X} \mathrm{e}^{i(f(x_{1})+\dots+f(x_{n}))} \sigma(dx_{1}) \cdots \sigma(dx_{n}). \\ &= \mathrm{e}^{-\sigma(X)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(\int_{X} \mathrm{e}^{if(x)} \sigma(dx) \right)^{n} \\ &= \exp\left(\int_{X} (\mathrm{e}^{if(x)} - 1) \sigma(dx) \right). \end{split}$$

The extension to the σ -compact case is done using (6.1.5). We have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{X} f(x)\omega(dx)\right] &= -i\frac{d}{d\varepsilon} \mathbb{E}_{\pi\sigma} \left[\exp\left(i\varepsilon \int_{X} f(x)\omega(dx)\right)\right]_{|\varepsilon=0} \\ &= -i\frac{d}{d\varepsilon} \exp\left(\int_{X} (e^{i\varepsilon f(x)} - 1)\sigma(dx)\right)_{|\varepsilon=0} \\ &= \int_{X} f(x)\sigma(dx), \qquad f \in L^{1}(X,\sigma), \end{split}$$

and similarly by second order derivation we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_X f(x)(\omega(dx) - \sigma(dx)\right)^2\right] = \int_X |f(x)|^2 \sigma(dx), \quad f \in L^2(X, \sigma).$$
(6.1.7)

Both formulae can also be proved on simple functions of the form $f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \mathbf{1}_{A_i}$, and then extended to measurable functions under appropriate

198 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

integrability conditions.

The formula (6.1.6) can be extended as

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}\left[\exp\left(i\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}f(x)(\omega(dx)-\sigma(dx))\right)\right]=\exp\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}(e^{if(x)}-if(x)-1)\sigma(dx)\right),$$

by assuming that

$$\int_{\{y \in X \ : \ |f(y)| > 1\}} |f(y)|\sigma(dy) < \infty \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{\{y \in X \ : \ |f(y)| \le 1\}} |f(y)|^2 \sigma(dy) < \infty,$$

from the inequality

$$|e^{it} - it \mathbf{1}_{\{|t| \le 1\}} - 1| \le 2(1 \land |t|^2), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (6.1.8)

Similarly, taking $X = \mathbb{R}^d$, assuming that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (1 \wedge |y|^2_{\mathbb{R}^d}) \sigma(dy) < \infty,$$

where $|\cdot|_{\mathbb{R}^d}$ is the Euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^d , and using (6.1.8), the vector of single Poisson stochastic integrals

$$F = \left(\int_{\{|y|_{\mathbb{R}^d} \le 1\}} y_k \left(\omega(dy) - \sigma(dy) \right) + \int_{\{|y|_{\mathbb{R}^d} > 1\}} y_k \,\omega(dy) \right)_{1 \le k \le n}$$
(6.1.9)

has the characteristic function

$$\varphi_F(u) = \mathbb{E}[\mathrm{e}^{i\langle F, u\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^d}}] = \exp\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\mathrm{e}^{i\langle y, u\rangle} - 1 - i\langle y, u\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\{|y|_{\mathbb{R}^d} \le 1\}})\sigma(dy)\right),$$
(6.1.10)

 $u \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Relation (6.1.10) is called the Lévy-Khintchine formula, and the random vector

$$F = (F_1, \ldots, F_n)$$

is said to have an *n*-dimensional infinitely divisible distribution with Lévy measure $\sigma(dx)$.

Denote by $\pi_{\sigma,\alpha}^X$ the thinning of order $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ of the Poisson measure π_{σ}^X , i.e. $\pi_{\sigma,\alpha}^X$ is obtained by removing, resp. keeping, independently each configuration point with probability α , resp. $1 - \alpha$.

The next proposition is a classical result on the thinning of Poisson measure.

Proposition 6.1.5. Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$. We have $\pi_{\sigma,\alpha}^X = \pi_{\alpha\sigma}^X$, i.e. $\pi_{\sigma,\alpha}^X$ is the Poisson measure with intensity $\alpha\sigma(dx)$ on Ω^X .

Proof. It suffices to treat the case where X is compact. Using the fact that given n configuration points, the number of points removed by thinning has

a binomial distribution with parameter (n, α) , we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma,\alpha}} \left[\exp\left(i \int_X f(x)\omega(dx)\right) \right] \\ &= \mathrm{e}^{-\sigma(X)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{\alpha^k}{n!} \binom{n}{k} \left(\int_X \mathrm{e}^{if(x)}\sigma(dx) \right)^k (\sigma(X))^{n-k} (1-\alpha)^{n-k} \\ &= \mathrm{e}^{-\sigma(X)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(\alpha \int_X \mathrm{e}^{if(x)}\sigma(dx) + (1-\alpha)\sigma(X) \right)^n \\ &= \mathrm{e}^{\alpha \int_X (\mathrm{e}^{if(x)} - 1)\sigma(dx)}. \end{split}$$

In terms of probabilities, for all compact $A \in \mathcal{B}(X)$ we have

$$\pi_{\sigma,\alpha}^{X}(\omega(A) = n) = e^{-\sigma(A)} \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \frac{\sigma(A)^{k}}{k!} \alpha^{n} (1-\alpha)^{k-n} {k \choose n}$$
$$= e^{-\sigma(A)} \frac{(\alpha\sigma(A))^{n}}{n!} \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \frac{\sigma(A)^{k-n}}{(k-n)!} (1-\alpha)^{k-n}$$
$$= e^{-\alpha\sigma(A)} \frac{(\alpha\sigma(A))^{n}}{n!}.$$

Remark 6.1.6. The construction of Poisson measures with a diffuse intensity measure can be extended to not necessarily diffuse intensities.

Proof. In case σ is not diffuse, we can identify the atoms $(x_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ of σ which are at most countably infinite with masses $(\mu(x_k))_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$. Next we choose a family $(X_k, \nu_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ of measure spaces such that ν_k is diffuse and $\nu_k(X_k) = \mu(\{x_k\}), k \in \mathbb{N}$. Letting

$$\bar{X} := (X \setminus \{x_0, x_1, \ldots\}) \cup \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} X_k$$

and

$$\bar{\mu} := \mu + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \nu_k,$$

then $\bar{\mu}$ is a diffuse measure on \bar{X} . Next, letting

$$f(x) = x \mathbf{1}_{X \setminus \{x_0, x_1, \dots\}}(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} x_k \mathbf{1}_{X_k}(x), \qquad x \in \bar{X},$$

we note that

$$\int_{\bar{X}} f(x)(\omega(dx) - \bar{\mu}(dx))$$

200 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

 \square

has an infinitely divisible law with Lévy measure μ since

$$\int_{X} (e^{iux} - iux - 1)\mu(dx) = \int_{\bar{X}} (e^{iuf(x)} - iuf(x) - 1)\bar{\mu}(dx).$$

 \square

More generally, functionals on the Poisson space on (X, μ) of the form

$$F(\omega) = f(\omega(A_1), \dots, \omega(A_n))$$

can be constructed on the Poisson space on $(\bar{X}, \bar{\mu})$ as

$$\tilde{F}(\omega) = f(\omega(B_1), \dots, \omega(B_n)),$$

with

$$B_i = (A_i \setminus \{x_0, x_2, \ldots\}) \bigcup \left(\bigcup_{k : x_k \in A_i} X_k\right).$$

Poisson random measures on a metric space X can be constructed from the Poisson process on \mathbb{R}_+ by identifying X with \mathbb{R}_+ . More precisely we have the following result, see e.g. [36], p. 192.

Proposition 6.1.7. There exists a measurable map

$$\tau: X \to \mathbb{R}_+,$$

a.e. bijective, such that $\lambda = \tau_* \sigma$, i.e. the Lebesgue measure is the image of σ by τ .

We denote by $\tau_*\omega$ the image measure of ω by τ , i.e. $\tau_*: \Omega^X \to \Omega$ maps

$$\omega = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \epsilon_{x_i}$$
 to $\tau_* \omega = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \epsilon_{\tau(x_i)}$. (6.1.11)

We have, for $A \in \mathcal{F}^X$:

$$\tau_*\omega(A) = \#\{x \in \omega : \tau(x) \in A\} \\ = \#\{x \in \omega : x \in \tau^{-1}(A)\} \\ = \omega(\tau^{-1}(A)).$$

Proposition 6.1.8. The application $\tau_* : \Omega^X \to \Omega$ maps the Poisson measure π_{σ} on Ω^X to the Poisson measure π_{λ} on Ω .

Proof. It suffices to check that for all families A_1, \ldots, A_n of disjoint Borel subsets of X and $k_1, \ldots, k_n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$\pi_{\sigma}(\{\omega \in \Omega^X : \tau_*\omega(A_1) = k_1, \dots, \tau_*\omega(A_n) = k_n\})$$

$$= \prod_{i=1}^{n} \pi_{\sigma}(\{\tau_{*}\omega(A_{i}) = k_{i}\})$$

$$= \prod_{i=1}^{n} \pi_{\sigma}(\{\omega(\tau^{-1}(A_{i})) = k_{i}\})$$

$$= \exp\left(-\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma(\tau^{-1}(A_{i}))\right) \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(\sigma(\tau^{-1}(A_{i})))^{k_{i}}}{k_{i}!}$$

$$= \exp\left(-\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda(A_{i})\right) \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(\lambda(A_{i}))^{k_{i}}}{k_{i}!}$$

$$= \prod_{i=1}^{n} \pi_{\lambda}(\{\omega(A_{i}) = k_{i}\})$$

$$= \pi_{\lambda}(\{\omega(A_{1}) = k_{1}, \dots, \omega(A_{n}) = k_{n}\}).$$

Clearly, $F \mapsto F \circ \tau^*$ defines an isometry from $L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(\Omega^X)$, $p \ge 1$, and similarly we get that $\int_X f \circ \tau(x) \tau_* \omega(dx)$ has same distribution as $\int_0^\infty f(t)\omega(dt)$, since

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}} \left[\exp\left(i \int_{X} f(\tau(x))\tau_{*}\omega(dx)\right) \right] &= \exp\left(\int_{X} (\mathrm{e}^{if(\tau(x))} - 1)\sigma(dx)\right) \\ &= \exp\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} (\mathrm{e}^{if(t)} - 1)\lambda(dt)\right) \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\lambda}} \left[\exp\left(i \int_{0}^{\infty} f(t)\omega(dt)\right) \right]. \end{split}$$

Using the measurable bijection $\tau: X \to \mathbb{R}_+$ and the relation

$$D_t F(\omega) = \left(D_{\tau^{-1}(t)} F \circ (\tau^*)^{-1} \right) \circ \tau^*(\omega), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad \omega \in \Omega,$$

we can also restate Proposition 4.7.3 for a Poisson measure on X.

Corollary 6.1.9. Let $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ be such that $DF \leq K$, a.s., for some $K \geq 0$, and $\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(X))} < \infty$. Then

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) &\leq \exp\left(-\frac{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(X))}^{2}g\left(\frac{xK}{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(X))}^{2}}\right)\right) \\ &\leq \exp\left(-\frac{x}{2K}\log\left(1 + \frac{xK}{\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^{2}(X))}^{2}}\right)\right), \end{split}$$

with $g(u) = (1+u)\log(1+u) - u$, $u \ge 0$. If K = 0 (decreasing functionals) we have

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(X))}^2}\right).$$
(6.1.12)

In particular if $F = \int_X f(y)\omega(dy)$ we have $\|DF\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega,L^2(X))} = \|f\|_{L^2(X)}$ and if $f \leq K$, a.s., then

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\int_X f(y)(\omega(dy) - \sigma(dy)) \ge x\right) \\ \le \exp\left(-\frac{\int_X f^2(y)\sigma(dy)}{K^2}g\left(\frac{xK}{\int_X f^2(y)\sigma(dy)}\right)\right).$$

If $f \leq 0$, a.s., then

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\int_X f(y)(\omega(dy) - \sigma(dy)) \ge x\right) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2\int_X f^2(y)\sigma(dy)}\right).$$

This result will be recovered in Section 6.9, cf. Proposition 6.9.3 below.

6.2 Multiple Poisson Stochastic Integrals

We start by considering the particular case of the Poisson space

$$\Omega = \left\{ \omega = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \epsilon_{t_k} : 0 \le t_1 < \dots < t_n, \ n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \right\}$$

on $X = \mathbb{R}_+$, where we dropped the upper index \mathbb{R}_+ in $\Omega^{\mathbb{R}_+}$, with intensity measure

$$\nu(dx) = \lambda dx, \qquad \lambda > 0.$$

In this case the configuration points can be arranged in an ordered fashion and the Poisson martingale of Section 2.3 can be constructed as in the next proposition.

Proposition 6.2.1. The Poisson process $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ of Definition 2.3.1 can be constructed as

$$N_t(\omega) = \omega([0, t]), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Proof. Clearly, the paths of $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ are piecewise continuous, càdlàg (i.e. continuous on the right with left limits), with jumps of height equal to one. Moreover, by definition of the Poisson measure on Ω , the vector $(N_{t_1} - N_{t_0}, \ldots, N_{t_n} - N_{t_{n-1}})$ of Poisson process increments, $0 \leq t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_n$, is made of independent, Poisson distributed, random variables with parameters $\lambda(t_1 - t_0), \ldots, \lambda(t_n - t_{n-1})$. Hence the law of $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ coincides with that of the standard Poisson process defined, cf. Corollary 2.3.5 in Section 2.3.

In other words, every configuration $\omega \in \Omega$ can be viewed as the ordered sequence $\omega = (T_k)_{k \ge 1}$ of jump times of $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ on \mathbb{R}_+ .

Applying Corollary 2.5.11 and using induction on $n \ge 1$ yields the following result.

Proposition 6.2.2. Let $f_n : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \mapsto \mathbb{R}$ be continuous with compact support in \mathbb{R}^n_+ . Then we have the $\mathbb{P}(d\omega)$ -almost sure equality

$$I_n(f_n)(\omega) = n! \int_0^\infty \int_0^{t_n^-} \cdots \int_0^{t_2^-} f_n(t_1, \dots, t_n)(\omega(dt_1) - dt_1) \cdots (\omega(dt_n) - dt_n).$$

The above formula can also be written as

$$I_n(f_n) = n! \int_0^\infty \int_0^{t_n^-} \cdots \int_0^{t_2^-} f_n(t_1, \dots, t_n) d(N_{t_1} - t_1) \cdots d(N_{t_n} - t_n),$$

and by symmetry of f_n in n variables we have

$$I_n(f_n) = \int_{\Delta_n} f_n(t_1, \dots, t_n) (\omega(dt_1) - dt_1) \cdots (\omega(dt_n) - dt_n),$$

with

$$\Delta_n = \{ (t_1, \dots, t_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ : t_i \neq t_j, \forall i \neq j \}.$$

Using the mappings $\tau: X \to \mathbb{R}_+$ of Proposition 6.1.7 and

$$\tau_*: \Omega^X \to \Omega$$

defined in (6.1.11), we can extend the construction of multiple Poisson stochastic integrals to the setting of an abstract set X of indices.

Definition 6.2.3. For all $f_n \in C_c(\Delta_n)$, let

$$I_n^X(f_n)(\omega) := I_n(f_n \circ \tau^{-1})(\tau_*\omega).$$
(6.2.1)

Letting

$$\Delta_n^X = \{ (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in X^n : x_i \neq x_j, \forall i \neq j \},\$$

we have

$$I_n^X(f_n)(\omega) = I_n(f_n \circ \tau^{-1})(\tau_*\omega)$$

$$= \int_{\Delta_n} f_n(\tau^{-1}(t_1), \dots, \tau^{-1}(t_n))(\tau_*\omega(dt_1) - \lambda dt_1) \cdots (\tau_*\omega(dt_n) - \lambda dt_n)$$

$$= \int_{\Delta_n^X} f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n)(\omega(dx_1) - \sigma(dx_1)) \cdots (\omega(dx_n) - \sigma(dx_n)),$$
(6.2.2)

and for $g_{n+1} \in \mathcal{C}_c(\Delta_{n+1})$,

$$I_{n+1}^X(g_{n+1})$$

204 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

$$= \int_{\Delta_{n+1}^{X}} g_n(x_1, \dots, x_n, x)(\omega(dx) - \sigma(dx))(\omega(dx_1) - \sigma(dx_1)) \cdots$$
$$\cdots (\omega(dx_n) - \sigma(dx_n))$$
$$= \int_X \int_{\Delta_n^{X}} \mathbf{1}_{\{x \notin \{x_1, \dots, x_n\}\}} g_n(x_1, \dots, x_n, x)(\omega(dx_1) - \sigma(dx_1)) \cdots$$
$$\cdots (\omega(dx_n) - \sigma(dx_n))(\omega(dx) - \sigma(dx))$$
$$= \int_{\Delta_n^{X}} I_n^X(g_{n+1}(*, x))(\omega \setminus \{x\})(\omega(dx) - \sigma(dx)),$$
(6.2.3)

where $\omega \setminus \{x\}$ denotes the configuration $\omega \in \Omega^X$ after removal of the configration point $x \in X$, if x belongs to ω , i.e.

$$\omega \setminus \{x\} := \sum_{\substack{k=0\\x_k \neq x}}^n \epsilon_{x_k} = \sum_{k=0}^n \mathbf{1}_{\{x \neq x_k\}} \epsilon_{x_k}, \qquad x \in X.$$

The integral $I_n^X(f_n)$ extends to symmetric functions in $f_n \in L^2(X)^{\circ n}$ via the following isometry formula.

Proposition 6.2.4. For all symmetric functions $f_n \in L^2(X, \sigma)^{\circ n}$, $g_m \in L^2(X, \sigma)^{\circ m}$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}\left[I_n^X(f_n)I_m^X(g_m)\right] = n! \mathbf{1}_{\{n=m\}} \langle f_n, g_m \rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)^{\circ n}}.$$
(6.2.4)

Proof. Denoting $f_n(\tau^{-1}(x_1), \ldots, \tau^{-1}(x_n))$ by $f_n \circ \tau^{-1}(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}[I_{n}^{X}(f_{n})I_{m}^{X}(g_{m})] &= \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}[I_{n}(f_{n}\circ\tau^{-1})(\tau_{*}\omega)I_{m}(g_{m}\circ\tau^{-1})(\tau_{*}\omega)] \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\lambda}}[I_{n}(f_{n}\circ\tau^{-1})I_{m}(g_{m}\circ\tau^{-1})] \\ &= n!\mathbf{1}_{\{n=m\}}\langle f_{n}\circ\tau^{-1}, g_{m}\circ\tau^{-1}\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+},\lambda^{\otimes n})} \\ &= n!\mathbf{1}_{\{n=m\}}\langle f_{n}, g_{m}\rangle_{L^{2}(X^{n},\sigma^{\otimes n})}. \end{split}$$

We have the following multiplication formula, in which we again use the convention $I_0^X(f_0) = f_0$ for $f_0 \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proposition 6.2.5. We have for $u, v \in L^2(X, \sigma)$ such that $uv \in L^2(X, \sigma)$:

$$I_{1}^{X}(u)I_{n}^{X}(v^{\otimes n})$$

$$= I_{n+1}^{X}(v^{\otimes n} \circ u) + nI_{n}^{X}((uv) \circ v^{\otimes (n-1)}) + n\langle u, v \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)}I_{n-1}^{X}(v^{\otimes (n-1)}).$$
(6.2.5)

Proof. This result can be proved by direct computation from (6.2.1). Alternatively it can be proved first for $X = \mathbb{R}_+$ using stochastic calculus or directly from Proposition 4.5.1 with $\phi_t = 1, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$:

$$\begin{split} I_1(u \circ \tau^{-1}) I_n((v \circ \tau^{-1})^{\otimes n}) \\ &= I_{n+1}((v \circ \tau^{-1})^{\otimes n} \circ u \circ \tau^{-1}) + n I_n((u \circ \tau^{-1} v \circ \tau^{-1}) \circ (v \circ \tau^{-1})^{\otimes (n-1)}) \\ &+ n \langle u \circ \tau^{-1}, v \circ \tau^{-1} \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+,\lambda)} I_{n-1}((v \circ \tau^{-1})^{\otimes (n-1)}), \end{split}$$

205 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

and then extended to the general setting of metric spaces using the mapping

$$\tau_*: \Omega^X \to \Omega$$

of Proposition 6.1.8 and Relation (6.2.2).

Similarly using the mapping $\tau_* : \Omega^X \to \Omega$ and Proposition 4.5.6 we have

$$I_n(f_n)I_m(g_m) = \sum_{s=0}^{2(n \wedge m)} I_{n+m-s}(h_{n,m,s}),$$

 $f_n \in L^2(X, \sigma)^{\circ n}, g_m \in L^2(X, \sigma)^{\circ m}$, where

$$h_{n,m,s} = \sum_{s \le 2i \le 2(s \land n \land m)} i! \binom{n}{i} \binom{m}{i} \binom{i}{s-i} f_n \circ_i^{s-i} g_m,$$

and $f_n \circ_k^l g_m$, $0 \le l \le k$, is the symmetrization of

$$\begin{aligned} (x_{l+1}, \dots, x_n, y_{k+1}, \dots, y_m) &\longmapsto \\ & \int_{X^l} f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n) g_m(x_1, \dots, x_k, y_{k+1}, \dots, y_m) \sigma(dx_1) \cdots \sigma(dx_l) \end{aligned}$$

in n + m - k - l variables.

Given $f_{k_1} \in L^2(X, \sigma)^{k_1}, \ldots, f_{k_d} \in L^2(X, \sigma)^{k_d}$ with disjoint supports we have

$$I_n(f_{k_1} \circ \dots \circ f_{k_d}) = \prod_{i=1}^d I_{k_i}(f_{k_i}),$$
(6.2.6)

for $n = k_1 + \cdots + k_d$.

Remark 6.2.6. Relation (6.2.5) implies that the linear space generated by

 $\{I_n(f_1\otimes\cdots\otimes f_n) : f_1,\ldots,f_n\in \mathcal{C}_c^\infty(X), n\in\mathbb{N}\},\$

coincides with the space of polynomials in first order integrals of the form $I_1(f), f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_c(X)$.

Next we turn to the relation between multiple Poisson stochastic integrals and the Charlier polynomials.

Definition 6.2.7. Let the Charlier polynomial of order $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and parameter $t \geq 0$ be defined by

$$C_0(k,t) = 1$$
, $C_1(k,t) = k - t$, $C_2(k,t) = k^2 - k(2t+1) + t^2$,

 $k \in \mathbb{R}, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, and the recurrence relation

Q

$$C_{n+1}(k,t) = (k-n-t)C_n(k,t) - ntC_{n-1}(k,t), \qquad n \ge 1.$$
(6.2.7)

 Let

$$p_k(t) = e^{-t} \frac{t^k}{k!}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \tag{6.2.8}$$

denote the Poisson probability density, which satisfies the finite difference differential equation

$$\frac{\partial p_k}{\partial t}(t) = -\Delta p_k(t), \qquad (6.2.9)$$

where Δ is the difference operator

$$\Delta f(k) := f(k) - f(k-1), \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Let also

$$\psi_{\lambda}(k,t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} C_n(k,t), \qquad \lambda \in (-1,1),$$

denote the generating function of Charlier polynomials.

Proposition 6.2.8. For all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ we have the relations

$$C_n(k,t) = \frac{(-1)^n}{p_k(t)} t^n(\Delta)^n p_k(t), \qquad (6.2.10)$$

$$C_n(k,t) = \frac{t^n}{p_k(t)} \frac{\partial^n p_k}{\partial t^n}(t), \qquad (6.2.11)$$

$$C_n(k+1,t) - C_n(k,t) = -\frac{\partial C_n}{\partial t}(k,t),$$
 (6.2.12)

$$C_n(k+1,t) - C_n(k,t) = nC_{n-1}(k,t), \qquad (6.2.13)$$

$$C_{n+1}(k,t) = kC_n(k-1,t) - tC_n(k,t), \qquad (6.2.14)$$

and the generating function $\psi_{\lambda}(k,t)$ satisfies

$$\psi_{\lambda}(k,t) = e^{-\lambda t} (1+\lambda)^k, \qquad (6.2.15)$$

 $\lambda, t > 0, k \in \mathbb{N}.$

Proof. By the Definition 6.2.8 of $p_k(t)$ it follows that

$$\frac{(-1)^n}{p_k(t)}t^n(\varDelta)^n p_k(t)$$

satisfies the recurrence relation (6.2.7), i.e.

$$\frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{p_k(t)} t^{n+1}(\Delta)^{n+1} p_k(t) = (k-n-t) \frac{(-1)^n}{p_k(t)} t^n(\Delta)^n p_k(t) - nt \frac{(-1)^{n-1}}{p_k(t)} t^{n-1}(\Delta)^{n-1} p_k(t),$$

as well as its initial conditions, hence (6.2.10) holds. Relation (6.2.11) then follows from Equation (6.2.9). On the other hand, the process

$$(C_n(N_t,t))_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+} = (I_n(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}^{\otimes n}))_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$$

is a martingale from Lemma 2.7.2 and can using Itô's formula Proposition 2.12.1 it can be written as

$$\begin{split} C_n(N_t,t) &= I_n(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}^{\otimes n}) \\ &= C_n(0,0) + \int_0^t (C_n(N_{s^-}+1,s) - C_n(N_{s^-},s))d(N_s-s) \\ &+ \int_0^t \left((C_n(N_{s^-}+1,s) - C_n(N_{s^-},s)) + \frac{\partial C_n}{\partial s}(N_s,s) \right) ds \\ &= n \int_0^t I_{n-1}(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]}^{\otimes (n-1)})d(N_s-s) \\ &= n \int_0^t C_{n-1}(N_{s^-},s)d(N_s-s) \end{split}$$

where the last integral is in the Stieltjes sense of Proposition 2.5.10, hence Relations (6.2.12) and (6.2.13) hold. Next, Relation (6.2.14) follows from (6.2.11) and (6.2.9) as

$$C_{n+1}(k,t) = \frac{t^{n+1}}{p_k(t)} \frac{\partial^{n+1} p_k}{\partial t^{n+1}}(t)$$

= $-\frac{t^{n+1}}{p_k(t)} \frac{\partial^n p_k}{\partial t^n}(t) + \frac{t^{n+1}}{p_k(t)} \frac{\partial^n p_{k-1}}{\partial t^n}(t)$
= $-t \frac{t^n}{p_k(t)} \frac{\partial^n p_k}{\partial t^n}(t) + k \frac{t^n}{p_{k-1}(t)} \frac{\partial^n p_{k-1}}{\partial t^n}(t)$
= $-tC_n(k,t) + kC_n(k-1,t).$

Finally, using Relation (6.2.14) we have

$$\frac{\partial \psi_{\lambda}}{\partial \lambda}(k,t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} C_n(k,t)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} C_{n+1}(k,t)$$
$$= -t\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} C_n(k-1,t) + k\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} C_n(k,t)$$
$$= -t\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} C_n(k-1,t) + k\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} C_n(k,t)$$
$$= -t\psi_{\lambda}(k,t) + k\psi_{\lambda}(k-1,t),$$

 $\lambda \in (-1,1)$, hence the generating function $\psi_{\lambda}(k,t)$ satisfies the differential equation

$$\frac{\partial \psi_{\lambda}}{\partial \lambda}(k,t) = -\lambda \psi_{\lambda}(k,t) + k \psi_{\lambda}(k-1,t), \quad \psi_0(k,t) = 1, \quad k \ge 1,$$

which yields (6.2.15) by induction on k.

We also have

$$\frac{\partial^k p_k}{\partial t^k}(t) = (-\Delta)^k p_k(t).$$

The next proposition links the Charlier polynomials with multiple Poisson stochastic integrals.

Proposition 6.2.9. The multiple Poisson stochastic integral of the function

$$\mathbf{1}_{A_1}^{\otimes k_1} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_d}^{\otimes k_d}$$

satisfies

$$I_n(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}^{\otimes k_1} \circ \dots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_d}^{\otimes k_d})(\omega) = \prod_{i=1}^d C_{k_i}(\omega(A_i), \sigma(A_i)), \qquad (6.2.16)$$

provided that A_1, \ldots, A_d are mutually disjoint compact subsets of X and $n = k_1 + \cdots + k_d$.

Proof. We have

$$I_0(\mathbf{1}_A^{\otimes 0}) = 1 = C_0(\omega(A), \sigma(A)),$$

and

$$I_1(\mathbf{1}_A)(\omega) = \omega(A) - \sigma(A) = C_1(\omega(A), \sigma(A))$$

On the other hand, by Proposition 6.2.5 we have the recurrence relation

$$I_{1}(\mathbf{1}_{B})I_{k}(\mathbf{1}_{A}^{\otimes k})$$

= $I_{k+1}(\mathbf{1}_{A}^{\otimes k} \circ \mathbf{1}_{B}) + kI_{k}(\mathbf{1}_{A\cap B} \circ \mathbf{1}_{A}^{\otimes (k-1)}) + k\sigma(A\cap B)I_{k-1}(\mathbf{1}_{A}^{\otimes (k-1)}),$

which, when A = B, coincides with the Relation (6.2.7) that defines the Charlier polynomials, hence by induction on $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we obtain

$$I_k(\mathbf{1}_A^{\otimes k})(\omega) = C_k(\omega(A)).$$

Finally from (6.2.6) we have

$$I_n(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}^{\otimes k_1} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_d}^{\otimes k_d}) = \prod_{i=1}^d I_{k_i}(\mathbf{1}_{A_i}^{\otimes k_i})$$
$$= \prod_{i=1}^d C_{k_i}(\omega(A_i), \sigma(A_i)),$$

which shows (6.2.16).

In this way we recover the orthogonality properties of the Charlier polynomials with respect to the Poisson distribution, with $t = \sigma(A)$:

$$\langle C_n(\cdot,t), C_m(\cdot,t) \rangle_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N},p_{\cdot}(t))} = e^{-t} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^k}{k!} C_n(k,t) C_m(k,t)$$

$$= \mathbb{E}[C_n(\omega(A),t) C_m(\omega(A),t)]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}[I_n(\mathbf{1}_A^{\otimes n}) I_m(\mathbf{1}_A^{\otimes m})]$$

$$= \mathbf{1}_{\{n=m\}} n! t^n.$$

$$(6.2.17)$$

The next lemma is the Poisson space version of Lemma 5.1.6.

Lemma 6.2.10. Let F of the form

$$F(\omega) = g(\omega(A_1), \dots, \omega(A_k))$$

where

$$\sum_{l_1,\dots,l_k=0}^{\infty} |g(l_1,\dots,l_k)|^2 p_{l_1}(\sigma(A_1)) \cdots p_{l_k}(\sigma(A_k)) < \infty,$$
 (6.2.18)

and A_1, \ldots, A_k are compact disjoint subsets of X. Then F admits the chaos expansion

$$F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n),$$

where for all $n \ge 1$, $I_n(f_n)$ can be written as a linear combination

$$I_n(f_n)(\omega) = P_n(\omega(A_1), \dots, \omega(A_n), \sigma(A_1), \dots, \sigma(A_n))$$

of multivariate Charlier polynomials

$$C_{l_1}(\omega(A_1), \sigma(A_1)) \cdots C_{l_k}(\omega(A_k), \sigma(A_k)).$$

Proof. We decompose g satisfying (6.2.18) as an orthogonal series

$$g(i_1,\ldots,i_k) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n(i_1,\ldots,i_n,\sigma(A_1),\ldots,\sigma(A_n)),$$

where

$$P_n(i_1,\ldots,i_k,\sigma(A_1),\ldots,\sigma(A_k))$$

= $\sum_{l_1+\cdots+l_k=n} \alpha_{l_1,\ldots,l_k} C_{l_1}(i_1,\sigma(A_1))\cdots C_{l_k}(i_k,\sigma(A_k))$

is a linear combination of multivariate Charlier polynomials of degree n which is identified to the multiple stochastic integral

$$P_n(\omega(A_1), \dots, \omega(A_n), \sigma(A_1), \dots \sigma(A_n))$$

$$= \sum_{l_1 + \dots + l_k = n} \alpha_{l_1, \dots, l_k} I_n(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}^{\otimes k_1} \circ \dots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_d}^{\otimes k_d})$$

$$= I_n\left(\sum_{l_1 + \dots + l_k = n} \alpha_{l_1, \dots, l_k} \mathbf{1}_{A_1}^{\otimes k_1} \circ \dots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_d}^{\otimes k_d}\right)$$

$$= I_n(f_n),$$

by Proposition 6.2.9.

6.3 Chaos Representation Property

The following expression of the exponential vector

$$\xi(u) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} I_n(u^{\otimes n})$$

is referred to as the Doléans exponential.

Proposition 6.3.1. For all $u \in L^2(X)$ we have

$$\xi(u) = \exp\left(\int_X u(x)(\omega(dx) - \sigma(dx))\right) \prod_{x \in \omega} ((1 + u(x))e^{-u(x)}).$$

Proof. The case $X = \mathbb{R}_+$ is treated in Proposition 2.13.1, in particular when $\phi_t = 1, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, and the extension to X a metric space is obtained using the isomorphism $\tau : X \to \mathbb{R}_+$ of Proposition 6.1.7.

In particular, from Proposition 6.2.9 the exponential vector $\xi(\lambda \mathbf{1}_A)$ satisfies

$$\xi(\lambda \mathbf{1}_A) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} C_n(\omega(A), \sigma(A))$$

211 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

$$= e^{-\lambda\sigma(A)} (1+\lambda)^{\omega(A)}$$
$$= \psi_{\lambda}(\omega(A), \sigma(A)).$$

Next we show that the Poisson measure has the chaos representation property, i.e. every square-integrable functional on Poisson space has an orthogonal decomposition in a series of multiple stochastic integrals.

Proposition 6.3.2. Every square-integrable random variable $F \in L^2(\Omega^X, \pi_{\sigma})$ admits the Wiener-Poisson decomposition

$$F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n)$$

in series of multiple stochastic integrals.

Proof. A modification of the proof of Theorem 4.1 in [52], cf. also Theorem 1.3 of [70], shows that the linear space spanned by

$$\left\{ e^{-\int_X u(x)\sigma(dx)} \prod_{x \in \omega} (1+u(x)) : u \in \mathcal{C}_c(X) \right\}$$

is dense in $L^2(\Omega^X)$. This concludes the proof since this space is contained in the closure of S in $L^2(\Omega^X)$.

As a corollary, the standard Poisson process $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ has the chaos representation property.

As in the Wiener case, cf. Relation (5.1.8), Proposition 6.3.2 implies that any $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ has a chaos decomposition

$$F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(g_n),$$

where

$$I_{n}(g_{n}) = \sum_{d=1}^{n} \sum_{k_{1}+\dots+k_{d}=n} \frac{1}{k_{1}!\cdots k_{d}!} I_{n}(u_{1}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ u_{d}^{\otimes k_{d}}) \mathbb{E}[FI_{n}(u_{1}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ u_{d}^{\otimes k_{d}})],$$
(6.3.1)

for any orthonormal basis $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of $L^2(X, \sigma)$, which completes the statement of Lemma 6.2.10.

Consider now the compound Poisson process

$$Y_t = \sum_{k=1}^{N_t} Y_k,$$

of Definition 2.4.1, where $(Y_k)_{k\geq 1}$ is an i.i.d. sequence of random variables with distribution μ on \mathbb{R}^d and $(N_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ is a Poisson process with intensity $\lambda > 0$, can be constructed as

$$Y_t = \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} x\omega(ds, dx), \qquad (6.3.2)$$

by taking $X = \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\sigma(ds, dx) = \lambda ds \mu(dx)$. The compensated compound Poisson process

$$X_t = \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N_t} Y_k\right) - \lambda t \mathbb{E}[Y_1], \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

of Section 2.4 has the chaos representation property if and only if Y_k is a.s. constant, i.e. when $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is the compensated Poisson martingale, cf. Section 2.10 and Proposition 4.2.4.

Next we turn to some practical computations of chaos expansions in the Poisson case. In particular, from (6.2.17) we deduce the orthogonal expansion

$$\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t-N_s=n\}} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!(t-s)^k} \langle \mathbf{1}_{\{n\}}, C_k^{t-s} \rangle_{\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}, p^{t-s})} C_k^{t-s} (N_t - N_s),$$

 $0 \le s \le t, n \in \mathbb{N}$, hence from (6.2.11):

$$\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t - N_s = n\}} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} p_n^{(k)}(t-s) I_k(\mathbf{1}_{[s,t]}^{\otimes k}),$$
(6.3.3)

 $0\leq s\leq t,\,n\in\mathbb{N}.$

From (6.3.3) we obtain for s = 0 and $n \ge 1$:

$$\mathbf{1}_{[T_n,\infty[}(t) = \mathbf{1}_{\{N_t \ge n\}}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{l \ge n} \frac{1}{k!} p_l^{(k)}(t) I_k(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}^{\otimes k})$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \partial^k P_n(t) I_k(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}^{\otimes k}),$$
(6.3.4)

where

$$P_n(t) = \int_0^t p_{n-1}(s) ds, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(6.3.5)

is the distribution function of T_n and $p_n(s)$ is defined in (2.3.1).

More generally, we have the following result.

Proposition 6.3.3. Let $f \in \mathcal{C}_b^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$. We have

$$f(T_n) = -\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} I_k \left(\int_{t_1 \vee \dots \vee t_k}^{\infty} f'(s) P_n^{(k)}(s) ds \right),$$
(6.3.6)

where $t_1 \vee \cdots \vee t_n = \max(t_1, \ldots, t_n), t_1, \ldots, t_n \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

Proof. We have

$$\begin{split} f(T_n) &= -\int_0^\infty f'(s) \mathbf{1}_{[T_n,\infty)}(s) ds \\ &= -\int_0^\infty f'(s) \sum_{k=0}^\infty \frac{1}{k!} P_n^{(k)}(s) I_k(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]}^{\otimes k}) ds \\ &= -\sum_{k=0}^\infty \frac{1}{k!} \int_0^\infty f'(s) P_n^{(k)}(s) I_k(\mathbf{1}_{[0,s]}^{\otimes k}) ds \\ &= -\sum_{k=0}^\infty \int_0^\infty f'(s) P_n^{(k)}(s) \int_0^s \int_0^{t_k} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} d\tilde{N}_{t_1} \cdots d\tilde{N}_{t_k} ds \\ &= -\sum_{k=0}^\infty \int_0^\infty f'(s) P_n^{(k)}(s) \int_0^\infty \int_0^{t_k} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} \mathbf{1}_{[0,s]}(t_1 \vee \cdots \vee t_k) d\tilde{N}_{t_1} \cdots d\tilde{N}_{t_k} ds \\ &= -\sum_{k=0}^\infty \int_0^\infty \left(\int_{t_k}^\infty f'(s) P_n^{(k)}(s) ds \int_0^{t_k} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} d\tilde{N}_{t_1} \cdots d\tilde{N}_{t_{k-1}}, \right) d\tilde{N}_{t_k}. \end{split}$$

Note that Relation (6.3.6) can be rewritten after integration by parts on \mathbb{R}_+ as

$$f(T_n)$$
(6.3.7)
= $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} I_k \left(f(t_1 \lor \cdots \lor t_k) P_n^{(k)}(t_1 \lor \cdots \lor t_k) + \int_{t_1 \lor \cdots \lor t_k}^{\infty} f(s) P_n^{(k+1)}(s) ds \right),$

and then extends to all $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, t^{n-1}e^{-t}dt)$.

Next we state a result for smooth functions of a finite number of jump times. As a convention, if $k_1 \ge 0, \ldots, k_d \ge 0$ satisfy $k_1 + \cdots + k_d = n$, we define

$$(t_1^1, \dots, t_{k_1}^1, t_1^2, \dots, t_{k_2}^2, \dots, t_1^d, \dots, t_{k_d}^d)$$

as

$$(t_1^1, \dots, t_{k_1}^1, t_1^2, \dots, t_{k_2}^2, \dots, t_1^d, \dots, t_{k_d}^d) = (t_1, \dots, t_n).$$

The next result extends Proposition 6.3.3 to the multivariate case. Its proof uses only Poisson-Charlier orthogonal expansions instead of using Proposition 4.2.5 and the gradient operator D.

Proposition 6.3.4. Let $n_1, \ldots, n_d \in \mathbb{N}$ with $1 \leq n_1 < \cdots < n_d$, and let $f \in \mathcal{C}^d_c(\Delta_d)$. The chaos expansion of $f(T_{n_1}, \ldots, T_{n_d})$ is given as

$$f(T_{n_1},...,T_{n_d}) = (-1)^d \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(\mathbf{1}_{\Delta_n}h_n),$$

where

$$h_{n}(t_{1},\ldots,t_{n}) =$$

$$\sum_{\substack{k_{1}+\cdots+k_{d}=n\\k_{1}\geq0,\ldots,k_{d}\geq0}} \int_{t_{k_{d}}^{d}}^{\infty} \cdots \int_{t_{k_{i}}^{i_{1}+1}}^{t_{1}^{i+1}} \cdots \int_{t_{k_{1}}^{i_{1}}}^{t_{1}^{2}} \partial_{1} \cdots \partial_{d}f(s_{1},\ldots,s_{d}) K_{s_{1},\ldots,s_{d}}^{k_{1},\ldots,k_{d}} ds_{1} \cdots ds_{d},$$
(6.3.8)

with, for $0 = s_0 \leq s_1 \leq \cdots \leq s_d$ and $k_1, \ldots, k_d \in \mathbb{N}$:

$$K_{s_1,\dots,s_d}^{k_1,\dots,k_d} = \sum_{\substack{m_1 \ge n_1,\dots,m_d \ge n_d \\ 0 = m_0 \le m_1 \le \dots \le m_d}} p_{m_1-m_0}^{(k_1)}(s_1-s_0)\cdots p_{m_d-m_{d-1}}^{(k_d)}(s_d-s_{d-1}).$$

Proof. Let $0 = s_0 \leq s_1 \leq \cdots \leq s_d$, and $n_1, \ldots, n_d \in \mathbb{N}$. We have from (6.3.3) and (6.2.16):

$$\begin{split} \prod_{i=1}^{d} \mathbf{1}_{\{N_{s_{i}}-N_{s_{i-1}}=n_{i}\}} &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{k_{1}+\cdots+k_{d}=n\\k_{1}\geq0,\cdots,k_{d}\geq0}} \frac{1}{k_{1}!\cdots k_{d}!} \\ &\prod_{i=1}^{d} p_{m_{i}-m_{i-1}}^{(k_{i})}(s_{i}-s_{i-1})I_{k_{1}}(\mathbf{1}_{[s_{0},s_{1}]}^{\otimes k_{1}})\cdots I_{k_{d}}(\mathbf{1}_{[s_{d-1},s_{d}]}^{\otimes k_{d}}) \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{k_{1}+\cdots+k_{d}=n\\k_{1}\geq0,\cdots,k_{d}\geq0}} \frac{1}{k_{1}!\cdots k_{d}!} \\ &\prod_{i=1}^{d} p_{m_{i}-m_{i-1}}^{(k_{i})}(s_{i}-s_{i-1})I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[s_{0},s_{1}]}^{\otimes k_{1}}\circ\cdots\circ\mathbf{1}_{[s_{d-1},s_{d}]}^{\otimes k_{d}}), \end{split}$$

where the last equality used the assumption $s_1 \leq \cdots \leq s_d$. Now, with $0 = m_0 \leq m_1 \leq \cdots \leq m_d$,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{1}_{[T_{m_1},T_{m_1+1}[(s_1)\cdots\mathbf{1}_{[T_{m_d},T_{m_d+1}[}(s_d)=\mathbf{1}_{\{N_{s_1}=m_1\}}\cdots\mathbf{1}_{\{N_{s_d}=m_d\}} \\ &=\mathbf{1}_{\{N_{s_1}-N_{s_0}=m_1-m_0\}}\cdots\mathbf{1}_{\{N_{s_d}-N_{s_{d-1}}=m_d-m_{d-1}\}} \end{aligned}$$

$$=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\sum_{\substack{k_{1}+\cdots+k_{d}=n\\k_{1}\geq0,\cdots,k_{d}\geq0}}\frac{1}{k_{1}!\cdots k_{d}!}$$
$$\prod_{i=1}^{d}p_{m_{i}-m_{i-1}}^{(k_{i})}(s_{i}-s_{i-1})I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[s_{0},s_{1}]}^{\otimes k_{1}}\circ\cdots\circ\mathbf{1}_{[s_{d-1},s_{d}]}^{\otimes k_{d}}).$$

Given that $s_1 \leq \cdots \leq s_d$, for any i < j the conditions $s_i \in [T_{m_i}, T_{m_{i+1}})$ and $s_j \in [T_{m_j}, T_{m_{j+1}})$ imply $m_i \leq m_j$, hence

$$\begin{split} &\prod_{i=1}^{d} \mathbf{1}_{[T_{n_{i}},\infty)}(s_{i}) = \sum_{\substack{m_{1} \geq n_{1},\dots,m_{d} \geq n_{d} \\ 0 = m_{0} \leq m_{1} \leq \dots \leq m_{d}}} \mathbf{1}_{[T_{m_{1}},T_{m_{1}+1}]}(s_{1})\cdots \mathbf{1}_{[T_{m_{d}},T_{m_{d}+1}]}(s_{d}) \\ &= \sum_{\substack{m_{1} \geq n_{1},\dots,m_{d} \geq n_{d} \\ 0 = m_{0} \leq m_{1} \leq \dots \leq m_{d}}} \mathbf{1}_{\{N_{s_{1}}=m_{1}\}}\cdots \mathbf{1}_{\{N_{s_{d}}=m_{d}\}} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{m_{1} \geq n_{1},\dots,m_{d} \geq n_{d} \\ 0 = m_{0} \leq m_{1} \leq \dots \leq m_{d}}} \sum_{\substack{1\{N_{s_{1}}=N_{s_{0}}=m_{1}-m_{0}\} \cdots \mathbf{1}_{\{N_{s_{d}}-N_{s_{d-1}}=m_{d}-m_{d-1}\}}} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{k_{1}+\dots+k_{d}=n \\ k_{1} \geq 0,\dots,k_{d} \geq 0}} \frac{1}{k_{1}!\cdots k_{d}!} \\ &\sum_{\substack{n=0 \ m_{1} \geq n_{1},\dots,m_{d} \geq n_{d} \\ 0 = m_{0} \leq m_{1} \leq \dots \leq m_{d}}} p_{m_{1}-m_{0}}(s_{1}-s_{0})\cdots p_{m_{d}-m_{d-1}}(s_{d}-s_{d-1}) \\ &I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[s_{0},s_{1}]}^{\otimes k_{1}}\circ\cdots\circ\mathbf{1}_{[s_{d-1},s_{d}]}^{\otimes k_{d}}) \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{k_{1}+\dots+k_{d}=n \\ k_{1} \geq 0,\dots,k_{d} \geq 0}} \frac{1}{k_{1}!\cdots k_{d}!} K_{s_{1},\dots,s_{d}}^{k_{1},\dots,k_{d}} I_{n}(\mathbf{1}_{[s_{0},s_{1}]}^{\otimes k_{1}}\circ\cdots\circ\mathbf{1}_{[s_{d-1},s_{d}]}^{\otimes k_{d}}). \end{split}$$

Given $f \in \mathcal{C}_c^d(\Delta_d)$, using the identity

$$\begin{aligned} f(T_{n_1},\ldots,T_{n_d}) \\ &= (-1)^d \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty \mathbf{1}_{[T_{n_1},\infty[}(s_1)\cdots \mathbf{1}_{[T_{n_d},\infty[}(s_d)\frac{\partial^d}{\partial_1\cdots\partial_d}f(s_1,\ldots,s_d)ds_1\cdots ds_d] \\ &= (-1)^d \int_{\Delta_d} \mathbf{1}_{[T_{n_1},\infty[}(s_1)\cdots \mathbf{1}_{[T_{n_d},\infty[}(s_d)\frac{\partial^d}{\partial_1\cdots\partial_d}f(s_1,\ldots,s_d)ds_1\cdots ds_d] \end{aligned}$$

we get

$$f(T_{n_1},\ldots,T_{n_d}) = (-1)^d \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{k_1 + \cdots + k_d = n \\ k_1 \ge 0,\ldots, k_d \ge 0}} \frac{1}{k_1! \cdots k_d!}$$

216 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

Q

$$\int_{\Delta_d} \frac{\partial^d}{\partial_1 \cdots \partial_d} f(s_1, \dots, s_d) K_{s_1, \dots, s_d}^{k_1, \dots, k_d} I_n(\mathbf{1}_{[s_0, s_1]}^{\otimes k_1} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{[s_{d-1}, s_d]}^{\otimes k_d}) ds_1 \cdots ds_d.$$

From (6.2.16), we have for $s_1 \leq \cdots \leq s_d$ and $k_1 \geq 0, \ldots, k_d \geq 0$:

$$I_{n}\left(\mathbf{1}_{[s_{0},s_{1}]}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{[s_{d-1},s_{d}]}^{\otimes k_{d}}\right) = k_{1}! \cdots k_{d}! \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t_{k_{d}}^{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}^{1}} \mathbf{1}_{[s_{0},s_{1}]}^{\otimes 2}(t_{1}^{1}, t_{k_{1}}^{1}) \cdots \mathbf{1}_{[s_{d-1},s_{d}]}^{\otimes 2}(t_{1}^{d}, t_{k_{d}}^{d}) \\ d\tilde{N}_{t_{1}^{1}} \cdots d\tilde{N}_{t_{k_{d}}^{d}},$$

hence by exchange of deterministic and stochastic integrals we obtain

$$f(T_{n_1}, \dots, T_{n_d}) = (-1)^d \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{k_1 + \dots + k_d = n \\ k_1 \ge 0, \dots, k_d \ge 0}} I_n \left(\mathbf{1}_{\Delta_n} \int_{t_{k_d}^d}^{\infty} \int_{t_{k_{d-1}}^{d-1}}^{t_d^d} \cdots \int_{t_{k_2}^2}^{t_1^3} \int_{t_{k_1}^1}^{t_1^2} \frac{\partial^d f}{\partial s_1 \cdots \partial s_d} (s_1, \dots, s_d) K_{s_1, \dots, s_d}^{k_1, \dots, k_d} ds_1 \cdots ds_d \right).$$

Remarks

i) All expressions obtained above for $f(T_1, \ldots, T_d)$, $f \in \mathcal{C}_b^{\infty}(\Delta_d)$, extend to $f \in L^2(\Delta_d, e^{-s_d} ds_1 \cdots ds_d)$, i.e. to square-integrable $f(T_1, \ldots, T_d)$, by repeated integrations by parts.

ii) Chaotic decompositions on the Poisson space on the compact interval [0,1] as in [83] or [84] can be obtained by considering the functional $f(1 \wedge T_1, \ldots, 1 \wedge T_d)$ instead of $f(T_1, \ldots, T_d)$.

6.4 Finite Difference Gradient

In this section we study the probabilistic interpretation and the extension to the Poisson space on X of the operators D and δ defined in Definitions 4.1.1 and 4.1.2.

Let the spaces S and U of Section 3.1 be taken equal to

$$S = \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{n} I_k(f_k) : f_k \in L^4(X)^{\circ k}, \ k = 0, \dots, n, \ n \in \mathbb{N} \right\},\$$

and

$$\mathcal{U} = \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{n} I_k(g_k(*, \cdot)) : g_k \in L^2(X)^{\circ k} \otimes L^2(X), \ k = 0, \dots, n, \ n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

Definition 6.4.1. Let the linear, unbounded, closable operators

$$D^X: L^2(\Omega^X, \pi_\sigma) \to L^2(\Omega^X \times X, \mathbb{P} \otimes \sigma)$$

and

$$\delta^X : L^2(\Omega^X \times X, \mathbb{P} \otimes \sigma) \to L^2(\Omega^X, \mathbb{P})$$

be defined on ${\mathcal S}$ and ${\mathcal U}$ respectively by

$$D_x^X I_n(f_n) := n I_{n-1}(f_n(*, x)), \tag{6.4.1}$$

 $\pi_{\sigma}(d\omega) \otimes \sigma(dx)$ -a.e., $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $f_n \in L^2(X, \sigma)^{\circ n}$, and

$$\delta^X(I_n(f_{n+1}(*,\cdot))) := I_{n+1}(\tilde{f}_{n+1}), \qquad (6.4.2)$$

 $\pi_{\sigma}(d\omega)\text{-}a.s., n \in \mathbb{N}, f_{n+1} \in L^2(X,\sigma)^{\circ n} \otimes L^2(X,\sigma).$

In particular we have

$$\delta^X(f) = I_1(f) = \int_X f(x)(\omega(dx) - \sigma(dx)), \qquad f \in L^2(X, \sigma),$$
 (6.4.3)

and

$$\delta^X(\mathbf{1}_A) = \omega(A) - \sigma(A), \qquad A \in \mathcal{B}(X), \tag{6.4.4}$$

and the Skorohod integral has zero expectation:

$$\mathbb{E}[\delta^X(u)] = 0, \qquad u \in \text{Dom}\,(\delta^X). \tag{6.4.5}$$

In case $X = \mathbb{R}_+$ we simply write D and δ instead of $D^{\mathbb{R}_+}$ and $\delta^{\mathbb{R}_+}$.

Note that using the mapping τ of Proposition 6.1.7 we have the relations

$$(D_{\tau(x)}F) \circ \tau^* = D_x^X(F \circ \tau^*), \qquad \pi_\sigma(d\omega) \otimes \sigma(dx) - a.e.$$

and

$$\delta(u_{\tau(\cdot)}) \circ \tau^* = \delta^X(u_{\cdot} \circ \tau^*), \qquad \pi_\sigma(d\omega) - a.e.$$

From these relations and Proposition 4.1.4 we have the following proposition. **Proposition 6.4.2.** For any $u \in \mathcal{U}$ we have

$$D_x^X \delta^X(u) = u(x) + \delta^X(D_x^X u).$$
 (6.4.6)

Let $\operatorname{Dom}(D^X)$ denote the set of functionals $F: \Omega^X \to \mathbb{R}$ with the expansion

$$F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n)$$

such that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! n \|f_n\|_{L^2(X^n, \sigma^{\otimes n})}^2 < \infty,$$

and let $\mathrm{Dom}\,(\delta^X)$ denote the set of processes $u:\, \varOmega^X\times X\to \mathbb{R}$ with the expansion

$$u(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_{n+1}(*, x)), \qquad x \in X_s$$

such that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+1)! \|\tilde{f}_{n+1}\|_{L^2(X^{n+1},\sigma^{\otimes (n+1)})}^2 < \infty.$$

The following duality relation can be obtained by transfer from Proposition 4.1.3 using Proposition 6.1.8. Here we also provide a direct proof.

Proposition 6.4.3. The operators D^X and δ^X satisfy the duality relation

$$\mathbb{E}[\langle D^X F, u \rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)}] = \mathbb{E}[F\delta^X(u)], \qquad (6.4.7)$$

 $F \in \text{Dom}(D^X), \ u \in \text{Dom}(\delta^X).$

Proof. The proof is identical to those of Propositions 1.8.2 and 4.1.3, and follows from the isometry formula (6.2.4). We consider $F = I_n(f_n)$ and $u_x = I_m(g_{m+1}(*,x)), x \in X, f_n \in L^2(X)^{\circ n}, g_{m+1} \in L^2(X)^{\circ m} \otimes L^2(X)$. We have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[F\delta^{X}(u)] &= \mathbb{E}[I_{m+1}(\tilde{g}_{m+1})I_{n}(f_{n})] \\ &= n!\mathbf{1}_{\{n=m+1\}}\langle f_{n}, \tilde{g}_{n}\rangle_{L^{2}(X^{n})} \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{n-1=m\}}\int_{X^{n}}f_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n-1}, x)g_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n-1}, x) \\ &\sigma(dx_{1})\cdots\sigma(dx_{n-1})\sigma(dx) \\ &= n\mathbf{1}_{\{n-1=m\}}\int_{0}^{\infty}\mathbb{E}[I_{n-1}(f_{n}(*, t))I_{n-1}(g_{n}(*, t))]dt \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\langle D_{\cdot}^{X}I_{n}(f_{n}), I_{m}(g_{m+1}(*, \cdot))\rangle_{L^{2}(X, \sigma)}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\langle D^{X}F, u\rangle_{L^{2}(X, \sigma)}]. \end{split}$$

Again, we may alternatively use the mapping $\tau : X \to \mathbb{R}$ to prove this proposition from Proposition 4.1.3.

Propositions 3.1.2 and 6.4.3 show in particular that D^X is closable.

The next lemma gives the probabilistic interpretation of the gradient D^X .

Lemma 6.4.4. For any F of the form

$$F = f(I_1(u_1), \dots, I_1(u_n)), \tag{6.4.8}$$

with $u_1, \ldots, u_n \in \mathcal{C}_c(X)$, and f is a bounded and continuous function, or a polynomial on \mathbb{R}^n , we have $F \in \text{Dom}(D^X)$ and

$$D_x^X F(\omega) = F(\omega \cup \{x\}) - F(\omega), \qquad \mathbb{P} \otimes \sigma(d\omega, dx) - a.e., \qquad (6.4.9)$$

where as a convention we identify $\omega \in \Omega^X$ with its support.

Proof. We start by assuming that $u_1 = \mathbf{1}_{A_1}, \ldots, u_n = \mathbf{1}_{A_n}$, where A_1, \ldots, A_n are compact disjoint measurable subsets of X. In this case the proposition clearly holds for f polynomial from Proposition 6.2.9 and Relations (6.2.13), (6.2.16), which imply

$$\begin{split} D_x^X I_n(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}^{\otimes k_1} \circ \dots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_d}^{\otimes k_d})(\omega) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^d \mathbf{1}_{A_i}(x) k_i I_{k_i-1}(\mathbf{1}_{A_i}^{\otimes k_i-1})(\omega) \prod_{j \neq i} I_{k_j}(\mathbf{1}_{A_j}^{\otimes k_j})(\omega) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^d \mathbf{1}_{A_i}(x) k_i C_{k_i-1}(\omega(A_i), \sigma(A_i)) \prod_{j \neq i} C_{k_j}(\omega(A_j), \sigma(A_j)) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^d \mathbf{1}_{A_i}(x) (C_{k_i}(\omega(A_i) + \mathbf{1}, \sigma(A_i)) - C_{k_i}(\omega(A_i), \sigma(A_i))) \\ &\prod_{j \neq i} C_{k_j}(\omega(A_j), \sigma(A_j)) \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^n C_{k_i}(\omega(A_i) + \mathbf{1}_{A_i}(x), \sigma(A_i)) - \prod_{i=1}^n C_{k_i}(\omega(A_i), \sigma(A_i)) \\ &= I_n(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}^{\otimes k_1} \circ \dots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_d}^{\otimes k_d})(\omega \cup \{x\}) - I_n(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}^{\otimes k_1} \circ \dots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_d}^{\otimes k_d})(\omega), \end{split}$$

by (6.2.13).

If $f \in \mathcal{C}_b(\mathbb{R}^n)$, from Lemma 6.2.10 the functional

$$F := f(I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}), \dots, I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_n}))$$

has the chaotic decomposition

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} I_k(g_k),$$

where $I_k(g_k)$ is a polynomial in $\omega(A_1), \ldots, \omega(A_n)$. Let now

$$Q_k := \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{l=1}^k I_l(g_l), \qquad k \ge 1.$$

The sequence $(Q_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset S$ consists in polynomial functionals converging to F in $L^2(\Omega^X)$. By the Abel transformation of sums

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (f(k+1) - f(k)) C_n(k,\lambda) \frac{\lambda^k}{k!} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f(k) (k C_n(k-1,\lambda) - \lambda C_n(k,\lambda)) \frac{\lambda^{k-1}}{k!}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f(k) C_{n+1}(k,\lambda) \frac{\lambda^k}{k!}, \qquad (6.4.10)$$

with $C_n(0,\lambda) = (-\lambda)^n$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we get, with $\lambda = \sigma(A_i)$ and $l = k_1 + \dots + k_d$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[I_{l}\left(\mathbf{1}_{A_{1}}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_{d}}^{\otimes k_{d}}\right)\right) \times \left(f(I_{1}(\mathbf{1}_{A_{1}}), \ldots, I_{1}(\mathbf{1}_{A_{i}}) + 1, \ldots, I_{1}(\mathbf{1}_{A_{d}})) - f(I_{1}(\mathbf{1}_{A_{1}}), \ldots, I_{1}(\mathbf{1}_{A_{d}})))\right] \\
= \frac{1}{\sigma(A_{i})} \mathbb{E}[f(I_{1}(\mathbf{1}_{A_{1}}), \ldots, I_{1}(\mathbf{1}_{A_{d}}))I_{l+1}(\mathbf{1}_{A_{1}}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_{d}}^{\otimes k_{d}} \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_{i}})] \\
= \frac{1}{\sigma(A_{i})} \mathbb{E}[I_{l+1}(g_{l+1})I_{l+1}(\mathbf{1}_{A_{1}}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_{d}}^{\otimes k_{d}} \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_{i}})] \\
= \frac{(l+1)!}{\sigma(A_{i})} \langle g_{l+1}, \mathbf{1}_{A_{1}}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_{d}}^{\otimes k_{d}} \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_{i}} \rangle_{L^{2}(X^{l}, \sigma^{\otimes l})} \\
= \frac{1}{\sigma(A_{i})} \mathbb{E}[\langle D^{X}I_{l+1}(g_{l+1}), \mathbf{1}_{A_{i}} \rangle_{L^{2}(X, \sigma)}I_{l}(\mathbf{1}_{A_{1}}^{\otimes k_{1}} \circ \cdots \circ \mathbf{1}_{A_{d}}^{\otimes k_{d}})].$$

Hence the projection of

$$f(I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}),\ldots,I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_i})+1,\ldots,I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_d}))-f(I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}),\ldots,I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_d}))$$

on the chaos \mathcal{H}_l of order $l \in \mathbb{N}$ is

$$\frac{1}{\sigma(A_i)} \langle D^X I_{l+1}(g_{l+1}), \mathbf{1}_{A_i} \rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)},$$

and we have the chaotic decomposition

$$f(I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}), \dots, I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_i}) + 1, \dots, I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_d})) - f(I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}), \dots, I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_d}))$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sigma(A_i)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \langle D^X I_k(g_k), \mathbf{1}_{A_i} \rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)},$$

where the series converges in $L^2(\Omega^X)$. Hence

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{A_i} (f(I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}), \dots, I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_i}) + 1, \dots, I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_d})) - f(I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}), \dots, I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_d})))$$

$$\begin{split} &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{\sigma(A_i)} \mathbf{1}_{A_i} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \langle D^X I_k(g_k), \mathbf{1}_{A_i} \rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)} \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} D^X I_k(g_k) \\ &= \lim_{n \to \infty} D^X Q_n, \end{split}$$

which shows that $(D^X Q_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges in $L^2(\Omega^X \times X)$ to

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{1}_{A_i}(f(I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}),\ldots,I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_i})+1,\ldots,I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_d}))-f(I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_1}),\ldots,I_1(\mathbf{1}_{A_d}))).$$

The proof is concluded by the closability of D^X and approximation of functions in $\mathcal{C}_c(X)$ by linear combination of indicator functions.

Definition 6.4.5. Given a mapping $F : \Omega^X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$, let

$$\varepsilon_x^+ F: \Omega^X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R} \quad and \quad \varepsilon_x^- F: \Omega^X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R},$$

 $x \in X$, be defined by

$$(\varepsilon_x^- F)(\omega) = F(\omega \setminus x), \quad and \quad (\varepsilon_x^+ F)(\omega) = F(\omega \cup x), \quad \omega \in \Omega^X.$$

Note that Relation (6.4.9) can be written as

$$D_x^X F = \varepsilon_x^+ F - F, \qquad x \in X. \tag{6.4.11}$$

On the other hand, the result of Lemma 6.4.4 is clearly verified on simple functionals. For instance when $F = I_1(u)$ is a single Poisson stochastic integral, we have

$$\begin{aligned} D_x^X I_1(u)(\omega) &= I_1(u)(\omega \cup \{x\}) - I_1(u)(\omega) \\ &= \int_X u(y)(\omega(dy) + \epsilon_x(dy) - \sigma(dy)) - \int_X u(y)(\omega(dy) - \sigma(dy)) \\ &= \int_X u(y)\epsilon_x(dy) \\ &= u(x). \end{aligned}$$

Corollary 6.4.6. For all bounded F random variables and all measurable $A \in \mathcal{B}(X), 0 < \sigma(A) < \infty$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{A} F(\omega \cup \{x\})\sigma(dx)\right] = \mathbb{E}[F\omega(A)].$$
(6.4.12)

Proof. From Proposition 6.4.3, Lemma 6.4.4, and Relation (6.4.4) we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{A} F(\omega \cup \{x\})\sigma(dx)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{X} \mathbf{1}_{A}(x)D_{x}F\sigma(dx)\right] + \sigma(A)\mathbb{E}[F]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}[F\delta^X(\mathbf{1}_A)] + \sigma(A) \mathbb{E}[F]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[F\omega(A)].$$

 \square

Hence as in [154] we get that the law of the mapping $(x, \omega) \mapsto \omega \cup \{x\}$ under $\mathbf{1}_A(x)\sigma(dx)\pi_\sigma(d\omega)$ is absolutely continuous with respect to π_σ . In particular, $(\omega, x) \mapsto F(\omega \cup \{x\})$ is well-defined, $\pi_\sigma \otimes \sigma$ -a.e., and this justifies the extension of Lemma 6.4.4 in the next proposition.

Proposition 6.4.7. For any $F \in \text{Dom}(D^X)$ we have

$$D_x^X F(\omega) = F(\omega \cup \{x\}) - F(\omega),$$

 $\pi_{\sigma}(d\omega) \times \sigma(dx)$ -a.e.

Proof. There exists a sequence $(F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of functionals of the form (6.4.8), such that $(D^X F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges everywhere to $D^X F$ on a set A_F such that $(\pi_{\sigma} \otimes \sigma)(A_F^c) = 0$. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a measurable set $B_n \subset \Omega^X \times X$ such that $(\pi_{\sigma} \otimes \sigma)(B_n^c) = 0$ and

$$D_x^X F_n(\omega) = F_n(\omega \cup \{x\}) - F_n(\omega), \qquad (\omega, x) \in B_n.$$

Taking the limit as n goes to infinity on $(\omega, x) \in A_F \cap \bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n$, we get

$$D_x^X F(\omega) = F(\omega \cup \{x\}) - F(\omega), \qquad \pi_\sigma(d\omega) \times \sigma(dx) - a.e.$$

Proposition 6.4.7 also allows us to recover the annihilation property (6.4.1) of D^X , i.e.:

$$D_x^X I_n(f_n) = n I_{n-1}(f_n(*, x)), \qquad \sigma(dx) - a.e.$$
 (6.4.13)

Indeed, using the relation

$$\mathbf{1}_{\Delta_n}(x_1,\ldots,x_n)\epsilon_x(dx_i)\epsilon_x(dx_j)=0, \qquad i,j=1,\ldots,n,$$

we have for $f_n \in L^2(X, \sigma)^{\circ n}$:

$$\begin{aligned} D_x^X I_n(f_n) &= D_x^X \int_{\Delta_n} f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n) (\omega(dx_1) - \sigma(dx_1)) \cdots (\omega(dx_n) - \sigma(dx_n)) \\ &= \int_{\Delta_n} f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n) \prod_{i=1}^n (\omega(dx_i) - \sigma(dx_i) + (1 - \omega(\{x\})) \epsilon_x(dx_i)) \\ &- \int_{\Delta_n} f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n) (\omega(dx_1) - \sigma(dx_1)) \cdots (\omega(dx_n) - \sigma(dx_n)) \\ &= (1 - \omega(\{x\})) \sum_{i=1}^n \int_{\Delta_{n-1}} f_n(x_1, \dots, x, \dots, x_n) \prod_{1 \le k \ne i \le n} (\omega(dx_k) - \sigma(dx_k)) \end{aligned}$$

$$= (1 - \omega(\{x\})) \sum_{i=1}^{n} I_{n-1}(f_n(\underbrace{\cdots}_{i-1}, x, \underbrace{\cdots}_{n-i})), \qquad x \in X.$$

Hence we have for $f_n \in \mathcal{C}_c(X^n)$:

$$D_x^X I_n(f_n) = \mathbf{1}_{\{x \notin \omega\}} \sum_{i=1}^n I_{n-1}(f_n(\underbrace{\cdots}_{i-1}, x, \underbrace{\cdots}_{n-i})), \qquad x \in X,$$

and since f_n is symmetric,

$$D_x^X I_n(f_n) = \mathbf{1}_{\{x \notin \omega\}} n I_{n-1}(f_n(*, x)), \qquad x \in X,$$

from which we recover (6.4.13) since σ is diffuse.

Proposition 6.4.7 implies that D^X satisfies the following finite difference product rule.

Proposition 6.4.8. We have for $F, G \in S$:

$$D_x^X(FG) = FD_x^XG + GD_x^XF + D_x^XFD_x^XG,$$
 (6.4.14)

 $\mathbb{P}(d\omega)d\sigma(x)\text{-}a.e.$

Proof. This formula can be proved either from Propositions 4.5.2 and 6.1.8 with $\phi_t = 1, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, when $X = \mathbb{R}_+$, or directly from (6.4.9):

$$D_x^X(FG)(\omega) = F(\omega \cup \{x\})G(\omega \cup \{x\}) - F(\omega)G(\omega)$$

= $F(\omega)(G(\omega \cup \{x\}) - G(\omega)) + G(\omega)(F(\omega \cup \{x\}) - F(\omega))$
+ $(F(\omega \cup \{x\}) - F(\omega))(G(\omega \cup \{x\}) - G(\omega))$
= $F(\omega)D_x^XG(\omega) + G(\omega)D_x^XF(\omega) + D_x^XF(\omega)D_x^XG(\omega),$

 $d\mathbb{P} \times \sigma(dx)$ -a.e.

As a consequence of Proposition 6.4.7 above, when $X = \mathbb{R}_+$ the Clark formula Proposition 4.2.3 takes the following form when stated on the Poisson space.

Proposition 6.4.9. Assume that $X = \mathbb{R}_+$. For any $F \in \text{Dom}(D)$ we have

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[F(\omega \cup \{t\}) - F(\omega) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] d(N_t - t).$$

In case $X = \mathbb{R}_+$ the finite difference operator $D: L^2(\Omega) \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ can be written as

$$D_t F = \mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n\}} (f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, t, T_{N_t+1}, \dots, T_{n-1}) - f(T_1, \dots, T_n)), \quad (6.4.15)$$

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, for $F = f(T_1, \ldots, T_n)$, hence $\mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t]$ can be computed via the following lemma.

224 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

Lemma 6.4.10. Let $X = \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\sigma(dx) = dx$. For any F of the form $F = f(T_1, \ldots, T_n)$ we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n\}} \int_t^\infty e^{-(s_n - t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t + 3}} \\ & \left(f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, t, s_{N_t + 2}, \dots, s_n) - \int_t^{s_{N_t + 2}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t + 1}, \dots, s_n) ds_{N_t + 1} \right) \\ & ds_{N_t + 2} \cdots ds_n. \end{split}$$

Proof. By application of Proposition 2.3.6 we have

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n\}} \mathbb{E}[f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, t, T_{N_t+1}, \dots, T_{n-1}) - f(T_1, \dots, T_n) | \mathcal{F}_t] \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n - t)} \int_t^{s_n} \dots \int_t^{s_{N_t+3}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, t, s_{N_t+2}, \dots, s_n) \\ &ds_{N_t+2} \cdots ds_n \\ &- \mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n - t)} \int_t^{s_n} \dots \int_t^{s_{N_t+2}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t+1}, \dots, s_n) \\ &ds_{N_t+1} \cdots ds_n \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n - t)} \int_t^{s_n} \dots \int_t^{s_{N_t+3}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t+1}, \dots, s_n) ds_{N_t+1} \end{pmatrix} \\ &\left(f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, t, s_{N_t+2}, \dots, s_n) - \int_t^s f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t+1}, \dots, s_n) ds_{N_t+1} \right) \\ &ds_{N_t+2} \cdots ds_n. \end{split}$$

6.5 Divergence Operator

The adjoint δ^X of D^X satisfies the following divergence formula.

Proposition 6.5.1. Let $u : X \times \Omega^X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ and $F : \Omega^X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ such that $u(\cdot, \omega), D^X_{\cdot}F(\omega), \text{ and } u(\cdot, \omega)D^X_{\cdot}F(\omega) \in L^1(X, \sigma), \omega \in \Omega^X$. We have

$$F\delta^X(u) = \delta^X(uF) + \langle u, D^XF \rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)} + \delta^X(uD^XF).$$
(6.5.1)

The relation also holds if the series and integrals converge, or if $F \in \text{Dom}(D^X)$ and $u \in \text{Dom}(\delta^X)$ is such that $uD^X F \in \text{Dom}(\delta^X)$.

Proof. Relation (6.5.1) follows by duality from Proposition 6.4.8, or from Proposition 4.5.6 and Proposition 6.1.8.

In the next proposition, Relation (6.5.2) can be seen as a generalization of (6.2.14) in Proposition 6.2.8:

$$C_{n+1}(k,t) = kC_n(k-1,t) - tC_n(k,t),$$

which is recovered by taking $u = \mathbf{1}_A$ and $t = \sigma(A)$. The following statement provides a connection between the Skorohod integral and the Poisson stochastic integral.

Proposition 6.5.2. For all $u \in \text{Dom}(\delta^X)$ we have

$$\delta^X(u) = \int_X u_x(\omega \setminus \{x\})(\omega(dx) - \sigma(dx)).$$
(6.5.2)

Proof. The statement clearly holds by (6.4.3) when $g \in L^2(X, \sigma)$ is deterministic. Next we show using (6.5.1) that the identity also holds for a process of the form $u = gI_n(f_n), g \in L^2(X, \sigma)$, by induction on the order of the multiple stochastic integral $F = I_n(f_n)$. From (6.5.1) we have

$$\begin{split} \delta^X(gF) &= -\delta^X(gD^XF) + F\delta^X(g) - \langle D^XF,g\rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)} \\ &= -\int_X g(x)D_x^XF(\omega\backslash\{x\})\omega(dx) + \int_X g(x)D_x^XF(\omega\backslash\{x\})\sigma(dx) \\ &+ F\delta^X(g) - \langle D^XF,g\rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)} \\ &= -\int_X g(x)F(\omega)\omega(dx) + \int_X g(x)F(\omega\backslash\{x\})\omega(dx) + \langle D^XF(\omega),g\rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)} \\ &+ F\delta^X(g) - \langle D^XF,g\rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)} \\ &= -F(\omega)\int_X g(x)\sigma(dx) + \int_X g(x)F(\omega\backslash\{x\})\omega(dx) \\ &= \int_X g(x)F(\omega\backslash\{x\})\omega(dx) - \int_X g(x)F(\omega\backslash\{x\})\sigma(dx). \end{split}$$

We used the fact that since σ is diffuse on X, for $u: X \times \Omega^X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$u_x(\omega \setminus \{x\}) = u_x(\omega), \qquad \sigma(dx) - a.e., \quad \omega \in \Omega^X,$$

hence

$$\int_{X} u_x(\omega \setminus \{x\}) \sigma(dx) = \int_{X} u_x(\omega) \sigma(dx), \qquad \omega \in \Omega^X, \tag{6.5.3}$$

and

$$\delta^X(u) = \int_X u_x(\omega \setminus \{x\}) \omega(dx) - \int_X u_x(\omega) \sigma(dx), \qquad u \in \text{Dom}\,(\delta^X).$$

Note that (6.5.1) can also be recovered from (6.5.2) using a simple trajectorial argument. For $x \in \omega$ we have

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_x^- D_x^X F(\omega) &= \varepsilon_x^- \varepsilon_x^+ F(\omega) - \varepsilon_x^- F(\omega) \\ &= F(\omega) - \varepsilon_x^- F(\omega) \\ &= F(\omega) - F(\omega \setminus \{x\}), \end{split}$$

226 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

hence

$$\begin{split} \delta^{X}(uD^{X}F)(\omega) \\ &= \int_{X} u_{x}(\omega \backslash \{x\}) D_{x}^{X}F(\omega \backslash \{x\})\omega(dx) - \int_{X} u_{x}(\omega \backslash \{x\}) D_{x}^{X}F(\omega \backslash \{x\})\sigma(dx) \\ &= \int_{X} u_{x}(\omega \backslash \{x\})F(\omega)\omega(dx) - \int_{X} u_{x}(\omega \backslash \{x\})F(\omega \backslash \{x\})\omega(dx) \\ &- \langle D^{X}F(\omega), u(\omega) \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} \\ &= F(\omega)\delta^{X}(u)(\omega) - \delta^{X}(uF)(\omega) - \langle D^{X}F(\omega), u(\omega) \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)}, \end{split}$$

since from Relation (6.5.3),

$$\begin{split} F(\omega) \int_X u_x(\omega \setminus \{x\}) \sigma(dx) &= F(\omega) \int_X u_x(\omega) \sigma(dx) \\ &= \int_X F(\omega \setminus \{x\}) u_x(\omega \setminus \{x\}) \sigma(dx). \end{split}$$

Relation (6.5.2) can also be proved using Relation (6.2.3).

In case $X = \mathbb{R}_+$, Proposition 6.5.2 yields Proposition 2.5.10 since u_{t^-} does not depend on the presence of a jump at time t. On the other hand, Proposition 4.3.4 can be written as follows.

Proposition 6.5.3. When $X = \mathbb{R}_+$, for any square-integrable adapted process $(u_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+} \in L^2_{ad}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ we have

$$\delta(u) = \int_0^\infty u_t d(N_t - t).$$

The following is the Skorohod isometry on the Poisson space, which follows here from Proposition 6.5.1, or from Propositions 4.3.1 and 6.1.8.

Proposition 6.5.4. For $u : \Omega^X \times X \to \mathbb{R}$ measurable and sufficiently integrable we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}\left[|\delta^{X}(u)|^{2}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\|u\|_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)}^{2}\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{X}\int_{X}D_{x}^{X}u(y)D_{y}^{X}u(x)\sigma(dx)\sigma(dy)\right].$$
(6.5.4)

Proof. Applying Proposition 6.4.2, Proposition 6.5.1 and Relation (6.4.5) we have

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}} \left[|\delta^{X}(u)|^{2} \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}} \left[\delta^{X}(u\delta^{X}(u)) + \langle u, D^{X}\delta^{X}(u) \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} + \delta^{X}(uD^{X}\delta^{X}(u)) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}} \left[\langle u, D^{X}\delta^{X}(u) \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}} \left[\|u\|_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)}^{2} + \int_{X} u(x)\delta^{X}(D_{x}^{X}u)\sigma(dx) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}} \left[\|u\|_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)}^{2} + \int_{X} \int_{X} D_{y}^{X}u(x)D_{x}^{X}u(y)\sigma(dx)\sigma(dy) \right]. \end{split}$$

The Skorohod isometry (6.5.4) shows that δ^X is continuous on the subspace $I\!\!L_{1,2}$ of $L^2(X \times \Omega^X)$ defined by the norm

$$||u||_{1,2}^2 = ||u||_{L^2(\Omega^X \times X))}^2 + ||D^X u||_{L^2(\Omega^X \times X^2)}^2.$$

Recall that the moment ${\rm I\!E}_\lambda[Z^n]$ of order n of a Poisson random variable Z with intensity λ can be written as

$$\mathbb{E}_{\lambda}[Z^n] = T_n(\lambda)$$

where $T_n(\lambda)$ is the Touchard polynomial of order n, defined by $T_0(\lambda) = 1$ and the recurrence relation

$$T_n(\lambda) = \lambda \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} T_k(\lambda), \qquad n \ge 1.$$
(6.5.5)

Replacing the Touchard polynomial $T_n(\lambda)$ by its centered version $\tilde{T}_n(\lambda)$ defined by $\tilde{T}_0(\lambda) = 1$, i.e.

$$\tilde{T}_{n+1}(\lambda) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \binom{n}{k} \lambda^{n-k+1} \tilde{T}_k(\lambda), \qquad n \ge 0, \tag{6.5.6}$$

gives the moments of the centered Poisson random variable with intensity $\lambda>0$ is

$$\tilde{T}_n(\lambda) = \mathbb{E}[(Z - \lambda)^n], \qquad n \ge 0.$$

The next proposition extends the Skorohod isometry of Proposition 6.5.4 to higher order moments, and recovers Proposition 6.5.4 in case n = 1.

Proposition 6.5.5. We have, for $u : \Omega^X \times X \to \mathbb{R}$ a sufficiently integrable process,

$$\mathbb{E}[(\delta^X(u))^{n+1}] = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \binom{n}{k} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_X (u_t)^{n-k+1} (\delta^X(u))^k \sigma(dt)\right] \\ + \sum_{k=1}^n \binom{n}{k} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_X (u_t)^{n-k+1} ((\delta^X((I+D_t^X)u))^k - (\delta^X(u))^k)\sigma(dt)\right],$$

for all $n \geq 1$.

Proof. Using the relation

$$D_t^X (\delta^X(u))^n = \varepsilon_t^+ (\delta^X(u))^n - (\delta^X(u))^n$$

= $(\varepsilon_t^+ \delta^X(u))^n - (\delta^X(u))^n$
= $(\delta^X(u) + D_t^X \delta^X(u))^n - (\delta^X(u))^n$

$$= (\delta^X(u) + u_t + \delta^X(D_t^X u))^n - (\delta^X(u))^n, \qquad t \in X,$$

that follows from Proposition 6.4.2 and Relation (6.4.11), we get, applying the duality relation of Proposition 6.4.3,

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}[(\delta^{X}(u))^{n+1}] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{X} u(t) D_{t}^{X}(\delta^{X}(u))^{n} \sigma(dt)\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{X} u_{t}((\delta^{X}(u) + u_{t} + \delta^{X}(D_{t}^{X}u))^{n} - (\delta^{X}(u))^{n})\sigma(dt)\right] \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{X} (u_{t})^{n-k+1} (\delta^{X}((I+D_{t}^{X})u))^{k} \sigma(dt)\right] \\ &- \mathbb{E}\left[(\delta^{X}(u))^{n} \int_{X} u_{t} \sigma(dt)\right] \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \binom{n}{k} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{X} (u_{t})^{n-k+1} (\delta^{X}(u))^{k} \sigma(dt)\right] \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{X} (u_{t})^{n-k+1} ((\delta^{X}((I+D_{t}^{X})u))^{k} - (\delta^{X}(u))^{k})\sigma(dt)\right]. \end{split}$$

Clearly, the moments of the compensated Poisson stochastic integral

$$\int_X f(t)(\omega(dt) - \sigma(dt))$$

of $f\in L^2(X,\sigma)$ satisfy the recurrence identity

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_X f(t)(\omega(dt) - \sigma(dt))\right)^{n+1}\right]$$

= $\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \binom{n}{k} \int_X (f(t))^{n-k+1} \sigma(dt) \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_X f(t)(\omega(dt) - \sigma(dt))\right)^k\right],$

which is analog to Relation (6.5.6) for the centered Touchard polynomials and recovers in particular the isometry formula (6.1.7) for n = 1. Similarly we can show that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{X} f(s)\omega(ds)\right)^{n+1}\right]$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{X} f(s)\omega(ds)\right)^{k} \int_{X} (f(t))^{n+1-k}\sigma(dt)\right],$$
(6.5.7)

which is analog to (6.5.5).

6.6 Characterization of Poisson Measures

The duality relation (6.4.7) satisfied by the operators D^X and δ^X can also be used to characterize Poisson measures.

Proposition 6.6.1. Let π be a probability measure on Ω^X such that $h \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$, $I_1(h)$ has finite moments of all orders under π . Assume that

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi}\left[\delta^{X}(u)\right] = 0, \qquad (6.6.1)$$

for all $u \in \mathcal{U}$, or equivalently

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi}\left[\langle D^{X}F,h\rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)}\right] = \mathbb{E}_{\pi}\left[F\delta^{X}(h)\right],\qquad(6.6.2)$$

 $F \in \mathcal{S}, h \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(X)$. Then π is the Poisson measure π_{σ} with intensity σ .

Proof. First, we note that from Remark 6.2.6, if $I_1(h)$ has finite moments of all orders under π , for all $h \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_c(X)$, then $\delta^X(u)$ is integrable under π for all $u \in \mathcal{U}$. Next we show that (6.6.1) and (6.6.2) are equivalent. First we note that Relation (6.6.1) implies (6.6.2) from (6.5.1). The proof of the converse statement is done for u of the form u = hF, $F = I_n(f^{\otimes n})$, $f, h \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_c(X)$, by induction on the degree $n \in \mathbb{N}$ of $I_n(f^{\otimes n})$. The implication clearly holds when n = 0. Next, assuming that

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi}\left[\delta^{X}(hI_{n}(f^{\otimes n}))\right] = 0, \qquad f, h \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(X),$$

for some $n \ge 0$, the Kabanov multiplication formula (6.2.5) shows that

$$\delta^{X}(hI_{n+1}(f^{\otimes (n+1)})) = \delta^{X}(h)I_{n+1}(f^{\otimes (n+1)}) - \langle h, D^{X}I_{n+1}(f^{\otimes (n+1)}) \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} - (n+1)\delta^{X}((hf)I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})),$$

hence from Relation (6.6.1) applied at the rank n we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}_{\pi} \left[\delta^{X}(hI_{n+1}(f^{\otimes n+1})) \right] &= \mathbb{E}_{\pi} \left[\delta^{X}(h)I_{n+1}(f^{\otimes (n+1)}) \right] \\ &- \mathbb{E}_{\pi} \left[\langle h, D^{X}I_{n+1}(f^{\otimes (n+1)}) \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} \right] \\ &- (n+1) \mathbb{E}_{\pi} \left[\delta^{X}((hf)I_{n}(f^{\otimes n})) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{\pi} \left[\delta^{X}(h)I_{n+1}(f^{\otimes (n+1)}) \right] \\ &- \mathbb{E}_{\pi} \left[\langle h, D^{X}I_{n+1}(f^{\otimes (n+1)}) \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} \right] \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

by (6.6.2).

Next we show that $\pi = \pi_{\sigma}$. We have for $h \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(X)$ and $n \geq 1$, using (6.6.2):

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[\left(\int_{X} h(x)\omega(dx) \right)^{n} \right] &= \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[\delta^{X}(h) \left(\int_{X} h(x)\omega(dx) \right)^{n-1} \right] \\ &+ \left(\int_{X} h(x)\sigma(dx) \right) \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[\left(\int_{X} h(x)\omega(dx) \right)^{n-1} \right] \\ &= \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[\left\langle h, D^{X} \left(\int_{X} h(x)\omega(dx) \right)^{n-1} \right\rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} \right] \\ &+ \left(\int_{X} h(x)\sigma(dx) \right) \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[\left(\int_{X} h(x)\omega(dx) \right)^{n-1} \right] \\ &= \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[\int_{X} h(x) \left(h(x) + \int_{X} h(y)(\omega \setminus \{x\})(dy) \right)^{n-1} \sigma(dx) \right] \\ &= \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[\int_{X} h(x) \left(h(x) + \int_{X} h(y)\omega(dy) \right)^{n-1} \sigma(dx) \right] \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{k} \left(\int_{X} h^{n-k}(x)\sigma(dx) \right) \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[\left(\int_{X} h(x)\omega(dx) \right)^{k} \right]. \end{split}$$

This induction relation coincides with (6.5.7) and characterizes the moments of $\omega \mapsto \int_X h(x)\omega(dx)$ under π_{σ} , hence the moments of $\omega \mapsto \int_X h(x)\omega(dx)$ under π are that of a Poisson random variable with intensity $\int_X h(x)\sigma(dx)$. By dominated convergence this implies

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi} \left[\exp\left(iz \int_{X} h(x)\omega(dx) \right) \right] = \exp\int_{X} (e^{izh} - 1) d\sigma,$$

 $z \in \mathbb{R}, h \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(X)$, hence $\pi = \pi_{\sigma}$.

This proposition can be modified as follows.

Proposition 6.6.2. Let π be a probability measure on Ω^X such that $\delta^X(u)$ is integrable, $u \in \mathcal{U}$. Assume that

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi}\left[\delta^{X}(u)\right] = 0, \qquad u \in \mathcal{U}, \tag{6.6.3}$$

or equivalently

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi}\left[\langle D^X F, u \rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)}\right] = \mathbb{E}_{\pi}\left[F\delta^X(u)\right], \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}, \quad u \in \mathcal{U}.$$
(6.6.4)

Then π is the Poisson measure π_{σ} with intensity σ .

Proof. Clearly, (6.6.3) implies (6.6.4) as in the proof of Proposition 6.6.1. The implication (6.6.4) \Rightarrow (6.6.3) follows in this case by taking F = 1. Denoting the characteristic function of $\omega \mapsto \int_X h(x)\omega(dx)$ by

$$\psi(z) = \mathbb{E}_{\pi} \left[\exp\left(iz \int_{X} h(y)\omega(dy)\right) \right],$$

 $z \in \mathbb{R}$, we have:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{d\psi}{dz}(z) = i \operatorname{\mathbb{E}}_{\pi} \left[\int_{X} h(y)\omega(dy) \exp\left(iz \int_{X} h(y)\omega(dy)\right) \right] \\ &= i \operatorname{\mathbb{E}}_{\pi} \left[\delta^{X}(h) \exp\left(iz \int_{X} h(y)\omega(dy)\right) \right] \\ &\quad + i \operatorname{\mathbb{E}}_{\pi} \left[\int_{X} h(y)\sigma(dy) \exp\left(iz \int_{X} h(y)\omega(dy)\right) \right] \\ &= i \operatorname{\mathbb{E}}_{\pi} \left[\left\langle h, D^{X} \exp\left(iz \int_{X} h(y)\omega(dy)\right) \right\rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} \right] + i\psi(z) \int_{X} h(y)\sigma(dy) \\ &= i \langle h, e^{izh} - 1 \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)} \operatorname{\mathbb{E}}_{\pi} \left[\exp\left(iz \int_{X} h(y)\omega(dy)\right) \right] + i\psi(z) \int_{X} h(y)\sigma(dy) \\ &= i\psi(z) \langle h, e^{izh} \rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{R}. \end{split}$$

We used the relation

$$D_x^X \exp\left(iz \int_X h(y)\omega(dy)\right) = (e^{izh(x)} - 1) \exp\left(iz \int_X h(y)\omega(dy)\right), \qquad x \in X,$$

that follows from Proposition 6.4.7. With the initial condition $\psi(0) = 1$ we obtain

$$\psi(z) = \exp \int_X (e^{izh(y)} - 1)\sigma(dy), \qquad z \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Corollary 6.6.3. Let π be a probability measure on Ω^X such that $I_n(f^{\otimes n})$ is integrable under π , $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_c(X)$. The relation

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi}\left[I_n(f^{\otimes n})\right] = 0, \tag{6.6.5}$$

holds for all $f \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(X)$ and $n \ge 1$, if and only if π is the Poisson measure π_{σ} with intensity σ .

Proof. If (6.6.5) holds then by polarization and the Definition 6.4.2 we get

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi}\left[\delta^{X}(g\otimes I_{n}(f_{1}\otimes\cdots\otimes f_{n}))\right]=0,$$

 $g, f_1, \ldots, f_n \in \mathcal{C}^\infty_c(X), n \ge 0$, and from Remark 6.2.6 we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi}[\delta^X(u)] = 0, \qquad u \in \mathcal{U},$$

hence $\pi = \pi_{\sigma}$ from Proposition 6.6.1.

6.7 Clark Formula and Lévy Processes

In this section we extend the construction of the previous section to the case of Lévy processes, and state a Clark formula in this setting. Let $X = \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and consider a random measure of the form

$$X(dt, dx) = \delta_0(dx)dB_t + \omega(dt, dx) - \sigma(dx)dt,$$

where $\omega(dt, dx) - \sigma(dx)dt$ is a compensated Poisson random measure on $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\} \times \mathbb{R}_+$ of intensity $\sigma(dx)dt$, and $(B_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is a standard Brownian motion independent of N(dt, dx). The underlying probability space is denoted by $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$, where \mathcal{F} is generated by X. We define the filtration $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ generated by X as

$$\mathcal{F}_t = \sigma(X(ds, dx) : x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ s \le t).$$

The integral of a square-integrable $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ -adapted process $u \in L^2(\Omega) \otimes L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ with respect to X(dt, dx) is written as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} u(t, x) X(dt, dx),$$

with the isometry

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} u(t,x) X(dt,dx)\right)^2\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} |u(t,x)|^2 \tilde{\sigma}(dx) dt\right], \quad (6.7.1)$$

with

$$\tilde{\sigma}(dx) = \delta_0(dx) + \sigma(dx).$$

The multiple stochastic integral $I_n(h_n)$ of $h_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$ can be defined by induction with

$$I_1(h) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} h(t, x) X(dt, dx)$$

=
$$\int_0^\infty h(0, t) dB_t + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\} \times \mathbb{R}_+} h(t, x) (\omega(dt, dx) - \sigma(dx) dt),$$

 $h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+)$, and

$$I_n(h_n) = n \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} I_{n-1}(\pi_{t,x}^n h_n) X(dt, dx),$$

where

$$\pi_{t,x}^{n}: L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}_{+})^{\circ n} \longrightarrow L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}_{+})^{\circ (n-1)}$$
(6.7.2)

is defined by

$$\begin{bmatrix} \pi_{t,x}^n h_n \end{bmatrix} (x_1, t_1, \dots, x_{n-1}, t_{n-1}) = h_n(x_1, t_1, \dots, x_{n-1}, t_{n-1}, t, x) \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(t_1) \cdots \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(t_{n-1}),$$

for $x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1}, x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $t_1, \ldots, t_{n-1}, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

As in (6.1.10) the characteristic function of $I_1(h)$ is given by

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{izI_{1}(h)}\right]$$

= $\exp\left(-\frac{z^{2}}{2}\int_{0}^{\infty}h(0,t)^{2}dt + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus\{0\}\times\mathbb{R}_{+}}(\mathrm{e}^{izh(t,x)}-1-izh(t,x))\sigma(dx)dt\right).$

The isometry property

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|I_n(h_n)|^2\right] = n! \|h_n\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+)^{\otimes n}}^2,$$

follows from Relation (6.7.1).

From Proposition 5.1.5 and Proposition 6.3.2, every $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ admits a decomposition

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{1}{n!} I_n(f_n)$$
 (6.7.3)

into a series of multiple stochastic integrals, with $f_n \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n}$, $n \ge 1$.

The next proposition is a version of the Clark predictable representation formula for Lévy processes.

Proposition 6.7.1. For $F \in L^2(\Omega)$, we have

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} \mathbb{E}[D_{t,x}^X F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] X(dt, dx).$$
(6.7.4)

Proof. Let

$$\tilde{\Delta}_n = \left\{ ((x_1, t_1), \dots, (x_n, t_n)) \in (\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+)^n : t_1 < \dots < t_n \right\}.$$

From (6.7.3) we have for $F \in \mathcal{S}$:

$$\begin{split} F &= \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n \ge 1} I_n(f_n \mathbf{1}_{\tilde{\Delta}_n}) \\ &= \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n \ge 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} I_{n-1}(f_n(\cdot, t, x) \mathbf{1}_{\tilde{\Delta}_n}(\cdot, t, x)) X(dt, dx) \\ &= \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}[I_n(f_{n+1}(\cdot, t, x) \mathbf{1}_{\tilde{\Delta}_n}) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] X(dt, dx) \\ &= \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} \mathbb{E}[D_{t,x}^X F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] X(dt, dx) \end{split}$$

The extension of this statement to $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ is a consequence of the fact that the adapted projection of $D^X F$ extends to a continuous operator from $L^2(\Omega)$ into the space of adapted processes in $L^2(\Omega) \otimes L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+)$. For

$$F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n) \in \mathcal{S}$$

and

$$u = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(u_{n+1}) \in \mathcal{U}, \qquad u_{n+1} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+)^{\circ n} \otimes L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+), \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

we can extend the continuity argument of Proposition 3.2.6 as follows:

$$\begin{split} & \left| \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} u(t,x) \mathbb{E}[D_{t,x}^X F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] \sigma(dx) dt \right] \right| \\ & \leq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+1)! \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} \langle f_{n+1}(\cdot,t,x) \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(\cdot), u_{n+1}(\cdot,t,x) \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+) \otimes n} \sigma(dx) dt \right| \\ & \leq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+1)! \| f_{n+1} \|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+)} \| u_{n+1} \|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+) \otimes (n+1)} \\ & \leq \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n! \| f_n \|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+) \otimes n}^{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n! \| u_{n+1} \|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+) \otimes (n+1)}^{2} \right)^{1/2} \\ & \leq \| F \|_{L^2(\Omega)} \| u \|_{L^2(\Omega) \otimes L^2(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+)}. \end{split}$$

Note that Relation (6.7.4) can be written as

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_{t,0}^X F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] dB_t + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+} \mathbb{E}[D_{t,x}^X F \mid \mathcal{F}_t](\omega(dt, dx) - \sigma(dx)dt).$$

6.8 Covariance identities

The Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group satisfies

$$P_t I_n(f_n) = e^{-nt} I_n(f_n), \qquad f_n \in L^2(X)^{\circ n}, \ n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

We refer to [144] for the construction of the Ω^X -valued diffusion process associated to $(P_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$. Here we shall only need the existence of the probability density kernel associated to $(P_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$.

Lemma 6.8.1. In case σ is finite on X we have

$$P_t F(\omega) = \int_{\Omega^X \times \Omega^X} F(\tilde{\omega} \cup \hat{\omega}) q_t(\omega, d\tilde{\omega}, d\hat{\omega}), \quad \omega \in \Omega^X,$$
(6.8.1)

where $q_t(\omega, d\tilde{\omega}, d\hat{\omega})$ is the probability kernel on $\Omega^X \times \Omega^X$ defined by

$$q_t(\omega, d\tilde{\omega}, d\hat{\omega}) = \sum_{\omega' \subset \omega} \frac{|\omega|!}{|\omega'|! |\omega \setminus \omega'|!} (\mathrm{e}^{-t})^{|\omega'|} (1 - \mathrm{e}^{-t})^{|\omega - \omega'|} \epsilon_{\omega'} (d\tilde{\omega}) \pi_{(1 - \mathrm{e}^{-t})\sigma} (d\hat{\omega}).$$

Here, $\pi_{(1-e^{-t})\sigma}$ is the thinned Poisson measure with intensity $(1-e^{-t})\sigma(dx)$, ϵ_{ω} denote the Dirac measure at $\omega \in \Omega^X$ and $|\omega| = \omega(X) \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\} \cup \{+\infty\}$ represents the $(\pi_{\sigma}$ -a.s. finite) cardinal of $\omega \in \Omega^X$.

Proof. We consider random functionals of the form

$$F = e^{-\int_X u(x)\sigma(dx)} \prod_{x \in \omega} (1+u(x)) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} I_n(u^{\otimes n}),$$

cf. Proposition 6.3.1, for which we have

$$P_t F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \mathrm{e}^{-nt} I_n(u^{\otimes n}) = \exp\left(-\mathrm{e}^{-t} \int_X u(x)\sigma(dx)\right) \prod_{x \in \omega} (1 + \mathrm{e}^{-t}u(x)),$$

and

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega^{X}\times\Omega^{X}}F(\hat{\omega}\cup\tilde{\omega})\mathbb{P}(\omega,d\tilde{\omega},d\hat{\omega})\\ &=\exp\left(-\int_{X}u(x)\sigma(dx)\right)\int_{\Omega^{X}}\int_{\Omega^{X}}\sum_{\omega'\subset\omega}\\ &\prod_{x\in\hat{\omega}\cup\hat{\omega}}(1+u(x))\frac{|\omega|!}{|\omega'|!|\omega\backslash\omega'|!}\mathrm{e}^{-t|\omega'|}(1-\mathrm{e}^{-t})^{|\omega-\omega'|}\epsilon_{\omega}(d\tilde{\omega})\pi_{(1-\mathrm{e}^{-t})\sigma}(d\hat{\omega})\\ &=\exp\left(-\mathrm{e}^{-t}\int_{X}u(x)\sigma(dx)\right)\\ &\int_{\Omega^{X}}\sum_{\omega'\subset\omega}\prod_{x\in\hat{\omega}}(1+u(x))\frac{|\omega|!}{|\omega'|!|\omega\backslash\omega'|!}\mathrm{e}^{-t|\omega'|}(1-\mathrm{e}^{-t})^{|\omega-\omega'|}\epsilon_{\omega}(d\tilde{\omega})\\ &=\exp\left(-\mathrm{e}^{-t}\int_{X}u(x)\sigma(dx)\right)\\ &\sum_{\omega'\subset\omega}\prod_{x\in\omega'}(1+u(x))\frac{|\omega|!}{|\omega'|!|\omega\backslash\omega'|!}\mathrm{e}^{-t|\omega'|}(1-\mathrm{e}^{-t})^{|\omega-\omega'|}\\ &=\exp\left(-\mathrm{e}^{-t}\int_{X}u(x)\sigma(dx)\right)\\ &\sum_{\omega'\subset\omega}\frac{|\omega|!}{|\omega'|!|\omega\backslash\omega'|!}\prod_{x\in\omega'}\mathrm{e}^{-t}(1+u(x))\prod_{x\in\omega\backslash\omega'}(1-\mathrm{e}^{-t}) \end{split}$$

$$= \exp\left(-e^{-t} \int_X u(x)\sigma(dx)\right) \prod_{x \in \omega} (1 + e^{-t}u(x))$$
$$= P_t F(\omega).$$

The semi-group P_t can be rewritten as

$$P_t F(\omega) = \sum_{\omega' \subset \omega} \frac{|\omega|!}{|\omega'|! |\omega \setminus \omega'|!} e^{-t|\omega'|} (1 - e^{-t})^{|\omega - \omega'|} \int_{\Omega^X} F(\omega' \cup \hat{\omega}) \pi_{(1 - e^{-t})\sigma}(d\hat{\omega}).$$

Again, Lemma 6.8.1 and Jensen's inequality (9.3.1) imply

$$\|P_t u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} \le \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}, \qquad u \in L^2(\Omega^X \times \mathbb{R}_+),$$

a.s., hence

$$||P_t u||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega^X, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))} \le ||u||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega^X, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))},$$

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, $u \in L^2(\Omega^X \times \mathbb{R}_+)$. A covariance identity can be written using the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group, in the same way as in Proposition 4.4.1.

Proposition 6.8.2. We have the covariance identity

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{X} e^{-s} D_{x}^{X} F P_{s} D_{x}^{X} G\sigma(dx) ds\right], \qquad (6.8.2)$$

 $F, G \in \text{Dom}(D^X).$

Proof. By the chaos representation property Proposition 6.3.2, orthogonality of multiple integrals of different orders, and continuity of P_s , $s \in \mathbb{R}_+$, on $L^2(\Omega^X, \mathbb{P})$, it suffices to prove the identity for $F = I_n(f_n)$ and $G = I_n(g_n)$. We have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}[I_{n}(f_{n})I_{n}(g_{n})] &= n!\langle f_{n},g_{n}\rangle_{L^{2}(X,\sigma)^{\circ n}} \\ &= n!\int_{X^{n}}f_{n}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{n})g_{n}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{n})\sigma(dx_{1})\cdots\sigma(dx_{n}) \\ &= n!\int_{X}\int_{X^{(n-1)}}f_{n}(x,y)g_{n}(x,y)\,\sigma^{\otimes(n-1)}(dx)\,\sigma(dy) \\ &= n\int_{X}\mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}[I_{n-1}(f_{n}(\cdot,y))I_{n-1}(g_{n}(\cdot,y))]\,\sigma(dy) \\ &= \frac{1}{n}\mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}\left[\int_{X}D_{y}^{X}I_{n}(f_{n})D_{y}^{X}I_{n}(g_{n})\,\sigma(dy)\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-ns}\int_{X}D_{y}^{X}I_{n}(f_{n})D_{y}^{X}I_{n}(g_{n})\sigma(dy)ds\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-s}\int_{X}D_{y}^{X}I_{n}(f_{n})P_{s}D_{y}^{X}I_{n}(g_{n})\sigma(dy)ds\right]. \end{split}$$

The above identity can be rewritten using the integral representation (6.8.1)of P_t , to extend Proposition 3 of [59]:

Corollary 6.8.3. We have

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{X} \int_{\Omega^{X} \times \Omega^{X}} \sum_{\omega' \subset \omega} D_{x}^{X} F(\omega) (G(\omega' \cup \hat{\omega} \cup \{x\}) - G(\omega' \cup \hat{\omega}))$$
$$\frac{|\omega|!}{|\omega'|!|\omega \backslash \omega'|!} \alpha^{|\omega'|} (1-\alpha)^{|\omega-\omega'|} \pi_{(1-\alpha)\sigma}(d\hat{\omega}) \pi_{\sigma}(d\omega) \sigma(dx) d\alpha, \quad (6.8.3)$$

 $F, G \in \text{Dom}(D^X).$

Proof. From (6.8.1) and (6.8.2) we have

$$\operatorname{Cov}(F,G) = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{X} e^{-s} (D_{x}^{X}F)(P_{s}D_{x}^{X}G)\sigma(dx)ds\right]$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{X} \int_{\Omega^{X} \times \Omega^{X}} \sum_{\omega' \subset \omega} e^{-s} D_{x}^{X}F(\omega)(G(\omega' \cup \hat{\omega} \cup \{x\}) - G(\omega' \cup \hat{\omega}))$$
$$\frac{|\omega|!}{|\omega'|!|\omega\backslash\omega'|!} e^{-s|\omega'|}(1 - e^{-s})^{|\omega-\omega'|} \pi_{(1 - e^{-s})\sigma}(d\hat{\omega})\pi_{\sigma}(d\omega)\sigma(dx)ds.$$

We conclude the proof by applying the change of variable $\alpha = e^{-s}$. In other terms, denoting by ω_{α} the thinning of ω with parameter $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, and by $\hat{\omega}_{1-\alpha}$ an independent Poisson random measure with intensity $(1 - \alpha)$ α) $\sigma(dx)$, we can rewrite (6.8.3) as

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{1} \int_{X} D_{x}^{X} F(\omega) D_{x}^{X} G(\omega_{\alpha} \cup \hat{\omega}_{1-\alpha}) \sigma(dx) d\alpha\right].$$
(6.8.4)

This statement also admits a direct proof using characteristic functions. Let

$$\varphi(t) = \mathbb{E}\left[e^{it|\omega|}\right] = e^{\sigma(X)(e^{it}-1)}, \quad t \ge 0,$$

and let $\varphi_{\alpha}(s,t)$ denote the characteristic function of

$$(|\omega|, |\omega_{\alpha} \cup \hat{\omega}_{1-\alpha}|) = (|\omega|, |\omega_{\alpha}| + |\hat{\omega}_{1-\alpha}|),$$

i.e.

$$\varphi_{\alpha}(s,t) = \mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(is|\omega| + it|\omega_{\alpha} \cup \hat{\omega}_{1-\alpha}|\right)\right]$$
$$= \int_{\Omega^{X}} \int_{\Omega^{X} \times \Omega^{X}} \exp\left(is|\omega| + it|\tilde{\omega} \cup \hat{\omega}|\right) \pi_{\sigma}(d\omega) p_{-\log\alpha}(\omega, d\tilde{\omega}, d\hat{\omega}).$$

Since from Proposition 6.1.5 the thinning of order α of a Poisson random measure of intensity $\sigma(dx)$ is itself a Poisson random measure with intensity $\alpha\sigma(dx)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{\alpha}(s,t) \\ &= \int_{\Omega^{X}} \int_{\Omega^{X} \times \Omega^{X}} \exp\left(is(|\tilde{\omega}| + |\omega - \tilde{\omega}|) + it(|\tilde{\omega}| + |\hat{\omega}|))\right) \pi_{\sigma}(d\omega)q_{-\log\alpha}(\omega, d\tilde{\omega}, d\hat{\omega}) \\ &= \int_{\Omega^{X}} \exp\left(it|\hat{\omega}|\right) \pi_{(1-\alpha)\sigma}(d\hat{\omega}) \\ &\times \int_{\Omega^{X}} \exp\left(is(|\omega'| + |\omega - \omega'|) + it|\omega'|\right) \sum_{\omega' \subset \omega} \frac{|\omega|!}{|\omega'|!|\omega \setminus \omega'|!} \alpha^{|\omega'|} (1-\alpha)^{|\omega - \omega'|} \pi_{\sigma}(d\omega) \\ &= (\varphi(t))^{1-\alpha} e^{-\sigma(X)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\sigma(X))^{n}}{n!} \sum_{k=0}^{n} e^{is(k+(n-k))+itk} \frac{n!}{k!(n-k)!} \alpha^{k} (1-\alpha)^{n-k} \\ &= (\varphi(t))^{1-\alpha} e^{-\sigma(X)} \sum_{k,l=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\alpha\sigma(X))^{k}}{k!} \frac{((1-\alpha)\sigma(X))^{l}}{l!} e^{is(k+l)+itk} \\ &= (\varphi(t))^{1-\alpha} (\varphi(t+s))^{\alpha} (\varphi(s))^{1-\alpha} \\ &= (\varphi_{0}(s,t))^{\alpha} (\varphi_{1}(s,t))^{1-\alpha}. \end{split}$$

Relation (6.8.4) also shows that

$$\begin{aligned} &\operatorname{Cov}\left(\mathbf{e}^{is|\omega|},\mathbf{e}^{it|\omega|}\right) = \varphi_{1}(s,t) - \varphi_{0}(s,t) \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{d\varphi_{\alpha}}{d\alpha}(s,t)d\alpha \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{d}{d\alpha}((\varphi(t))^{1-\alpha}(\varphi(t+s))^{\alpha}(\varphi(s))^{1-\alpha})d\alpha \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \log\left(\frac{\varphi(s+t)}{\varphi(s)\varphi(t)}\right)\varphi_{\alpha}(s,t)d\alpha \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} (\mathbf{e}^{it}-1)(\mathbf{e}^{is}-1)\varphi_{\alpha}(s,t)d\alpha \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega^{X}} \int_{\Omega^{X}} \int_{X} D_{x}^{X} \mathbf{e}^{is|\omega|}(D_{x}^{X}\mathbf{e}^{it|\cdot|})(\omega_{\alpha}\cup\hat{\omega}_{1-\alpha})\sigma(dx)\mathbb{P}(d\omega)\mathbb{P}(d\tilde{\omega})d\alpha. \end{aligned}$$

6.9 Deviation Inequalities

Using the covariance identity of Proposition 6.8.2 and the representation of Lemma 6.8.1 we now present a general deviation result for Poisson functionals. In this proposition and the following ones, the supremum on Ω^X can be taken as an essential supremum with respect to π_{σ} .

Proposition 6.9.1. Let $F \in \text{Dom}(D^X)$ be such that $e^{sF} \in \text{Dom}(D^X)$, $0 \le s \le t_0$, for some $t_0 > 0$. Then

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(\min_{0 < t < t_0} \left(-tx + \int_0^t h(s) \, ds\right)\right), \qquad x > 0,$$

where

$$h(s) = \sup_{(\omega,\omega')\in\Omega^X\times\Omega^X} \left| \int_X (e^{sD_y^X F(\omega)} - 1) D_y^X F(\omega')\sigma(dy) \right|, \quad s \in [0, t_0).$$

$$(6.9.1)$$

If moreover h is nondecreasing and finite on $[0, t_0)$ then

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\int_0^x h^{-1}(s)ds\right), \qquad 0 < x < h(t_0^-), \qquad (6.9.2)$$

where h^{-1} is the left-continuous inverse of h:

$$h^{-1}(x) = \inf\{t > 0 : h(t) \ge x\}, \qquad 0 < x < h(t_0).$$

 $\mathit{Proof.}$ We start by deriving the following inequality for F a centered random variable:

$$\mathbb{E}[Fe^{sF}] \le h(s) \mathbb{E}[e^{sF}], \quad 0 \le s \le t_0.$$
(6.9.3)

This follows from (6.8.2). Indeed, using the integral representation (6.8.1) of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group $(P_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ for $P_v D_y^X F(\omega)$, we have,

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}[F\mathrm{e}^{sF}] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty}\mathrm{e}^{-v}\int_{X}D_{y}^{X}\mathrm{e}^{sF}P_{v}D_{y}^{X}F\sigma(dy)dv\right] \\ &= \int_{\Omega^{X}}\int_{0}^{\infty}\mathrm{e}^{-v}\int_{X}(\mathrm{e}^{sD_{y}^{X}F(\omega)}-1)\mathrm{e}^{sF(\omega)} \\ &\times\int_{\Omega^{X}\times\Omega^{X}}D_{y}^{X}F(\omega'\cup\tilde{\omega})q_{v}(\omega,d\omega',d\tilde{\omega})\sigma(dy)dv\pi_{\sigma}(d\omega) \\ &\leq \int_{\Omega^{X}}\int_{0}^{\infty}\mathrm{e}^{-v}\mathrm{e}^{sF(\omega)} \\ &\times\int_{\Omega^{X}\times\Omega^{X}}\left|\int_{X}(\mathrm{e}^{sD_{y}^{X}F(\omega)}-1)D_{y}^{X}F(\omega'\cup\tilde{\omega})\sigma(dy)\right|q_{v}(\omega,d\omega',d\tilde{\omega})dv\pi_{\sigma}(d\omega) \\ &\leq \sup_{(\omega,\omega')\in\Omega^{X}\times\Omega^{X}}\left|\int_{X}(\mathrm{e}^{sD_{y}^{X}F(\omega)}-1)D_{y}^{X}F(\omega')\sigma(dy)\right|\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{sF}\int_{0}^{\infty}\mathrm{e}^{-v}dv\right] \\ &= \sup_{(\omega,\omega')\in\Omega^{X}\times\Omega^{X}}\left|\int_{X}(\mathrm{e}^{sD_{y}^{X}F(\omega)}-1)D_{y}^{X}F(\omega')\sigma(dy)\right|\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{sF}\right], \end{split}$$

which yields (6.9.3). In the general case, we let $L(s) = \mathbb{E}\left[\exp(s(F - \mathbb{E}[F]))\right]$ and obtain:

$$\frac{L'(s)}{L(s)} \le h(s), \quad 0 \le s \le t_0,$$

which using Chebychev's inequality gives:

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-tx + \int_0^t h(s)ds\right).$$
(6.9.4)

Using the relation $\frac{d}{dt}\left(\int_0^t h(s) \, ds - tx\right) = h(t) - x$, we can then optimize as follows:

$$\min_{0 < t < t_0} \left(-tx + \int_0^t h(s) \, ds \right) = \int_0^{h^{-1}(x)} h(s) \, ds - xh^{-1}(x)$$
$$= \int_0^x s \, dh^{-1}(s) - xh^{-1}(x)$$
$$= -\int_0^x h^{-1}(s) \, ds, \tag{6.9.5}$$

hence

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\int_0^x h^{-1}(s)ds\right), \qquad 0 < x < h(t_0^-).$$

In the sequel we derive several corollaries from Proposition 6.9.1 and discuss possible choices for the function h, in particular for vectors of random functionals.

Proposition 6.9.2. Let $F : \Omega^X \to \mathbb{R}$ and let $K : X \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be a function such that

$$D_y^X F(\omega) \le K(y), \qquad y \in X, \quad \omega \in \Omega^X.$$
 (6.9.6)

Then

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(\min_{t>0} \left(-tx + \int_0^t h(s) \, ds\right)\right), \qquad x > 0,$$

where

$$h(t) = \sup_{\omega \in \Omega^X} \int_X \frac{e^{tK(y)} - 1}{K(y)} |D_y^X F(\omega)|^2 \sigma(dy), \quad t > 0.$$
(6.9.7)

If moreover h is finite on $[0, t_0)$ then

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\int_0^x h^{-1}(s)ds\right), \qquad 0 < x < h(t_0^-). \tag{6.9.8}$$

If K(y) = 0, $y \in X$, we have:

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2\tilde{\alpha}^2}\right), \qquad x > 0,$$

with

$$\tilde{\alpha}^2 = \sup_{\omega \in \Omega^X} \int_X (D_y^X F(\omega))^2 \sigma(dy).$$

Proof. Let $F_n = \max(-n, \min(F, n)), n \ge 1$. Since when K is \mathbb{R}_+ -valued the condition $D_y^X F_n(\omega) \le K(y), \omega \in \Omega^X, y \in X$, is satisfied we may apply Proposition 6.9.1 to F_n to get

$$\begin{split} h(t) &= \sup_{(\omega,\omega')\in\Omega^X\times\Omega^X} \left| \int_X \frac{\mathrm{e}^{tD_y^X F_n(\omega)} - 1}{D_y^X F_n(\omega)} D_y^X F_n(\omega) D_y^X F_n(\omega') \,\sigma(dy) \right| \\ &\leq \sup_{(\omega,\omega')\in\Omega^X\times\Omega^X} \int_X \frac{\mathrm{e}^{tK(y)} - 1}{K(y)} |D_y^X F_n(\omega)| \,|D_y^X F_n(\omega')| \,\sigma(dy) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \sup_{(\omega,\omega')\in\Omega^X\times\Omega^X} \int_X \frac{\mathrm{e}^{tK(y)} - 1}{K(y)} (|D_y^X F_n(\omega)|^2 + |D_y^X F_n(\omega')|^2) \,\sigma(dy) \\ &\leq \sup_{\omega\in\Omega^X} \int_X \frac{\mathrm{e}^{tK(y)} - 1}{K(y)} |D_y^X F_n(\omega)|^2 \,\sigma(dy) \\ &\leq \sup_{\omega\in\Omega^X} \int_X \frac{\mathrm{e}^{tK(y)} - 1}{K(y)} |D_y^X F(\omega)|^2 \,\sigma(dy), \end{split}$$

from which the conclusion follows after letting n tend to infinity. Part of the next corollary recovers a result of [155], see also [61].

Corollary 6.9.3. Let $F \in L^2(\Omega^X, \pi_\sigma)$ be such that $D^X F \leq K$, $\pi_\sigma \otimes \sigma$ -a.e., for some $K \in \mathbb{R}$, and $\|D^X F\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega^X, L^2(X, \sigma))} \leq \tilde{\alpha}$. We have for x > 0:

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le e^{x/K} \left(1 + \frac{xK}{\tilde{\alpha}^2}\right)^{-\frac{x}{K} - \frac{\tilde{\alpha}^2}{K^2}}, \qquad x > 0, \qquad (6.9.9)$$

and for K = 0:

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2\tilde{\alpha}^2}\right), \qquad x > 0.$$
(6.9.10)

Proof. If $K \ge 0$, let us first assume that F is a bounded random variable. The function h in (6.9.7) is such that

$$h(t) \leq \frac{\mathrm{e}^{tK} - 1}{K} \| D^X F \|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega^X, L^2(X, \sigma))}^2$$
$$\leq \tilde{\alpha}^2 \frac{\mathrm{e}^{tK} - 1}{K}, \qquad t > 0.$$

Applying (6.9.4) with $\tilde{\alpha}^2 (e^{tK} - 1)/K$ gives

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-tx + \frac{\tilde{\alpha}^2}{K^2}(e^{tK} - tK - 1)\right).$$

Optimizing in t with $t = K^{-1} \log(1 + Kx/\tilde{\alpha}^2)$ (or using directly (6.9.2) with the inverse $K^{-1} \log(1 + Kt/\tilde{\alpha}^2)$) we have

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(\frac{x}{K} - \left(\frac{x}{K} + \frac{\tilde{\alpha}^2}{K^2}\right)\log\left(1 + \frac{xK}{\tilde{\alpha}^2}\right)\right),$$

242 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

which yields (6.9.10) and (6.9.9), depending on the value of K. For unbounded F, apply the above to $F_n = \max(-n, \min(F, n))$ with $|D^X F_n| \leq |D^X F|$, $n \geq 1$. Then (6.9.9) follows since, as n goes to infinity, F_n converges to F in $L^2(\Omega^X)$, $D^X F_n$ converges to $D^X F$ in $L^2(\Omega^X, L^2(X, \sigma))$, and $D^X F_n \leq K$, $n \geq 1$. The same argument applies if K = 0.

As an example if F is the Poisson stochastic integral

$$F = \int_X f(x)(\omega(dx) - \sigma(dx)),$$

where $f \in L^2(X, \sigma)$ is upper bounded by K > 0, then

$$\pi_{\sigma}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le e^{x/K} \left(1 + \frac{xK}{\tilde{\alpha}^2}\right)^{-\frac{x}{K} - \frac{\tilde{\alpha}^2}{K^2}}, \qquad x > 0$$

where

$$\tilde{\alpha}^2 = \int_X |f(x)|^2 \sigma(dx).$$

Corollary 6.9.3 yields the following result, which recovers Corollary 1 of [57].

Corollary 6.9.4. Let

$$F = (F_1, \dots, F_n) = \left(\int_{\{|y|_2 \le 1\}} y_k \left(\omega(dy) - \sigma(dy) \right) + \int_{\{|y|_2 > 1\}} y_k \,\omega(dy) \right)_{\substack{1 \le k \le n \\ (6.9.11)}}$$

be an infinitely divisible random variable in \mathbb{R}^n with Lévy measure σ . Assume that $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\sigma(dx)$ has bounded support, let

$$K = \inf\{r > 0 : \sigma(\{x \in X : ||x|| > r\}) = 0\},\$$

and $\tilde{\alpha}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \|y\|^2 \sigma(dy)$. For any Lipschitz (c) function $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with respect to a given norm $\|\cdot\|$ on \mathbb{R}^n , we have

$$\pi_{\sigma}(f(F) - \mathbb{E}[f(F)] \ge x) \le e^{x/(cK)} \left(1 + \frac{xK}{c\tilde{\alpha}^2}\right)^{-x/(cK) - \tilde{\alpha}^2/K^2}, \quad x > 0.$$

Proof. The representation (6.9.11) shows that

$$|D_x^X f(F)(\omega)| = |f(F(\omega \cup \{x\})) - f(F(\omega))|$$

$$\leq c ||F(\omega \cup \{x\}) - F(\omega)||$$

$$= c ||x||.$$
(6.9.12)

We conclude the proof by an application of Corollary 6.9.3.

6.10 Notes and References

Early statements of the Clark formula on the Poisson space can be found in [133], [134] and [135]. See also [1] for a white noise version of this formula on Poisson space. The Clark formula for Lévy processes has been considered in [1], [112], [102], [141], and applied to quadratic hedging in incomplete markets driven by jump processes in [102]. The construction of stochastic analysis on the Poisson space using difference operators has been developed in [70], [35], [99], [104], cf. [98] for the Definition 6.2.3 of Poisson multiple stochastic integrals. The Kabanov [72] multiplication formula has been extended to Azéma martingales in [120]. Symmetric difference operators on the Poisson space have also been introduced in [104]. The study of the characterization of Poisson measures by integration by parts has been initiated in [90], see also [127], Relation (6.4.12) is also known as the Mecke characterization of Poisson measures. Proposition 6.5.5 is useful to study the invariance of Poisson measures under random transformations, cf. [118]. The deviation inequalities presented in this chapter are based on [23]. On the Poisson space, explicit computations of chaos expansions can be carried out from Proposition 4.2.5 (cf. [70] and [142]) using the iterated difference operator $D_{t_1}^X \cdots D_{t_n}^X F$, but may be complicated by the recursive computation of finite differences, cf. [83]. A direct calculation using only the operator D can also be found in [84], for a Poisson process on a bounded interval, see also [114] for the chaos decomposition of Proposition 6.3.4. See [103] for a characterization of anticipative integrals with respect to the compensated Poisson process.
Chapter 7 Local Gradients on the Poisson space

We study a class of local gradient operators on Poisson space that have the derivation property. This allows us to give another example of a gradient operator that satisfies the hypotheses of Chapter 3, this time for a discontinuous process. In particular we obtain an anticipative extension of the compensated Poisson stochastic integral and other expressions for the Clark predictable representation formula. The fact that the gradient operator satisfies the chain rule of derivation has important consequences for deviation inequalities, computation of chaos expansions, characterizations of Poisson measures, and sensitivity analysis. It also leads to the definition of an infinite dimensional geometry under Poisson measures.

7.1 Intrinsic Gradient on Configuration Spaces

Let X be a Riemannian manifold with volume element σ , cf. e.g. [15]. We denote by $T_x X$ the tangent space at $x \in X$, and let

$$TX = \bigcup_{x \in X} T_x X$$

denote the tangent bundle to X. Assume we are given a differential operator L defined on $\mathcal{C}_c^1(X)$ with adjoint L^* , satisfying the duality relation

$$\langle Lu, V \rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma;TX)} = \langle u, L^*V \rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)}, \qquad u \in \mathcal{C}^1_c(X), \quad V \in \mathcal{C}^1_c(X,TX).$$

In the sequel, L will be mainly chosen equal to the gradient ∇^X on X. We work on the Poisson probability space $(\Omega^X, \mathcal{F}^X, \pi^X_{\sigma})$ introduced in Definition 6.1.2.

Definition 7.1.1. Given Λ a compact subset of X, we let S denote the set of functionals F of the form

$$F(\omega) = f_0 \mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(\Lambda)=0\}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(\Lambda)=n\}} f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n),$$
(7.1.1)

where $f_n \in \mathcal{C}^1_c(\Lambda^n)$ is symmetric in *n* variables, $n \ge 1$, with the notation

$$\omega \cap \Lambda = \{x_1, \dots, x_n\}$$

when $\omega(\Lambda) = n, \ \omega \in \Omega^X$.

In the next definition the differential operator L on X is "lifted" to a differential operator \hat{D}^L on Ω^X .

Definition 7.1.2. The intrinsic gradient \hat{D}^L is defined on $F \in S$ of the form (7.1.1) as

$$\hat{D}_x^L F(\omega) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(\Lambda)=n\}} \sum_{i=1}^n L_{x_i} f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n) \mathbf{1}_{\{x_i\}}(x), \quad \omega(dx) - a.e.,$$

 $\omega\in \varOmega^X.$

In other words if $\omega(\Lambda) = n$ and $\omega \cap \Lambda = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ we have

$$\hat{D}_{x}^{L}F = \begin{cases} L_{x_{i}}f_{n}(x_{1},\dots,x_{n}), & \text{if } x = x_{i} \text{ for some } i \in \{1,\dots,n\}, \\ 0, & \text{if } x \notin \{x_{1},\dots,x_{n}\}. \end{cases}$$

Let ${\mathcal I}$ denote the space of functionals of the form

$$\mathcal{I} = \left\{ f\left(\int_X \varphi_1(x)\omega(dx), \dots, \int_X \varphi_n(x)\omega(dx)\right), \\ \varphi_1, \dots, \varphi_n \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_c(X), \ f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_b(\mathbb{R}^n), \ n \in \mathbb{N} \right\},$$

and

$$\mathcal{U} = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i u_i : u_1, \dots, u_n \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(X), F_1, \dots, F_n \in \mathcal{I}, n \ge 1 \right\},\$$

Note that for $F \in \mathcal{I}$ of the form

$$F = f\left(\int_X \varphi_1 d\omega, \dots, \int_X \varphi_n d\omega\right), \qquad \varphi_1, \dots, \varphi_n \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(X),$$

we have

$$\hat{D}_x^L F(\omega) = \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f\left(\int_X \varphi_1 d\omega, \dots, \int_X \varphi_n d\omega\right) L_x \varphi_i(x), \qquad x \in \omega.$$

The following result is the integration by parts formula satisfied by \hat{D}^L .

246 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). **Proposition 7.1.3.** We have for $F \in \mathcal{I}$ and $V \in \mathcal{C}_c^1(X, TX)$:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\langle \hat{D}^L F, V \rangle_{L^2(X, d\omega; TX)}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[F \int_X L^* V(x) \omega(dx)\right]$$

Proof. We have

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[\langle \hat{D}^{L}F, V \rangle_{L^{2}(X, d\omega; TX)}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{x \in \omega} \langle \hat{D}_{x}^{L}F, V(x) \rangle_{TX}\right] \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{1}_{\{\omega(\Lambda)=n\}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle \hat{D}_{x_{i}}^{L}F, V(x_{i}) \rangle_{TX}\right] \\ &= e^{-\sigma(\Lambda)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\sigma(\Lambda)^{n}}{n!} \\ &\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Lambda} \cdots \int_{\Lambda} \langle L_{x_{i}}f_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}), V(x_{i}) \rangle_{TX} \frac{\sigma(dx_{1})}{\sigma(\Lambda)} \cdots \frac{\sigma(dx_{n})}{\sigma(\Lambda)} \\ &= e^{-\sigma(\Lambda)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Lambda} \cdots \int_{\Lambda} f_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) L_{x_{i}}^{*}V(x_{i})\sigma(dx_{1}) \cdots \sigma(dx_{n}) \\ &= e^{-\sigma(\Lambda)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\Lambda} \cdots \int_{\Lambda} f_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \sum_{i=1}^{n} L_{x_{i}}^{*}V(x_{i})\sigma(dx_{1}) \cdots \sigma(dx_{n}) \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[F \int_{X} L^{*}V(x)\omega(dx)\right]. \end{split}$$

In particular when $L = \nabla^X$ is the gradient on X we write \hat{D} instead of \hat{D}^X and obtain the following integration by parts formula:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\langle \hat{D}F, V \rangle_{L^2(X, d\omega; TX)}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[F \int_X \operatorname{div}^X V(x)\omega(dx)\right], \tag{7.1.2}$$

provided ∇^X and div X satisfy the duality relation

$$\langle \nabla^X u, V \rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma;TX)} = \langle u, \operatorname{div}^X V \rangle_{L^2(X,\sigma)},$$

 $u \in \mathcal{C}^1_c(X), V \in \mathcal{C}^1_c(X, TX).$

The next result provides a relation between the gradient ∇^X on X and its lifting \hat{D} on Ω , using the operators of Definition 6.4.5.

Lemma 7.1.4. For $F \in \mathcal{I}$ we have

$$\hat{D}_x F(\omega) = \varepsilon_x^- \nabla^X \varepsilon_x^+ F(\omega) \quad on \qquad \{(\omega, x) \in \Omega^x \times X : x \in \omega\}.$$
(7.1.3)

Proof. Let

$$F = f\left(\int_X \varphi_1 d\omega, \dots, \int_X \varphi_n d\omega\right), \qquad x \in X, \quad \omega \in \Omega^X,$$

and assume that $x \in \omega$. We have

$$\begin{split} \hat{D}_x F(\omega) &= \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f\left(\int_X \varphi_1 d\omega, \dots, \int_X \varphi_n d\omega\right) \nabla^X \varphi_i(x) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f\left(\varphi_1(x) + \int_X \varphi_1 d(\omega \backslash x), \dots, \varphi_n(x) + \int_X \varphi_n d(\omega \backslash x)\right) \nabla^X \varphi_i(x) \\ &= \nabla^X f\left(\varphi_1(x) + \int_X \varphi_1 d(\omega \backslash x), \dots, \varphi_n(x) + \int_X \varphi_n d(\omega \backslash x)\right) \\ &= \nabla^X \varepsilon_x^+ f\left(\int_X \varphi_1 d(\omega \backslash x), \dots, \int_X \varphi_n d(\omega \backslash x)\right) \\ &= (\nabla^X \varepsilon_x^+ F) (\omega \backslash \{x\}) \\ &= \varepsilon_x^- \nabla^X \varepsilon_x^+ F(\omega). \end{split}$$

The next proposition uses the operator δ^X defined in Definition 6.4.1. **Proposition 7.1.5.** For $V \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_c(X;TX)$ and $F \in \mathcal{I}$ we have

$$\langle \hat{D}F(\omega), V \rangle_{L^2(X, d\omega; TX)}$$

$$= \langle \nabla^X DF(\omega), V \rangle_{L^2(X, \sigma; TX)} + \delta^X (\langle \nabla^X DF, V \rangle_{TX})(\omega).$$

$$(7.1.4)$$

Proof. This identity follows from the relation

$$\hat{D}_x F(\omega) = (\nabla_x^X D_x F)(\omega \setminus \{x\}), \qquad x \in \omega,$$

and the application to $u = \langle \nabla^X DF, V \rangle_{TX}$ of the relation

$$\delta^X(u) = \int_X u(x, \omega \setminus \{x\}) \omega(dx) - \int_X u(x, \omega) \sigma(dx),$$

cf. Relation (6.5.2) in Proposition 6.5.2.

In addition, for $F, G \in \mathcal{I}$ we have the isometry

$$\langle \hat{D}F, \hat{D}G \rangle_{L^2_{\omega}(TX)} = \langle \varepsilon^- \nabla^X \varepsilon^+ F, \varepsilon^- \nabla^X \varepsilon^+ G \rangle_{L^2_{\omega}(TX)}, \qquad (7.1.5)$$

 $\omega \in \Omega^X$, as an application of Relation (7.1.3) that holds $\omega(dx)$ -a.e. for fixed $\omega \in \Omega^X$.

Similarly from (7.1.5) and Proposition 6.5.2 we have the relation

$$\langle \hat{D}F, \hat{D}G \rangle_{L^2_{\omega}(TX)} = \delta^X \left(\langle \nabla^X DF, \nabla^X DG \rangle_{TX} \right) + \langle \nabla^X DF, \nabla^X DG \rangle_{L^2_{\sigma}(TX)},$$
(7.1.6)

 $\omega \in \Omega^X, F, G \in \mathcal{I}$. Taking expectations on both sides in (7.1.4) using Relation (6.4.5), we recover Relation (7.1.2) in a different way:

248 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

$$\mathbb{E}[\langle \hat{D}F(\omega), V \rangle_{L^{2}(X, d\omega; TX)}] = \mathbb{E}[\langle \nabla^{X} DF, V \rangle_{L^{2}(X, \sigma; TX)}]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[F\delta^{X}(\operatorname{div}^{X} V)],$$

 $V \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(X;TX), \, F \in \mathcal{I}.$

Definition 7.1.6. Let $\hat{\delta}_{\pi_{\sigma}}$ denote the adjoint of \hat{D} under π_{σ} , defined as

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}\left[F\hat{\delta}_{\pi_{\sigma}}(G)\right] = \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}}\left[\langle \hat{D}F, \hat{D}G \rangle_{L^{2}_{\omega}(TX)}\right],$$

on $G \in \mathcal{I}$ such that

$$\mathcal{I} \ni F \longmapsto \mathbb{E}_{\pi_{\sigma}} \left[\langle \hat{D}F, \hat{D}G \rangle_{L^{2}_{\omega}(TX)} \right]$$

extends to a bounded operator on $L^2(\Omega^X, \pi_{\sigma})$.

We close this section with a remark on integration by parts characterization of Poisson measures, cf. Section 6.6, using the local gradient operator instead of the finite difference operator. We now assume that div $_{\sigma}^{X}$ is defined on $\nabla^{X} f$ for all $f \in \mathcal{C}_{c}^{\infty}(X)$, with

$$\int_X g(x) \operatorname{div}_{\sigma}^X \nabla^X f(x) \sigma(dx) = \int_X \langle \nabla^X g(x), \nabla^X f(x) \rangle_{T_x X} \sigma(dx),$$
$$g \in \mathcal{C}_c^1(X).$$

As a corollary of our pointwise lifting of gradients we obtain in particular a characterization of the Poisson measure. Let

$$H^X_\sigma = \operatorname{div}^X_\sigma \nabla^X$$

denote the Laplace-Beltrami operator on X.

Corollary 7.1.7. The isometry relation

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi}\left[\langle \hat{D}F, \hat{D}G \rangle_{L^{2}_{\omega}(TX)}\right] = \mathbb{E}_{\pi}\left[\langle \nabla^{X}DF, \nabla^{X}DG \rangle_{L^{2}_{\sigma}(TX)}\right], \qquad (7.1.7)$$

 $F, G \in \mathcal{I}$, holds under the Poisson measure π_{σ} with intensity σ . Moreover, under the condition

$$\mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(X) = \{ H^{X}_{\sigma}f : f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(X) \},\$$

Relation (7.1.7) entails $\pi = \pi_{\sigma}$.

Proof.

f,

i) Relations (6.4.5) and (7.1.6) show that (7.1.7) holds when $\pi = \pi_{\sigma}$.

ii) If (7.1.7) is satisfied, then taking $F = I_n(u^{\otimes n})$ and $G = I_1(h), h, u \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$, Relation (7.1.6) implies

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi} \left[\delta((H_{\sigma}^{X}h)uI_{n-1}(u^{\otimes (n-1)})) \right] = \mathbb{E}_{\pi} \left[\delta\left(\langle \nabla^{X}DF, \nabla^{X}h \rangle_{TX} \right) \right] \\ = 0, \qquad n \ge 1,$$

hence $\pi = \pi_{\sigma}$ from Corollary 6.6.3.

We close this section with a study of the intrinsic gradient \hat{D} when $X = \mathbb{R}_+$. Recall that the jump times of the standard Poisson process $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ are denoted by $(T_k)_{k \geq 1}$, with $T_0 = 0$, cf. Section 2.3. In the next definition, all \mathcal{C}^{∞} functions on

$$\Delta_d = \{ (t_1, \dots, t_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d_+ : 0 \le t_1 < \dots < t_d \}$$

are extended by continuity to the closure of Δ_d .

Definition 7.1.8. Let S_d denote the set of smooth random functionals F of the form

$$F = f(T_1, \dots, T_d), \qquad f \in \mathcal{C}_b^1(\mathbb{R}^d_+), \quad d \ge 1.$$
 (7.1.8)

We have

$$\hat{D}_t F = \sum_{k=1}^d \mathbf{1}_{\{T_k\}}(t) \partial_k f(T_1, \dots, T_d), \qquad dN_t - a.e.,$$

with $F = f(T_1, \ldots, T_d)$, $f \in \mathcal{C}_b^{\infty}(\Delta_d)$, where $\partial_k f$ is the partial derivative of f with respect to its k-th variable, $1 \leq k \leq d$.

Lemma 7.1.9. Let $F \in S_d$ and $h \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ with h(0) = 0. We have the integration by parts formula

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\langle \hat{D}F,h\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+},d\omega)}\right] = -\mathbb{E}\left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{d}h'(T_{k}) - \int_{0}^{T_{d}}h'(t)dt\right)\right].$$

Proof. By integration by parts on Δ_d using Relation (2.3.4) we have, for $F \in S_d$ of the form (7.1.8),

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[\langle \hat{D}F, h \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dN_{t})}] &= \sum_{k=1}^{d} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} e^{-t_{d}} h(t_{k}) \partial_{k} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{d} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} h(t_{1}) \partial_{1} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{d} \\ &+ \sum_{k=2}^{d} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} h(t_{k}) \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{k}} \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{d} \\ &- \sum_{k=2}^{d} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} h(t_{k}) \end{split}$$

250 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{t_{k}} \int_{0}^{t_{k-2}} \cdot \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{k-2}, t_{k}, t_{k}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdot d\hat{t}_{k-1} \cdot dt_{d} \\ &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} h'(t_{1}) f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{d} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{3}} h(t_{2}) f(t_{2}, t_{2}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{2} \cdots dt_{d} \\ &- \sum_{k=2}^{d} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdot \int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} h'(t_{k}) \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{d} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} h(t_{d}) \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{d} \\ &+ \sum_{k=2}^{d-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdot \int_{0}^{t_{k+2}} h(t_{k+1}) \\ &\int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} \int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdot \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{k-1}, t_{k+1}, t_{k+1}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdot d\hat{t}_{k} \cdot dt_{d} \\ &- \sum_{k=2}^{d} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} h(t_{k}) \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \int_{0}^{t_{k-2}} \cdot \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{d} \\ &= -\sum_{k=1}^{d} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} h'(t_{k}) \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{d} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} h(t_{d}) \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{k+1}} h'(t_{k}) \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{d} \\ &= -\sum_{k=1}^{d} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t_{d}} \int_{0}^{t_{d}} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{d}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{d} \\ &= -\mathbb{E} \left[F \left(\sum_{k=1}^{d} h'(T_{k}) - \int_{0}^{T_{d}} h'(t) dt \right) \right], \end{split}$$

where $d\hat{t}_k$ denotes the absence of dt_k in the multiple integrals with respect to $dt_1 \cdots dt_d$.

As a consequence we have the following corollary which directly involves the compensated Poisson stochastic integral.

Corollary 7.1.10. Let $F \in S_d$ and $h \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ with h(0) = 0. We have the integration by parts formula

$$\mathbb{E}[\langle \hat{D}F, h \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, d\omega)}] = -\mathbb{E}\left[F \int_0^\infty h'(t) d(N_t - t)\right].$$
(7.1.9)

Proof. From Lemma 7.1.9 it suffices to notice that if k > d,

$$\mathbb{E}[Fh'(T_k)] = \int_0^\infty e^{-t_k} h'(t_k) \int_0^{t_k} \cdots \int_0^{t_d} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} f(t_1, \dots, t_d) dt_1 \cdots dt_k$$

= $\int_0^\infty e^{-t_k} h(t_k) \int_0^{t_k} \cdots \int_0^{t_d} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} f(t_1, \dots, t_d) dt_1 \cdots dt_k$
 $- \int_0^\infty e^{-t_{k-1}} h(t_{k-1}) \int_0^{t_{k-1}} \cdots \int_0^{t_d} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} f(t_1, \dots, t_d) dt_1 \cdots dt_{k-1}$
= $\mathbb{E}[F(h(T_k) - h(T_{k-1}))]$

251 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[F\int_{T_{k-1}}^{T_k} h'(t)dt\right],$$

in other terms the discrete-time process

$$\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} h'(T_k) - \int_0^{T_k} h'(t)dt\right)_{k\geq 1} = \left(\int_0^{T_k} h'(t)d(N_t - t)\right)_{k\geq 1}$$

is a martingale.

Alternatively we may also use the strong Markov property to show directly that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[F\left(\sum_{k=d+1}^{\infty}h'(T_k) - \int_{T_{d+1}}^{\infty}h'(s)ds\right)\right] = 0.$$

By linearity the adjoint $\hat{\delta}$ of \hat{D} is defined on simple processes $u \in \mathcal{U}$ of the form $u = hG, G \in \mathcal{S}_d, h \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$, from the relation

$$\hat{\delta}(hG) = -G \int_0^\infty h'(t) d(N_t - t) + \langle h, \hat{D}G \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, dN_t)}$$

Relation (7.1.9) implies immediately the following duality relation.

Proposition 7.1.11. For $F \in S_d$ and $h \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ we have :

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\langle \hat{D}F, hG \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, dN_t)}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[F\hat{\delta}(hG)\right].$$

Proof. We have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[\langle \hat{D}F, hG \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dN_{t})}\right] &= \mathbb{E}\left[\langle \hat{D}(FG), h \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dN_{t})} - F \langle \hat{D}G, h \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dN_{t})}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[F(G\hat{\delta}(h) - \langle h, \hat{D}G \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dN_{t})})\right] \\ &= -\mathbb{E}\left[F\left(G\int_{0}^{\infty} h'(t)d(N_{t} - t) + \langle h, \hat{D}G \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dN_{t})}\right)\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[F\hat{\delta}(hG)\right]. \end{split}$$

7.2 Damped Gradient on the Half Line

In this section we construct an example of a gradient which, has the derivation property and, unlike \hat{D} , satisfies the duality Assumption 3.1.1 and the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 of Section 3.1. Recall that the jump times of the standard Poisson process $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ are denoted by $(T_k)_{k \geq 1}$, with $T_0 = 0$, cf. Section 2.3.

 Let

$$r(t,s) = -(s \lor t), \qquad s, t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

denote the Green function associated to equation

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{L}f := -f'', & f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}([0,\infty)) \\ f'(0) = f'(\infty) = 0. \end{cases}$$

In other terms, given $g \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}([0,\infty))$, the solution of

$$g(t) = -f''(t), \qquad f'(0) = f'(\infty) = 0,$$

is given by

$$f(t) = \int_0^\infty r(t,s)g(s)ds, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Let also

$$r^{(1)}(t,s) = \frac{\partial r}{\partial t}(t,s)$$

= $-\mathbf{1}_{]-\infty,t]}(s), \qquad s,t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$

i.e.

$$f(t) = \int_0^\infty r^{(1)}(t, s)g(s)ds = -\int_0^t g(s)ds, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(7.2.1)

is the solution of

$$\begin{cases} f' = -g, \\ f(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Let \mathcal{S} denote the space of functionals of the form

$$\mathcal{I} = \left\{ F = f(T_1, \dots, T_d) : f \in \mathcal{C}_b^1(\mathbb{R}^d), \ d \ge 1 \right\},\$$

and let

$$\mathcal{U} = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i u_i : u_1, \dots, u_n \in \mathcal{C}_c(\mathbb{R}_+), F_1, \dots, F_n \in \mathcal{S}, n \ge 1 \right\}.$$

Definition 7.2.1. Given $F \in S$ of the form $F = f(T_1, \ldots, T_d)$, we let

$$\tilde{D}_s F = -\sum_{k=1}^d \mathbf{1}_{[0,T_k]}(s) \partial_k f(T_1,\ldots,T_d).$$

\$253\$ February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

Note that we have

$$\tilde{D}_s F = \sum_{k=1}^d r^{(1)}(T_k, s) \partial_k f(T_1, \dots, T_d)$$
$$= \int_0^\infty r^{(1)}(t, s) \hat{D}_t F dN_t.$$

From Proposition 2.3.6 we have the following lemma.

Lemma 7.2.2. For F of the form $F = f(T_1, \ldots, T_n)$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] = -\sum_{N_t < k \le n} \mathbb{E}[\partial_k f(T_1, \dots, T_n) | \mathcal{F}_t]$$

= $-\sum_{N_t < k \le n} \int_t^\infty e^{-(s_n - t)} \int_t^{s_n} \dots \int_t^{s_{N_t + 2}}$
 $\partial_k f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t + 1}, \dots, s_n) ds_{N_t + 1} \dots ds_n$

According to Definition 3.2.2, $I\!D([a,\infty))$, a > 0, denotes the completion of S under the norm

$$\|F\|_{I\!\!D([a,\infty))} = \|F\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\int_a^\infty |\tilde{D}_t F|^2 dt\right]\right)^{1/2},$$

i.e. $(\tilde{D}_t F)_{t \in [a,\infty)}$ is defined in $L^2(\Omega \times [a,\infty))$ for $F \in \mathbb{D}([a,\infty))$. Clearly, the stability Assumption 3.2.10 is satisfied by \tilde{D} since

$$\mathbf{1}_{[0,T_k]}(t) = \mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < k\}}$$

is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence the following lemma holds as a consequence of Proposition 3.2.11. For completeness we provide an independent direct proof.

Lemma 7.2.3. Let T > 0. For any \mathcal{F}_T -measurable random variable $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ we have $F \in \mathbb{ID}_{[T,\infty)}$ and

$$\tilde{D}_t F = 0, \qquad t \ge T.$$

Proof. In case $F = f(T_1, \ldots, T_n)$ with $f \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, F does not depend on the future of the Poisson process after T, it does not depend on the k-th jump time T_k if $T_k > T$, i.e.

$$\partial_i f(T_1, \dots, T_n) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad T_k > T, \qquad 1 \le k \le i \le n.$$

This implies

$$\partial_i f(T_1,\ldots,T_n) \mathbf{1}_{[0,T_i]}(t) = 0 \quad t \ge T \quad i = 1,\ldots,n,$$

and

254 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

$$\tilde{D}_t F = -\sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f(T_1, \dots, T_n) \mathbf{1}_{[0,T_i]}(t) = 0, \quad t \ge T.$$

Hence $\tilde{D}_t F = 0, t \ge T$.

Proposition 7.2.4. We have for $F \in S$ and $u \in C_c(\mathbb{R}_+)$:

$$\mathbb{E}[\langle \tilde{D}F, u \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, dt)}] = \mathbb{E}\left[F \int_0^\infty u(t)(dN_t - dt)\right].$$
 (7.2.2)

Proof. We have, using (7.2.1),

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\langle \tilde{D}F, u \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dt)}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{(1)}(s, t) \hat{D}_{s}Fu(t) dN_{s} dt\right]$$
$$= -\mathbb{E}\left[\left\langle \hat{D}.F, \int_{0}^{\cdot} u(t) dt \right\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dN_{t})}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[F \int_{0}^{\infty} u(t) d(N_{t} - t)\right],$$

from Corollary 7.1.10.

The above proposition can also be proved by finite dimensional integration by parts on jump times conditionally to the value of N_T , see Proposition 7.3.3 below.

The divergence operator defined next is the adjoint of \tilde{D} .

Definition 7.2.5. We define $\tilde{\delta}$ on \mathcal{U} by

$$\tilde{\delta}(hG) := G \int_0^\infty h(t) (dN_t - dt) - \langle h, \tilde{D}G \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)},$$

 $G \in \mathcal{S}, h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+).$

The closable adjoint

 $\tilde{\delta}: L^2(\Omega \times [0,1]) \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega)$

of \tilde{D} is another example of a Skorokhod type integral on the Poisson space. Using this definition we obtain the following integration by parts formula which shows that the duality Assumption 3.1.1 is satisfies by \tilde{D} and $\tilde{\delta}$.

Proposition 7.2.6. The divergence operator

$$\tilde{\delta}: L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+) \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega)$$

is the adjoint of the gradient operator

$$\tilde{D}: L^2(\Omega) \to L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+),$$

i.e. we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[F\tilde{\delta}(u)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\langle \tilde{D}F, u \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}\right], \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}, \quad u \in \mathcal{U}.$$
(7.2.3)

Proof. It suffices to note that Proposition 7.2.4 implies

$$\mathbb{E}[\langle \tilde{D}F, hG \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dt)}] = \mathbb{E}\left[\langle \tilde{D}(FG), h \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dt)} - F \langle \tilde{D}G, h \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dt)}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[F\left(G \int_{0}^{\infty} h(t)d(N_{t} - t) - \langle h, \tilde{D}G \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dt)}\right)\right],$$
(7.2.4)

for $F, G \in \mathcal{S}$.

As a consequence, the duality Assumption 3.1.1 of Section 3 is satisfied by \tilde{D} and $\tilde{\delta}$ and from Proposition 3.1.2 we deduce that \tilde{D} and $\tilde{\delta}$ are closable.

Recall that from Proposition 6.4.9, the finite difference operator

$$D_t F = \mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n\}} (f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, t, T_{N_t+1}, \dots, T_{n-1}) - f(T_1, \dots, T_n)),$$

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, $F = f(T_1, \ldots, T_n)$, defined in Chapter 6 satisfies the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1, i.e. by Proposition 4.2.3 applied to $\phi_t = 1, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, we have

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] d(N_t - t), \qquad (7.2.5)$$

 $F \in L^2(\Omega).$

On the other hand, the gradient \tilde{D} has the derivation property and for this reason it can be easier to manipulate than the finite difference operator D in recursive computations. Its drawback is that its domain is smaller than that of D, due to the differentiability conditions it imposes on random functionals.

In the next proposition we show that the adapted projections of $(D_t F)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ and $(\tilde{D}_t F)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ coincide, cf. e.g. Proposition 20 of [106], by a direct computation of conditional expectations. See also Proposition 3.1 in [2] and Proposition 5.3.2 in [22].

Proposition 7.2.7. The adapted projections of \tilde{D} and D coincide, i.e.

$$\mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = \mathbb{E}[D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t], \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Proof. We have

$$\mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] = -\sum_{k=1}^n \mathbf{1}_{[0,T_k]}(t) \mathbb{E}[\partial_k f(T_1, \dots, T_n) | \mathcal{F}_t]$$
$$= -\sum_{N_t < k \le n} \mathbb{E}[\partial_k f(T_1, \dots, T_n) | \mathcal{F}_t]$$

256 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). \square

$$\begin{split} &= -\sum_{N_{1} < k \leq n} \\ &\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} \partial_{k} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{n}) ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{n} \\ &= -\sum_{k=N_{t}+2}^{n} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \\ &\cdots \frac{\partial}{\partial s_{k}} \int_{t}^{s_{k}} \cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{n}) ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{n} \\ &+ \sum_{k=N_{t}+2}^{n} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \\ &\cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{h-2}, s_{k}, s_{k}, s_{k+1}, \ldots, s_{n}) \\ ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{n} \\ &- 1_{\{n > N_{t}\}} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} \partial_{N_{t}+1} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{n}) \\ ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{n} \\ &= -1_{\{N_{t} < n-1\}} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \frac{\partial}{\partial s_{n}} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{n}) \\ ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{n} \\ &- \sum_{k=N_{t}+2}^{n-1} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \\ &\frac{\partial}{\partial s_{k}} \int_{t}^{s_{k}} \cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{n}) \\ ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{n} \\ &+ \sum_{k=N_{t}+2}^{n} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} \partial_{N_{t}+1} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{n}) \\ ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{n} \\ &= -1_{\{N_{t} < n-1\}} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{n}) \\ ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{n} \\ &= -1_{\{N_{t} < n-1\}} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{n}) \\ ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{n} \\ &- \sum_{k=N_{t}+2}^{n-1} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{N_{t}}) \\ ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{n} \\ &- \sum_{k=N_{t}+2}^{n} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{N_{t}}) \\ ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{n} \\ &+ \sum_{k=N_{t}+2}^{n} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-(s_{n}-t)} \int_{t}^{s_{n}} \cdots \int_{t}^{s_{N_{t}+2}} f(T_{1}, \ldots, T_{N_{t}}, s_{N_{t}+1}, \ldots, s_{N_{t}}) \\ ds_{N_{t}+1} \cdots ds_{N_{t}} \\ &+ \sum_{k=N_{t}+2}^{n}$$

$$\begin{split} & f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t+1}, \dots, s_{k-2}, s_k, s_k, s_{k+1}, \dots, s_n) ds_{N_t+1} \cdots ds_{k-1} \cdots ds_n \\ & -\mathbf{1}_{\{n > N_t\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t+2}} \partial_{N_t+1} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t+1}, \dots, s_n) \\ & ds_{N_t+1} \cdots ds_n \\ & = -\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n-1\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t+2}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t+2}, s_{N_t+2}, \dots, s_n) \\ & ds_{N_t+1} \cdots ds_n \\ & +\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n-1\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t+2}} dN_{t+1} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t+2}, s_{N_t+2}, \dots, s_n) \\ & ds_{N_t+1} \cdots ds_n \\ & -\mathbf{1}_{\{n > N_t\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t+2}} \partial_{N_t+1} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t+1}, \dots, s_n) \\ & ds_{N_t+1} \cdots ds_n \\ & = -\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n-1\}} \int_0^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t+2}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t+1}, \dots, s_n) \\ & ds_{N_t+1} \cdots ds_n \\ & +\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n-1\}} \int_0^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t+2}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t+2}, s_{N_t+2}, \dots, s_n) \\ & ds_{N_t+1} \cdots ds_n \\ & -\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n-1\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t+3}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, s_{N_t+2}, s_{N_t+2}, \dots, s_n) \\ & ds_{N_t+2} \cdots ds_n \\ & +\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n-1\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t+3}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, t, s_{N_t+2}, \dots, s_n) \\ & ds_{N_t+2} \cdots ds_n \\ & -\mathbf{1}_{\{n > N_t\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t+3}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, t, s_{N_t+2}, \dots, s_n) \\ & ds_{N_t+2} \cdots ds_n \\ & -\mathbf{1}_{\{n > N_t\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} f(T_1, \dots, T_{n-1}, s_n) ds_n \\ & +\mathbf{1}_{\{n < N_t\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t+3}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, t, s_{N_t+2}, \dots, s_n) \\ & ds_{N_t+1} \cdots ds_n \\ & +\mathbf{1}_{\{n < N_t\}} \int_t^{\infty} e^{-(s_n-t)} \int_t^{s_n} \cdots \int_t^{s_{N_t+3}} f(T_1, \dots, T_{N_t}, t, s_{N_t+2}, \dots, s_n) \\ & ds_{N_t+2} \cdots ds_n \\ & = \mathbb{E}[D_t F]\mathcal{F}_t], \end{aligned}$$

from Lemma 6.4.10.

As a consequence of Proposition 7.2.7 we also have

$$\mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_a] = \mathbb{E}[D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_a], \qquad 0 \le a \le t.$$
(7.2.6)

For functions of a single jump time, by Relation (2.3.6) we simply have

$$\mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t f(T_n) | \mathcal{F}_t] = -\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n\}}(t) \mathbb{E}[f'(T_n) | \mathcal{F}_t] \\ = -\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n\}} \left(\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t \ge n\}} f'(T_n) + \int_t^\infty f'(x) p_{n-1-N_t}(x-t) dx \right)$$

258 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

$$= -\int_{t}^{\infty} f'(x)p_{n-1-N_{t}}(x-t)dx$$

= $f(t)p_{n-1-N_{t}}(0) + \int_{t}^{\infty} f(x)p'_{n-1-N_{t}}(x-t)dx$
= $f(t)\mathbf{1}_{\{T_{n-1} < t < T_{n}\}} + \int_{t}^{\infty} f(x)p'_{n-1-N_{t}}(x-t)dx$,

which coincides with

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}[D_t f(T_n) | \mathcal{F}_t] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{1}_{\{N_t < n-1\}} (f(T_{n-1}) - f(T_n)) + \mathbf{1}_{\{N_t = n-1\}} (f(t) - f(T_n)) | \mathcal{F}_t] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[(\mathbf{1}_{\{T_{n-1} > t\}} f(T_{n-1}) + \mathbf{1}_{\{T_{n-1} < t < T_n\}} f(t) - \mathbf{1}_{\{T_n > t\}} f(T_n)) | \mathcal{F}_t] \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{T_{n-1} < t < T_n\}} f(t) + \mathbb{E}[(\mathbf{1}_{\{T_{n-1} > t\}} f(T_{n-1}) - \mathbf{1}_{\{T_n > t\}} f(T_n)) | \mathcal{F}_t] \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{T_{n-1} < t < T_n\}} f(t) + \int_t^\infty (p_{n-2-N_t} (x - t) - p_{n-1-N_t} (x - t)) f(x) dx \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{T_{n-1} < t < T_n\}} f(t) + \int_t^\infty f(x) p'_{n-1-N_t} (x - t) dx. \end{split}$$

As a consequence of Proposition 7.2.7 and (7.2.5) we find that \tilde{D} satisfies the Clark formula, hence the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 is satisfied by \tilde{D} . **Proposition 7.2.8** For any $E \in L^2(\Omega)$ we have

Proposition 7.2.8. For any $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ we have

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] d(N_t - t).$$

In other words we have

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] d(N_t - t)$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^\infty \mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] d(N_t - t),$$

 $F \in L^2(\Omega).$

Since the duality Assumption 3.1.1 and the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 are satisfied by \tilde{D} , it follows from Proposition 3.3.1 that the operator $\tilde{\delta}$ coincides with the compensated Poisson stochastic integral with respect to $(N_t - t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ on the adapted square-integrable processes. This fact is stated in the next proposition with an independent proof.

Proposition 7.2.9. The adjoint of \tilde{D} extends the compensated Poisson stochastic integral, i.e. for all adapted square-integrable process $u \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ we have

$$\tilde{\delta}(u) = \int_0^\infty u_t d(N_t - t).$$

Proof. We consider first the case where v is a cylindrical elementary predictable process $v = F\mathbf{1}_{(s,T]}(\cdot)$ with $F = f(T_1, \ldots, T_n), f \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Since vis predictable, F is \mathcal{F}_s -measurable hence from Lemma 7.2.3 we have $\tilde{D}_t F = 0$, $s \geq t$, and

$$\tilde{D}_t v_u = 0, \quad t \ge u.$$

Hence from Definition 7.2.5 we get

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\delta}(v) &= F(\tilde{N}_T - \tilde{N}_t) \\ &= \int_0^\infty F \mathbf{1}_{(t,T]}(s) d\tilde{N}_s \\ &= \int_0^\infty v_s d\tilde{N}_s. \end{split}$$

We then use the fact that \tilde{D} is linear to extend the property to the linear combinations of elementary predictable processes. The compensated Poisson stochastic integral coincides with $\tilde{\delta}$ on the predictable square-integrable processes from a density argument using the Itô isometry.

Since the adjoint $\tilde{\delta}$ of \tilde{D} extends the compensated Poisson stochastic integral, we may also use Proposition 3.3.2 to show that the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 is satisfied by \tilde{D} , and in this way we recover the fact that the adapted projections of \tilde{D} and D coincide:

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = \mathbb{E}[D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t], \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

for $F \in L^2(\Omega)$.

7.3 Damped Gradient on a Compact Interval

In this section we work under the Poisson measure on the compact interval [0, T], T > 0.

Definition 7.3.1. We denote by S_c the space of Poisson functionals of the form

$$F = h_n(T_1, \dots, T_n), \qquad h_n \in \mathcal{C}_c((0, \infty)^n), \quad n \ge 1,$$
 (7.3.1)

and by S_f the space of Poisson functionals of the form

$$F = f_0 \mathbf{1}_{\{N_T=0\}} + \sum_{n=1}^m \mathbf{1}_{\{N_T=n\}} f_n(T_1, \dots, T_n),$$
(7.3.2)

where $f_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $f_n \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]^n)$, $1 \leq n \leq m$, is symmetric in n variables, $m \geq 1$.

The elements of \mathcal{S}_c can be written as

$$F = f_0 \mathbf{1}_{\{N_T=0\}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{\{N_T=n\}} f_n(T_1, \dots, T_n),$$

260 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). where $f_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $f_n \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]^n)$, $1 \leq n \leq m$, is symmetric in *n* variables, $m \geq 1$, with the continuity condition

$$f_n(T_1,...,T_n) = f_{n+1}(T_1,...,T_n,T).$$

We also let

$$\mathcal{U}_{c} = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i} u_{i} : u_{1}, \dots, u_{n} \in \mathcal{C}([0,T]), F_{1}, \dots, F_{n} \in \mathcal{S}_{c}, n \geq 1 \right\},\$$

and

$$\mathcal{U}_f = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^n F_i u_i : u_1, \dots, u_n \in \mathcal{C}([0,T]), F_1, \dots, F_n \in \mathcal{S}_f, n \ge 1 \right\}.$$

Recall that under \mathbb{P} we have, for all $F \in \mathcal{S}_f$ of the form (7.3.2):

$$\mathbb{E}[F] = e^{-\lambda T} f_0 + e^{-\lambda T} \sum_{n=1}^m \lambda^n \int_0^T \int_0^{t_n} \cdots \int_0^{t_2} f_n(t_1, \dots, t_n) dt_1 \cdots dt_n.$$

Definition 7.3.2. Let \overline{D} be defined on $F \in S_f$ of the form (7.3.2) by

$$\bar{D}_t F = -\sum_{n=1}^m \mathbf{1}_{\{N_T = n\}} \sum_{k=1}^n \mathbf{1}_{[0,T_k]}(t) \partial_k f_n(T_1, \dots, T_n)$$

If F has the form (7.3.1) we have

$$\bar{D}_t F = -\sum_{k=1}^n \mathbf{1}_{[0,T_k]}(t) \partial_k f_n(T_1,\ldots,T_n),$$

where $\partial_k f_n$ denotes the partial derivative of f_n with respect to its k-th variable as in Definition 7.2.1.

We define $\overline{\delta}$ on $u \in \mathcal{U}_f$ by

$$\bar{\delta}(Fu) := F \int_0^T u_t (dN_t - dt) - \int_0^\infty u_t \bar{D}_t F dt, \qquad (7.3.3)$$

 $F \in \mathcal{S}_f, u \in \mathcal{C}([0,T]).$

The following result shows that \bar{D} and $\bar{\delta}$ also satisfy the duality Assumption 3.1.1.

Proposition 7.3.3. The operators \overline{D} and $\overline{\delta}$ satisfy the duality relation

$$\mathbb{E}[\langle \bar{D}F, u \rangle] = \mathbb{E}[F\bar{\delta}(u)], \qquad (7.3.4)$$

261 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

 $F \in \mathcal{S}_f, \ u \in \mathcal{U}_f.$

Proof. By standard integration by parts we first prove (7.3.4) when $u \in \mathcal{C}([0,T])$ and F has the form (7.3.2). We have

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}[\langle DF, u\rangle] \\ &= -\mathrm{e}^{-\lambda T} \sum_{n=1}^{m} \frac{\lambda^{n}}{n!} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{T} \cdots \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t_{k}} u(s) ds \partial_{k} f_{n}(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{n} \\ &= \mathrm{e}^{-\lambda T} \sum_{n=1}^{m} \frac{\lambda^{n}}{n!} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{T} \cdots \int_{0}^{T} f_{n}(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}) u(t_{k}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{n} \\ &- \mathrm{e}^{-\lambda T} \sum_{n=1}^{m} \frac{\lambda^{n}}{(n-1)!} \int_{0}^{T} u(s) ds \int_{0}^{T} \cdots \int_{0}^{T} f_{n}(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n-1}, T) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{n-1}. \end{split}$$

The continuity condition

$$f_n(t_1, \dots, t_{n-1}, T) = f_{n-1}(t_1, \dots, t_{n-1})$$
 (7.3.5)

yields

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\langle \bar{D}F, u \rangle\right] = e^{-\lambda T} \sum_{n=1}^{m} \frac{\lambda^{n}}{n!} \int_{0}^{T} \cdots \int_{0}^{T} f_{n}(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}) \sum_{k=1}^{n} u(t_{k}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{n}$$
$$-\lambda e^{-\lambda T} \int_{0}^{T} u(s) ds \sum_{n=0}^{m} \frac{\lambda^{n}}{n!} \int_{0}^{T} \cdots \int_{0}^{T} f_{n}(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{n}$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{N_{T}} u(T_{k}) - \lambda \int_{0}^{T} u(s) ds\right)\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[F\int_{0}^{T} u(t) d(N_{t} - dt)\right].$$

Next we define $\overline{\delta}(uG)$, $G \in S_f$, by (7.3.3), with for all $F \in S_f$:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[G\langle \bar{D}F, u\rangle\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\langle \bar{D}(FG), u\rangle - F\langle \bar{D}G, u\rangle\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[F\left(G\int_{0}^{T} u(t)d(N_{t} - dt) - \langle \bar{D}G, u\rangle\right)\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[F\bar{\delta}(uG)\right],$$

which proves (7.3.4).

Hence, the duality Assumption 3.1.1 of Section 3 is also satisfied by \overline{D} and $\overline{\delta}$, which are closable from Proposition 3.1.2, with domains $\text{Dom}(\overline{D})$ and $\text{Dom}(\overline{\delta})$.

The stability Assumption 3.2.10 is also satisfied by \overline{D} and Lemma 7.2.3 holds as well as a consequence of Proposition 3.2.11, i.e. for any \mathcal{F}_T -measurable random variable $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ we have

$$\tilde{D}_t F = 0, \qquad t \ge T.$$

Similarly, $\bar{\delta}$ coincides with the stochastic integral with respect to the compensated Poisson process, i.e.

$$\tilde{\delta}(u) = \int_0^\infty u_t d(N_t - t),$$

for all adapted square-integrable process $u \in L^2(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$, with the same proof as in Proposition 7.2.9.

Consequently, from Proposition 3.3.2 it follows that the Clark formula Assumption 3.2.1 is satisfied by \overline{D} , and the adapted projections of \overline{D} , \widetilde{D} , and D coincide:

$$\mathbb{E}[\bar{D}_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = \mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t] \\ = \mathbb{E}[D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t], \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

for $F \in L^2(\Omega)$.

Note that the gradients \tilde{D} and \bar{D} coincide on a common domain under the continuity condition (7.3.5). In case (7.3.5) is not satisfied by F the gradient $\bar{D}F$ can still be defined in $L^2(\Omega \times [0,T])$ on $F \in S_f$ while $\tilde{D}F$ exists only in distribution sense due to the presence of the indicator function $\mathbf{1}_{\{N_T=k\}} = \mathbf{1}_{\{[T_k,T_{k+1})\}}(T)$ in (7.3.2).

Yet when (7.3.5) does not hold, we still get the integration by parts

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\langle \bar{D}F, u \rangle\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[F\sum_{k=1}^{N_T} u(T_k)\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[F\int_0^T u(t)dN(t)\right], \quad F \in \mathcal{S}_f, \quad u \in \mathcal{U}_f,$$
(7.3.6)

under the additional condition

$$\int_0^T u(s)ds = 0. (7.3.7)$$

However, in this case Proposition 3.1.2 does not apply to extend \overline{D} by closability from its definition on S_f since the condition (7.3.7) is required in the integration by parts (7.3.6).

7.4 Chaos Expansions

In this section we review the application of \tilde{D} to the computation of chaos expansions when $X = \mathbb{R}_+$. As noted above the gradient \tilde{D} has some properties in common with D, namely its adapted projection coincides with that of D, and in particular from Proposition 7.2.7 we have

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t F] = \mathbb{E}[D_t F], \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

In addition, since the operator \tilde{D} has the derivation property it is easier to manipulate than the finite difference operator D in recursive computations.

We aim at applying Proposition 4.2.5 in order to compute the chaos expansions

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} I_n(f_n),$$

with

$$f_n(t_1,\ldots,t_n) = \frac{1}{n!} \mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_{t_1}\cdots\tilde{D}_{t_n}F],$$

 $dt_1 \cdots dt_n d\mathbb{P}$ -a.e., $n \ge 1$.

However, Proposition 4.2.5 cannot be applied since the gradient \tilde{D} cannot be iterated in L^2 due to the non-differentiability of $\mathbf{1}_{[0,T_k]}(t)$ in T_k . In particular, an expression such as

$$\mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_{t_1}\cdots\tilde{D}_{t_n}F] \tag{7.4.1}$$

makes a priori no sense and may differ from $\mathbb{E}[D_{t_1}\cdots D_{t_n}F]$ for $n \geq 2$.

Note that we have

$$\tilde{D}_{t_n} \cdots \tilde{D}_{t_1} f(T_k) = (-1)^n \mathbf{1}_{[0, T_k]}(t_n) f^{(n)}(T_k), \qquad 0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_n,$$

and

$$\mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_{t_n}\cdots\tilde{D}_{t_1}f(T_k)] = (-1)^n \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{1}_{[0,T_k]}(t_n)f^{(n)}(T_k)] \\ = (-1)^n \int_{t_n}^{\infty} f^{(n)}(t)p_{k-1}(t)dt,$$

 $0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_n$, which differs from

$$\mathbb{E}[D_{t_n}\cdots D_{t_1}f(T_k)] = -\int_{t_n}^{\infty} f(t)P_k^{(n)}(t)dt,$$

computed in Theorem 1 of [114], where

$$P_k(t) = \int_0^t p_{k-1}(s) ds, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

264 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

is the distribution function of T_k , cf. (6.3.5).

Hence on the Poisson space $\tilde{D}_{t_n} \cdots \tilde{D}_{t_1}$, $0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_n$, cannot be used in the L^2 sense as $D_{t_n} \cdots D_{t_1}$ to give the chaos decomposition of a random variable. Nevertheless we have the following proposition, see [116] for an approach to this problem gradient \tilde{D} in distribution sense.

Proposition 7.4.1. For any $F \in \bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} \text{Dom}(D^n \tilde{D})$ we have the chaos expansion

sion

$$F = \mathbb{E}[F] + \sum_{n \ge 1}^{\infty} \tilde{I}_n(1_{\Delta_n} f_n),$$

where

$$f_n(t_1,\ldots,t_n) = \mathbb{E}[D_{t_1}\cdots D_{t_{n-1}}\tilde{D}_{t_n}F],$$

 $0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_n, \ n \ge 1.$

Proof. We apply Proposition 4.2.5 to $\tilde{D}_t F$, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$:

$$\tilde{D}_t F = \mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tilde{I}_n(1_{\tilde{\Delta}_n} \mathbb{E}[D^n \tilde{D}_t F]),$$

which yields

$$\mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F | \mathcal{F}_t] = \mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t F] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tilde{I}_n(1_{\tilde{\Delta}_{n+1}(*,t)} \mathbb{E}[D^n \tilde{D}_t F]).$$

Finally, integrating both sides with respect to $d(N_t - t)$ and using of the Clark formula Proposition 7.2.8 and the inductive definition (2.7.1) we get

$$F - \mathbb{E}[F] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \tilde{I}_{n+1}(1_{\tilde{\Delta}_{n+1}} \mathbb{E}[D^n \tilde{D}F]).$$

The next lemma provides a way to compute the functions appearing in Proposition 7.4.1.

Lemma 7.4.2. We have for $f \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R})$ and $n \ge 1$

$$D_t \tilde{D}_s f(T_n) = \tilde{D}_{s \lor t} f(T_{n-1}) - \tilde{D}_{s \lor t} f(T_n) - \mathbf{1}_{\{s < t\}} \mathbf{1}_{[T_{n-1}, T_n]} (s \lor t) f'(s \lor t),$$

 $s, t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$

Proof. From Relation (6.4.15) we have

$$D_t \tilde{D}_s f(T_n) = -\mathbf{1}_{[0,T_{n-1}]}(t) \left(\mathbf{1}_{[0,T_{n-1}]}(s) f'(T_{n-1}) - \mathbf{1}_{[0,T_n]}(s) f'(T_n)\right)$$

$$\begin{aligned} &-\mathbf{1}_{[T_{n-1},T_n]}(t) \left(\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(s)f'(t) - \mathbf{1}_{[0,T_n]}(s)f'(T_n)\right) \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\{t < s\}} \left(\mathbf{1}_{[0,T_n]}(s)f'(T_n) - \mathbf{1}_{[0,T_{n-1}]}(s)f'(T_{n-1}),\right) \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{\{s < t\}} \left(\mathbf{1}_{[0,T_n]}(t)f'(T_n) - \mathbf{1}_{[0,T_{n-1}]}(t)f'(T_{n-1}) - \mathbf{1}_{[T_{n-1},T_n]}(t)f'(t)\right),\end{aligned}$$

 $\mathbb{P}\text{-}a.s.$

In the next proposition we apply Lemma 7.4.2 to the computation of the chaos expansion of $f(T_k)$.

Proposition 7.4.3. For $k \ge 1$, the chaos expansion of $f(T_k)$ is given as

$$f(T_k) = \mathbb{E}[f(T_k)] + \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{1}{n!} I_n(f_n^k),$$

where $f_n^k(t_1,\ldots,t_n) = \alpha_n^k(f)(t_1 \vee \cdots \vee t_n), t_1,\ldots,t_n \in \mathbb{R}_+$, and

$$\alpha_n^k(f)(t) = -\int_t^\infty f'(s)\partial^{n-1}p_k(s)ds, \qquad (7.4.2)$$
$$= f(t)\partial^{n-1}p_k(t) + \langle f, \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty[}\partial^n p_k\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \qquad n \ge 1,$$

where the derivative f' in (7.4.2) is taken in the distribution sense.

We note the relation

$$\frac{d\alpha_n^k(f)}{dt}(t) = \alpha_n^k(f')(t) - \alpha_{n+1}^k(f)(t), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

From this proposition it is clearly seen that $f(T_n)\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(T_n)$ is $\mathcal{F}_{[0,t]}$ -measurable, and that $f(T_n)\mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty[}(T_n)$ is not $\mathcal{F}_{[t,\infty[}$ -measurable.

Proof. of Proposition 7.4.3. Let us first assume that $f \in \mathcal{C}^1_c(\mathbb{R}_+)$. We have

$$\begin{aligned} f_1^k(t) &= \mathbb{E}[\tilde{D}_t f(T_k)] \\ &= -\mathbb{E}[\mathbf{1}_{[0,T_k]}(t)f'(T_k)] \\ &= -\int_t^\infty p_k(s)f'(s)ds. \end{aligned}$$

Now, from Lemma 7.4.2, for $n \ge 2$ and $0 \le t_1 < \cdots < t_n$,

$$D_{t_1} \cdots D_{t_{n-1}} \tilde{D}_{t_n} f(T_k) = D_{t_1} \cdots D_{t_{n-2}} (\tilde{D}_{t_n} f(T_{k-1}) - \tilde{D}_{t_n} f(T_k)),$$

hence taking expectations on both sides and using Proposition 7.4.1 we have

$$f_n^k(t_1,\ldots,t_n) = f_{n-1}^{k-1}(t_1,\ldots,t_{n-2},t_n) - f_{n-1}^k(t_1,\ldots,t_{n-2},t_n),$$

and we can show (4.3.3) by induction, for $n \ge 2$:

$$f_n^k(t_1,\ldots,t_n) = f_{n-1}^{k-1}(t_1,\ldots,t_{n-2},t_n) - f_{n-1}^k(t_1,\ldots,t_{n-2},t_n),$$

266 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

$$= -\int_{t_n}^{\infty} f'(s) \frac{\partial^{n-2} p_{k-1}}{\partial s^{n-2}} (s) ds + \int_{t_n}^{\infty} f'(s) \frac{\partial^{n-2} p_{k-1}}{\partial s^{n-2}} (s) ds$$
$$= -\int_0^{\infty} f'(s) \frac{\partial^{n-1} p_{k-1}}{\partial s^{n-1}} p_k(s) ds.$$

The conclusion is obtained by density of the C_c^1 functions in $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, p_k(t)dt)$, $k \ge 1$.

7.5 Covariance Identities and Deviation Inequalities

Next we present a covariance identity for the gradient \tilde{D} , as an application of Theorem 3.4.4.

Corollary 7.5.1. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $F, G \in \bigcap_{k=1}^{n+1} I\!\!D(\Delta_k)$. We have

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(F,G\right) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\Delta_{k}} (\tilde{D}_{t_{k}} \cdots \tilde{D}_{t_{1}}F)(\tilde{D}_{t_{k}} \cdots \tilde{D}_{t_{1}}G)dt_{1} \cdots dt_{k}\right]$$
$$+ (-1)^{n} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\Delta_{n+1}} \mathbb{E}\left[\tilde{D}_{t_{n+1}} \cdots \tilde{D}_{t_{1}}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{t_{n+1}}\right]\right]$$
$$\times \mathbb{E}\left[\tilde{D}_{t_{n+1}} \cdots \tilde{D}_{t_{1}}G \mid \mathcal{F}_{t_{n+1}}\right]dt_{1} \cdots dt_{n+1}\right].$$
(7.5.1)

In particular,

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(T_m, f(T_1, \dots, T_m)\right) = \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbb{E}[T_i \partial_i f(T_1, \dots, T_m)].$$

From the well-known fact that exponential random variables

$$(\tau_k)_{k\geq 1} := (T_k - T_{k-1})_{k\geq 1}$$

can be constructed as the half sums of squared independent Gaussian random variables we define a mapping Θ which sends Poisson functionals to Wiener functionals, cf. [107]. Given $F = f(\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_n)$ a Poisson functional, let ΘF denote the Gaussian functional defined by

$$\Theta F = f\left(\frac{X_1^2 + Y_1^2}{2}, \dots, \frac{X_n^2 + Y_n^2}{2}\right),$$

where $X_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_1, \ldots, Y_n$, denote two independent collections of standard Gaussian random variables. The random variables $X_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_1, \ldots, Y_n$, may be constructed as Brownian single stochastic integrals on the Wiener space W. In the next proposition we let D denote the gradient operator of Chapter 5 on the Wiener space.

Proposition 7.5.2. The mapping $\Theta : L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(W)$ is an isometry. Further, it satisfies the intertwining relation

$$2\Theta|\tilde{D}F|^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} = |D\Theta F|^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}, \qquad (7.5.2)$$

Proof. The proposition follows from the fact that F and ΘF have same distribution since the half sum of two independent Gaussian squares has an exponential distribution. Relation (7.5.2) follows by a direct calculation. \Box

Proposition 3.6.1 applies in particular to the damped gradient operator D:

Corollary 7.5.3. Let $F \in \text{Dom}(\tilde{D})$. We have

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2\|\tilde{D}F\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, L^{\infty}(\Omega))}^2}\right), \qquad x > 0.$$

In particular if F is \mathcal{F}_T measurable and $\|\tilde{D}F\|_{\infty} \leq K$ then

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2K^2T}\right), \qquad x \ge 0.$$

As an example we may consider $F = f(\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_n)$ with

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \tau_k |\partial_k f(\tau_1, \dots, \tau_n)|^2 \le K^2, \qquad a.s.$$

Applying Corollary 4.7.4 to ΘF , where Θ is the mapping defined in Definition 7.5.2 and using Relation (7.5.2) yields the following deviation result for the damped gradient \tilde{D} on Poisson space.

Corollary 7.5.4. Let $F \in \text{Dom}(\tilde{D})$. Then

$$\mathbb{P}(F - \mathbb{E}[F] \ge x) \le \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{4\|\tilde{D}F\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega, L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))}^2}\right).$$

The above result can also be obtained via logarithmic Sobolev inequalities, i.e. by application of Corollary 2.5 of [80] to Theorem 0.7 in [5] (or Relation (4.4) in [80] for a formulation in terms of exponential random variables). A sufficient condition for the exponential integrability of F is $\||\tilde{D}F|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}\|_{\infty} < \infty$, cf. Theorem 4 of [107].

7.6 Some Geometric Aspects of Poisson Analysis

In this section we use the operator \tilde{D} to endow the configuration space on \mathbb{R}_+ with a (flat) differential structure.

We start by recalling some elements of differential geometry. Let M be a Riemannian manifold with volume measure dx, covariant derivative ∇ , and exterior derivative d. Let ∇^*_{μ} and d^*_{μ} denote the adjoints of ∇ and d under a measure μ on M of the form $\mu(dx) = e^{\phi(x)} dx$. The Weitzenböck formula under the measure μ states that

$$\mathbf{d}_{\mu}^{*}\mathbf{d} + \mathbf{d}\mathbf{d}_{\mu}^{*} = \nabla_{\mu}^{*}\nabla + R - \text{Hess }\phi,$$

where R denotes the Ricci tensor on M. In terms of the de Rham Laplacian $H_R = d^*_{\mu}d + dd^*_{\mu}$ and of the Bochner Laplacian $H_B = \nabla^*_{\mu}\nabla$ we have

$$H_R = H_B + R - \text{Hess }\phi. \tag{7.6.1}$$

In particular the term Hess ϕ plays the role of a curvature under the measure μ . The differential structure on \mathbb{R} can be lifted to the space of configurations on \mathbb{R}_+ . Here, S is defined as in Definition 7.1.8, and \mathcal{U} denotes the space of smooth processes of the form

$$u(\omega, x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(\omega) h_i(x), \qquad (\omega, x) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+, \tag{7.6.2}$$

 $h_i \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+), F_i \in \mathcal{S}, i = 1, ..., n$. The differential geometric objects to be introduced below have finite dimensional counterparts, and each of them has a stochastic interpretation. The following table describes the correspondence between geometry and probability.

Notation	Geometry	Probability
Ω	manifold	probability space
ω	element of \varOmega	point measure on \mathbb{R}_+
$\mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}_{+})$	tangent vectors to \varOmega	test functions on \mathbb{R}_+
σ	Riemannian metric on \varOmega	Lebesgue measure
d	gradient on \varOmega	stochastic gradient \tilde{D}
U	vector field on \varOmega	stochastic process
$\mathrm{d}u$	exterior derivative of $u \in \mathcal{U}$	two-parameter process
$\{\cdot,\cdot\}$	bracket of vector fields on \varOmega	bracket on $\mathcal{U}\times\mathcal{U}$
R	curvature tensor on \varOmega	trilinear mapping on ${\mathcal U}$
d^*	divergence on \varOmega	stochastic integral operator

We turn to the definition of a covariant derivative ∇_u in the direction $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$, first for a vector field $v \in \mathcal{C}^\infty_c(\mathbb{R}_+)$ as

$$\nabla_u v(t) = -\dot{v}(t) \int_0^t u_s ds, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

where $\dot{v}(t)$ denotes the derivative of v(t), and then for a vector field

$$v = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i h_i \in \mathcal{U}$$

in the next definition.

Definition 7.6.1. Given $u \in \mathcal{U}$ and $v = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i h_i \in \mathcal{U}$, let $\nabla_u v$ be defined as

$$\nabla_u v(t) = \sum_{i=1}^n h_i(t) \tilde{D}_u F_i - F_i \dot{h}_i(t) \int_0^t u_s ds, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(7.6.3)

where

$$\tilde{D}_u F = \langle \tilde{D}F, u \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}, \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}.$$

We have

$$\nabla_{uF}(vG) = Fv\tilde{D}_uG + FG\nabla_u v, \qquad u, v \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+), \quad F, G \in \mathcal{S}.$$
(7.6.4)

We also let, by abuse of notation,

270 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

Q

Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

$$(\nabla_s v)(t) := \sum_{i=1}^n h_i(t) \tilde{D}_s F_i - F_i \dot{h}_i(t) \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(s),$$

for $s, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, in order to write

$$\nabla_u v(t) = \int_0^\infty u_s \nabla_s v_t ds, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad u, v \in \mathcal{U}.$$

The following is the definition of the Lie-Poisson bracket.

Definition 7.6.2. The Lie bracket $\{u, v\}$ of $u, v \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is defined as the unique element of $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ satisfying

$$(\tilde{D}_u \tilde{D}_v - \tilde{D}_v \tilde{D}_u)F = \tilde{D}_w F, \qquad F \in \mathcal{S}.$$

The bracket $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ is extended to $u, v \in \mathcal{U}$ via

$$\{Ff, Gg\}(t) = FG\{f, g\}(t) + g(t)F\tilde{D}_f G - f(t)G\tilde{D}_g F, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad (7.6.5)$$

 $f,g \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+), F,G \in \mathcal{S}$. Given this definition we are able to prove the vanishing of the associated torsion term.

Proposition 7.6.3. The Lie bracket $\{u, v\}$ of $u, v \in U$ satisfies

$$\{u, v\} = \nabla_u v - \nabla_v u, \tag{7.6.6}$$

i.e. the connection defined by ∇ has a vanishing torsion

$$T(u,v) = \nabla_u v - \nabla_v u - \{u,v\} = 0, \qquad u,v \in \mathcal{U}.$$

Proof. For all $u, v \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ we have

$$\begin{split} (\tilde{D}_u \tilde{D}_v - \tilde{D}_v \tilde{D}_u) T_n &= -\tilde{D}_u \int_0^{T_n} v_s ds + \tilde{D}_v \int_0^{T_n} u_s ds \\ &= v_{T_n} \int_0^{T_n} u_s ds - u_{T_n} \int_0^{T_n} v_s ds \\ &= \int_0^{T_n} \left(\dot{v}(t) \int_0^t u_s ds - \dot{u}(t) \int_0^t v_s ds \right) dt \\ &= \tilde{D}_{\nabla_u v - \nabla_v u} T_n. \end{split}$$

Since \tilde{D} is a derivation, this shows that

$$(\tilde{D}_u \tilde{D}_v - \tilde{D}_v \tilde{D}_u)F = \tilde{D}_{\nabla_u v - \nabla_v u}F$$

for all $F \in \mathcal{S}$, hence

$$\tilde{D}_{\{u,v\}} = \tilde{D}_u \tilde{D}_v - \tilde{D}_v \tilde{D}_u = \tilde{D}_{\nabla_u v - \nabla_v u}, \qquad u, v \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+),$$

which shows that (7.6.6) holds for $u, v \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$. The extension to $u, v \in \mathcal{U}$ follows from (7.6.4) and (7.6.5).

Similarly we show the vanishing of the associated curvature.

Proposition 7.6.4. The Riemannian curvature tensor R of ∇ vanishes on U, *i.e.*

$$R(u,v)h := [\nabla_u, \nabla_v]h - \nabla_{\{u,v\}}h = 0, \qquad u, v, h \in \mathcal{U}.$$

Proof. We have, letting $\tilde{u}(t) = -\int_0^t u_s ds, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$:

$$[\nabla_u, \nabla_v]h = \tilde{u} \overleftarrow{\nabla_v h} - \tilde{v} \overleftarrow{\nabla_u h} = \tilde{u} \overleftarrow{\tilde{v}h} - \tilde{v} \overleftarrow{\tilde{u}h} = -\tilde{u}v\dot{h} + \tilde{v}u\dot{h},$$

and

$$\nabla_{\{u,v\}}h = \nabla_{\tilde{u}\dot{v}-\tilde{v}\dot{u}}h = (\tilde{u}\dot{\tilde{v}}-\tilde{v}\dot{u})\dot{h} = (u\tilde{v}-v\tilde{u})\dot{h},$$

hence $R(u, v)h = 0, h, u, v \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$. The extension of the result to \mathcal{U} follows again from (7.6.4) and (7.6.5).

Clearly, the bracket $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ is antisymmetric, i.e.:

$$\{u,v\} = -\{v,u\}, \qquad u,v \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}_{+}).$$

Proposition 7.6.5. The bracket $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ satisfies the Jacobi identity

$$\{\{u,v\},w\} + \{w,\{u,v\}\} + \{v,\{u,w\}\} = 0, \qquad u,v,w \in \mathcal{C}^\infty_c(\mathbb{R}_+),$$

hence \mathcal{U} is a Lie algebra under $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$.

Proof. The vanishing of R(u, v) in Proposition 7.6.4 shows that

$$[\nabla_u, \nabla_v] = \nabla_{\{u,v\}}h, \qquad u, v \in \mathcal{U},$$

hence

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{\{\{u,v\},w\}} + \nabla_{\{w,\{u,v\}\}} + \nabla_{\{v,\{u,w\}\}} \\ &= [\nabla_{\{u,v\}},\nabla_w] + [\nabla_w,\nabla_{\{u,v\}}] + [\nabla_v,\nabla_{\{u,w\}}] \\ &= 0, \qquad u,v,h \in \mathcal{U}. \end{aligned}$$

However, $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ does not satisfy the Leibniz identity, thus it can not be considered as a Poisson bracket.

The exterior derivative $\tilde{D}u$ of a smooth vector field $u \in \mathcal{U}$ is defined from

$$\langle \tilde{D}u, h_1 \wedge h_2 \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \wedge L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} = \langle \nabla_{h_1}u, h_2 \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} - \langle \nabla_{h_2}u, h_1 \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)},$$

 $h_1, h_2 \in \mathcal{U}$, with the norm

272 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Stochastic Analysis in Discrete and Continuous Settings

$$\|\tilde{D}u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})\wedge L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2} := 2\int_{0}^{\infty}\int_{0}^{\infty} (\tilde{D}u(s,t))^{2} ds dt,$$
(7.6.7)

where

$$\tilde{D}u(s,t) = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla_s u_t - \nabla_t u_s), \qquad s, t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad u \in \mathcal{U}$$

The next result is analog to Proposition 4.1.4.

Lemma 7.6.6. We have the commutation relation

$$\tilde{D}_u \tilde{\delta}(v) = \tilde{\delta}(\nabla_u v) + \langle u, v \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}, \qquad (7.6.8)$$

 \square

 $u, v \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}_{+}), \text{ between } \tilde{D} \text{ and } \delta.$ Proof. We have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{D}_u \tilde{\delta}(v) &= -\sum_{k=1}^\infty \dot{v}(T_k) \int_0^{T_k} u_s ds \\ &= -\tilde{\delta} \left(\dot{v} \cdot \int_0^\cdot u_s ds \right) - \int_0^\infty \dot{v}(t) \int_0^t u_s ds dt \\ &= \tilde{\delta}(\nabla_u v) + \langle u, v \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}, \end{split}$$

by (7.6.3).

As an application we obtain a Skorohod type isometry for the operator δ . **Proposition 7.6.7.** We have for $u \in U$:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|\tilde{\delta}(u)|^2\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty \nabla_s u_t \nabla_t u_s ds dt\right].$$
(7.6.9)

 $\begin{aligned} &Proof. \quad \text{Given } u = \sum_{i=1}^{n} h_i F_i \in \mathcal{U} \text{ we have} \\ &\mathbb{E} \left[\tilde{\delta}(h_i F_i) \tilde{\delta}(h_j F_j) \right] = \mathbb{E} \left[F_i \tilde{D}_{h_i} \tilde{\delta}(h_j F_j) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[F_i \tilde{D}_{h_i} (F_j \tilde{\delta}(h_j) - \tilde{D}_{h_j} F_j) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[(F_i F_j \tilde{D}_{h_i} \tilde{\delta}h_j + F_i \tilde{\delta}(h_j) \tilde{D}_{h_i} F_j - F_i \tilde{D}_{h_i} \tilde{D}_{h_j} F_j) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[(F_i F_j \langle h_i, h_j \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} + F_i F_j \tilde{\delta}(\nabla_{h_i} h_j) + F_i \tilde{\delta}(h_j) \tilde{D}_{h_i} F_j - F_i \tilde{D}_{h_i} \tilde{D}_{h_j} F_j) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[(F_i F_j \langle h_i, h_j \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} + \tilde{D}_{\nabla_{h_i} h_j} (F_i F_j) + \tilde{D}_{h_j} (F_i \tilde{D}_{h_i} F_j) - F_i \tilde{D}_{h_i} \tilde{D}_{h_j} F_j) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[(F_i F_j \langle h_i, h_j \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} + \tilde{D}_{\nabla_{h_i} h_j} (F_i F_j) + \tilde{D}_{h_j} F_i \tilde{D}_{h_i} F_j + F_i (\tilde{D}_{h_j} \tilde{D}_{h_i} F_j - \tilde{D}_{h_i} \tilde{D}_{h_j} F_j)) \right] \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left[(F_i F_j \langle h_i, h_j \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} + \tilde{D}_{\nabla_{h_i} h_j} (F_i F_j) + \tilde{D}_{h_j} F_i \tilde{D}_{h_i} F_j \right] \end{aligned}$

$$\begin{split} &+F_{i}\tilde{D}_{\nabla_{h_{j}}h_{i}-\nabla_{h_{i}}h_{j}}F_{j})\Big]\\ &=\mathbb{E}\left[(F_{i}F_{j}\langle h_{i},h_{j}\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}+F_{j}\tilde{D}_{\nabla_{h_{i}}h_{j}}F_{i}+F_{i}\tilde{D}_{\nabla_{h_{j}}h_{i}}F_{j}+\tilde{D}_{h_{j}}F_{i}\tilde{D}_{h_{i}}F_{j})\right]\\ &=\mathbb{E}\left[F_{i}F_{j}\langle h_{i},h_{j}\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}+F_{j}\int_{0}^{\infty}\tilde{D}_{s}F_{i}\int_{0}^{\infty}\nabla_{t}h_{j}(s)h_{i}(t)dtds\right.\\ &+F_{i}\int_{0}^{\infty}\tilde{D}_{t}F_{j}\int_{0}^{\infty}\nabla_{s}h_{i}(t)h_{j}(s)dsdt\\ &+\int_{0}^{\infty}h_{i}(t)\tilde{D}_{t}F_{j}dt\int_{0}^{\infty}h_{j}(s)\tilde{D}_{s}F_{i}ds\Big]\,,\end{split}$$

where we used the commutation relation (7.6.8).

Proposition (7.6.7) is a version of the Skorohod isometry for the operator δ and it differs from from Propositions 4.3.1 and 6.5.4 which apply to finite difference operators on the Poisson space.

Finally we state a Weitzenböck type identity on configuration space under the form of the commutation relation

$$\tilde{D}\tilde{\delta} + \tilde{\delta}\tilde{D} = \nabla^* \nabla + \mathrm{Id}_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)},$$

i.e. the Ricci tensor under the Poisson measure is the identity $\mathrm{Id}_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}$ on $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ by comparison with (7.6.1).

Theorem 7.6.8. We have for $u \in \mathcal{U}$:

$$\mathbf{E}\left[|\tilde{\delta}(u)|^{2}\right] + \mathbf{E}\left[\|\tilde{D}u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})\wedge L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2}\right]$$

$$= \mathbf{E}\left[\|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2}\right] + \mathbf{E}\left[\|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})\otimes L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2}\right].$$
(7.6.10)

Proof. Relation (7.6.10) for $u = \sum_{i=1}^{n} h_i F_i \in \mathcal{U}$ follows from Relation (7.6.7) and Proposition 7.6.7.

7.7 Chaos Interpretation of Time Changes

In this section we study the Poisson probabilistic interpretation of the operators introduced in Section 4.8. We refer to Section 5.8 for their interpretation on the Wiener space. We now prove that $\nabla^{\ominus} + D$ is identified to the operator \tilde{D} under the Poisson identification of Φ and $L^2(B)$.

Lemma 7.7.1. On the Poisson space, ∇^{\ominus} satisfies the relation

$$\nabla_t^{\ominus}(FG) = F \nabla_t^{\ominus} G + G \nabla_t^{\ominus} F - D_t F D_t G, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \ F, G \in \mathcal{S}.$$
(7.7.1)

 \square

Proof. We will use the multiplication formula for multiple Poisson stochastic integrals of Proposition 6.2.5:

$$I_n(f^{\circ n})I_1(g) = I_{n+1}(f^{\circ n} \circ g) + n\langle f, g \rangle I_{n-1}(f^{\circ n-1}) + nI_n((fg) \circ f^{\circ n-1}),$$

 $f,g \in L^4(\mathbb{R}_+)$. We first show that

$$\nabla_t^{\ominus} \left(I_n(f^{\circ n}) I_1(g) \right) = I_n(f^{\circ n}) \nabla_t^{\ominus} I_1(g) + I_1(g) \nabla_t^{\ominus} I_n(f^{\circ n}) - D_t I_1(g) D_t I_n(f^{\circ n}),$$

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, when $f, g \in \mathcal{C}_c^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ and $\langle f, f \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} = 1$. Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} &I_n(f^{\circ n}) \nabla_{\mathbb{t}}^{\ominus} I_1(g) + I_1(g) \nabla_{\mathbb{t}}^{\ominus} I_n(f^{\circ n}) \\ &= -I_n(f^{\circ n}) I_1(g' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) - nI_1(g) I_n((f' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\circ (n-1)}) \\ &= -n \left(I_{n+1}((f' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\circ (n-1)} \circ g) + (n-1) I_n((fg) \circ (f' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\circ (n-2)}) \right) \\ &+ I_n((gf' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\circ (n-1)}) + \langle f' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} I_{n-1}(f^{\circ (n-1)}) \\ &+ (n-1) \langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} I_{n-1}((f' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\circ (n-2)}) \right) \\ &- I_{n+1}((g' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\circ n}) - nI_n((g' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)} f) \circ f^{\circ (n-1)}) \\ &- n\langle g' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}, f \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} I_{n-1}(f^{\circ (n-1)}) \\ &= -nI_{n+1}((f' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\circ (n-1)} \circ g) - I_{n+1}((g' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\circ n}) \\ &- n(n-1)I_n((f' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ (fg) \circ f^{\circ (n-2)}) \\ &- nI_n((gf' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\circ (n-1)}) - nI_n((fg' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\circ (n-1)}) \\ &+ nf(t)g(t)I_{n-1}(f^{\circ (n-1)}) - n(n-1)\langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} I_{n-1}((f' \mathbf{1}_{[t,\infty)}) \circ f^{\circ (n-2)}) \\ &= \nabla_t^{\ominus} \left(I_{n+1}(f^{\circ n} \circ g) + nI_n(f^{\circ (n-1)} \circ (fg)) + n\langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)} I_{n-1}(f^{\circ (n-1)}) \right) \\ &+ nf(t)g(t)I_{n-1}(f^{\circ (n-1)}) \\ &= \nabla_t^{\ominus} (I_n(f^{\circ n})I_1(g)) + D_t I_1(g)D_t I_n(f^{\circ n}), \qquad f, g \in \mathcal{C}_c^1(\mathbb{R}_+). \end{split}$$

We now make use of the multiplication formula for Poisson stochastic integrals to prove the result on S by induction. Assume that (7.7.1) holds for $F = I_n(f^{\circ n})$ and $G = I_1(g)^k$ for some $k \ge 1$. Then, using the product rule Proposition 4.5.2 or Proposition 6.4.8 for the operator D_t we have

$$\begin{split} \nabla_{t}^{\ominus}(I_{n}(f^{\circ n})I_{1}(g)^{k+1}) \\ &= I_{1}(g)\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}(I_{n}(f^{\circ n})I_{1}(g)^{k}) + I_{n}(f^{\circ n})I_{1}(g)^{k}\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}I_{1}(g) \\ &- D_{t}I_{1}(g)D_{t}(I_{1}(g)^{k}I_{n}(f^{\circ n})) \\ &= I_{1}(g)\left(I_{1}(g)^{k}\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}I_{n}(f^{\circ n}) + I_{n}(f^{\circ n})\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}\left(I_{1}(g)^{k}\right) - D_{t}\left(I_{1}(g)^{k}\right)D_{t}I_{n}(f^{\circ n})\right) \\ &+ I_{n}(f^{\circ n})I_{1}(g)^{k}\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}I_{1}(g) - D_{t}I_{1}(g)\left(I_{1}(g)^{k}D_{t}I_{n}(f^{\circ n}) + I_{n}(f^{\circ n})D_{t}\left(I_{1}(g)^{k}\right)\right) - D_{t}I_{1}(g)D_{t}I_{n}(f^{\circ n}) \\ &+ I_{n}(f^{\circ n})D_{t}\left(I_{1}(g)^{k}\right) - D_{t}I_{1}(g)D_{t}I_{1}(g)^{k}D_{t}I_{n}(f^{\circ n}) \\ &= I_{1}(g)^{k+1}\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}I_{n}(f^{\circ n}) + I_{n}(f^{\circ n})\nabla_{t}^{\ominus}\left(I_{1}(g)^{k+1}\right) - D_{t}\left(I_{1}(g)^{k+1}\right)D_{t}I_{n}(f^{\circ n}), \end{split}$$

275 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

Proposition 7.7.2. We have the identity

$$\tilde{D} = D + \nabla^{\ominus}$$

on the space \mathcal{S} .

Proof. Lemma 7.7.1 shows that $(\nabla^{\ominus} + D)$ is a derivation operator since

$$\begin{split} (\nabla_t^{\ominus} + D_t)(FG) &= \nabla_t^{\ominus}(FG) + D_t(FG) \\ &= F \nabla_t^{\ominus} G + G \nabla_t^{\ominus} F - D_t F D_t G + D_t(FG) \\ &= F (\nabla_t^{\ominus} + D_t) G + G (\nabla_t^{\ominus} + D_t) F, \qquad F, G \in \mathcal{S}. \end{split}$$

Thus it is sufficient to show that

$$(D_t + \nabla_t^{\ominus})f(T_k) = \tilde{D}f(T_k), \qquad k \ge 1, \quad f \in \mathcal{C}_b^1(\mathbb{R}).$$
(7.7.2)

Letting π_{t} denote the projection

$$\pi_{[t}f = f1_{[t,\infty)}, \qquad f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+),$$

we have

$$(D_t + \nabla_t^{\ominus}) f(T_k) = (D_t + \nabla_t^{\ominus}) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n!} I_n(f_n^k)$$

= $\sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{1}{(n-1)!} I_{n-1}(f_n^k(\cdot, t)) - \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{1}{(n-1)!} I_n(\pi_{[t} \otimes \operatorname{Id}^{\otimes (n-1)} \partial_1 f_n^k))$
= $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n!} I_n\left(f_{n+1}^k(\cdot, t) - n\pi_{[t} \otimes \operatorname{Id}^{\otimes (n-1)} \partial_1 f_n^k\right),$

where $\mathrm{Id}: L^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is the identity operator. Now,

$$f_{n+1}^{k}(t,t_{1},\ldots,t_{n}) - n\pi_{[t} \otimes \operatorname{Id}^{\otimes(n-1)}\partial_{1}f_{n}^{k}(t_{1},\ldots,t_{n})$$

$$= \alpha_{n+1}^{k}(f)(t_{1}\vee\cdots\vee t_{n}\vee t)$$

$$-\mathbf{1}_{\{t < t_{1}\vee\cdots\vee t_{n}\}} \left(\alpha_{n}^{k}(f') + \alpha_{n+1}^{k}(f)\right)(t_{1}\vee\cdots\vee t_{n})$$

$$= \alpha_{n+1}^{k}(f)\mathbf{1}_{\{t_{1}\vee\cdots\vee t_{n} < t\}} - \alpha_{n}^{k}(f')(t_{1}\vee\cdots\vee t_{n})\mathbf{1}_{\{t_{1}\vee\cdots\vee t_{n} > t\}}$$

$$= \alpha_{n}^{k}(-f'_{[t]})(t_{1}\vee\cdots\vee t_{n}),$$

which coincides with *n*-th term, in the chaos expansion of $-\mathbf{1}_{[0,T_k]}f'(T_k)$ by Proposition 7.4.3, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $n \geq 1$. Hence Relation (7.7.2) holds and we have $D + \nabla^{\ominus} = \tilde{D}$.

Since both δ and $\tilde{\delta} = \delta + \nabla^{\oplus}$ coincide with the Itô integral on adapted processes, it follows that ∇^{\oplus} vanishes on adapted processes. By duality this

276 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

implies that the adapted projection of ∇^{\ominus} is zero, hence by Proposition 7.7.2, \tilde{D} is written as a perturbation of D by a gradient process with vanishing adapted projection.

7.8 Notes and References

The notion of lifting of the differential geometry on a Riemannian manifold X to a differential geometry on Ω^X has been introduced in [4], and the integration by parts formula (7.1.2) can be found been obtained therein, cf. also [17]. In Corollary 7.1.7, our pointwise lifting of gradients allows us to recover Theorem 5-2 of [4], page 489, as a particular case by taking expectations in Relation (7.1.5). See [21], [97], [110], for the locality of D and δ . See [3] and [32] for another approaches to the Weitzenböck formula on configuration spaces under Poisson measures. The proof of Proposition 7.6.7 is based on an argument of [45] for path spaces over Lie groups. The gradient \tilde{D} is called "damped" in reference to [46], cf. Section 5.7. The gradient \tilde{D} of Definition 7.2.1 is a modification of the gradient introduced in [25], see also [38]. However, the integration by parts formula of [25] deals with processes of zero integral only, as in (7.3.6). A different version of the gradient \overline{D} , which solves the closability issue mentioned at the end of Section 7.3, has been used for sensitivity analysis in [75], [121], [122]. The combined use of D^n and D for the computation of the chaos expansion of the jump time T_d , $d \ge 1$, and the Clark representation formula for \tilde{D} can be found in [106]. The construction of D and D can also be extended to arbitrary Poisson processes with adapted intensities, cf. [34], [108], [109].

Chapter 8 Option Hedging in Continuous Time

Here we review some applications to mathematical finance of the tools introduced in the previous chapters. We construct a market model with jumps in which exponential normal martingales are used to model random prices. We obtain pricing and hedging formulas for contingent claims, extending the classical Black-Scholes theory to other complete markets with jumps.

8.1 Market Model

Let $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ be a martingale having the chaos representation property of Definition 2.8.1 and angle bracket given by $d\langle M, M \rangle_t = \alpha_t^2 dt$. By a modification of Proposition 2.10.2, $(M_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ satisfies the structure equation

$$d[M,M]_t = \alpha_t^2 dt + \phi_t dM_t.$$

When $(\phi_t)_{t\in[0,T]}$ is deterministic, $(M_t)_{t\in[0,T]}$ is alternatively a Brownian motion or a compensated Poisson martingale, depending on the vanishing of $(\phi_t)_{t\in[0,T]}$.

Let $r : \mathbb{R}_+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma : \mathbb{R}_+ \longrightarrow (0, \infty)$ be deterministic non negative bounded functions. We assume that $1 + \sigma_t \phi_t > 0$, $t \in [0, T]$. Let $(A_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ denote the price of the riskless asset, given by

$$\frac{dA_t}{A_t} = r_t dt, \qquad A_0 = 1, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \tag{8.1.1}$$

i.e.

$$A_t = A_0 \exp\left(\int_0^t r_s ds\right), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

For t > 0, let $(S_{t,u}^x)_{u \in [t,T]}$ be the price process with risk-neutral dynamics given by

$$dS_{t,u}^{x} = r_{u}S_{t,u}^{x}du + \sigma_{u}S_{t,u}^{x} - dM_{u}, \quad u \in [t,T], \quad S_{t,t}^{x} = x,$$

cf. Relation (2.13.5). Recall that when $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is deterministic we have

$$S_{t,T}^{x} = x \exp\left(\int_{t}^{T} \sigma_{u} \alpha_{u} i_{u} dB_{u} + \int_{t}^{T} (r_{u} - \phi_{u} \lambda_{u} \sigma_{u} - \frac{1}{2} i_{u} \sigma_{u}^{2} \alpha_{u}^{2}) du\right)$$
$$\times \prod_{k=1+N_{t}}^{N_{T}} (1 + \sigma_{T_{k}} \phi_{T_{k}}), \tag{8.1.2}$$

 $0 \leq t \leq T$, with $S_t = S_{0,t}^1$, $t \in [0,T]$. Figure 8.1 shows a sample path of $(S_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ when the function $(\phi_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$, plotted above the horizontal axis, takes values in $\{0,1\}$ with $S_0 = 10$, $\sigma_t = 10$, and $\alpha_t = 1$, $t \in [0,T]$.



Fig. 8.1: Sample trajectory of $(S_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$

Let η_t and ζ_t be the numbers of units invested at time t, respectively in the assets $(S_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ and $(A_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$. The value of the portfolio V_t at time t is given by

$$V_t = \zeta_t A_t + \eta_t S_t, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+. \tag{8.1.3}$$

Definition 8.1.1. The portfolio V_t is said to be self-financing if

$$dV_t = \zeta_t dA_t + \eta_t dS_t. \tag{8.1.4}$$

The self-financing condition can be written as
$$A_t d\zeta_t + S_t d\eta_t = 0, \qquad 0 \le t \le T$$

under the approximation $d\langle S_t, \eta_t \rangle \simeq 0$.

Let also

$$\tilde{V}_t = V_t \exp\left(-\int_0^t r_s ds\right)$$
 and $\tilde{S}_t = S_t \exp\left(-\int_0^t r_s ds\right)$

denote respectively the discounted portfolio price and underlying asset price. Lemma 8.1.2. *The following statements are equivalent:*

- i) the portfolio V_t is self-financing,
- ii) we have

$$\tilde{V}_t = \tilde{V}_0 + \int_0^t \sigma_u \eta_u \tilde{S}_u dM_u, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(8.1.5)

iii) we have

$$V_t = V_0 \exp\left(\int_0^t r_u du\right) + \int_0^t \sigma_u \eta_u \exp\left(\int_u^t r_u du\right) S_u dM_u, \qquad (8.1.6)$$

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$

Proof. First, note that (8.1.5) is clearly equivalent to (8.1.6). Next, the self-financing condition (8.1.4) shows that

$$dV_t = \zeta_t dA_t + \eta_t dS_t$$

= $\zeta_t A_t r_t dt + \eta_t r_t S_t dt + \sigma_t \eta_t S_t dM_t$
= $r_t V_t dt + \sigma_t \eta_t S_t dM_t$,

 $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, hence

$$d\tilde{V}_t = d\left(\exp\left(-\int_0^t r_s ds\right) V_t\right)$$

= $-r_t \exp\left(-\int_0^t r_s ds\right) V_t dt + \exp\left(-\int_0^t r_s ds\right) dV_t$
= $\exp\left(-\int_0^t r_s ds\right) \sigma_t \eta_t S_t dM_t, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$

i.e. (8.1.5) holds. Conversely, if (8.1.5) is satisfied we have

$$dV_t = d(A_t \tilde{V}_t)$$

= $\tilde{V}_t dA_t + A_t d\tilde{V}_t$
= $\tilde{V}_t A_t r_t dt + \sigma_t \eta_t S_t dM_t$
= $V_t r_t dt + \sigma_t \eta_t S_t dM_t$

281 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

$$= \zeta_t A_t r_t dt + \eta_t S_t r_t dt + \sigma_t \eta_t S_t dM_t$$

= $\zeta_t dA_t + \eta_t dS_t$,

hence the portfolio is self-financing.

8.2 Hedging by the Clark Formula

In the next proposition we compute a self-financing hedging strategy leading to an arbitrary square-integrable random variable F, using the Clark formula Proposition 4.2.3.

Proposition 8.2.1. Given $F \in L^2(\Omega)$, let

$$\eta_t = \frac{\exp\left(-\int_t^T r_s ds\right)}{\sigma_t S_t} \mathbb{E}[D_t F | \mathcal{F}_t], \qquad (8.2.1)$$

$$\zeta_t = \frac{\exp\left(-\int_t^T r_u du\right) \mathbb{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t] - \eta_t S_t}{A_t}, \qquad t \in [0, T].$$
(8.2.2)

Then the portfolio $(\eta_t, \zeta_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ is self-financing and yields a hedging strategy leading to F, i.e. letting

$$V_t = \zeta_t A_t + \eta_t S_t, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

we have

$$V_t = \exp\left(-\int_t^T r_u du\right) \mathbb{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t], \qquad (8.2.3)$$

 $0 \leq t \leq T$. In particular we have $V_T = F$ and

$$V_0 = \exp\left(-\int_0^T r_u du\right) \mathbb{E}[F].$$

Proof. Applying (8.2.2) at t = 0 we get

$$\mathbb{E}[F] \exp\left(-\int_0^T r_u du\right) = V_0,$$

hence from (8.2.2), the definition (8.2.1) of η_t and the Clark formula we obtain

$$V_t = \zeta_t A_t + \eta_t S_t$$

= $\exp\left(-\int_t^T r_u du\right) \mathbb{E}[F|\mathcal{F}_t]$
= $\exp\left(-\int_t^T r_u du\right) \left(\mathbb{E}[F] + \int_0^t \mathbb{E}[D_u F|\mathcal{F}_u] dM_u\right)$

282 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

$$= V_0 \exp\left(\int_0^t r_u du\right) + \exp\left(-\int_t^T r_u du\right) \int_0^t \mathbb{E}[D_u F|\mathcal{F}_u] dM_u$$
$$= V_0 \exp\left(\int_0^t r_u du\right) + \int_0^t \eta_u \sigma_u S_u \exp\left(\int_u^t r_s ds\right) dM_u, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

and from Lemma 8.1.2 this also implies that the portfolio $(\eta_t, \zeta_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ is self-financing.

The above proposition shows that there always exists a hedging strategy starting from

$$V_0 = \mathbb{E}[F] \exp\left(-\int_0^T r_u du\right).$$

Conversely, since there exists a hedging strategy leading to

$$\tilde{V}_T = F \exp\left(-\int_0^T r_u du\right),$$

then by (8.1.5), $(\tilde{V}_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ is necessarily a martingale with initial value

$$\tilde{V}_0 = \mathbb{E}[\tilde{V}_T] = \mathbb{E}[F] \exp\left(-\int_0^T r_u du\right)$$

We now consider the hedging of European call option with payoff $F = (S_T - K)^+$ using the Clark formula in the setting of deterministic structure equations. In this case the next proposition allows us to compute the hedging strategy appearing in (8.2.1).

Proposition 8.2.2. Assume that $\phi_t \ge 0$, $t \in [0,T]$. Then for $0 \le t \le T$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t(S_T - K)^+ | \mathcal{F}_t] = \mathbb{E}\left[i_t \sigma_t S_{t,T}^x \mathbf{1}_{[K,\infty)}(S_{t,T}^x) + \frac{j_t}{\phi_t} (\sigma_t \phi_t S_{t,T}^x - (K - S_{t,T}^x)^+) \mathbf{1}_{[\frac{K}{1 + \sigma_t},\infty)}(S_{t,T}^x)\right]_{x = S_t}.$$

Proof. By Lemma 4.6.2, using Definition 4.6.1 and Relation (4.6.4) we have, for any $F \in \mathcal{S}$,

$$D_t F = D_t^B F + \frac{j_t}{\phi_t} (T_t^{\phi} F - F), \quad t \in [0, T].$$
(8.2.4)

We have $T_t^{\phi} S_T = (1 + \sigma_t \phi_t) S_T$, $t \in [0, T]$, and the chain rule $D^B f(F) = f'(F) D^B F$, cf. Relation (5.2.1), holds for $F \in \mathcal{S}$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}_b^2(\mathbb{R})$. Since \mathcal{S} is an algebra for deterministic $(\phi_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$, we may approach $x \mapsto (x - K)^+$ by polynomials on compact intervals and proceed e.g. as in [101], p. 5-13. By dominated convergence, $F = (S_T - K)^+ \in \text{Dom}(D)$ and (8.2.4) becomes

$$D_t(S_T - K)^+ = i_t \sigma_t S_T \mathbf{1}_{[K,\infty)}(S_T) + \frac{j_t}{\phi_t} ((1 + \sigma_t \phi_t) S_T - K)^+ - (S_T - K)^+),$$

 $0 \leq t \leq T$. The Markov property of $(S_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ implies

$$\mathbb{E}\left[D_t^B(S_T-K)^+|\mathcal{F}_t\right] = i_t \sigma_t \mathbb{E}\left[S_{t,T}^x \mathbf{1}_{[K,\infty)}(S_{t,T}^x)\right]_{x=S_t},$$

and

$$\frac{j_{t}}{\phi_{t}} \mathbb{E}[(T_{t}^{\phi}S_{T} - K)^{+} - (S_{T} - K)^{+} | \mathcal{F}_{t}] \\
= \frac{j_{t}}{\phi_{t}} \mathbb{E}\left[((1 + \sigma_{t}\phi_{t})S_{t,T}^{x} - K)^{+} - (S_{t,T}^{x} - K)^{+}\right]_{x=S_{t}} \\
= \frac{j_{t}}{\phi_{t}} \mathbb{E}\left[((1 + \sigma_{t}\phi_{t})S_{t,T}^{x} - K)\mathbf{1}_{[\frac{K}{1+\sigma_{t}\phi_{t}},\infty)}(S_{t,T}^{x})\right]_{x=S_{t}} \\
- \frac{j_{t}}{\phi_{t}} \mathbb{E}\left[(S_{t,T}^{x} - K)^{+}\mathbf{1}_{[K,\infty)}(S_{t,T}^{x})\right]_{x=S_{t}} \\
= \frac{j_{t}}{\phi_{t}} \mathbb{E}\left[\sigma_{t}\phi_{t}S_{t,T}^{x}\mathbf{1}_{[\frac{K}{1+\sigma_{t}\phi_{t}},\infty)}(S_{t,T}^{x}) + (S_{t,T}^{x} - K)\mathbf{1}_{[\frac{K}{1+\sigma_{t}\phi_{t}},K]}(S_{t,T}^{x})\right]_{x=S_{t}} \\
= \frac{j_{t}}{\phi_{t}} \mathbb{E}\left[\sigma_{t}\phi_{t}S_{t,T}^{x}\mathbf{1}_{[\frac{K}{1+\sigma_{t}\phi_{t}},\infty)}(S_{t,T}^{x}) - (K - S_{t,T}^{x})^{+}\mathbf{1}_{[\frac{K}{1+\sigma_{t}\phi_{t}},\infty]}(S_{t,T}^{x})\right]_{x=S_{t}} \\
= \frac{j_{t}}{\phi_{t}} \mathbb{E}\left[(\sigma_{t}\phi_{t}S_{t,T}^{x} - (K - S_{t,T}^{x})^{+})\mathbf{1}_{[\frac{K}{1+\sigma_{t}\phi_{t}},\infty)}(S_{t,T}^{x})\right]_{x=S_{t}} .$$

If $(\phi_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ is not constrained to be positive then

$$\mathbb{E}[D_t(S_T - K)^+ | \mathcal{F}_t] = i_t \sigma_t \mathbb{E}\left[S_{t,T}^x \mathbf{1}_{[K,\infty)}(S_{t,T}^x)\right]_{x=S_t} + \frac{j_t}{\phi_t} \mathbb{E}\left[\sigma_t \phi_t S_{t,T}^x \mathbf{1}_{\left[\frac{K}{1+\sigma_t \phi_t},\infty\right)}(S_{t,T}^x) + (S_{t,T}^x - K) \mathbf{1}_{\left[\frac{K}{1+\sigma_t \phi_t},K\right]}(S_{t,T}^x)\right]_{x=S_t},$$

with the convention $\mathbf{1}_{[b,a]} = -\mathbf{1}_{[a,b]}$, $0 \le a < b \le T$. Proposition 8.2.2 can also be proved using Lemma 3.7.2 and the Itô formula (2.12.4).

In the sequel we assume that $(\phi_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ is deterministic and

$$dM_t = i_t dB_t + \phi_t (dN_t - \lambda_t dt), \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \qquad M_0 = 0,$$

as in Relation (2.10.5).

Next we compute

$$\exp\left(-\int_0^T r_s ds\right) \mathbb{E}\left[(S_T - K)^+\right]$$

in terms of the Black-Scholes function

$$BS(x,T;r,\sigma^2;K) = e^{-rT} \mathbb{E}[(xe^{rT-\sigma^2T/2+\sigma W_T}-K)^+],$$

where W_T is a centered Gaussian random variable with variance T. **Proposition 8.2.3.** The expectation

$$\exp\left(-\int_0^T r_s ds\right) \mathbb{E}\left[(S_T - K)^+\right]$$

can be computed as

$$\exp\left(-\int_{0}^{T} r_{s} ds\right) \mathbb{E}\left[(S_{T}-K)^{+}\right]$$

$$= \exp\left(-\Gamma_{0}(T)\right) \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \int_{0}^{T} \cdots \int_{0}^{T}$$

$$BS\left(S_{0} \exp\left(-\int_{0}^{T} \phi_{s} \gamma_{s} \sigma_{s} ds\right) \prod_{i=1}^{k} \left(1 + \sigma_{t_{i}} \phi_{t_{i}}\right), T; R_{T}, \frac{\Gamma_{0}(T)}{T}; K\right)$$

$$\gamma_{t_{1}} \cdots \gamma_{t_{k}} dt_{1} \cdots dt_{k}.$$

Proof. Similarly to Proposition 3.7.3 we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{-TR_T}(S_T - K)^+\right] = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{-TR_T}(S_T - K)^+ | N_T = k\right] \mathbb{P}(N_T = k),$$

with

$$\mathbb{P}(N_T = k) = \exp(-\Gamma_0(T))\frac{(\Gamma_0(T))^k}{k!}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Conditionally to $\{N_T = k\}$, the jump times (T_1, \ldots, T_k) have the law

$$\frac{k!}{(\Gamma_0(T))^k} \mathbb{1}_{\{0 < t_1 < \dots < t_k < T\}} \gamma_{t_1} \cdots \gamma_{t_k} dt_1 \cdots dt_k,$$

since the process $(N_{\Gamma_0^{-1}(T)_t})_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ is a standard Poisson process. Hence, conditionally to

$$\{N(\Gamma_0^{-1}(\Gamma_0(T))) = k\} = \{N_T = k\},\$$

its jump times $(\Gamma_0(T_1), \ldots, \Gamma_0(T_k))$ have a uniform law on $[0, \Gamma_0(T)]^k$. We then use the fact that $(\tilde{B}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ and $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ are also independent under \mathbb{P} since $(r_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is deterministic, and the identity in law

$$S_T \stackrel{law}{=} S_0 X_T \exp\left(-\int_0^T \phi_s \lambda_s \sigma_s ds\right) \prod_{k=1}^{N_T} \left(1 + \sigma_{T_k} \phi_{T_k}\right),$$

285 February 23, 2018 (with corrections).

where

$$X_T = \exp\left(TR_T - \Gamma_0(T)/2 + \left(\frac{\Gamma_0(T)}{T}\right)^{1/2} W_T\right),$$

and W_T is independent of N.

8.3 Black-Scholes PDE

As in the standard Black-Scholes model, it is possible to determine the hedging strategy in terms of the Delta of the price in the case $(r_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is deterministic.

Let the function C(t, x) be defined by

$$C(t, S_t) = V_t$$

= exp $\left(-\int_t^T r_u du \right) \mathbb{E}[(S_T - K)^+ | \mathcal{F}_t]$
= exp $\left(-\int_t^T r_u du \right) \mathbb{E}[(S_T - K)^+ | S_t], \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$

cf. (8.2.3). An application of the Itô formula leads to

$$\begin{split} dC(t,S_t) &= \left(\frac{\partial C}{\partial t} + r_t S_t \frac{\partial C}{\partial x} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 C}{\partial x^2} i_t \alpha_t^2 S_t^2 \sigma_t^2 + \lambda_t \Theta C\right) (t,S_t) dt \\ &+ S_t \sigma_t \frac{\partial C}{\partial x} (t,S_t) dM_t + \left(C(t,S_t(1+\sigma_t\phi_t)) - C(t,S_t)\right) \left(dN_t - (8\lambda_t^2 dt)\right) dt \end{split}$$

where

$$\Theta C(t, S_t) = C(t, S_t(1 + \sigma_t \phi_t)) - C(t, S_t) - \frac{\partial C}{\partial x}(t, S_t) S_t \sigma_t \phi_t.$$

The process

$$\widetilde{C}_t := C(t, S_t) \exp\left(-\int_0^t r_s ds\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(-\int_0^T r_u du\right) \mathbb{E}[(S_T - K)^+ \mid \mathcal{F}_t]$$
$$= \widetilde{V}_t$$

is a martingale from Propositions 2.5.8 and 8.2.1-(ii), with

$$d\widetilde{C}_t = \eta_t d\widetilde{S}_t \tag{8.3.2}$$
$$= \sigma_t \eta_t S_t dM_t$$

286 February 23, 2018 (with corrections). Q

$$= i_t \sigma_t \eta_t S_t dB_t + \sigma_t \phi_t \eta_t S_t (dN_t - \lambda_t dt),$$

from Lemma 8.1.2. Therefore, by identification of (8.3.1) and (8.3.2),

$$\begin{cases} r_t C(t, S_t) = \left(\frac{\partial C}{\partial t} + r_t S_t \frac{\partial C}{\partial x} + \frac{1}{2} i_t \alpha_t^2 S_t^2 \sigma_t^2 \frac{\partial^2 C}{\partial x^2} + \lambda_t \Theta C\right) (t, S_t), \\ \eta_t \sigma_t S_t dM_t = S_t \sigma_t \frac{\partial C}{\partial x} (t, S_t) dM_t + \left(C(t, S_t(1 + \sigma_t \phi_t)) - C(t, S_t)\right) (dN_t - \lambda_t dt). \end{cases}$$

Therefore, by identification of the Brownian and Poisson parts,

$$\begin{cases} i_t \eta_t S_t \sigma_t = i_t S_t \sigma_t \frac{\partial C}{\partial x}(t, S_t) \\ j_t \eta_t S_t \sigma_t \phi_t = C(t, S_t(1 + \sigma_t \phi_t)) - C(t, S_t). \end{cases}$$
(8.3.3)

The term $\Theta C(t, S_t)$ vanishes on the set

$$\{t \in \mathbb{R}_+ : \phi_t = 0\} = \{t : i(t) = 1\}.$$

Therefore, (8.3.3) reduces to

$$\eta_t = \frac{\partial C}{\partial x}(t, S_t),$$

i.e. the process $(\eta_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is equal to the usual Delta (8.3) on $\{t \in \mathbb{R}_+ : i_t = 1\}$, and to

$$\eta_t = \frac{C(t, S_t(1 + \phi_t \sigma_t)) - C(t, S_t)}{S_t \phi_t \sigma_t}$$

on the set $\{t \in \mathbb{R}_+ : i_t = 0\}.$

Proposition 8.3.1. The Black-Scholes PDE for the price of a European call option is written as

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t}(t,x) + r_t x \frac{\partial C}{\partial x}(t,x) + \frac{1}{2}\alpha_t^2 x^2 \sigma_t^2 \frac{\partial^2 C}{\partial x^2}(t,x) = r_t C(t,x)$$

on $\{t: \phi_t = 0\}$, and as

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t}(t,x) + r_t x \frac{\partial C}{\partial x}(t,x) + \lambda_t \Theta C(t,x) = r_t C(t,x),$$

on the set $\{t \in \mathbb{R}_+ : \phi_t \neq 0\}$, under the terminal condition $C(T, x) = (x - K)^+$.

8.4 Asian Options and Deterministic Structure

The price at time t of an Asian option is defined as

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{-\int_t^T r_s ds} \left(\frac{1}{T}\int_0^T S_u du - K\right)^+ \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right].$$

The next proposition provides a replicating hedging strategy for Asian options in the case of a deterministic structure equation. Following [78], page 91, and [14], we define the auxiliary process

$$Y_t = \frac{1}{S_t} \left(\frac{1}{T} \int_0^t S_u du - K \right), \quad t \in [0, T].$$
 (8.4.1)

Proposition 8.4.1. There exists a measurable function \tilde{C} on $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}$ such that $\tilde{C}(t, \cdot)$ is \mathcal{C}^1 for all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, and

$$S_t \tilde{C}(t, Y_t) = \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\frac{1}{T} \int_0^T S_u du - K\right)^+ \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right].$$

Moreover, the replicating portfolio for an Asian option with payoff

$$\left(\frac{1}{T}\int_0^T S_u du - K\right)^+$$

is given by (8.1.3) and

$$\eta_t = \frac{1}{\sigma_t} e^{-\int_t^T r_s ds} \left(\tilde{C}(t, Y_t) \sigma_t \right) + (1 + \sigma_t \phi_t) \left(\frac{j_t}{\phi_t} \left(\tilde{C}\left(t, \frac{Y_t}{1 + \sigma_t \phi_t}\right) - \tilde{C}(t, Y_t) - i_t \sigma_t Y_t \partial_2 \tilde{C}(t, Y_t) \right) \right).$$
(8.4.2)

Proof. With the above notation, the price at time t of the Asian option becomes

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{-\int_t^T r_s ds} S_T(Y_T)^+ \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right].$$

For $0 \le s \le t \le T$, we have

$$d(S_tY_t) = \frac{1}{T}d\left(\int_0^t S_u du - K\right) = \frac{S_t}{T}dt,$$

hence

$$\frac{S_t Y_t}{S_s} = Y_s + \frac{1}{T} \int_s^t \frac{S_u}{S_s} du.$$

Since S_u/S_t is independent of S_t by (8.1.2), we have, for any sufficiently integrable payoff function H,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[H\left(S_{T}Y_{T}\right)\middle|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[H\left(S_{t}Y_{t} + \frac{1}{T}\int_{t}^{T}S_{u}du\right)\middle|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[H\left(xy + \frac{x}{T}\int_{t}^{T}\frac{S_{u}}{S_{t}}du\right)\right]_{y=Y_{t},\ x=S_{t}}.$$

Let $C \in \mathcal{C}^2_b(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^2)$ be defined as

$$C(t, x, y) = \mathbb{E}\left[H\left(xy + \frac{x}{T}\int_{t}^{T}\frac{S_{u}}{S_{t}}du\right)\right],$$

i.e.

$$C(t, S_t, Y_t) = \mathbb{E}\left[H\left(S_T Y_T\right) \middle| \mathcal{F}_t\right].$$

When $H(x) = \max(x, 0)$, since for any $t \in [0, T]$, S_t is positive and \mathcal{F}_t -measurable, and S_u/S_t is independent of \mathcal{F}_t , $u \ge t$, we have:

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[H\left(S_{T}Y_{T}\right)\left|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right] &= \mathbb{E}\left[S_{T}\left(Y_{T}\right)^{+}\left|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right]\right] \\ &= S_{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(Y_{T}\frac{S_{T}}{S_{t}}\right)^{+}\left|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right]\right] \\ &= S_{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(Y_{t} + \frac{1}{T}\int_{t}^{T}\frac{S_{u}}{S_{t}}du\right)^{+}\left|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right]\right] \\ &= S_{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(y + \frac{1}{T}\int_{t}^{T}\frac{S_{u}}{S_{t}}du\right)^{+}\right]_{y=Y_{t}} \\ &= S_{t}\tilde{C}(t,Y_{t}), \end{split}$$

with

$$\tilde{C}(t,y) = \mathbb{E}\left[\left(y + \frac{1}{T}\int_{t}^{T}\frac{S_{u}}{S_{t}}du\right)^{+}\right].$$

We now proceed as in [14], which deals with the sum of a Brownian motion and a Poisson process. From the expression of $1/S_t$ given by (8.1.2) we have

$$d\left(\frac{1}{S_t}\right) = \frac{1}{S_{t^-}} \left(\left(-r_t + \frac{\alpha_t^2 \sigma_t^2}{1 + \sigma_t \phi_t} \right) dt - \frac{\sigma_t}{1 + \sigma_t \phi_t} dM_t \right),$$

hence by (2.12.4), Itô's formula and the definition (8.4.1) of Y_t , we have

$$dY_t = Y_t \left(-r_t + \frac{\alpha_t^2 \sigma_t^2}{1 + \sigma_t \phi_t} \right) dt + \frac{1}{T} dt - \frac{Y_{t-} \sigma_t}{1 + \sigma_t \phi_t} dM_t.$$

Assuming that $H \in \mathcal{C}^2_b(\mathbb{R})$ and applying Lemma 3.7.2 we get

ı.

$$\mathbb{E}\left[D_{t}H\left(S_{T}Y_{T}\right)\left|\mathcal{F}_{t}\right] = L_{t}C(t,S_{t},Y_{t}) \\
= i_{t}\left(\sigma_{t}S_{t-}\partial_{2}C(t,S_{t},Y_{t}) - \frac{Y_{t}\sigma_{t}}{1+\sigma_{t}\phi_{t}}\partial_{3}C(t,S_{t},Y_{t})\right) \\
+ \frac{j_{t}}{\phi_{t}}\left(C\left(t,S_{t-}+\sigma_{t}S_{t-},Y_{t-}-\frac{Y_{t}\sigma_{t}}{1+\sigma_{t}\phi_{t}}\right) - C(t,S_{t-},Y_{t-})\right),$$
(8.4.3)

where L_t is given by (2.12.5). Next, given a family $(H_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of \mathcal{C}_b^2 functions, such that $|H_n(x)| \leq x^+$ and $|H'_n(x)| \leq 2, x \in \mathbb{R}, n \in \mathbb{N}$, and converging pointwise to $x \to x^+$, by dominated convergence (8.4.3) holds for C(t, x, y) = $x\tilde{C}(t,y)$ and we obtain:

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[D_t\left(\frac{1}{T}\int_0^T S_u du - K\right)^+ \Big|\mathcal{F}_t\right] = i_t \tilde{C}(t, Y_t)\sigma_t S_t \\ & + S_t\left(\frac{j_t}{\phi_t}\left(\tilde{C}\left(t, \frac{Y_t}{1 + \sigma_t \phi_t}\right) - \tilde{C}(t, Y_t)\right) - i_t \sigma_t Y_t \partial_2 \tilde{C}(t, Y_t)\right) \\ & + S_t \sigma_t \phi_t\left(\frac{j_t}{\phi_t}\left(\tilde{C}\left(t, \frac{Y_t}{1 + \sigma_t \phi_t}\right) - \tilde{C}(t, Y_t)\right) - i_t \sigma_t Y_t \partial_2 \tilde{C}(t, Y_t)\right). \end{split}$$

As a particular case we consider the Brownian motion model, i.e. $\phi_t = 0$, for all $t \in [0,T]$, so $i_t = 1$, $j_t = 0$ for all $t \in [0,T]$, and we are in the Brownian motion model. In this case we have

$$\begin{split} \eta_t &= \mathrm{e}^{-\int_t^T r_s ds} \left(-Y_t \partial_2 \tilde{C}(t, Y_t) + \tilde{C}(t, Y_t) \right) \\ &= \mathrm{e}^{-\int_t^T r_s ds} \left(S_t \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \tilde{C} \left(t, \frac{1}{x} \left(\frac{1}{T} \int_0^t S_u du - K \right) \right)_{|x=S_t} + \tilde{C}(t, Y_t) \right) \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(x \mathrm{e}^{-\int_t^T r_s ds} \tilde{C} \left(t, \frac{1}{x} \left(\frac{1}{T} \int_0^t S_u du - K \right) \right) \right)_{|x=S_t}, \quad t \in [0, T], \end{split}$$

which can be denoted informally as a partial derivative with respect to S_t .

8.5 Notes and References

See e.g. [78] and [139] for standard references on stochastic finance, and [101] for a presentation of the Malliavin calculus applied to continuous markets. The use of normal martingales in financial modelling has been first considered in [37]. The material on Asian options is based on [74] and [13]. Hedging strategies for Lookback options have been computed in [16] using the Clark-Ocone formula.

Chapter 9 Appendix

This appendix shortly reviews some notions used in the preceding chapters. It does not aim at completeness and is addressed to the non-probabilistic reader, who is referred to standard texts, e.g. [71], [123] for more details.

9.1 Measurability

Given a sequence $(Y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of random variables, a random variable F on a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ is said to be \mathcal{F}_n -measurable if it can be written as a function

$$F = f_n(Y_0, \dots, Y_n)$$

of Y_0, \ldots, Y_n , where $f_n : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{R}$. This defines a filtration $(\mathcal{F}_n)_{n \ge -1}$ as

$$\mathcal{F}_{-1} = \{\emptyset, \Omega\}$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}_n = \sigma(Y_0, \dots, Y_n), \qquad n \ge 0,$$

where $\sigma(Y_0, \ldots, Y_n)$ is the smallest σ -algebra making Y_0, \ldots, Y_n measurable.

The space of \mathcal{F}_n -measurable random variables is denoted by $L^0(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n, \mathbb{P})$.

9.2 Gaussian Random Variables

A random variable X is Gaussian with mean μ and variance σ^2 if and only if its characteristic function satisfies

$$\mathbb{E}[e^{i\alpha X}] = e^{i\alpha\mu - \alpha^2 \sigma^2/2}, \qquad \alpha \in \mathbb{R}.$$

From e.g. Corollary 16.1 of [71] we have the following.

Proposition 9.2.1. Let X_1, \ldots, X_n be an orthogonal family of centered Gaussian variables, *i.e.*

$$\mathbb{E}[X_i X_j] = 0, \qquad 1 \le i \ne j \le n.$$

Then (X_1, \ldots, X_n) is a vector of independent random variables.

9.3 Conditional Expectation

Consider $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ a probability space and $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{F}$ a sub σ -algebra of \mathcal{F} . The conditional expectation $\mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{G}]$ of $F \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ given \mathcal{G} can be defined as the orthogonal projection of F on $L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{G}, \mathbb{P})$ for the scalar product $\langle F, G \rangle := \mathbb{E}[FG]$, hence it satisfies

$$\mathbb{E}[G(F - \mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{G}])] = 0, \qquad G \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{G}, \mathbb{P}).$$

The conditional expectaction has the following properties

a) $\mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{F}] \mid \mathcal{G}] = \mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{G}]$ if $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{F}$.

b) $\mathbb{E}[GF \mid \mathcal{G}] = G \mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{G}]$ if G is \mathcal{G} -measurable and sufficiently integrable.

c) $\mathbb{E}[f(X,Y) \mid \mathcal{F}] = \mathbb{E}[f(X,y)]_{y=Y}$ if X, Y are independent and Y is \mathcal{F} -measurable.

Property (a) is referred to as the *tower property*. It shows in particular that $\mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{F}]] = \mathbb{E}[F]$ when $\mathcal{G} = \{\emptyset, \Omega\}$.

Property (b) also shows that $\mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{F}] = F$ when F is \mathcal{F} -measurable.

Property (c) shows in particular that $\mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{F}] = \mathbb{E}[F]$ when F is independent of \mathcal{F} .

The Jensen inequality states that for φ any convex function $\varphi:\mathbb{R}^d\to\mathbb{R}^d$ we have

$$\varphi(\mathbb{E}[F]) \le \mathbb{E}[\varphi(F)]. \tag{9.3.1}$$

9.4 Martingales in Discrete Time

Consider $(\mathcal{F}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ an increasing family of sub σ -algebra of \mathcal{F} . A discrete time square-integrable martingale with respect to $(\mathcal{F}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a family $(M_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of random variables such that

i) $M_n \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_n, \mathbb{P}), n \in \mathbb{N},$

ii)
$$\mathbb{E}[M_{n+1} \mid \mathcal{F}_n] = M_n, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Examples of martingales can be constructed from the tower property Property (a) above by letting $M_n := \mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{F}_n], n \in \mathbb{N}$, where $F \in L^2(\Omega)$ is a given square-integrable random variables.

The process

$$(Y_0 + \dots + Y_n)_{n>0}$$

is a martingale with respect to its own filtration defined as

$$\mathcal{F}_{-1} = \{\emptyset, \Omega\}$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}_n = \sigma(Y_0, \dots, Y_n), \qquad n \ge 0,$$

if and only if the sequence $(Y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ satisfies

$$\mathbb{E}[Y_n \mid \mathcal{F}_{n-1}] = 0, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

This property is satisfied in particular by classical random walks with independent increments, for which $(Y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of independent centered random variables.

Given $F \in L^2(\Omega)$, the tower property shows that $(\mathbb{E}[F \mid \mathcal{F}_n])_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a martingale, and we have the following proposition.

Proposition 9.4.1. Let $F \in L^2(\Omega)$. Then $(\mathbb{E}[F | \mathcal{F}_n])_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to F a.s.

Proof. This is a consequence of the martingale convergence theorem, cf. e.g. Theorem 27.1 in [71]. $\hfill \Box$

9.5 Martingales in Continuous Time

Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ be a probability space and $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ a filtration, i.e. an increasing family of sub σ -algebras of \mathcal{F} . We assume that $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is continuous on the

right, i.e.

$$\mathcal{F}_t = \bigcap_{s>t} \mathcal{F}_s, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Definition 9.5.1. A stochastic process $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ such that $\mathbb{E}[|M_t|^2] < \infty$, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, is called an \mathcal{F}_t -martingale if

$$\mathbb{E}[M_t | \mathcal{F}_s] = M_s, \quad 0 \le s < t.$$

The martingale $(M_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is said to be square-integrable when $\mathbb{E}[|M_t|^2] < \infty$, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

A process $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is said to have independent increments if $X_t - X_s$ is independent of $\sigma(X_u : 0 \le u \le s), 0 \le s < t$.

Proposition 9.5.2. Every integrable process $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ with centered independent increments is a martingale with respect to the filtration

$$\mathcal{F}_t := \sigma(X_u : u \le t), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

it generates.

9.6 Markov Processes

Let $\mathcal{C}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denote the class of continuous functions tending to 0 at infinity. Recall that f is said to tend to 0 at infinity if for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a compact subset K of \mathbb{R}^n such that $|f(x)| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus K$.

Definition 9.6.1. An \mathbb{R}^n -valued stochastic process, i.e. a family $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ of random variables on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$, is a Markov process if for all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ the σ -fields

$$\mathcal{F}_t^+ := \sigma(X_s : s \ge t)$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}_t := \sigma(X_s : 0 \le s \le t).$$

are conditionally independent given X_t .

This condition can be restated by saying that for all $A \in \mathcal{F}_t^+$ and $B \in \mathcal{F}_t$ we have

$$\mathbb{P}(A \cap B \mid X_t) = \mathbb{P}(A \mid X_t)\mathbb{P}(B \mid X_t),$$

cf. Chung [27]. This definition naturally entails that:

i) $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is adapted with respect to $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, i.e. X_t is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable, $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, and

ii) X_u is conditionally independent of \mathcal{F}_t given X_t , for all $u \ge t$, i.e.

$$\mathbb{E}[f(X_u) \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = \mathbb{E}[f(X_u) \mid X_t], \qquad 0 \le t \le u,$$

for any bounded measurable function f on \mathbb{R}^n .

Processes with independent increments provide simple examples of Markov processes.

The transition kernel $\mu_{s,t}$ associated to $(X_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ is defined as

$$\mu_{s,t}(x,A) = \mathbb{P}(X_t \in A \mid X_s = x) \qquad 0 \le s \le t.$$

The transition operator $(P_{s,t})_{0 \le s \le t}$ associated to $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is defined as

$$P_{s,t}f(x) = \mathbb{E}[f(X_t) \mid X_s = x] = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(y)\mu_{s,t}(x,dy), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Letting $p_{s,t}(x)$ denote the density of $X_t - X_s$ we have

$$\mu_{s,t}(x,A) = \int_A p_{s,t}(y-x)dy, \qquad A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

and

$$P_{s,t}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(y)p_{s,t}(y-x)dy.$$

Next we assume that $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is time homogeneous, i.e. $\mu_{s,t}$ depends only on the difference t - s, and we will denote it by μ_{t-s} . In this case the family $(P_{0,t})_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ is denoted by $(P_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ and defines a transition semigroup associated to $(X_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$, with

$$P_t f(x) = \mathbb{E}[f(X_t) \mid X_0 = x] = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(y) \mu_t(x, dy), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

It satisfies the semigroup property

$$P_t P_s f(x) = \mathbb{E}[P_s f(X_t) \mid X_0 = x]$$

= $\mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[f(X_{t+s}) \mid X_s] \mid X_0 = x]]$
= $\mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[f(X_{t+s}) \mid \mathcal{F}_s] \mid X_0 = x]]$
= $\mathbb{E}[f(X_{t+s}) \mid X_0 = x]$
= $P_{t+s} f(x), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$

Q

9.7 Tensor Products of L^2 Spaces

Let (X, μ) and (Y, ν) denote measure spaces. Given $f \in L^2(X, \mu)$ and $g \in L^2(Y, \nu)$, the tensor product $f \otimes g$ of f by g is the function in $L^2(X \times Y, \mu \otimes \nu)$ defined by

$$(f \otimes g)(x, y) = f(x)g(y).$$

In particular, the tensor product $f_n \otimes g_m$ of two functions $f_n \in L^2(X, \sigma)^{\otimes n}$, $g_m \in L^2(X, \sigma)^{\otimes m}$, satisfies

$$f_n \otimes g_m(x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_m) = f_n(x_1, \ldots, x_n)g_m(y_1, \ldots, y_m),$$

 $(x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_m) \in X^{n+m}$. Given $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in L^2(X, \mu)$, the symmetric tensor product $f_1 \circ \cdots \circ f_n$ is defined as the symmetrization of $f_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes f_n$, i.e.

$$(f_1 \circ \dots \circ f_n)(t_1, \dots, t_n) = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_n} f_1(t_{\sigma(1)}) \cdots f_n(t_{\sigma(n)}), \qquad t_1, \dots, t_n \in X,$$
(9.7.1)

(9.7.1) where Σ_n denotes the set of permutations of $\{1, \ldots, n\}$. Let now $L^2(X)^{\circ n}$ denote the subspace of $L^2(X)^{\otimes n} = L^2(X^n)$ made of symmetric functions f_n in n variables. As a convention, $L^2(X)^{\circ 0}$ is identified to \mathbb{R} . From (9.7.1), the symmetric tensor product can be extended as an associative operation on $L^2(X)^{\circ n}$.

The tensor power of order n of $L^2([0,T], \mathbb{R}^d)$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $d \in \mathbb{N}^*$, is

$$L^{2}([0,T], \mathbb{R}^{d})^{\otimes n} \simeq L^{2}([0,T]^{n}, (\mathbb{R}^{d})^{\otimes n}).$$

For n = 2 we have $(\mathbb{R}^d)^{\otimes 2} = \mathbb{R}^d \otimes \mathbb{R}^d \simeq \mathcal{M}_{d,d}(\mathbb{R})$ (the linear space of square $d \times d$ matrices), hence

$$L^{2}([0,T], \mathbb{R}^{d})^{\otimes 2} \simeq L^{2}([0,T]^{2}, \mathcal{M}_{d,d}(\mathbb{R})).$$

More generally, the tensor product $(\mathbb{R}^d)^{\otimes n}$ is isomorphic to \mathbb{R}^{d^n} . The generic element of $L^2([0,T], \mathbb{R}^d)^{\otimes n}$ is denoted by

$$f = (f^{(i_1,...,i_n)})_{1 \le i_1,...,i_n \le d},$$

with $f^{(i_1,...,i_n)} \in L^2([0,T]^n)$.

9.8 Closability of Linear Operators

The notion of closability for operators in normed linear spaces consists in some minimal hypotheses ensuring that a densely defined linear operator can be consistently extended to a larger domain.

Definition 9.8.1. A linear operator $T : S \to H$ from a normed linear space S into a normed linear space H is said to be closable on H if for every sequence $(F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset S$ such that $F_n \to 0$ and $TF_n \to U$ in H, one has U = 0.

The following proposition is proved by the linearity of T.

Proposition 9.8.2. Assume that T is closable. If $(F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $(G_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converge to $F \in \text{Dom}(T)$ and $(TF_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $(TG_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converge respectively to U and V in H, then U = V.

Proof. Indeed, under the above assumptions, $(T(F_n - G_n))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to U - V, hence U = V by the closability condition.

Next we define the domain of a closable operator.

Definition 9.8.3. Given a closable operator $T : S \to H$, let Dom(T) denote the space of functionals F for which there exists a sequence $(F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converging to F and such that $(TF_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to $G \in H$.

It follows from Proposition 9.8.2 that the extension of T to Dom (T) is well-defined if T is closable, as in the following definition.

Definition 9.8.4. Given $T : S \to H$ a closable operator and $F \in \text{Dom}(T)$, we let

$$TF = \lim_{n \to \infty} TF_n,$$

where $(F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ denotes any sequence converging to F and such that $(TF_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges in H.

Q

References

- 1. K. Aase, B. Øksendal, N. Privault, and J. Ubøe. White noise generalizations of the Clark-Haussmann-Ocone theorem with application to mathematical finance. *Finance and Stochastics*, 4(4):465–496, 2000. (Cited on page 244).
- A.N. Al-Hussaini and L. Tang. A representation formula for Poisson functionals. Stochastics Stochastics Rep., 51(1-2):1–10, 1994. (Cited on page 256).
- S. Albeverio, A. Daletskii, and E. Lytvynov. De Rham cohomology of configuration spaces with Poisson measure. J. Funct. Anal., 185(1):240–273, 2001. (Cited on page 277).
- S. Albeverio, Yu. G. Kondratiev, and M. Röckner. Analysis and geometry on configuration spaces. J. Funct. Anal., 154(2):444–500, 1998. (Cited on pages 195 and 277).
- C. Ané. Grandes déviations et inégalités fonctionnelles pour des processus de Markov à temps continu sur un graphe. PhD thesis, Université Paul Sabatier -Toulouse III, 2000. (Cited on pages 130 and 268).
- C. Ané, S. Blachère, D. Chafaï, P. Fougères, I. Gentil, F. Malrieu C. Roberto, and G. Scheffer. Sur les inégalités de Sobolev logarithmiques, volume 10 of Panoramas et Synthèses. Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2000. (Cited on page 57).
- C. Ané and M. Ledoux. On logarithmic Sobolev inequalities for continuous time random walks on graphs. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 116(4):573–602, 2000. (Cited on pages 41, 43, 130, and 157).
- 8. D. Applebaum. Universal Malliavin calculus in Fock and Levy-Itô spaces. To appear in Communications on Stochastic Analysis, 2009. (Cited on page 130).
- S. Attal. Approximating the Fock space with the toy Fock space. In Séminaire de Probabilités, XXXVI, volume 1801 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 477–491. Springer, Berlin, 2003. (Cited on page 57).
- S. Attal and M. Émery. Équations de structure pour des martingales vectorielles. In Séminaire de Probabilités, XXVIII, volume 1583 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 256–278. Springer, Berlin, 1994. (Cited on page 111).
- S. Attal and M. Émery. Martingales d'Azéma bidimensionnelles. Astérisque, 236:9–21, 1996. (Cited on page 111).
- D. Barbato. FKG inequality for Brownian motion and stochastic differential equations. *Electron. Comm. Probab.*, 10:7–16 (electronic), 2005. (Cited on page 174).
- N. Bellamy. Asian options in a market driven by a discontinuous process. Finance, 20(2):69–93, 1999. (Cited on page 290).
- N. Bellamy. Evaluation et couverture dans un marché dirigé par des processus discontinus. PhD thesis, Université d'Evry, 1999. (Cited on pages 288 and 289).

- M. Berger. A panoramic view of Riemannian geometry. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003. (Cited on page 245).
- H. Bermin. Essays on lookback options: a Malliavin calculus approach. PhD thesis, Lund University, 1998. (Cited on page 290).
- K. Bichteler, J.B. Gravereaux, and J. Jacod. Malliavin Calculus for Processes with Jumps, volume 2 of Stochastics Monographs. Gordon and Breach, 1987. (Cited on page 277).
- S.G. Bobkov. On the Gross and Talagrand inequalities on the discrete cube. Vestn. Syktyvkar. Univ. Ser. 1 Mat. Mekh. Inform., 1:12–19, 1995. (Cited on pages 38 and 57).
- S.G. Bobkov, C. Houdré, and P. Tetali. The subgaussian constant and concentration inequalities. *Israel J. Math.*, 156:255–283, 2006. (Cited on pages 38 and 57).
- S.G. Bobkov and M. Ledoux. On modified logarithmic Sobolev inequalities for Bernoulli and Poisson measures. J. Funct. Anal., 156(2):347–365, 1998. (Cited on pages 36, 38, 41, 45, and 57).
- N. Bouleau and F. Hirsch. Formes de Dirichlet générales et densité des variables aléatoires réelles sur l'espace de Wiener. J. Funct. Anal., 69:229–259, 1986. (Cited on page 277).
- N. Bouleau and F. Hirsch. Dirichlet Forms and Analysis on Wiener Space. de Gruyter, 1991. (Cited on page 256).
- J.-C. Breton, C. Houdré, and N. Privault. Dimension free and infinite variance tail estimates on Poisson space. *Acta Appl. Math.*, 95:151–203, 2007. (Cited on page 244).
- 24. M. Capitaine, E.P. Hsu, and M. Ledoux. Martingale representation and a simple proof of logarithmic Sobolev inequalities on path spaces. *Electron. Comm. Probab.*, 2:71–81 (electronic), 1997. (Cited on pages 41, 43, 130, and 194).
- 25. E. Carlen and É. Pardoux. Differential calculus and integration by parts on Poisson space. In S. Albeverio, Ph. Blanchard, and D. Testard, editors, *Stochastics, Algebra and Analysis in Classical and Quantum Dynamics (Marseille, 1988)*, volume 59 of *Math. Appl.*, pages 63–73. Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1990. (Cited on page 277).
- 26. C.S. Chou and P.A. Meyer. Sur la représentation des martingales comme intégrales stochastiques dans les processus ponctuels. In *Séminaire de Probabilités, IX*, pages 226–236. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 465. Springer, Berlin, 1975. (Cited on page 111).
- K.L. Chung. Green, Brown, and probability & Brownian motion on the line. World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., River Edge, NJ, 2002. (Cited on page 294).
- R. Cont and P. Tankov. Financial modelling with jump processes. Chapman & Hall/CRC Financial Mathematics Series. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 2004. (Cited on pages 66 and 111).
- A.B. Cruzeiro and P. Malliavin. Renormalized differential geometry on path space: Structural equation, curvature. J. Funct. Anal., 139:119–181, 1996. (Cited on pages 139, 159, 188, and 194).
- N. Cutland and S.A. Ng. The Wiener sphere and Wiener measure. Ann. Probab., 21(1):1–13, 1993. (Cited on page 61).
- P. Dai Pra, A.M. Paganoni, and G. Posta. Entropy inequalities for unbounded spin systems. Ann. Probab., 30(4):1959–1976, 2002. (Cited on pages 43 and 45).
- 32. L. Decreusefond and N. Savy. Anticipative calculus with respect to filtered Poisson processes. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Probab. Statist., 42(3):343–372, 2006. (Cited on page 277).
- C. Dellacherie, B. Maisonneuve, and P.A. Meyer. Probabilités et Potentiel, volume 5. Hermann, 1992. (Cited on pages 82 and 159).

- A. Dermoune. Differential calculus relative to some point processes. Statist. Probab. Lett., 24:233–242, 1995. (Cited on page 277).
- 35. A. Dermoune, P. Krée, and L.M. Wu. Calcul stochastique non adapté par rapport à la mesure aléatoire de Poisson. In Séminaire de Probabilités, XXII, volume 1321 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 477–484, Berlin, 1988. Springer. (Cited on page 244).
- J. Dieudonné. Éléments d'analyse. Tome II: Chapitres XII à XV. Gauthier-Villars, Éditeur, Paris, 1968. (Cited on page 201).
- M. Dritschel and P. Protter. Complete markets with discontinuous security price. Finance and Stochastics, 3(2):203–214, 1999. (Cited on page 290).
- R.J. Elliott and A.H. Tsoi. Integration by parts for Poisson processes. J. Multivariate Anal., 44(2):179–190, 1993. (Cited on page 277).
- 39. M. Émery. On the Azéma martingales. In Séminaire de Probabilités XXIII, volume 1372 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 66–87. Springer Verlag, 1990. (Cited on pages 92, 93, 94, 97, 101, 105, and 111).
- 40. M. Émery. A discrete approach to the chaotic representation property. In Séminaire de Probabilités, XXXV, volume 1755 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 123–138. Springer, Berlin, 2001. (Cited on page 17).
- D. Engel. The multiple stochastic integral. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 38(265):v+82, 1982. (Cited on page 111).
- 42. S. Fang. Stochastic anticipative integrals over a Riemannian manifold. J. Funct. Anal., 131:228–253, 1995. (Cited on page 185).
- S. Fang. Stochastic anticipative calculus on the path space over a compact Riemannian manifold. Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées, 77(3):249– 282, 1998. (Cited on page 185).
- 44. S. Fang. Integration by parts formula and logarithmic Sobolev inequality on the path space over loop groups. Ann. Probab., 27(2):664–683, 1999. (Cited on page 194).
- 45. S. Fang and J. Franchi. Platitude de la structure riemannienne sur le groupe des chemins et identité d'énergie pour les intégrales stochastiques. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 321(10):1371–1376, 1995. (Cited on pages 159 and 277).
- 46. S. Fang and P. Malliavin. Stochastic analysis on the path space of a Riemannian manifold. I: Markovian stochastic calculus. J. Funct. Anal., 118(1):249–274, 1993. (Cited on pages 185, 186, 187, 188, 189, 190, 194, and 277).
- 47. H. Föllmer and A. Schied. *Stochastic finance*, volume 27 of *de Gruyter Studies in Mathematics*. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 2004. (Cited on page 51).
- 48. F.Q. Gao and N. Privault. Clark formula and logarithmic Sobolev inequalities for Bernoulli measures. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 336(1):51–56, 2003. (Cited on pages 41 and 57).
- F.Q. Gao and J. Quastel. Exponential decay of entropy in the random transposition and Bernoulli-Laplace models. Ann. Appl. Probab., 13(4):1591–1600, 2003. (Cited on page 43).
- 50. H. Gzyl. An exposé on discrete Wiener chaos expansions. *Bol. Asoc. Mat. Venez.*, XIII(1):3–26, 2006. (Cited on page 57).
- 51. T. Hida. Analysis of Brownian functionals. Carleton Univ., Ottawa, Ont., 1975. Carleton Mathematical Lecture Notes, No. 13. (Cited on page 60).
- 52. T. Hida. Brownian Motion. Springer Verlag, 1981. (Cited on pages 61, 165, and 212).
- T. Hida, H. H. Kuo, J. Potthoff, and L. Streit. White Noise, An Infinite Dimensional Calculus. Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1993. (Cited on pages v and 159).
- 54. F. Hirsch and G. Lacombe. *Elements of functional analysis*, volume 192 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1999. (Cited on pages 61 and 82).

- H. Holden, T. Lindstrøm, B. Øksendal, and J. Ubøe. Discrete Wick calculus and stochastic functional equations. *Potential Anal.*, 1(3):291–306, 1992. (Cited on page 57).
- H. Holden, T. Lindstrøm, B. Øksendal, and J. Ubøe. Discrete Wick products. In *Stochastic analysis and related topics (Oslo, 1992)*, pages 123–148. Gordon and Breach, Montreux, 1993. (Cited on page 57).
- C. Houdré. Remarks on deviation inequalities for functions of infinitely divisible random vectors. Ann. Probab., 30(3):1223–1237, 2002. (Cited on page 243).
- C. Houdré and V. Pérez-Abreu. Covariance identities and inequalities for functionals on Wiener and Poisson spaces. Ann. Probab., 23:400–419, 1995. (Cited on pages 33, 34, and 122).
- C. Houdré, V. Pérez-Abreu, and D. Surgailis. Interpolation, correlation identities, and inequalities for infinitely divisible variables. J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 4(6):651–668, 1998. (Cited on page 238).
- 60. C. Houdré, V. Pérez-Abreu, and A.S. Üstünel. Multiple Wiener-Itô integrals: an introductory survey. In *Chaos expansions, multiple Wiener-Itô integrals and their applications (Guanajuato, 1992)*, Probab. Stochastics Ser., pages 1–33. CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 1994. (Cited on page 111).
- C. Houdré and N. Privault. Concentration and deviation inequalities in infinite dimensions via covariance representations. *Bernoulli*, 8(6):697–720, 2002. (Cited on pages 36, 57, 130, and 242).
- 62. C. Houdré and N. Privault. A concentration inequality on Riemannian path space. In *Stochastic inequalities and applications*, volume 56 of *Prog. Probab.*, pages 15–21. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2003. (Cited on page 194).
- 63. C. Houdré and P. Tetali. Concentration of measure for products of Markov kernels and graph products via functional inequalities. *Combin. Probab. Comput.*, 10(1):1–28, 2001. (Cited on pages 38 and 57).
- 64. Y. Hu, A.S. Ustünel, and M. Zakai. Tangent processes on Wiener space. J. Funct. Anal., 192(1):234–270, 2002. (Cited on page 194).
- 65. Z.Y. Huang and J.A. Yan. Introduction to infinite dimensional stochastic analysis, volume 502 of Mathematics and its Applications. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2000. (Cited on page v).
- N. Ikeda and S. Watanabe. Stochastic Differential Equations and Diffusion Processes. North-Holland, 1989. (Cited on page 74).
- P. Imkeller. Malliavin's Calculus and Applications in Stochastic Control and Finance, volume 1 of IMPAN Lecture Notes. Polish Academy of Sciences, 2008. (Cited on page v).
- K. Itô. Multiple Wiener integrals. Journal of the Mathematical Society of Japan, 3:157–169, 1951. (Cited on page 86).
- K. Itô. Spectral type of the shift transformation of differential processes with stationary increments. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 81:253–263, 1956. (Cited on page 86).
- Y. Ito. Generalized Poisson functionals. Probab. Theory Related Fields, 77:1–28, 1988. (Cited on pages 6, 159, 212, and 244).
- J. Jacod and P. Protter. Probability essentials. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2000. (Cited on pages 17, 63, 291, 292, and 293).
- Y.M. Kabanov. On extended stochastic integrals. Theory of Probability and its Applications, XX(4):710-722, 1975. (Cited on pages 159 and 244).
- Y. El Khatib. Contributions to the study of discontinuous markets via the Malliavin calculus. PhD thesis, Université de La Rochelle, 2003. (Cited on pages 111 and 159).
- Y. El Khatib and N. Privault. Computations of replicating portfolios in complete markets driven by normal martingales. *Applicationes Mathematicae*, 30:147–172, 2003. (Cited on page 290).

- Y. El Khatib and N. Privault. Computations of Greeks in a market with jumps via the Malliavin calculus. *Finance and Stochastics*, 4(2):161–179, 2004. (Cited on page 277).
- H.H. Kuo. White Noise Distribution Theory. Probability and Stochastics Series. CRC Press, 1996. (Cited on page v).
- S. Kwapień and W. Woyczyński. Random series and stochastic integrals: single and multiple. Probability and its Applications. Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, 1992. (Cited on page 111).
- D. Lamberton and B. Lapeyre. Introduction to stochastic calculus applied to finance. Chapman & Hall, London, 1996. (Cited on pages 51, 57, 288, and 290).
- M. Ledoux. On Talagrand's deviation inequalities for product measures. ESAIM Probab. Statist., 1:63–87 (electronic), 1995/97. (Cited on pages 38 and 57).
- M. Ledoux. Concentration of measure and logarithmic Sobolev inequalities. In Séminaire de Probabilités XXXIII, volume 1709 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 120–216. Springer, 1999. (Cited on page 268).
- M. Ledoux. The geometry of Markov diffusion generators. Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (6), 9:305–366, 2000. (Cited on pages 41 and 123).
- M. Leitz-Martini. A discrete Clark-Ocone formula. Maphysto Research Report No 29, 2000. (Cited on pages 17 and 57).
- J. León, J.L. Solé, and J. Vives. The chaos decomposition of functionals of the jump times for the Poisson process over a compact time interval. In *Stochastic models (Guanajuato, 1998)*, pages 269–282. Soc. Mat. Mexicana, México, 1998. (Preprint 19/1998, september 1998, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona). (Cited on pages 217 and 244).
- 84. J. León and C. Tudor. The chaos decomposition of the jump times for the Poisson process over a compact time interval. In L.G. Gorostiza, J.A. León, and J.A. López-Mimbela, editors, *IV Simposio de Probabilidad y Procesos Estocásticos*, volume 12 of *Aportaciones Matemáticas*, pages 137–146, Guanajuato, 1996. Sociedad Matemática Mexicana. (Cited on pages 217 and 244).
- J. Ma, P. Protter, and J. San Martin. Anticipating integrals for a class of martingales. *Bernoulli*, 4:81–114, 1998. (Cited on page 158).
- 86. P. Major. Multiple Wiener-Itô integrals, volume 849 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, 1981. (Cited on page 111).
- P. Malliavin. Stochastic analysis, volume 313 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997. (Cited on pages v, 61, and 185).
- 88. P. Malliavin and A. Thalmaier. *Stochastic calculus of variations in mathematical finance*. Springer Finance. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2006. (Cited on page v).
- H.P. McKean. Geometry of differential space. Ann. Probability, 1:197–206, 1973. (Cited on page 60).
- J. Mecke. Stationäre zufällige Masse auf lokalkompakten Abelschen Gruppen. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie Verw. Geb., 9:36–58, 1967. (Cited on page 244).
- M. Mensi and N. Privault. Conditional calculus on Poisson space and enlargement of filtration. *Stochastic Anal. Appl.*, 21(1):183–204, 2003. (Cited on page 111).
- P.A. Meyer. Quantum Probability for Probabilists, volume 1538 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, 1993. (Cited on page 57).
- 93. P.A. Meyer and J.A. Yan. À propos des distributions sur l'espace de Wiener. In Séminaire de Probabilités XXI, volume 1247 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 8–26. Springer Verlag, 1987. (Cited on page 130).
- 94. J. Neveu. Processus ponctuels. In Ecole d'été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour VI, volume 598 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 249–445. Springer-Verlag, 1977. (Cited on page 196).

- 95. D. Nualart. Markov fields and transformations of the Wiener measure. In T. Lindstrøm, B. Øksendal, and A. S. Üstünel, editors, *Proceedings of the Fourth* Oslo-Silivri Workshop on Stochastic Analysis, volume 8 of Stochastics Monographs, Oslo, 1993. Gordon and Breach. (Cited on pages 169 and 193).
- 96. D. Nualart. The Malliavin Calculus and Related Topics. Probability and its Applications. Springer-Verlag, 1995. (Cited on pages v, 172, and 193).
- D. Nualart and É. Pardoux. Stochastic calculus with anticipative integrands. Probab. Theory Related Fields, 78:535–582, 1988. (Cited on page 277).
- 98. D. Nualart and J. Vives. Anticipative calculus for the Poisson process based on the Fock space. In Séminaire de Probabilités XXIV, volume 1426 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 154–165. Springer, Berlin, 1990. (Cited on page 244).
- 99. D. Nualart and J. Vives. A duality formula on the Poisson space and some applications. In R. Dalang, M. Dozzi, and F. Russo, editors, *Seminar on Stochastic Analysis, Random Fields and Applications (Ascona, 1993)*, volume 36 of *Progress in Probability*, pages 205–213. Birkhäuser, Basel, 1995. (Cited on page 244).
- 100. D. Ocone. A guide to the stochastic calculus of variations. In H. Körezlioğlu and A.S. Üstünel, editors, *Stochastic Analysis and Related Topics*, volume 1316 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*, pages 1–79, Silivri, 1988. Springer-Verlag. (Cited on pages 169 and 193).
- 101. B. Øksendal. An introduction to Malliavin calculus with applications to economics. Working paper no. 3, Institute of Finance and Management Science, Norwegian School of Economics and Business Administration, 1996. (Cited on pages 283 and 290).
- 102. B. Øksendal and F. Proske. White noise of Poisson random measures. *Potential Anal.*, 21(4):375–403, 2004. (Cited on page 244).
- G. Peccati and C.A. Tudor. Anticipating integrals and martingales on the Poisson space. Random Oper. Stoch. Equ., 15(4):327–352, 2007. (Cited on page 244).
- 104. J. Picard. Formules de dualité sur l'espace de Poisson. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Probab. Statist., 32(4):509–548, 1996. (Cited on page 244).
- 105. G. Pisier. Probabilistic methods in the geometry of Banach spaces. In *Probability and analysis (Varenna, 1985)*, pages 167–241. Springer, Berlin, 1986. (Cited on page 159).
- 106. N. Privault. Chaotic and variational calculus in discrete and continuous time for the Poisson process. *Stochastics and Stochastics Reports*, 51:83–109, 1994. (Cited on pages 256 and 277).
- 107. N. Privault. Inégalités de Meyer sur l'espace de Poisson. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 318:559–562, 1994. (Cited on pages 267 and 268).
- N. Privault. Calcul des variations stochastique pour les martingales. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 321:923–928, 1995. (Cited on page 277).
- 109. N. Privault. Stochastic calculus of variations for martingales. In I. M. Davies, K. D. Elworthy, and A. Truman, editors, *Proceedings of the Fifth Gregynog* Symposium, Gregynog, 1995, pages 385–400. World Scientific, 1995. (Cited on page 277).
- N. Privault. Girsanov theorem for anticipative shifts on Poisson space. Probab. Theory Related Fields, 104:61–76, 1996. (Cited on page 277).
- 111. N. Privault. On the independence of multiple stochastic integrals with respect to a class of martingales. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 323:515–520, 1996. (Cited on pages 148, 152, and 159).
- 112. N. Privault. An extension of stochastic calculus to certain non-Markovian processes. Prépublication 49, Université d'Evry, 1997. http://www.maths.univery.fr/prepubli/49.ps. (Cited on page 244).
- N. Privault. Independence of a class of multiple stochastic integrals. In R. Dalang, M. Dozzi, and F. Russo, editors, *Seminar on Stochastic Analysis*,

Random Fields and Applications (Ascona, 1996), volume 45 of Progress in Probability, pages 249–259. Birkhäuser, Basel, 1999. (Cited on page 159).

- N. Privault. Multiple stochastic integral expansions of arbitrary Poisson jump times functionals. *Statist. Probab. Lett.*, 43:179–188, 1999. (Cited on pages 244 and 264).
- N. Privault. On logarithmic Sobolev inequalities for normal martingales. Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (6), 9(3), 2000. (Cited on page 130).
- 116. N. Privault. Distribution-valued gradient and chaotic decompositions of Poisson jump times functionals. *Publicacions Matemàtiques*, 46:27–48, 2002. (Cited on page 265).
- 117. N. Privault. Stochastic analysis of Bernoulli processes. *Probab. Surv.*, 5:435–483 (electronic), 2008. (Cited on page 57).
- N. Privault. Invariance of Poisson measures under random transformations. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Probab. Statist., 48(4):947–972, 2012. (Cited on page 244).
- 119. N. Privault and W. Schoutens. Discrete chaotic calculus and covariance identities. *Stochastics and Stochastics Reports*, 72:289–315, 2002. Eurandom Report 006, 2000. (Cited on pages 16 and 57).
- 120. N. Privault, J.L. Solé, and J. Vives. Chaotic Kabanov formula for the Azéma martingales. *Bernoulli*, 6(4):633–651, 2000. (Cited on pages 130, 145, 151, 159, and 244).
- 121. N. Privault and X. Wei. A Malliavin calculus approach to sensitivity analysis in insurance. *Insurance Math. Econom.*, 35(3):679–690, 2004. (Cited on page 277).
- 122. N. Privault and X. Wei. Integration by parts for point processes and Monte Carlo estimation. J. Appl. Probab., 44:806–823, 2007. (Cited on page 277).
- 123. P. Protter. Stochastic integration and differential equations. A new approach. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990. (Cited on pages 111, 127, and 291).
- 124. P. Protter. A partial introduction to financial asset pricing theory. Stochastic Process. Appl., 91(2):169–203, 2001. (Cited on page 126).
- 125. P. Protter. Stochastic integration and differential equations, volume 21 of Stochastic Modelling and Applied Probability. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 2004. (Cited on pages 91 and 111).
- D. Revuz and M. Yor. Continuous Martingales and Brownian Motion. Springer-Verlag, 1994. (Cited on page 111).
- 127. S. Roelly and H. Zessin. Une caractérisation des mesures de Gibbs sur $C(0,1)^{Z^d}$ par le calcul des variations stochastiques. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Probab. Stat., 29(3):327–338, 1993. (Cited on page 244).
- 128. J. Rosiński and G. Samorodnitsky. Product formula, tails and independence of multiple stable integrals. In Advances in stochastic inequalities (Atlanta, GA, 1997), volume 234 of Contemp. Math., pages 169–194. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999. (Cited on page 159).
- 129. J. Ruiz de Chávez. Predictable representation of the binomial process and application to options in finance. In XXXIII National Congress of the Mexican Mathematical Society (Spanish) (Saltillo, 2000), volume 29 of Aportaciones Mat. Comun., pages 223–230. Soc. Mat. Mexicana, México, 2001. (Cited on pages 51 and 57).
- F. Russo and P. Vallois. Product of two multiple stochastic integrals with respect to a normal martingale. *Stochastic Processes and their Applications*, 73:47–68, 1998. (Cited on page 159).
- L. Saloff-Coste. Lectures on finite Markov chains. In Lectures on probability theory and statistics (Saint-Flour, 1996), volume 1665 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 301–413. Springer, Berlin, 1997. (Cited on page 41).
- 132. M. Sanz-Solé. Malliavin calculus with applications to stochastic partial differential equations. EPFL Press, Lausanne, 2005. (Cited on page v).

- 133. A.Ju. Ševljakov. Clark's formula for discontinuous processes. In *Behavior of systems in random media (Russian)*, pages 55–59. Akad. Nauk Ukrain. SSR Inst. Kibernet., Kiev, 1976. (Cited on page 244).
- 134. A.Ju. Ševljakov. Integration of anticipating functionals. In *Theory of random processes, No. 5 (Russian)*, pages 106–109, 115. Izdat. "Naukova Dumka", Kiev, 1977. (Cited on page 244).
- 135. A.Ju. Ševljakov. Stochastic differentiation and integration of functionals of a Wiener process. In *Theory of random processes*, No. 6 (Russian), pages 123– 131, 136. "Naukova Dumka", Kiev, 1978. (Cited on page 244).
- I. Shigekawa. Derivatives of Wiener functionals and absolute continuity of induced measures. J. Math. Kyoto Univ., 20(2):263-289, 1980. (Cited on page 193).
- 137. I. Shigekawa. de Rham-Hodge-Kodaira's decomposition on an abstract Wiener space. J. Math. Kyoto Univ., 26(2):191–202, 1986. (Cited on page 139).
- 138. I. Shigekawa. *Stochastic analysis*, volume 224 of *Translations of Mathematical Monographs*. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2004. (Cited on page v).
- A.N. Shiryaev. Essentials of stochastic finance. World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1999. (Cited on page 290).
- 140. A.V. Skorokhod. On a generalization of a stochastic integral. *Theor. Probab. Appl.*, XX:219–233, 1975. (Cited on page 158).
- 141. J.L. Solé, F. Utzet, and J. Vives. Chaos expansions and Malliavin calculus for Lévy processes. In *Stochastic analysis and applications*, volume 2 of *Abel Symp.*, pages 595–612. Springer, Berlin, 2007. (Cited on page 244).
- 142. D. Stroock. Homogeneous chaos revisited. In *Séminaire de Probabilités XXI*, volume 1247 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*. Springer Verlag, 1987. (Cited on pages 6, 159, and 244).
- D. Stroock. Doing analysis by tossing a coin. Math. Intelligencer, 22(2):66–72, 2000. (Cited on page 15).
- 144. D. Surgailis. On multiple Poisson stochastic integrals and associated Markov semi-groups. *Probability and Mathematical Statistics*, 3:217–239, 1984. (Cited on pages 159 and 235).
- 145. C. Tudor. An anticipating calculus for square integrable pure jump Levy processes. *Random Oper. Stoch. Equ.*, 15(1):1–14, 2007. (Cited on page 159).
- 146. A.S. Üstünel. Representation of the distributions on Wiener space and stochastic calculus of variations. J. Funct. Anal., 70:126–139, 1987. (Cited on page 130).
- 147. A.S. Üstünel. An introduction to analysis on Wiener space, volume 1610 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer Verlag, 1995. (Cited on pages v and 172).
- 148. A.S. Üstünel and M. Zakai. On the structure on independence on Wiener space. J. Funct. Anal., 90(1):113–137, 1990. (Cited on page 159).
- 149. A.S. Ustünel and M. Zakai. Random rotations of the Wiener path. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields, 103(3):409–429, 1995. (Cited on pages 179 and 194).
- 150. A.S. Üstünel and M. Zakai. *Transformation of measure on Wiener space*. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2000. (Cited on pages v and 175).
- 151. S. Watanabe. Lectures on Stochastic Differential Equations and Malliavin Calculus. Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, 1984. (Cited on pages v and 172).
- 152. N. Wiener. The homogeneous chaos. Amer. Journ. Math., 55(4), 1938. (Cited on page 3).
- 153. D. Williams. *Probability with martingales*. Cambridge Mathematical Textbooks. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991. (Cited on pages 51 and 57).
- 154. L.M. Wu. L^1 and modified logarithmic Sobolev inequalities and deviation inequalities for Poisson point processes. Preprint, 1998. (Cited on page 223).
- 155. L.M. Wu. A new modified logarithmic Sobolev inequality for Poisson point processes and several applications. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 118(3):427– 438, 2000. (Cited on pages 41, 43, 45, 47, 130, 157, and 242).

- 156. M. Yor. Sur les intégrales stochastiques optionnelles et une suite remarquable de formules exponentielles. In Séminaire de Probabilités, X (Seconde partie: Théorie des intégrales stochastiques, Univ. Strasbourg, Strasbourg, année universitaire 1974/1975), pages 481–500. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 511. Springer, Berlin, 1976. (Cited on page 111).
- 157. M. Yor. Sous-espaces denses dans L^1 ou H^1 et représentation des martingales. In Séminaire de Probabilités, XII, volume 649 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 265–309. Springer, Berlin, 1978. (Cited on page 111).

Index

adapted processes, 73 annihilation operator, 134 Asian options, 288

Black-Scholes formula, 285 PDE, 286 Brownian motion, 60

chaos expansion, 264 chaos representation property continuous time, 89 discrete time, 15 Poisson case, 211 Wiener case, 165 Chebyshev inequality, 126 Clark formula, 282 abstract case, 114 discrete time, 21 Lévy processes, 232 Poisson case, 259 closability, 114, 297 compound Poisson process, 71 conditional expectation, 292 covariance identities, 173 continuous time, 120, 143 discrete time, 31 Poisson case, 235, 267 covariance inequalities, 173 creation operator, 138

damped gradient, 260 deviation inequalities continuous time, 125, 153 discrete time, 36 Poisson case, 239, 267 discrete time, 7 divergence formula continuous time, 141 Poisson case, 225 Wiener case, 169 divergence operator discrete time, 24 Poisson case, 225 Wiener case, 167 duality relation, 113, 133 exponential vectors, 106 finite difference gradient continuous case, 217discrete time, 18 Gaussian distribution, 291 gradient operator damped gradient, 252 Poisson case, 245, 250 Wiener case, 167 Itô formula, 101 isometry, 8, 76 Lévy-Khintchine formula, 199 local gradient, 246 logarithmic Sobolev inequalities continuous time, 123discrete time, 41 Markov

process, 294 property, 126 martingale continuous time, 293

convergence theorem, 293 discrete time, 293 measurability, 291 multiple stochastic integrals continous time, 86 discrete time, 11 Poisson case, 203 Wiener case, 161

normal martingale continuous time, 59 discrete time, 7

option hedging continuous time, 282 discrete time, 51 Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process, 28 semigroup, 28, 143, 171, 235

Poisson compound martingale, 70 martingale, 63 measure, 195 polynomials Charlier, 206 Hermite, 161 portfolio, 280 predictable process, 8 predictable representation continuous time, 84, 114 discrete time, 21

quadratic variation, 90

self-financing strategy, 53, 280 Skorohod integral, 132 Poisson case, 255 Skorohod isometry, 138, 227 Poisson case, 273 stochastic integral continuous time, 76 discrete time, 8 Poisson case, 82 product formula, 96 Wiener case, 80 structure equation continuous time, 93, 145, 161 discrete time, 13

tensor product, 296

Notation

 $\mathcal{C}^1_b(\mathbb{R})$ denotes the space of continuously differentiable functions on \mathbb{R} which are bounded together with their first derivative.

 $\mathcal{C}^1_c(\mathbb{R})$ denotes the space of continuously differentiable functions on \mathbb{R} which have compact support in \mathbb{R} .

This volume gives a unified presentation of stochastic analysis for continuous and discontinuous stochastic processes, in both discrete and continuous time. It is mostly self-contained and accessible to graduate students and researchers having already received a basic training in probability. The simultaneous treatment of continuous and jump processes is done in the framework of normal martingales; that includes the Brownian motion and compensated Poisson processes as specific cases. In particular, the basic tools of stochastic analysis (chaos representation, gradient, divergence, integration by parts) are presented in this general setting. Applications are given to functional and deviation inequalities and mathematical finance.